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BASE LISTING PARTICULARS 

 

CTP N.V. 

(a public company with limited liability (naamloze vennootschap met beperkte aansprakelijkheid) incorporated under the 

laws of the Netherlands, having its seat (statutaire zetel) in Amsterdam, the Netherlands) 

Euro Medium Term Note Programme 

Under the Euro Medium Term Note Programme described in this Base Listing Particulars (the “Base 

Listing Particulars”) (the “Programme”), CTP N.V. (the “Issuer”), subject to compliance with all 

relevant laws, regulations and directives, may from time to time issue euro medium term notes 

(the “Notes”). 

Application will be made to The Irish Stock Exchange plc trading as Euronext Dublin (“Euronext 

Dublin”) for Notes issued under the Programme within twelve months after the date hereof to be 

admitted to the official list (the “Official List”) and to trading on the Global Exchange Market of 

Euronext Dublin (the “GEM”). This Base Listing Particulars has been approved by the Euronext Dublin 

as a “base listing particulars”. References in this Base Listing Particulars to Notes being “listed” (and all 

related references) shall mean that such Notes have been admitted to the Official List and to trading on 

the GEM. The Programme provides that Notes may be listed on such other or further stock exchange(s) 

as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer (as defined below). This Base Listing 

Particulars does not constitute a prospectus for the purposes of Article 8 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 

(the “Prospectus Regulation”). The Issuer is not offering the Notes in any jurisdiction in circumstances 

that would require a prospectus to be prepared pursuant to the Prospectus Regulation. GEM is not a 

regulated market for the purposes of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, “MiFID II”). 

The minimum denomination of any Notes issued under the Programme shall be at least EUR 100,000 

(or its equivalent in any other currency as at the date of issue of the Notes). 

The Issuer has been rated BBB- (stable outlook) by S&P Global Ratings Europe Limited (“S&P”) and 

Baa3 (stable outlook) by Moody’s Deutschland GmbH (“Moody’s”). Each of S&P and Moody’s is 

established in the European Economic Area (the “EEA”) and registered under Regulation (EC) No 

1060/2009 (as amended, the “CRA Regulation”). As such, each of S&P and Moody’s appears on the 

latest update of the list of registered credit rating agencies (as of the date of this Base Listing Particulars) 

on the ESMA website (www.esma.europa.eu). Notes issued under the Programme may be rated or 

unrated. Where a Tranche of Notes is rated, such rating will be disclosed in the Pricing Supplement and 

will not necessarily be the same as the rating assigned to the Issuer by the relevant rating agency. 

A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to 

suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency. 

Investing in Notes issued under the Programme involves certain risks. The principal risk factors 

that may affect the abilities of the Issuer to fulfil its obligations under the Notes are discussed 

under “Risk Factors” below. 

The Notes have not been, and will not be, registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as 

amended (the “Securities Act”) or with any securities regulatory authority of any state or other 

jurisdiction of the United States, and Notes in bearer form are subject to U.S. tax law requirements. 

The Notes may not be offered, sold or (in the case of Notes in bearer form) delivered within the United 

States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities 

Act (“Regulation S”)) except in certain transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the 

Securities Act. 

http://www.esma.europa.eu/
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IMPORTANT NOTICES 

Responsibility for this Base Listing Particulars 

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Base Listing Particulars and any 

Pricing Supplement and declares that, having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, 

the information contained in this Base Listing Particulars is, to the best of its knowledge, in accordance 

with the facts and the Base Listing Particulars makes no omission likely to affect its import.  

Pricing Supplement/Drawdown Listing Particulars 

Each Tranche (as defined herein) of Notes will be issued on the terms set out herein under “Terms and 

Conditions of the Notes” (the “Conditions”) as completed by a document specific to such Tranche called 

a pricing supplement (the “Pricing Supplement”) or in a separate listing particulars specific to such 

Tranche (the “Drawdown Listing Particulars”) as described under “Pricing Supplement and 

Drawdown Listing Particulars” below.  

Other relevant information 

This Base Listing Particulars must be read and construed together with any supplements hereto and with 

any information incorporated by reference herein and, in relation to any Tranche of Notes which is the 

subject of a Pricing Supplement, must be read and construed together with the relevant Pricing 

Supplement. In the case of a Tranche of Notes which is the subject of a Drawdown Listing Particulars, 

each reference in this Base Listing Particulars to information being specified or identified in the relevant 

Pricing Supplement shall be read and construed as a reference to such information being specified or 

identified in the relevant Drawdown Listing Particulars unless the context requires otherwise. 

Unauthorised information 

No person has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation not contained in 

or not consistent with this Base Listing Particulars or any other document entered into in relation to the 

Programme or any information supplied by the Issuer or such other information as is in the public 

domain and, if given or made, such information or representation should not be relied upon as having 

been authorised by the Issuer or any Dealer. 

Neither the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates have authorised the whole or any part of this 

Base Listing Particulars and none of them makes any representation or warranty or accepts any 

responsibility as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained in this Base Listing 

Particulars or any responsibility for the acts or omissions of the Issuer or any other person (other than 

the relevant Dealer) in connection with the issue and offering of the Notes. Neither the delivery of this 

Base Listing Particulars or any Pricing Supplement nor the offering, sale or delivery of any Note shall, 

in any circumstances, create any implication that the information contained in this Base Listing 

Particulars is true subsequent to the date hereof or the date upon which this Base Listing Particulars has 

been most recently amended or supplemented or that there has been no adverse change, or any event 

reasonably likely to involve any adverse change, in the prospects or financial or trading position of the 

Issuer since the date thereof or, if later, the date upon which this Base Listing Particulars has been most 

recently amended or supplemented or that any other information supplied in connection with the 

Programme is correct at any time subsequent to the date on which it is supplied or, if different, the date 

indicated in the document containing the same. The Dealers expressly do not undertake to review the 

financial condition or affairs of the Issuer during the life of the Programme or to advise any investor in 

Notes issued under the Programme of any information coming to their attention. 

None of the Issuer or the Dealers is responsible for any third party social, environmental and 

sustainability assessment of the Notes. None of the Dealers is responsible for the monitoring of the use 

of proceeds. 
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Notes issued as Green Bonds 

None of the Dealers accepts any responsibility for any social, environmental and sustainability 

assessment of any Notes issued as Green Bonds (as defined herein) or makes any representation or 

warranty or assurance whether such Notes will meet any investor expectations or requirements regarding 

such “green”, “sustainable”, “social” or similar labels. None of the Dealers is responsible for the use of 

proceeds for any Notes issued as Green Bonds, nor the impact or monitoring of such use of proceeds. 

Sustainalytics B.V. has issued an independent opinion, dated 26 August 2020, on the Issuer’s Green 

Bond Framework (the “Second-Party Opinion”). The Second-Party Opinion provides an opinion on 

certain environmental and related considerations and is not intended to address any credit, market or 

other aspects of an investment in any Notes, including without limitation market price, marketability, 

investor preference or suitability of any security. The Second-Party Opinion is a statement of opinion, 

not a statement of fact. The Second-Party Opinion is not, nor should be deemed to be, a recommendation 

by the Dealers or any other person to buy, sell or hold any Notes. No representation or assurance is given 

by the Dealers as to the suitability or reliability of the Second-Party Opinion or any opinion or 

certification of any third party made available in connection with an issue of Notes issued as Green 

Bonds, nor is any such opinion or certification a recommendation by any Dealer to buy, sell or hold any 

such Notes. The Second-Party Opinion and any other such opinion or certification does not form part 

of, nor is incorporated by reference in, this Base Listing Particulars. The Second-Party Opinion and any 

other such opinion or certification does not form part of, nor is incorporated by reference in, this Base 

Listing Particulars. 

In the event any such Notes are, or are intended to be, listed, or admitted to trading on a dedicated 

“green”, “sustainable”, “social” or other equivalently-labelled segment of a stock exchange or securities 

market, no representation or assurance is given by the Dealers that such listing or admission will be 

obtained or maintained for the lifetime of the Notes. 

Restrictions on distribution 

The distribution of this Base Listing Particulars and any Pricing Supplement and the offering, sale and 

delivery of the Notes in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession 

this Base Listing Particulars or any Pricing Supplement comes are required by the Issuer and the Dealers 

to inform themselves about and to observe any such restrictions. For a description of certain restrictions 

on offers, sales and deliveries of Notes and on the distribution of this Base Listing Particulars or any 

Pricing Supplement and other offering material relating to the Notes, see “Subscription and Sale”.  

In particular, the Notes have not been, and will not be, registered under the United States Securities Act 

of 1933 (as amended) (the “Securities Act”) or with any securities regulatory authority of any state or 

other jurisdiction of the United States, and Notes in bearer form are subject to U.S. tax law requirements. 

The Notes may not be offered, sold or (in the case of Notes in bearer form) delivered within the United 

States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S) except in certain 

transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act.  

NEITHER THE PROGRAMME NOR THE NOTES HAVE BEEN APPROVED OR 

DISAPPROVED BY THE U.S. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION (THE “SEC”), 

ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION IN THE UNITED STATES OR ANY OTHER U.S. 

REGULATORY AUTHORITY, NOR HAS ANY OF THE FOREGOING AUTHORITIES 

PASSED UPON OR ENDORSED THE MERITS OF ANY OFFERING OF NOTES OR THE 

ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THIS BASE LISTING PARTICULARS. ANY 

REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE IN THE UNITED 

STATES. 

Neither this Base Listing Particulars nor any Pricing Supplement constitutes an offer or an invitation to 

subscribe for or purchase any Notes and should not be considered as a recommendation by the Issuer, 

the Dealers or any of them that any recipient of this Base Listing Particulars or any Pricing Supplement 
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should subscribe for or purchase any Notes. Each recipient of this Base Listing Particulars or any Pricing 

Supplement shall be taken to have made its own investigation and appraisal of the condition (financial 

or otherwise) of the Issuer. 

This Base Listing Particulars has been prepared on the basis that any offer of Notes in any Member State 

of the EEA will be made pursuant to an exemption under the Prospectus Regulation from the 

requirement to publish a prospectus for offers of Notes. Accordingly any person making or intending to 

make an offer of Notes which are the subject of an offering contemplated in this Base Listing Particulars 

as completed by a Pricing Supplement in relation to the offer of those Notes may only do so in 

circumstances in which no obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish a prospectus pursuant 

to Article 3 of the Prospectus Regulation or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 23 of the 

Prospectus Regulation, in each case, in relation to such offer. Neither the Issuer nor any Dealer has 

authorised, nor do they authorise, the making of any offer of Notes in circumstances in which an 

obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish or supplement a prospectus for such offer. 

This Base Listing Particulars has been prepared on the basis that any offer of Notes in the UK will be 

made pursuant to an exemption under Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic law in 

the UK by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (“EUWA”) (the “UK Prospectus 

Regulation”) from the requirement to publish a prospectus for offers of Notes. Accordingly any person 

making or intending to make an offer of Notes which are the subject of an offering contemplated in this 

Base Listing Particulars as completed by a Pricing Supplement in relation to the offer of those Notes 

may only do so in circumstances in which no obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish a 

prospectus pursuant to the UK Prospectus Regulation or supplement a prospectus pursuant to the UK 

Prospectus Regulation, in each case, in relation to such offer. Neither the Issuer nor any Dealer has 

authorised, nor do they authorise, the making of any offer of Notes in circumstances in which an 

obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish or supplement a prospectus for such offer. 

Product Governance under MiFID II  

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the MiFID 

Product Governance rules under EU Delegated Directive 2017/593 (the “MiFID Product Governance 

Rules”), any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise 

neither the Arranger nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the 

purpose of the MiFID Product Governance Rules.  

The Pricing Supplement in respect of any Notes may include a legend entitled “MiFID II Product 

Governance” which will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels 

for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending 

the Notes (a “distributor”) should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a 

distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect 

of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate 

distribution channels. 

Product Governance under Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of the domestic law of 

the UK by virtue of the EUWA (“UK MiFIR”). 

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the UK MiFIR 

Product Governance rules under the UK Financial Conducts Authority (“FCA”) Handbook Product 

Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the “UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules”), any 

Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise neither the 

Arranger nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of 

the UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules.  

The Pricing Supplement in respect of any Notes may include a legend entitled “UK MiFIR Product 

Governance” which will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels 

for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any distributor should take into consideration the target 
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market assessment; however, a distributor subject to UK MiFIR is responsible for undertaking its own 

target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market 

assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.  

PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS – If the Pricing Supplement in respect 

of any Notes includes a legend entitled “Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors”, the Notes are not 

intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise 

made available to any retail investor in the EEA. For these purposes, a retail investor means a person 

who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (ii) a 

customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (the “Insurance Distribution Directive”), 

where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of 

MiFID II. Consequently, no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as 

amended, the “PRIIPs Regulation”) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them 

available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or 

otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs 

Regulation. 

PROHIBITION OF SALES TO UK RETAIL INVESTORS – If the Pricing Supplement in respect 

of any Notes includes a legend entitled “Prohibition of Sales to UK Retail Investors”, the Notes are not 

intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise 

made available to any retail investor in the UK. For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who 

is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565, 

as it forms part of the domestic law of the UK by virtue of the EUWA; or (ii) a customer within the 

meaning of the provisions of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the “FSMA”) and any rules 

or regulations made under the FSMA to implement the Insurance Distribution Directive, where that 

customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation 

(EU) No 600/2014, as it forms part of the domestic law of the UK by virtue of the EUWA; or (iii) not a 

qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of the UK Prospectus Regulation. Consequently, no key 

information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014, as it forms part of the domestic law 

of the UK by virtue of the EUWA (the “UK PRIIPs Regulation”), for offering or selling the Notes or 

otherwise making them available to retail investors in the UK has been prepared and therefore offering 

or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the UK may be unlawful 

under the UK PRIIPs Regulation. 

Product classification pursuant to Section 309B of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 (2020 

Revised Edition) of Singapore 

The Pricing Supplement in respect of any Notes may include a legend entitled “Singapore Securities 

and Futures Act Product Classification” which will state the product classification of the Notes pursuant 

to Section 309B(1) of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 (2020 Revised Edition) of Singapore (as 

modified or amended from time to time, the “SFA”). The Issuer will make a determination and provide 

the appropriate written notification to “relevant persons” in relation to each issue about the classification 

of the Notes being offered for the purposes of Section 309B(1)(a) and Section 309B(1)(c) of the SFA. 

Unlimited Programme 

The aggregate nominal amount of Notes which may be issued and outstanding at any one time under 

the Programme is unlimited. 

Certain definitions 

In this Base Listing Particulars, unless otherwise specified: 

“EUR” or “euro” refers to the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic 

and monetary union, and as defined in Article 2 of Council Regulation (EC) No 974/98 of 3 May 1998 

on the introduction of the euro, as amended. 
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“GLA” refers to gross lettable area. 

“Gross Rental Income” refers to rental income and service charge income for the relevant period. 

“Group” refers to the Issuer and its consolidated subsidiaries. 

“Indebtedness” is defined as interest-bearing loans and borrowings from financial institutions. 

“Leasing Activity” refers to the sum of new contracts or amendments for either newly leased or 

prolonged premises in a given period. 

“Occupancy Rate” refers to the proportion of the aggregate GLA of the properties (whether or not 

capable of being let) which is subject to tenancies at that point in time. For the avoidance of doubt, the 

aggregate GLA includes areas designated as structurally vacant or under refurbishment. Any 

development to create new lettable area at any property shall only be included when the relevant space 

or development is complete and available to generate income. 

“Rental Collection” refers to trade receivables more than 15 days overdue as a percentage of the last 

12 months’ billings including rent, service charges, extras and tenant direct re-charges. 

“Retention Rate” refers to the part of total rental income that expires in one year and is prolonged with 

existing clients, as part of the total rental income of leases which expire in the same year. 

“WAULT” refers to weighted average unexpired lease term. 

Rounding 

Certain figures included in this Base Listing Particulars have been subject to rounding adjustments; 

accordingly, figures shown for the same category presented in different tables may vary slightly and 

figures shown as totals in certain tables may not be an arithmetic aggregation of the figures which 

precede them. 

Ratings 

Tranches of Notes issued under the Programme will be rated or unrated. Where a Tranche of Notes is 

rated, such rating will not necessarily be the same as the rating(s) described above or the rating(s) 

assigned to Notes already issued. Where a Tranche of Notes is rated, the applicable rating(s) will be 

specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement. Whether or not each credit rating applied for in relation to 

a relevant Tranche of Notes will be (1) issued by a credit rating agency established in the EEA and 

registered under the CRA Regulation, or (2) issued by a credit rating agency established in the UK and 

registered under the UK CRA Regulation or (3) issued by a credit rating agency which is not established 

in the EEA but will be endorsed by a credit rating agency which is established in the EEA and registered 

under the CRA Regulation or (4) issued by a credit rating agency which is not established in the UK but 

will be endorsed by a credit rating agency which is established in the UK and registered under the UK 

CRA Regulation or (5) issued by a credit rating agency which is not established in the EEA but which 

is certified under the CRA Regulation or (6) issued by a credit rating agency which is not established in 

the UK but which is certified under the UK CRA Regulation will be disclosed in the Pricing Supplement.  

In general, European regulated investors are restricted from using a rating for regulatory purposes if 

such rating is not issued by a credit rating agency established in the EEA and registered under the CRA 

Regulation unless (1) the rating is provided by a credit rating agency not established in the EEA but is 

endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the EEA and registered under the CRA Regulation or 

(2) the rating is provided by a credit rating agency not established in the EEA but which is certified 

under the CRA Regulation. Similarly, in general, UK regulated investors are restricted from using a 

rating for regulatory purposes if such rating is not issued by a credit rating agency established in the UK 

and registered under the UK CRA Regulation or (1) the rating is provided by a credit rating agency not 

established in the UK but is endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the UK and registered 

under the UK CRA Regulation or (2) the rating is provided by a credit rating agency not established in 



 

EMEA 138069526 

6 
 

 

the UK but which is certified under the UK CRA Regulation. If the status of the rating agency rating the 

Notes changes for the purposes of the CRA Regulation or the UK CRA Regulation, relevant regulated 

investors may no longer be able to use the rating for regulatory purposes in the EEA or the UK, as 

applicable, and the Notes may have a different regulatory treatment, which may impact the value of the 

Notes and their liquidity in any secondary market. A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold 

Notes and may be subject to suspension, change or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating 

agency. 

Suitability of investment 

The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors. Each potential investor in the Notes must 

determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. In particular, each potential 

investor may wish to consider, either on its own or with the help of its financial and other professional 

advisers, whether it: 

(i) has sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the 

merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained or incorporated by 

reference in this Base Listing Particulars or any applicable supplement; 

(ii) has access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its 

particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact the Notes will have on 

its overall investment portfolio; 

(iii) has sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the 

Notes, including Notes where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from 

the potential investor’s currency; 

(iv) understands thoroughly the terms of the Notes and is familiar with the behaviour of financial 

markets; and 

(v) is able to evaluate possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect 

its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks. 

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments. The investment activities of certain 

investors are subject to investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation by certain authorities. 

Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent 

(1) Notes are legal investments for it, (2) Notes can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing 

and (3) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Notes. Financial institutions should 

consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Notes 

under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules. 

Stabilisation 

In connection with the issue of any Tranche of Notes, the Dealer or Dealers (if any) named as the 

Stabilising Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilising Manager(s)) in the relevant 

Pricing Supplement may over allot Notes or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market 

price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However, stabilisation may 

not necessarily occur. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public 

disclosure of the terms of the offer of the relevant Tranche of Notes is made and, if begun, may cease at 

any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche 

of Notes and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the relevant Tranche of Notes. Any stabilisation 

action or over-allotment must be conducted by the relevant Stabilising Manager(s) (or person(s) acting 

on behalf of any Stabilising Manager(s)) in accordance with all applicable laws and rules.  
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Market and Industry Data 

In this Base Listing Particulars, reference is made to information regarding the Group’s business and 

the markets in which it operates and competes. The market data and certain economic and industry data 

and forecasts used in this Base Listing Particulars were obtained from publications by third-party 

industry sources and international organisations and other publicly available information, such as 

CBRE, EIU, JLL, Standard & Poor’s and Thomson Reuters Eikon Consensus. In addition to the 

foregoing, certain information regarding markets, market rents, growth rates and other data pertaining 

to the Group and the market the Group operates in were based on estimates prepared by management 

based on certain assumptions and management’s knowledge of the industry in which the Group operates. 

Industry publications and forecasts generally state that the information they contain has been obtained 

from sources believed to be reliable, but that the accuracy and completeness of such information is not 

guaranteed. Any information sourced from third parties has been accurately reproduced and, as far as 

the Issuer is aware and is able to ascertain from information published by that third party, no facts have 

been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. The Group has 

not independently verified such data and cannot guarantee its accuracy or completeness. The coronavirus 

COVID-19 (“COVID-19”) pandemic has had a significant negative impact on the European economy, 

including the markets in which the Group operates. Accordingly, any market data, economic and 

industry data, forecasts and information in relation to the markets in which the Group operates, referred 

to in this Base Listing Particulars, may not accurately reflect the current conditions of such markets as 

they may not fully contemplate the effects of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic.  

None of the Issuer, the Arranger or the Dealers gives any assurance as to the accuracy and completeness 

of, or take any responsibility for, the market and industry data contained or incorporated by reference in 

this Base Listing Particulars. 

Presentation of Financial Information 

IFRS information 

Unless otherwise indicated, the financial information in this Base Listing Particulars relating to the 

Group has been derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the period 

from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 and extended period from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 

2020, which both comprise, among other things, the consolidated statements of financial position as of 

31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 and the related consolidated statements of profit and loss 

and comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flows for the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 

December 2021 and 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2020, and the related notes to the consolidated 

financial statements (the “Financial Statements”). See “Information Incorporated by Reference”.  

The Issuer was incorporated on 21 October 2019 as a holding company for the Group as part of its 

corporate restructuring. The Group originally operated through two sub-groups under common control: 

(i) CTP Property B.V. with its consolidated subsidiaries as the holding entities of the income producing 

property portfolio of the Group (the “CTP Property Sub-Group”); and (ii) CTP Invest, spol. s.r.o. 

(“CTP Invest”) with its consolidated subsidiaries as the development and property management arm 

(the “CTP Invest Sub-Group” and together with the CTP Property Sub-Group, the “Sub-Groups”). 

On 31 October 2019, the CTP Property Sub-Group was transferred to the Issuer and on 27 January 2020, 

the CTP Invest Sub-Group was transferred to the Issuer to form the Group as it exists as of the date of 

this Base Listing Particulars (together, the “Restructuring”). For the current structure of the Group, 

please see “Description of the Issuer—Group Structure”. 

The Issuer’s first statutory financial year was extended and covered a period of from 1 January 2019 to 

31 December 2020. For the period of 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 the statutory financial year 

was 12 months.  

As the comparative figures over 2019-2020 cover 24 months, these are not comparable with the figures 

for the statutory financial year ended 31 December 2021 which covers 12 months. For information 

purposes and to provide investors with meaningful and more representative historical financial 
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information relevant to their investment decision, a breakdown of the extended financial year (2019-

2020) into the 12 month period for the year ended 31 December 2021 was prepared by the Issuer. 

The Issuer’s financial year ends on 31 December and references in this Base Listing Particulars to any 

specific year are to the 12-month period ended on 31 December of such year. The Financial Statements 

have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted 

in the European Union (the “EU”). The Financial Statements are a reproduction of the statutory financial 

statements of the Issuer and have been provided with an audit opinion by the external auditor.  

The Financial Statements and financial information included elsewhere in this Base Listing Particulars 

have, unless otherwise noted, been presented in euro. 

Non-IFRS Information 

To supplement the Financial Statements, the Group uses certain other ratios and measures included in 

this Base Listing Particulars that are not measures defined by IFRS, namely EBITDA, Adjusted 

EBITDA, Company specific Adjusted Earnings, Company specific Adjusted EPRA Earnings per Share, 

EPRA Earnings, EPRA Net Initial Yield, EPRA Topped-up Net Initial Yield, EPRA NTA per Share or 

EPRA Net Tangible Assets per Share, GAV, Like-for-Like Rental Income Growth, ICR, Net 

Indebtedness, Net LTV and Valuation Yield. 

“EBITDA” is defined as profit for the period excluding income tax expenses, interest income, interest 

expense and depreciation and amortisation. 

The following table provides a reconciliation of the Group’s and the Group’s segments’ EBITDA for 

the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020: 

“Adjusted EBITDA” is defined as EBITDA adjusted for items that are not indicative of the Group’s 

ongoing operating performance such as net valuation result on investment property, other financial 

expense, other financial gains and losses, profit (loss) on disposal of investment properties and the net 

 

Czech 

Republic Romania Hungary Slovakia Netherlands Hotels Other 

Inter 

segment 

eliminati

ons Total 

  (in EUR thousands) 

Year ended 31 

December 2021 

 

Profit for the 

period ...................  675,649 111,087 133,305 90,783 (7,155) (2,823) 25,090 -- 1,025,936 

Amortisation and 

depreciation ..........  7,622 329 160 62 18 -- 256 -- 8,447 

Interest Income ....  (36) -- (3) -- (63,513) (78) -- 61,637 (1,993) 

Interest expense ....  46,528 25,623 8,400 5,897 39,260 698 6,114 (61,637) 70,883 

Income tax 

expenses ...............  183,169 21,868 13,743 24,636 (5,692) (526) 13,556 -- 250,754  

EBITDA ..............  912,932 158,907 155,605 121,378 (37,082) (2,729) 45,016 -- 1,354,027 

Year ended 31 

December 2020  

Profit for the 

period ...................  146,421 42,245 53,998 14,456 (6,499) (6,669) 8,572 -- 252,524 

Amortisation and 

depreciation ..........  7,909 231 151 67 -- 1,943 161 -- 10,462 

Interest Income ....  (2,470) -- (13) -- (10,443) (197) (1) 12,171 (953) 

Interest expense ....  42,091 18,198 5,860 5,329 6,214 671 2,342 (12,171) 68,534 

Income tax 

expenses ...............  24,986 662 6,765 4,081 1,866 (1,394) 935 -- 37,901 

EBITDA ..............  218,531 61,336 66,761 23,933 (8,862) (5,646) 12,009 -- 368,062 
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result from the turn-key development project in Stříbro in the Czech Republic, which was finished in 

2020.1  

The following table provides a reconciliation of the Group’s and the Group’s segments’ Adjusted 

EBITDA for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020:  

“Company specific Adjusted Earnings” is defined as EPRA Earnings adjusted for the after (deferred) 

tax effect from the adjustment for rental income for sold portfolio, impairment/depreciation on property, 

plant and equipment, foreign exchange gains/losses related to company restructuring, intra-group 

transfer of SPV’s and associated costs with establishment capital market structure.  

The following table provides a reconciliation of the Group’s Company specific Adjusted Earnings as of 

31 December 2021 and 2020:  

                                                      
1  The net result from the turn-key project was not indicative of ongoing operating performance as the project was the only 

turn-key project in the Group’s history, therefore no comparable numbers are available for previous years. The Group 

currently has no intention to undertake turn-key projects in the future and it undertakes developments only to grow its 

own property portfolio. 

 

Czech 

Republic Romania Hungary Slovakia 

Netherla

nds Hotels Other 

Inter-

segment 

eliminat

ion Total 

 (in EUR thousands) 

Year ended 31 

December 2021  

EBITDA ................  912,932 158,907 155,605 121,378 (37,082) (2,729) 45,016 -- 1,354,027 

Net valuation result 

on investment 

property  .................  (733,943) (110,458) (123,310) (100,271) 8,360 -- (40,949) -- (1,100,571) 

Other financial 

expense  .................  14,082 3,924 2,451 229 17,220 74 140 -- 38,120 

Other financial 

gains / losses  .........  2,142 (1,065) (12,410) 8 3,592 (95) 936 -- (6,892) 

Profit (loss) on 

disposal of 

investment 

properties  ..............  (2,233) -- -- -- -- -- -- -- (2,233) 

Net income from 

development 

activities for turn-

key project  ............  -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Adjusted EBITDA  192,980 51,308 22,336 21,344 (7,910) (2,750) 5,143 -- 282,451 

Year ended 31 

December 2020  

EBITDA ................  218,531 61,336 66,761 23,933 (8,862) (5,646) 12,009 -- 368,062 

Net valuation result 

on investment 

property  .................  (62,577) (22,681) (53,092) (5,037) -- -- (8,775) -- (152,162) 

Other financial 

expense  .................  4,304 2,863 744 1,133 1,244 235 978 -- 11,501 

Other financial 

gains / losses  .........  23,033 (2,744) 2,496 (657) (65) 146 170 -- 22,379 

Profit (loss) on 

disposal of 

investment 

properties  ..............  -- -- -- -- -- -- 933 -- 933 

Net income from 

development 

activities for turn-

key project  ............  (22,090) -- -- -- -- -- -- -- (22,090) 

Adjusted EBITDA ...  161,201 38,774 16,909 19,372 (7,683) (5,265) 5,315 -- 228,623 
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 As of 31 December 

2021 2020 

(in EUR thousands) 

EPRA Earnings  ...................................................  140,703 155,395 

Impairment/depreciation on property, plant and 

equipment .............................................................  

 

(5,657) 

 

(6,122) 

FX related to company restructuring, intra-group 

transfer of SPV’s ..................................................  (5,306) 17,866 

Adjustment associated costs with establishment 

capital market structure(1) .....................................  

 

(41,094) 

 

(6,479) 

Deferred tax in respect of Company specific 

adjustments ..........................................................  

 

6,654 

 

1,163 

Company specific Adjusted Earnings ...............  186,106 148,967 
 

Notes: 

(1) Costs associated with the establishment of a capital market structure include costs for technical and legal due diligence and costs for 

premature loan repayments. 

“Company specific Adjusted EPRA Earnings per Share” is defined as EPRA Earnings based upon 

the average number of shares outstanding during the respective reporting period adjusted by Company 

specific Adjusted Earnings. 

The following table provides a reconciliation of the Group’s Company specific Adjusted EPRA 

Earnings per Share as of 31 December 2021 and 2020: 

 Year ended 31 December 

 2021 2020 

 (in EUR thousand, unless otherwise indicated) 

EPRA Earnings ....................................................  140,703 155,395 

Average number of shares ....................................  383,407 336,000 

Impairment/depreciation on property, plant and 

equipment .............................................................  (5,657) (6,122) 

FX related to company restructuring, intra-group 

transfer of SPV’s ..................................................  (5,306) 17,866 

Adjustment associated costs with establishment 

capital market structure ........................................  (41,094) (6,479) 

Deferred tax in respect of Company specific 

adjustments ..........................................................  6,654 1,163 

Company specific Adjusted Earnings ..................  186,106 148,967 

Company specific Adjusted EPRA Earnings 

per Share (in EUR) .............................................  0.49 0.44 

“EPRA Earnings” is defined as the net income generated from the operational activities excluding all 

components (after tax) not relevant to the underlying net income performance of the portfolio, such as 

the change in value of the underlying investments, any gains or losses from the sales of properties. 

The following table provides a reconciliation of the Group’s EPRA Earnings as of 31 December 2021 

and 2020:  

 As of 31 December 

2021 2020 

(in EUR thousands) 

Earnings per IFRS income statement ...................  1,025,936 252,118 

Changes in value of investment properties, 

development properties held for investment and 

other interests .......................................................  1,100,571 152,162 

Profits or losses on disposal of investment 

properties, development properties held for 

investment and other interests ..............................  2,233 (933) 

Tax on profits or losses on disposal .....................  (146) - 

Changes in fair value of financial instruments and 

associated close-out costs .....................................  12,126 (40,272) 



 

EMEA 138069526 

11 
 

 

Acquisition costs on share deals and non-

controlling joint venture interests .........................  (1,648) - 

Deferred tax in respect of EPRA adjustments ......  (227,903) (14,234) 

EPRA Earnings ..................................................  140,703 155,395 

“EPRA Net Initial Yield” is defined as annualised rental income based upon the cash passing rent at 

balance sheet date less non recoverable property operating expenses divided by the market value of 

income-generating investment property. 

The following table provides a reconciliation of the Group’s EPRA Net Initial Yield as of 31 December 

2021 and 2020: 

 As of 31 December 

2021 2020 

(in EUR thousands, unless otherwise indicated) 

Investment property – wholly owned .......................................  7,822,472 5,447,632 

      less Developments ..............................................................  774,204 387,347 

Completed property portfolio ...................................................  7,048,268 5,060,285 

Annualised cash passing rental income ....................................  379,001 302,816 

Property outgoings ...................................................................  9,103 7,454 

Annualised net rents .................................................................  369,898 295,362 

EPRA Net Initial Yield (in per cent.) .....................................  5.2 5.8 

“EPRA Topped-up Net Initial Yield” is defined as annualised rental income based upon the cash 

passing rent at balance sheet date less non recoverable property operating expenses adjusted notional 

rent expiration of for rent free periods and other lease incentives divided by the market value of income-

generating investment property. 

The following table provides a reconciliation of the Group’s EPRA Topped-up Net Initial Yield as of 

31 December 2021 and 2020: 

 As of 31 December 

2021 2020 

(in EUR thousands, unless otherwise indicated) 

Investment property – wholly owned .......................................  7,822,472 5,447,632 

      less Developments ..............................................................  774,204 387,347 

Completed property portfolio ...................................................  7,048,268 5,060,285 

Annualised cash passing rental income ....................................  379,001 302,816 

Property outgoings ...................................................................  9,103 7,454 

Notional rent expiration of rent free periods or other lease 

incentives .................................................................................  21,435 19,724 

Topped-up net annualised rent .................................................  391,333 315,086 

EPRA Topped-up Net Initial Yield (in per cent.) .................  5.6 6.2 

“EPRA NTA per Share” or “EPRA Net Tangible Assets per Share” is defined as total equity 

attributable to owners of the Issuer excluding deferred tax in relation to net valuation result of investment 

property and investment property under development with intention to hold and not sell in the long run, 

excluding Fair value of financial instruments and excluding intangibles, based upon the average number 

of shares outstanding during the respective reporting period. 

The following table provides a reconciliation of the Group’s EPRA NTA per Share as of 31 December 

2021 and 2020: 

 As of 31 December 

2021 2020 

(in EUR thousands) 

IFRS Equity attributable to shareholders .................................  4,106,830 2,263,202 

Deferred tax in relation to fair value gains of IP ......................  725,779 500,129 

Fair value of financial instruments ...........................................  (172) 34,066 

Intangibles as per the IFRS balance sheet ................................  (2,111) (2,418) 

Fully diluted number of shares .................................................  400,393 336,000 

EPRA NTA per Share ............................................................  12.06 8.32 
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“GAV” is defined as the gross asset value calculated as the aggregate of investment property, investment 

property under development and property, plant and equipment as presented in the financial statements 

in accordance with IFRS. 

The following table provides a reconciliation of the Group’s and the Group’s segments’ GAV as of 

31 December 2021 and 2020: 

Notes: 

(1) The Group’s income producing assets consist of investment property with land bank. 

“ICR” is defined as the ratio of the Group’s total bank interest expense, interest expense from financial 

derivatives and interest expense from bonds issued, excluding interest expense from liabilities due from 

related parties and arrangement fees to Adjusted EBITDA. 

The following table provides an overview of the Group’s ICR for the years ended 31 December 2021 

and 2020:  

 Years ended 31 December 

 2021 2020 

 (in EUR thousands, except ratio) 

Interest expense excluding interest expense from liabilities due 

from related parties and arrangement fees ................................ 56,975 60,626 

Adjusted EBITDA .................................................................... 284,451 228,623 

ICR (ratio) ............................................................................... 5.0 3.8 

“Like-for-Like Rental Income Growth” is defined as organic growth of the contracted rental income 

year-on-year, excluding development projects, acquisitions, vacancy movement and disposals during 

both periods of this comparison. 

 Year ended 31 December 

2021 2020 

(in per cent.) 

Group ...................................................................................... 1.6 1.5 

Czech Republic ........................................................................ 1.6 1.6 

Romania ................................................................................... 1.5 1.3 

Hungary.................................................................................... 1.6 1.0 

Slovakia.................................................................................... 1.1 1.5 

 

Czech 

Republic Romania Hungary Slovakia Netherlands Hotels Other Total  

 (in EUR thousands) 

As of 31 

December 2021         

Investment 

Property(1) .....  4,517,045 1,326,691 758,453 595,995 62,091 -- 314,832 7,575,107 

Investment 

Property under 

Development .  201,175 62,950 89,334 48,621 285,095 -- 87,028 774,203 

Property, plant 

and equipment 

(PPE) .............  46,280 659 662 223 219 59,254 3,670 110,967 

GAV .............  4,764,500 1,390,300 848,449 644,839 347,405 59,254 405,530 8,460,277 

As of 31 

December 2020         

Investment 

Property(1) .....  3,543,874 943,630  371,820 362,940 -- -- 163,966 5,386,230 

Investment 

Property under 

Development .  246,246 32,199 68,579 24,180 -- -- 16,143 387,347 

Property, plant 

and equipment 

(PPE) .............  37,658 683 300 188 -- 59,492 563 98,884 

GAV .............  3,827,778 976,512 440,699 387,308 -- 59,492 180,672 5,872,461 
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“Net Indebtedness” is defined as interest-bearing loans and borrowings from financial institutions and 

bonds after deduction of cash and cash equivalents. 

“Net LTV” is defined as the net loan-to-value ratio, which is the aggregate amount of interest-bearing 

loans and borrowings from financial institutions plus bonds issued after deduction of cash and cash 

equivalents as a percentage of GAV. 

The following table provides a reconciliation of the Group’s Net LTV for the years ended 31 December 

2021 and 2020:  

 Years ended 31 December 

 2021 2020 

(in EUR million, unless otherwise indicated) 

Interest-bearing loans from and borrowings from financial 

institutions and bond issued ................................................... 4,512,996 3,394,258 

Cash and cash equivalents...................................................... 892,816 419,141 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings reduced by cash 

and cash equivalents ............................................................ 3,620,180 2,975,117 

Investment property including investment property under 

development ........................................................................... 8,349,310 5,773,577 

Property, plant and equipment (PPE) ..................................... 110,967 98,884 

Total investment property and PPE ................................... 8,460,277 5,872,461 

Net LTV (in per cent.)........................................................... 42.8 50.7 

“Valuation Yield” is defined as annualised rental income as a percentage of GAV of investment 

property owned by the Group, excluding the value of the Group’s land bank. 

The following table provides a reconciliation of the Group’s Valuation Yield as of 31 December 2021 

and 2020: 

 As of 31 December 

2021 2020 

(in EUR thousands, unless otherwise indicated) 

Annualised cash passing rental income ......................................  379,001 302,816 

Investment property ...................................................................  7,575,107 5,386,230 

Land bank  ..................................................................................  (526,838) (325,945) 

Investment property excl. land bank  .........................................  7,048,269 5,060,285 

Valuation Yield (in per cent.)  ..................................................  5.4 6.0 

The Group has presented these measures (1) as they are used by its management to monitor its financial 

position for outstanding debt and available operating liquidity and (2) to represent similar measures that 

are widely used by certain investors, securities analysts and other interested parties as supplemental 

measures of financial position, financial performance and liquidity. The Group believes that the 

inclusion of these ratios and measures, when considered in conjunction with measures reported under 

IFRS, enhance the investor’s understanding of the Group’s indebtedness and its current ability to fund 

its ongoing operations. 

However, the non-IFRS measures mentioned in this Base Listing Particulars are used by different 

companies for differing purposes and are often calculated in ways that reflect the circumstances of those 

companies. Investors should exercise caution in comparing non-IFRS measures mentioned in this Base 

Listing Particulars to similar measures used by other companies. 

Further, none of these non-IFRS measures is a measurement of performance under IFRS, and investors 

should not consider non-IFRS measures mentioned in this Base Listing Particulars as an alternative to 

net income, operating profit, cash flows from operations, investing activities or financing activities or 

other measures determined in accordance with IFRS. These non-IFRS measures have limitations as 

analytical tools, and investors should not consider them in isolation. Some of these limitations include 

that: 
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 they do not reflect cash expenditures or future requirements for capital expenditures or 

contractual commitments; 

 they do not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, working capital needs; 

 they do not reflect the interest expense, or the cash requirements necessary, to service interest 

or principal payments on debt; 

 although depreciation and amortisation are non-monetary charges, the assets being depreciated 

and amortised will often need to be replaced in the future and EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA 
do not reflect any cash requirements that would be required for such replacements; 

 some of the items eliminated in calculating EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA reflect cash 

payments that were made, or will be made in the future; and 

 the fact that other companies in the same industry may calculate EBITDA and Adjusted 

EBITDA and the other non-IFRS measures mentioned in this Base Listing Particulars 

differently than those mentioned in this Base Listing Particulars, which limits their usefulness 

as comparative measures. 

Use of Certain Terms and Conventions 

The terms EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA, Company specific Adjusted EPRA Earnings per Share, EPRA 

Earnings, EPRA Net Initial Yield, EPRA Topped-up Net Initial Yield, EPRA NTA per Share or EPRA 

Net Tangible Assets per Share, GAV, GLA, ICR, Like-for-Like Rental Income Growth, Net 

Indebtedness, Net LTV and Valuation Yield included in this Base Listing Particulars do not represent 

the terms of the same or similar names as may be defined by any documentation for any financial 

liabilities of the Group. 
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This Base Listing Particulars contains certain forward-looking statements. The words “anticipate”, 

“believe”, “expect”, “plan”, “intend”, “target”, “aim”, “estimate”, “project”, “will”, “would”, “may”, 

“could”, “continue” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. 

All statements other than statements of historical fact included in this Base Listing Particulars, 

including, without limitation, those regarding the financial position, business strategy, management 

plans and objectives for future operations of the Issuer are forward-looking statements. These forward-

looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, which may cause 

the Group’s actual results, performance or achievements, or industry results, to be materially different 

from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements 

are based on numerous assumptions regarding the Group’s present and future business strategies and 

the environment in which the Group expects to operate in the future. Important factors that could cause 

the Group’s actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from those in the forward-

looking statements include, but are not limited to, those discussed under “Risk Factors”. Any forward-

looking statements made by or on behalf of the Issuer speak only as at the date they are made. The Issuer 

does not undertake to update forward-looking statements to reflect any changes in its expectations with 

regard thereto or any changes in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statement is 

based.  
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OVERVIEW 

The following overview does not purport to be complete and is taken from, and is qualified in its 

entirety by, the remainder of this Base Listing Particulars and, in relation to the terms and conditions 

of any particular Tranche of Notes, the relevant Pricing Supplement. The Issuer and any relevant 

Dealer may agree that Notes shall be issued in a form other than that contemplated in the Terms and 

Conditions, in which event, in the case of listed Notes only and if appropriate, a new Listing 

Particulars will be published. 

Words and expressions defined in the “Terms and Conditions of the Notes” below or elsewhere in this 

Base Listing Particulars have the same meanings in this overview. 

The Issuer: CTP N.V. 

Arranger: Morgan Stanley Europe SE 

Dealers: Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG 

Erste Group Bank AG  

Goldman Sachs Bank Europe SE 

ING Bank N.V. 

J.P. Morgan SE 

KBC Bank NV 

Morgan Stanley Europe SE 

Raiffeisen Bank International AG 

Société Générale 

UniCredit Bank AG  

Trustee: Citicorp Trustee Company Limited 

Registrar: Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG 

Principal Paying Agent and 

Transfer Agent: 

Citibank, N.A., London Branch 

Description: Euro Medium Term Note Programme 

Certain Restrictions: Each issue of Notes denominated in a currency in respect of which 

particular laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or reporting 

requirements apply will only be issued in circumstances which 

comply with such laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or 

reporting requirements from time to time (see “Subscription and 

Sale”) including the following restrictions applicable at the date 

of this Base Listing Particulars. 

 Notes having a maturity of less than one year 

Notes having a maturity of less than one year will constitute 

deposits for the purposes of the prohibition on accepting deposits 

contained in section 19 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 

2000 (as amended, the “FSMA”) unless they are issued to a 

limited class of professional investors and have a denomination 

of at least £100,000 or its equivalent, see “Subscription and Sale”. 

Programme Size:  The aggregate nominal amount of Notes which may be issued and 

outstanding at any one time under the Programme is unlimited. 



 

EMEA 138069526 

17 
 

 

Issuance in Series:  Notes will be issued in Series. Each Series may comprise one or 

more Tranches issued on different issue dates. The Notes of each 

Series will all be subject to identical terms, except that the issue 

date and the amount of the first payment of interest may be 

different in respect of different Tranches. The Notes of each 

Tranche will also be subject to identical terms in all respects save 

that a Tranche may comprise Notes of different denominations. 

Distribution:  Notes may be distributed by way of private or public placement 

and in each case on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis. 

Currencies:  Notes may be denominated in any currency or currencies agreed 

between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer, subject to any 

applicable legal or regulatory restrictions. 

Maturities:  The Notes will have such maturities as may be agreed between 

the Issuer and the relevant Dealer, subject to such minimum or 

maximum maturities as may be allowed or required from time to 

time by the relevant central bank (or equivalent body) or any laws 

or regulations applicable to the Issuer or the relevant Specified 

Currency. 

Issue Price:  Notes may be issued at an issue price which is at par or at a 

discount to, or premium over, par. 

Interest:  Notes may be interest-bearing or non-interest bearing. Interest 

(if any) may accrue at a fixed rate or a floating rate or a 

combination thereof and the method of calculating interest may 

vary between the issue date and the maturity date of the relevant 

Series. If specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement interest 

may be subject to adjustment pursuant to Condition 8 (Interest 

Rate Adjustment). 

Fixed Rate Notes:  Fixed interest will be payable on such date or dates as may be 

agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer and on 

redemption and will be calculated on the basis of such Day Count 

Fraction as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant 

Dealer. 

Floating Rate Notes: Floating Rate Notes will bear interest at a rate determined: 

 (a) on the same basis as the floating rate under a notional 

interest rate swap transaction in the relevant Specified 

Currency governed by an agreement incorporating (i) if 

“2006 ISDA Definitions” are specified as being 

applicable in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the 2006 

ISDA Definitions (as supplemented, amended and 

updated as at the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the 

Notes of the relevant Series (as specified in the relevant 

Pricing Supplement)) as published by the International 

Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. (“ISDA”) or (ii) 

if “ISDA 2021 Definitions” are specified as being 

applicable in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the latest 

version of ISDA 2021 Interest Rate Derivatives 

Definitions, including each Matrix (as defined therein) 

(and any successor thereto), as specified in the relevant 

Pricing Supplement, each as published by ISDA (or any 
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successor) on its website (www.isda.org), on the date of 

issue of the first Tranche of the Notes of such Series;  or 

 (b) on the basis of a reference rate appearing on the agreed 

screen page of a commercial quotation service. 

 The margin (if any) relating to such floating rate will be agreed 

between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer for each Series of 

Floating Rate Notes. 

 Floating Rate Notes may also have a maximum interest rate, a 

minimum interest rate or both. 

 Interest on Floating Rate Notes in respect of each Interest Period, 

as agreed prior to issue by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer, will 

be payable on such Interest Payment Dates, and will be calculated 

on the basis of such Day Count Fraction, as may be agreed 

between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer. 

Benchmark Discontinuation: In the case of Floating Rate Notes, if a Benchmark Event occurs, 

the Issuer shall use its reasonable endeavours to appoint an 

Independent Adviser (as defined in Condition 7) to determine a 

Successor Rate, failing which an Alternative Rate, and in either 

case, an Adjustment Spread and any Benchmark Amendments, as 

further described in Condition 7. 

Zero Coupon Notes:  Zero Coupon Notes will be offered and sold at a discount to their 

nominal amount and will not bear interest. 

Redemption:  The relevant Pricing Supplement will indicate either that the 

relevant Notes cannot be redeemed prior to their stated maturity 

(other than for taxation reasons or following an Event of Default) 

or that such Notes will be redeemable at the option of the Issuer 

and/or the Noteholders upon giving notice to the Noteholders or 

the Issuer, as the case may be, on a date or dates specified prior 

to such stated maturity and at a price or prices and on such other 

terms as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant 

Dealer. 

If Change of Control Put Option is specified as being applicable 

in the relevant Pricing Supplement, and a Change of Control Put 

Event occurs, each Noteholder will have the option (unless, prior 

to the giving of the Change of Control Put Event Notice, the Issuer 

gives notice to redeem the Notes under Condition 10(b) or 

Condition 10(c)) to require the Issuer to redeem or, at the Issuer’s 

option, to procure the purchase of, all or part of its Notes, on the 

Optional Redemption Date at a price of 101 per cent. of the 

principal amount outstanding of such Notes together with (or 

where purchased, together with an amount equal to) interest 

accrued to, but excluding, the Optional Redemption Date. See 

Condition 10(f) (Redemption and Purchase—Change of Control 

Put Option). 

If an Asset Sale Put Event occurs, each Noteholder will have the 

option to require the Issuer to redeem or, at the Issuer’s option, to 

purchase (or procure the purchase of), all or part of its Notes, on 

the Asset Sale Put Date at a price of 101 per cent. of the principal 

amount outstanding of such Notes together with (or where 

purchased, together with an amount equal to) interest accrued to, 

http://www.isda.org/
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but excluding, the date of redemption or purchase. See Condition 

10(g) (Redemption and Purchase—Asset Sale Put Option). 

 Notes having a maturity of less than one year are subject to 

restrictions on their denomination and distribution, see 

“Subscription and Sale—United Kingdom”. 

Denomination of Notes:  No Notes may be issued under the Programme with a minimum 

denomination of less than EUR 100,000 (or its equivalent in any 

other currency). Subject thereto, Notes will be issued in such 

denominations as may be specified in the relevant Pricing 

Supplement, subject to compliance with all applicable legal 

and/or regulatory and/or central bank (or equivalent body) 

requirements. 

 

Taxation:  All payments in respect of the Notes will be made without 

deduction for or on account of withholding taxes imposed by any 

Tax Jurisdiction as provided in Condition 13 (Taxation). In the 

event that any such deduction is made, the Issuer will, save in 

certain limited circumstances provided in Condition 

13 (Taxation), be required to pay additional amounts to cover the 

amounts so deducted. 

Covenants:  The terms of the Notes will contain (i) certain limitations on 

incurrence of Debt, (ii) a negative pledge provision and (iii) 

certain other covenants, each as further described in Condition 5 

(Covenants). 

Cross-acceleration:  The terms of the Notes will contain a cross-acceleration provision 

as further described in Condition 14(c) (Cross-acceleration of the 

Issuer or any Material Subsidiary). 

Listing and admission to trading: Applications have been made for Notes to be admitted during the 

period of twelve months after the date hereof to listing on the 

Official List and to trading on the GEM. 

 Notes may be listed or admitted to trading, as the case may be, on 

other or further stock exchanges or markets agreed between the 

Issuer and the relevant Dealer in relation to the Series. Notes 

which are neither listed nor admitted to trading on any market 

may also be issued. 

 The relevant Pricing Supplement will state whether or not the 

relevant Notes are to be listed and/or admitted to trading and, if 

so, on which stock exchanges and/or markets. 

United States Selling 

Restrictions: 

Regulation S, Category 2. TEFRA C or D/TEFRA not applicable, 

as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement. 

Status: The Notes are senior, unsubordinated, unconditional and 

unsecured obligations of the Issuer. 

Form: The Notes will be issued in bearer or registered form, in each case 

as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.  

Rating: The Issuer has been rated BBB- (stable outlook) by S&P and Baa3 

(stable outlook) by Moody’s. Notes issued under the Programme 

may be rated or unrated. Where a Tranche of Notes is rated, such 

rating will be disclosed in the Pricing Supplement. 

Governing Law: English law. 
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Clearing Systems: Euroclear Bank SA/NV (“Euroclear”) and/or Clearstream 

Banking S.A. (“Clearstream, Luxembourg”) and/or, in relation 

to any Tranche of Notes, any other clearing system as may be 

specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement. 

Selling Restrictions: See “Subscription and Sale”. 

Risk Factors: Investing in the Notes involves risks. See “Risk Factors”. 

Use of Proceeds: See “Use of Proceeds”. 
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RISK FACTORS 

Any investment in the Notes is subject to a number of risks. Prior to investing in the Notes, prospective 

investors should carefully consider risk factors associated with any investment in the Notes, the business 

of the Issuer and the industry in which it operates together with all other information contained in this 

Base Listing Particulars, including, in particular the risk factors described below. Words and 

expressions defined in the “Terms and Conditions of the Notes” below or elsewhere in this Base Listing 

Particulars have the same meanings in this section. 

Prospective investors should note that the risks relating to the Issuer, the industry in which it operates 

and the Notes summarised in the section of this Base Listing Particulars headed “Overview” are the 

risks that the Issuer believes to be the most essential to an assessment by a prospective investor of 

whether to consider an investment in the Notes. However, as the risks which the Issuer faces relate to 

events and depend on circumstances that may or may not occur in the future, prospective investors 

should consider not only the information on the key risks summarised in the section of this Base Listing 

Particulars headed “Overview” but also, among other things, the risks and uncertainties described 

below. 

The following is not an exhaustive list or explanation of all risks which investors may face when making 

an investment in the Notes and should be used as guidance only. Additional risks and uncertainties 

relating to the Issuer that are not currently known to the Issuer, or that either currently deems 

immaterial, may individually or cumulatively also have a material adverse effect on the business, 

prospects, results of operations and/or financial position of the Issuer and, if any such risk should occur, 

the price of the Notes may decline and investors could lose all or part of their investment. Investors 

should consider carefully whether an investment in the Notes is suitable for them in light of the 

information in this Base Listing Particulars and their personal circumstances. 

RISKS RELATING TO THE ISSUER 

Risks related to the Issuer’s ability to fulfil its obligations under the Notes 

The Issuer is a holding company with no revenue generating operations of its own and is dependent 

on cash flow from its operating subsidiaries to service its indebtedness, including the Notes. 

The Issuer is a holding company and its primary assets consist of shares in its subsidiaries and cash in 

its bank accounts. The Issuer has no revenue generating operations of its own, and therefore the Issuer’s 

cash flow and ability to service its indebtedness, including the Notes, will depend primarily on the 

operating performance and financial condition of its operating subsidiaries and the receipt by the Issuer 

of funds from such subsidiaries in the form of interest payments, dividends or otherwise. Because the 

debt service of the Notes is dependent upon the cash flows of the Issuer’s operating subsidiaries, the 

Issuer may be unable to make required interest and principal payments on the Notes. The operating 

performance and financial condition of the Issuer’s operating subsidiaries and the ability of such 

subsidiaries to provide funds to the Issuer by way of interest payments, dividends or otherwise will in 

turn depend, to some extent, on general economics, financial, competitive, market and other factors, 

many of which are beyond the Issuer’s control. Therefore, the Issuer is indirectly subject to the same 

risk factors as the other members of the Group and the Group as a whole, which are described further 

below. The Issuer’s operating subsidiaries may not generate income and cash flow sufficient to enable 

the Issuer to meet the payment obligations on the Notes. 

Risks related to the Group’s business and industry generally  

The recent global coronavirus pandemic has led to significant volatility in financial and other 

markets and could harm the Group’s business and results of operations. 

The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic together with measures aimed at mitigating the further spread 

of COVID-19, such as restrictions on travel, imposition of quarantines, border closures, prolonged 

closures of workplaces, curfews and other social distancing measures, have had a significant adverse 
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effect on the global economy and international financial markets and may have a material adverse effect 

on the Group’s business. 

A number of factors that are important for the Group to successfully conduct its business could be 

materially affected by the COVID-19 pandemic and its long-term consequences. Multiple countries have 

introduced curfews to restrict the spread of COVID-19, cancelling public events, closing restaurants and 

shops and restricting movement and gathering of people. For instance, all the countries in which the 

Group operates, including the Czech Republic, Hungary, Romania and Slovakia, among other countries, 

implemented significant lockdown or curfew measures first in the spring of 2020 and then in the autumn 

of 2020 and again in the spring of 2021, as subsequent waves of COVID-19 started to gain momentum. 

These and similar social distancing measures implemented by countries around the world to slow the 

spread of COVID-19 have resulted in an economic recession in many countries, including those in which 

the Group operates, and could result in a severe or prolonged global recession and financial crisis. As a 

result, many businesses could be forced to close permanently, leading to increases in unemployment. 

Such developments could have a number of effects on the Group’s business, including the following: 

 some tenants in the Group’s properties could find it increasingly difficult to pay rent, thereby 

leading to an increase in late payments and a consequential reduction of the Group’s cash flow; 

 other tenants in the Group’s properties may go bankrupt or may no longer be able to afford to 

pay rent at all and be forced to move out, thereby further reducing the Group’s revenue streams. 

As a result, the Group may be confronted with having lower occupancy levels or having to lower 

rental prices at its properties; 

 the COVID-19 pandemic may have a negative impact on rental and sale prices and overall 

demand for commercial real estate, which may also affect the Group’s cash flow;  

 the COVID-19 pandemic has had and may continue to have a negative impact on the flow of 

goods both within and across international borders, cause disruptions in supply chains and as a 

result affect certain businesses or even entire sectors due to the unavailability of certain goods 

or the resulting increase in the price of such goods; 

 the Group’s development and construction activities may be negatively affected due to, among 

other things, delays in performance of the Group’s contractors or their unavailability in general, 

as well as delays in obtaining necessary permits and authorisations as a result of decreased 

capacity of the relevant governmental and other authorities, agencies and offices; and 

 the Group’s income from hotel operations, which accounted for 2.2 per cent. of the Group’s 

total revenues for the year ended 31 December 2021, depends on corporate spending and 

tourism, which has been and could be further materially impacted by a significant drop in 

demand, directly impacting the occupancy and therefore profitability of the Group’s hotel 

portfolio. As part of the lockdown and curfew measures introduced to slow down the spread of 

COVID-19, hotels in the Czech Republic, including the hotels in the Group’s hotel portfolio, 

were ordered to close in the autumn of 2020 until the spring of 2021. As a result of these and 

comparable measures in other countries in which the Group operates, the Group’s net income 

from hotel operations in the year ended 31 December 2021 was EUR (2,555) thousand as 

compared to EUR (145) thousand in the year ended 31 December 2020. There is no guarantee 

that similar measures negatively impacting the profitability of the Group’s hotel portfolio will 

not be maintained or implemented again in the future. 

Further, the governments of several countries in which the Group operates have enacted legislative 

amendments, as a result of which landlords can no longer terminate lease agreements under certain 

circumstances. 



 

EMEA 138069526 

23 
 

 

Up to the date of this Base Listing Particulars, the Group has not experienced any significant delays or 

variations in rental collections from its properties as a result of COVID-19, irrespective of the tenants’ 

industry or sector. Rental collection levels in the year ended 31 December 2021 remained similar to 

those in the year ended 31 December 2020 (98 per cent.). Up to the date of this Base Listing Particulars, 

the Group’s construction and development projects have not experienced any major disruptions due to 

COVID-19 and the Group’s financing partners have continued to provide the Group with project finance 

as the Group has development funding secured for almost all of its planned projects in 2022. 

However, as of the date of this Base Listing Particulars, further development and the extent of the long-

term impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Group is highly uncertain and depends on a number of 

factors, such as any renewed spread of the COVID-19 pandemic and the suitability and effectiveness of 

measures adopted by the authorities in response to it. Any renewed spread of the COVID-19 pandemic 

and the occurrence or escalation of one or more of the above developments may have a material adverse 

effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects. 

The ongoing Russian invasion of Ukraine has led to significant volatility in financial and other 

markets and could harm the Group’s business and results of operations. 

In February 2022, Russia commenced a full-scale military invasion of Ukraine. Following the invasion 

of Ukraine, the United States, the EU, the UK, Canada, Japan and Australia have made announcements 

regarding imposition of sanctions against Russia and Belarus targeting certain financial institutions, 

companies and individuals, as well as certain industry sectors. There can be no assurance that there will 

be no further sanctions, counter sanctions or other measures that could have an adverse effect on the 

business of the Group or on the Group’s tenants. 

The economic sanctions imposed on Russia and Russia’s counter-sanctions or other retaliatory measures, 

and the heightened tensions between Russia and the rest of Europe and the United States over the 

Russian invasion of Ukraine, could have a material adverse effect on global macroeconomic conditions 

and the economy. Among other things, these could have adverse effects on international trade and 

finance, cause disruptions in supply chains and as a result affect certain businesses or even entire sectors 

due to the unavailability of certain goods or the resulting increase in the price of such goods. In particular, 

there is a risk of volatility in energy and raw material markets in Europe and the rest of the world. If 

these risks materialise, they can also cause currency fluctuations and inflation. 

Even though the Group does not own any properties in Ukraine or Russia, any economic downturn or 

slowing in economic growth internationally due to Russia’s invasion of Ukraine could have a material 

adverse effect on the business, financial condition or results of operations of the Group. 

The Group could experience a lower demand for its industrial and logistics property and a significant 

decline in occupancy rates may have an adverse impact on the Group’s cash flows. 

The Group’s primary business activity is owning and managing industrial and logistics property. 

As such, it derives its income mainly from rental payments received from the tenants occupying its 

properties. As of 31 December 2021, the Group’s core Occupancy Rate was 95 per cent. of its gross 

lettable area (“GLA”). There can be no assurance that the Group will be able to maintain its current 

occupancy rates, particularly by retaining its largest tenants, and rental levels and lease terms of its 

properties in the future. 

The demand for commercial properties and the ability of such properties to generate income and sustain 

market value is based on a number of factors, including, among other things, overall conditions in the 

European, national and regional economies, such as growth in gross domestic product (“GDP”), 

inflation or deflation, investor sentiment, consumer confidence, unemployment rates, availability and 

cost of credit, liquidity of financial markets and changes in interest rates or yield required by investors 

in income-producing commercial properties, and specifically by the condition of the segments of the 

economy in which the Group’s tenants operate, as these factors largely determine tenants’ demand for 

the Group’s properties and their ability to afford rents. 
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Factors affecting occupancy rates of the Group’s property may include, but are not limited to, the 

quantity and quality of competing industrial and logistics properties in areas in which the Group operates, 

the age, quality and design of a property relative to comparable properties in the local market, the 

property’s location relative to transportation infrastructure and urban centres, the standard of 

maintenance and upkeep of a property including any work done by third-party service providers, 

renovation work required on vacant units before they are re-let, and perceptions regarding the safety, 

convenience and attractiveness of the property. In addition, demand for the Group’s property, and its 

industrial property in particular, is based on the access of such property to key transportation hubs and 

on the volume and continued importance of road transportation and logistics services for the Group’s 

current and prospective tenants. Further, occupancy rates may be affected by local balance between 

supply and demand for industrial and logistics property as the Group constructs, and plans to continue 

constructing in the future, new industrial and logistics parks. If demand for such properties decreases, 

the Group may be unable to rent or sell its properties at a commercially favourable price or at all.  

Any deterioration in demand may result in increased pressure to offer new and renewing tenants 

financial and other incentives, which in turn may lead to an overall negative impact on net rental income, 

operating expenses as well as market value of the Group’s properties. As a result, the Group’s ability to 

obtain discretionary financing in a timely manner or at all may also be negatively affected. Failure of 

the Group to sustain adequate occupancy rates could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s 

business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects. 

The Group is subject to the risk of tenants defaulting on their lease obligations or failing to renew 

their leases. 

If any of the Group’s tenants default on their lease obligations, default on a commitment to occupy a 

‘pre-lease’ development project, exercise a break-option clause or other termination rights or fail to 

renew their lease on expiration, whether by reason of the tenant facing financial difficulties, deciding to 

work with a competitor of the Group, experiencing a change in their commercial needs or otherwise, the 

Group may be unable to find a replacement tenant on a timely basis, during which time some of its 

properties or leasable space within them may remain vacant. During the period of time in which 

properties or leasable space remain vacant, the Group will bear all costs for maintaining the relevant 

property or space, including lighting, security, electricity, insurance, service charge liabilities and 

similar costs, and will not be able to recharge those costs to the tenants.  

In addition, if and when the Group locates a new tenant for an empty property or space, such tenants 

may not be of equivalent standing as the Group’s previous tenants or the Group may not be able to agree 

rental terms which are equal to, or on equally favourable terms to, those under the previous lease. These 

risks may be exacerbated in respect of tenants occupying multiple properties or those occupying bespoke 

or build-to-suit properties which may be difficult to re-let without further expenditure required to make 

the property suitable for a new prospective tenant. 

Income from, and the market value of, the Group’s properties would be adversely affected if a material 

number of its tenants were unable to meet their lease obligations, were to become insolvent, or if, for 

any other reason, rental payments could not be collected. This could have a material adverse effect on 

the Group’s ability to maintain rental income and recharge certain fixed costs which it is obligated to 

pay regardless of whether or not it receives payments from its tenants to fund such expenses. As such, 

it could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations, 

cash flows and prospects. 

The Group may not be able to successfully implement its key strategies or manage its growth. 

The financial performance and success of the Group depend in large part on its ability to successfully 

implement its key strategies. As of the date of this Base Listing Particulars, the Group plans to primarily 

focus on organic growth of its property portfolio, primarily by constructing new properties on its owned 

land bank, continuous improvement and active management of its property portfolio, sustainability, 

disciplined approach to financial profile and financial policy, and selective strategic expansion to new 
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markets where it currently has no or limited presence, primarily to countries such as Austria, 

the Netherlands, Germany, Poland, Serbia and Bulgaria and also to Estonia, Lithuania, Latvia, Greece, 

Italy, France, the UK and Spain. There is no guarantee that the Group will be able to successfully 

implement any of its key strategies, realise any benefit from the same or be able to improve its results 

of operations. Implementation of the Group’s key strategies could be affected by a number of factors 

beyond the Group’s control, such as increased competition, legal and regulatory developments, general 

economic conditions or an increase in operating costs. 

The Group expects its future growth to place significant demands on its management, operations and 

other resources. Challenges it may face in achieving future growth include continuing to improve its 

managerial, technical and operational knowledge, implementing an effective management information 

system, continuing to recruit and train managerial and other professional staff to satisfy its business 

requirements, obtaining sufficient financial resources to fund its on-going operations and its future 

growth, managing relationships with a greater number of tenants, suppliers, contractors, lenders and 

other third parties, and strengthening its internal control and compliance functions to ensure that the 

Group is able to comply with its regulatory and contractual obligations. 

There can be no assurance that the Group will not experience issues, such as capital constraints, delays 

relating to regulatory and contractual compliance obligations, operational difficulties at new or existing 

locations or geographies, difficulties in integrating new acquisitions into the Group’s existing business 

and operations and managing the training of an increasing number of personnel to manage and operate 

the expanded business. Any failure to successfully implement the Group’s key strategies or manage the 

impact of its growth on its operational and managerial resources and control systems could have a 

material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows 

and prospects. 

The Group’s strategy envisions potential additional selective property acquisitions, but the Group may 

be unable to acquire the properties on acceptable terms, identify all potential liabilities associated 

with them or complete the acquisitions. 

As part of its business strategy, the Group plans to continue to expand its property portfolio through 

selective strategic and complementary acquisitions, including land for its land bank. Its acquisition 

strategy includes identifying properties that meet the Group’s investment criteria and acquiring such 

properties on terms acceptable to the Group. However, such portfolios or properties may be unavailable 

or available only on unfavourable terms or at unattractive prices. Additionally, the supply of real estate 

portfolios might be limited, for example due to fewer sales of real estate portfolios by municipalities or 

by private sellers. Constricted supply could increase competition for acquisition of properties that would 

be suitable for the Group and could also motivate potential sellers to sell properties in an auction process 

in which the Group’s competitors may prevail. All this may result in a price increase or even a complete 

unavailability of suitable properties that are in the strategic focus of the Group. 

The acquisition of real estate requires, among other things, an analysis of the factors that create value, 

and such analysis is subject to a wide variety of factors and subjective assessments and is based on 

various assumptions. It is possible that the Group may overestimate the potential of target properties 

when making acquisition decisions and cost savings and synergies may not develop or that it may base 

its decision on inaccurate information or assumptions that turn out to be incorrect. The Group may also 

overestimate the likelihood of obtaining the required government permits and approvals for 

development properties. Such errors may only become apparent at a late stage and force the Group to 

recognise fair value losses in its statement of income. Any inability or failure to identify and successfully 

acquire attractive properties at commercially acceptable terms could limit the Group’s ability to grow 

its business effectively and could have an adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, 

results of operations, cash flows and prospects. 
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The Group’s property acquisitions involve risks that may not be uncovered by prior due diligence.  

Before acquiring a property, the Group typically performs due diligence in order to evaluate the property 

and identify connected risks. When performing due diligence, the Group typically relies on external 

experts with the aim to achieve maximum scrutiny of the acquired property. In situations when the 

Group is acquiring a smaller and less material property, the Group typically relies on its internal team 

to perform due diligence. However, the Group cannot guarantee that its due diligence when purchasing 

a property will identify all of the potential liabilities and risks related to the property or that it will have 

recourse to the seller of the property for the non-disclosure of such liabilities or risks. In addition, when 

conducting due diligence, it may not even be possible to identify all documents that should be reviewed. 

Due diligence in any scope thus in general cannot identify all risks. There is a risk that the seller may 

not provide, or be in possession of, all the required information and documents and this may lead to the 

materialisation of risks not identified during the due diligence. These risks, among others, relate to title 

and security searches, material contracts (such as access to the site and connection to utilities), rights of 

third parties, litigation, management of the property, tax issues, planning permissions and conditions, 

technical status of the building including permits, licences, fire and health and safety certificates and the 

compliance with related regulations as well as restrictions in connection with historic preservation and 

environmental laws.  

When the Group does not acquire a property directly but rather by acquiring the company that owns 

such property, additional risks arising from, among other things, the target company’s corporate 

structure, financial and tax liabilities and third party claims may arise and may not be identified, 

sufficiently or at all, by the Group’s due diligence.  

Although the properties acquired by the Group are also inspected prior to purchase in the course of a 

technical due diligence investigation, it is possible that damage or quality defects could remain entirely 

undiscovered, or that the scope of such problems may not be fully apparent in the course of the due 

diligence investigation. As a result, the Group may be subject to claims due to such defects or problems 

and the Group may be exposed to substantial undisclosed or unascertained liabilities relating to 

properties that were incurred or that arose prior to the completion of the Group’s acquisition of such 

properties. Although the Group may obtain contractual protection against such claims and liabilities 

from the seller (for instance, by way of indemnity or warranty claims), such contractual protection may 

not be enforceable or effective. Because sellers typically exclude liability for hidden defects, they are 

typically not liable for defects that could have been identifiable in the course of the technical due 

diligence and, also, liability of the sellers is typically capped, the Group may not be able to claim under 

any indemnity for any such loss incurred by the Group. Even where liability for hidden defects has not 

been fully excluded, it is possible that the representations and warranties made in the purchase agreement 

with respect to the property fail to cover all risks and potential problems relating to the acquisition. Any 

claims for recourse that the Group may have against parties from which it has purchased property may 

fail because of the expiration of warranty periods and the statute of limitations, lack of proof that the 

seller knew or should have known of the defect or the insolvency of the seller. In addition, it is not 

possible to fully avoid the risk that some properties acquired by the Group may contain ground 

contamination, hazardous materials, other residual pollution or wartime relics, potentially including 

unexploded ordnance. The discovery of such issues can lead to substantial project delivery delays and 

their remediation and related additional measures could involve considerable additional costs. Moreover, 

the existence or even merely the suspicion of the existence of wartime ordnance, hazardous materials, 

residual pollution or ground contamination can negatively affect the value of a property and the ability 

of the Group to sell, or to operate such a property.  

Any of the above events or circumstances could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, 

financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects. 



 

EMEA 138069526 

27 
 

 

The Group is dependent on its chief executive officer, chief financial officer as well as other senior 

executives and other qualified personnel and may not be able to attract and retain them. 

The Group’s ability to maintain its competitive position and to implement its business strategy is largely 

dependent on its ability to retain its co-founder, chief executive officer and executive director, Mr. 

Remon Vos, as well as its Group’s chief financial officer and executive director, Mr. Richard Wilkinson, 

and other senior executives and skilled personnel and to attract and retain additional qualified personnel 

who have experience in the Group’s industry and in operating a business of the Group’s size and 

complexity. Mr. Remon Vos has been instrumental to building the Group since its foundation in 1998 

and has been its chief executive officer since 1999. He is personally involved in many aspects of the 

Group’s business including formulation and implementation of its business strategy and relationships 

with key tenants. Mr. Richard Wilkinson has been the Group’s chief financial officer since July 2018. 

The Group has not entered into a key person insurance with respect to Mr. Remon Vos or Mr. Richard 

Wilkinson. 

There may be a limited number of persons with the requisite experience and skills to serve in the Group’s 

senior management positions, and the Group may not be able to locate or employ or retain qualified 

executives on acceptable terms, or at all. Any shortage of adequately skilled candidates may force the 

Group to increase wages to attract suitably skilled candidates, which could substantially increase the 

Group’s costs. The loss of these individuals, or of any senior member of management, in particular Mr. 

Remon Vos as the chief executive officer, or any delay in replacing a departed member of management, 

may result in the loss of industry and property specific knowledge as well as relationships with key 

tenants, lenders, and industry personnel and delay key decisions. Any of these factors could have a 

material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows 

and prospects. 

The Group’s financial performance relies on its ability to attract and retain tenants and acquire new 

development plots, which may suffer as a result of increased competition from other property owners, 

operators and developers. 

The Group faces competition from other owners, operators and developers of commercial and industrial 

real estate and competes with local real estate developers, private investors, property funds and other 

property owners for tenants. The Group also competes for attractive development plots, which are 

typically limited in number and in high demand. Some of the Group’s competitors in its existing or 

target markets may have a broader client base, a larger or more diversified project portfolio, substantially 

greater financial, technical and marketing resources or better access to land acquisitions. These 

competitors might increase their market presence through greater use of advertising, more aggressive 

pricing, or by making more attractive offers to current and future companies that do business with the 

Group. The competition to which the Group is currently exposed and the potential increase of 

competition in the Central and Eastern Europe (“CEE”) region commercial real estate development 

market may lead to a substantial increase of development costs, including, among others, higher land 

acquisition and construction costs, or force the Group to lower its rental prices, any of which could result 

in lower margins or loss of market share thus jeopardising the Group’s growth strategy. 

The competition for tenants may also negatively affect the Group’s ability to optimise the tenant mix, 

attract new tenants and retain existing tenants and may negatively influence the terms of the Group’s 

lease agreements, including the amount of rent that the Group charges and the incentives that the Group 

provides to tenants, thereby adversely affecting the Group’s business, financial condition, results of 

operations, cash flows and prospects. 

The Group may not be able to pass onto tenants its operating, maintenance and capital expenditure 

costs or to successfully recover such costs. 

The Group is subject to a number of operating costs and expenses, including energy costs, which it 

would typically pass on to its tenants to the extent this is permitted in the relevant lease agreement. 
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However, the Group may be unable to do so in certain circumstances, such as when a property is vacant 

or a tenant’s lease does not allow this practice. 

In addition to the costs and cost increases set out above, the Group has to perform maintenance and, 

from time to time, modernisation or expansion of its properties to remain competitive and comply with 

applicable laws and agreed arrangements in the tenants’ leases. If the necessary capital expenditure is 

not undertaken, this could lead to a decline in the value of the relevant properties, impacting their sale 

or refinancing value and hence the ability to generate sufficient disposal proceeds or the ability to 

refinance borrowing secured against the property. Such measures can be time consuming and expensive, 

and risks can arise in the form of higher costs than anticipated or unforeseen additional expenses for 

maintenance, modernisation or expansion that cannot be passed onto tenants. 

In addition, the Group may develop a custom-made property for a tenant that terminates the lease during 

its term and the Group may be unable to lease the property to another tenant without redesigning it and 

may fail to recover the costs of developing the property.  

Changes in government regulations may result in additional capital expenditure requirements to 

modernise or maintain the properties, such as refurbishment to comply with energy efficiency standards 

or health and safety requirements, which may not always be possible to charge to tenants. In addition to 

its property portfolio-related costs, the Group is also subject to additional, centralised fixed costs which 

are not typically passed on to its tenants. These costs include personnel expenses, corporate and office 

costs, and other fixed costs not associated with any particular property.  

Any increase in the Group’s operating, upkeep and fixed costs which it is unable to pass on to its tenants 

could have an adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations, cash 

flows and prospects. 

The Group is exposed to the risk of cost overruns, delays or other difficulties in relation to its 

development activities. 

The Group develops many of its own properties, acting as a general contractor and outsourcing to third-

party suppliers. It is, to a small extent, also engaged in development of projects for third parties outside 

the Group. The real estate development business is subject to certain risks arising from the complexity 

of the projects, including higher than expected costs, breaches of labour laws, delays in completion, the 

application of regulations, health and safety or environmental constraints, the multiplicity of participants, 

relationships with owners or users of neighbouring real estate, unknown restitution claims, 

unforeseeable underground conditions, including the discovery of archaeological remains that may 

result in delaying the construction process, and the need to obtain permits. Although there is generally 

an obligation for the responsible authority to grant such a permit if all applicable legal requirements are 

satisfied, the authorities may, on a case-by-case basis, decide to grant building permits only under 

specific conditions or constraints or may even refuse to grant such permits at all. This is further 

exacerbated by the fact that legal systems of countries in the CEE region in which the Group operates 

typically tend to be more formalistic and stricter with respect to permits than, for instance, of countries 

in Western Europe. 

Furthermore, objections by municipalities, owners of surrounding plots of land and other interested 

parties may delay the granting of permits or otherwise materially adversely affect the Group’s ability to 

undertake development activities. In particular, the Group’s development projects may face public 

opposition and the Group may be forced to make concessions to reach an agreement with the relevant 

municipality and the interested parties. Prolonged negotiations with the relevant municipality and the 

interested parties during the permitting process may significantly delay the development project and if 

the Group fails to reach such an agreement, it may be forced to amend or even abandon its development 

project.  

Additionally, competition for the materials and labour resources necessary for the Group’s development 

activities may increase the costs of such resources, thereby reducing the Group’s ability to carry out 
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development activities profitably. The Group is also exposed to the risk of cost overruns and project 

delays in the event a construction of a building is commenced speculatively before a tenant for the 

building is found and once a tenant is found, the design of the building has to change substantially to 

accommodate the preferences of the tenant. 

These risks could result in the abandonment of projects after significant feasibility study costs and 

management attention have been expended or could lead to substantial project delivery delays, which 

could adversely impact the Group’s profitability and the value of its properties. The Group may also 

incur significant opportunity cost when it is not able to carry out development activities in a timely 

manner or at all due to the above and other factors and as a result the Group’s land bank’s potential may 

not be maximised. Furthermore, it typically takes several months or years from the commencement of a 

project to completion of a new industrial and logistics park, and demand for warehouse or office space 

in particular locations may change significantly between the time the Group makes the decision to enter 

a particular market or region and the time at which an industrial and logistics park commences operation. 

If future demand for the Group’s warehouse or office space does not match the growth in the Group’s 

property portfolio, the Group may experience lower occupancy than expected or be required to lower 

its rental levels in a particular industrial and logistics park to attract customers. Conversely, there is also 

a risk that the Group’s land bank will not be large enough, both generally and specifically in areas with 

high demand, thereby constraining the growth opportunities of the Group. 

The properties owned by the Group may from time to time require investment for targeted modernisation, 

renovation or expansion. Such measures can be expensive and may trigger costs that will exceed the 

costs of general maintenance. The Group could underestimate the amount to be invested for the targeted 

modernisation, renovation or expansion of its properties as such costs may increase due to various 

factors. The Group could also be exposed to risks due to delays in the implementation of modernisation, 

renovation or expansion measures, against which the Group might not have been contractually protected. 

Failure to complete a development project, including redevelopment or refurbishment investment 

project, according to its original schedule or business case may result in returns on investment being 

lower than originally expected. It may also result in breach of obligations assumed by the Group under 

agreements with future tenants of the property under development which may give rise to potential 

claims of those tenants towards the Group and impairment of relationships with those tenants. Failure 

to generate anticipated returns due to any of the above events or circumstances could have a material 

adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and 

prospects. 

The Group may hold excess land for future development which may not ultimately be beneficial to 

the Group. 

As of the date of this Base Listing Particulars, the Group holds a significant amount of property in its 

land bank, with further exclusive options in relation to additional land. In the event of a prolonged 

economic downturn, developments may be postponed, slowing down the rate of recycling of the capital 

invested by the Group in its land bank. There is a risk that holding too much land for future development, 

or holding such land for long periods, may dilute the returns of the Group due to the fact that the land 

bank’s potential is not fully utilised. Changes in governmental policy, such as changes in planning 

policies and zoning and the use of compulsory purchase orders, may also mean that the Group incurs 

costs, or is required to take certain action, in connection with development land held for a long period. 

Furthermore, external factors or changed circumstances may cause customers to change their property 

requirements which may mean that the Group holds land which is located in undesirable areas. The 

materialisation of this risk may have a material adverse impact on the Group’s business, financial 

condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects.  

The valuations performed on the Group’s property portfolio represent the analysis and opinion of 

independent experts and may not be an accurate reflection of their present or future value and the 

Group’s financial statements may be affected by fluctuation in the fair market value of its property 



 

EMEA 138069526 

30 
 

 

portfolio as a result of revaluations. A significant part of the Group’s annual revenue gains or losses 

may be non-cash due to portfolio revaluations. 

The financial statements of the Group reflect property valuations performed by external valuation agents 

or by the Group and are not guarantees of present or future value. Valuations are inherently subjective 

due to the individual nature of each property and the markets in which such properties are situated. This 

is particularly so when there has been limited or no transactional experience recorded against which 

property valuations can be benchmarked. One external valuation agent may reach a different conclusion 

to the conclusion that would be reached if a different external valuation agent were appraising the same 

property, and similarly the same external valuation agent may come to a different conclusion at different 

times. This variation may be due to the use of different methodologies. Any change to valuation 

methodology may result in gains or losses in the Group’s consolidated financial statements, based on 

the change to each property’s valuation compared with prior valuations. Moreover, property valuations 

are made on the basis of assumptions which may not prove to be accurate, including the direction and 

extent of future property market trends, such as valuation yields and market rents.  

There can be no assurance that any valuation could be realised in a third-party sale. The net proceeds 

realised from any future disposal may vary from the related valuation, and such variations may be 

material and the relevant Group member may not be able to realise the full property value reflected in 

any valuation report. The valuations given to properties by any external appraiser and reflected in the 

Group’s financial statements may exceed or be below the actual amount of net proceeds which would 

be realised on the relevant property at the time of any sale, and are subject to fluctuation over time.  

In addition, valuation of the Group’s real estate portfolio may be affected by currency fluctuations and 

the general macro-economic environment. Such variations may be driven by factors outside the control 

of the Group and adversely affect, among other things, calculation of financial covenants under the terms 

of the Group’s existing financial indebtedness. In particular, any renewed spread of the COVID-19 

pandemic and the related government-imposed restrictions in response to the pandemic could have a 

negative impact on the valuation of the Group’s real estate portfolio. 

Any increase or decrease in the value of the Group’s property portfolio is recorded as a revaluation gain 

or loss in the Group’s financial statements for the period during which the revaluation occurs. As a result, 

the Group could have significant non-cash revenue gains and losses from period to period depending on 

the change in fair market value of its property portfolio, whether or not any properties are sold. If market 

conditions and the prices of comparable properties are unfavourable, revaluation losses from the 

Group’s existing properties could occur in the future. 

A realisation of any of the above risks could have an adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial 

condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects. 

The performance of the Group’s property portfolio is exposed to concentration risks. 

The Group’s property portfolio is exposed to concentration risk, as a significant proportion of its 

portfolio is located in a limited number of countries in the CEE region. As of 31 December 2021, 50 per 

cent. of the Group’s property portfolio as measured by square metres was located in the Czech Republic 

and 26 per cent. in Romania. As such, the performance of the Group’s property portfolio may be 

disproportionately impacted by events or market developments occurring in these countries, or in the 

CEE region generally, or by developments that affect certain types of commercial real estate. These 

developments may result in less favourable lease terms, increased vacancy rates and decreased rent 

levels for the Group’s property portfolio. In the event of a decline in the attractiveness of any single 

national market where the Group’s assets are located, or if there is a downturn or illiquidity in such 

market, the Group may be unable to rent or sell its properties effectively. As of and for the year ended 

31 December 2021, the Group had a base of over 750 tenants, of which the top 20 tenants, based on 

GLA leased, amounted to 24 per cent. of the total Gross Rental Income received by the Group and 

occupied 23 per cent. of the Group’s GLA. Although the Group has a wide international tenant base of 

large companies from a range of industries, the Group’s tenants may be more heavily concentrated in 
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certain sectors, such as warehousing and logistics and automotive, which account for 50 per cent. and 

22 per cent., respectively, of the Group’s GLA as of 31 December 2021. As a result, the Group’s 

property portfolio may become more susceptible to fluctuations in value resulting from adverse 

economic or business conditions affecting in particular these sectors, as an economic decline in the 

businesses operated by the Group’s tenants can cause one or more significant tenants to cease operations 

or become insolvent. The materialisation of any of the above risks could have a material adverse effect 

on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects. 

The Group is dependent on good relations with its employees. 

The Group is an integrated business with significant in-house property management capabilities through 

its employees. These employees play a critical role in the Group’s ability to continue providing services 

to its tenants and develop and grow its portfolio. Consequently, they are instrumental to the successful 

implementations of the Group’s business strategy. Any sustained labour dispute affecting the Issuer, or 

any of its direct or indirect subsidiaries which employ property and asset management teams, could lead 

to a substantial interruption of the business of the Group. Competition for locally-sourced and based 

asset management and development specialists is high, and the pool of qualified candidates is limited. 

If the Group fails to retain and attract adequately skilled employees to fill management and technical 

roles at economically reasonable compensation levels, this could have a material effect on the Group’s 

business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects. Moreover, if any of these 

skilled employees leave and carry on any activities competing with the Group, it may have a negative 

impact on the Group’s relationships with its key tenants, key professionals and employees, and legal 

remedies against such individuals may be limited. While, as of the date of this Base Listing Particulars, 

the Group’s employees are not unionised, there is no guarantee that they will not unionise in the future. 

The Group is dependent on the performance of third-party contractors or suppliers. 

In the ordinary course of its business, the Group enters into various contracts with third-party contractors. 

In particular, the Group acts as a general contractor in the process of development and construction of 

its properties, outsourcing to suppliers selected in open tenders. If the performance of any such 

contractor or supplier is unsatisfactory, it may be necessary to replace them or take other actions to 

remedy the situation. Depending on which area of the Group’s business such contractor or consultant is 

servicing, this could affect the cost and timing of the Group’s development projects, the level of service 

provided to a tenant or client, or the ability of the Group to operate its business without disruption. 

Moreover, particularly in the current macroeconomic climate impacted by the outbreak of the COVID-

19 pandemic, the Group’s third-party, independent contractors or suppliers may become bankrupt or 

insolvent, which may lead to significant operational risks for the Group. 

There is also a risk that the Group’s existing contracts may be terminated or renewed on less favourable 

terms. Where contractual relationships are terminated, the Group may be unable to find suitable 

alternatives in time, which can lead to completion delays. Even if replacements could be found, the 

procurement of replacement contractors could take time or the contract may be more expensive.  

The materialisation of any of the above could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, 

financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects. 

The Group depends on the availability of public utilities and services, especially for water and 

electricity. 

Public utilities, especially those that provide water and electricity, are fundamental for the sound 

operation of the Group’s properties. The delayed delivery or any material reduction or prolonged 

interruption of these services could allow tenants to terminate their leases, claim discounts on their rent 

and, if agreed, to claim payment of contractual penalties, or could result in an increase in the Group’s 

costs, as the Group may be forced to use backup generators or back-up water supplies. However, these 

could be insufficient to fully operate the Group’s properties and could result in the Group’s inability to 

provide services. Any reduction, interruption or cancellation of such services could have a material 
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adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and 

prospects. 

Interruption or failure of the Group’s information technology systems could damage its reputation 

and business. 

The Group is dependent on the proper functioning of its information systems and processes. The Group’s 

systems and the systems on which it relies are vulnerable to damage or interruption from various factors, 

including but not limited to power loss, telecommunication failures, data corruption, network failure, 

computer viruses, hacking, security breaches, natural disasters, theft, vandalism or other acts. A disaster 

or disruption in the infrastructure that supports the Group’s businesses could have a material adverse 

effect on its ability to continue to operate the Group’s business without interruption and, as a result, 

damage the Group’s reputation. The Group is also reliant on the general and timely functioning of 

banking systems and associated technology in order to receive and make payments. Any cessation of 

the ordinary functioning of the banking system or any interruption of payment systems may impact the 

ability to collect rents from tenants. The materialisation of any of these risks could have a material 

adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and 

prospects.  

The Group will be exposed to operational and regulatory risks relating to its photovoltaic solar power 

plants and to risks inherent to the energy market generally. 

The Group plans to roll out photovoltaic (“PV”) solar power plants on the rooftops of its buildings. 

Since 2010, all the Group’s newly developed buildings are ‘solar ready’, meaning either that the roofs 

are built to allow the creation of a PV solar power plant on each building by incorporating the necessary 

hook-up technology, or the roofs are built with PV solar panels already installed.  

As an operator of PV solar power plants, the Group will increase its exposure to the energy market. As 

a result, the Group will be increasingly exposed to the risks inherent to the energy market. For instance, 

the Group’s revenues from the power generation will depend on the volume of electricity produced by 

its PV solar power plants, which, in turn, will depend on both short-term and long-term fluctuations in 

weather as this impacts the volume of electricity produced by PV solar power plants. Even in a stable 

climate the weather varies from year to year, and thus also the production of energy from PV solar power 

plants. The Group’s revenues from its PV solar power plants will also be subject to fluctuations in the 

price of electricity. Lower wholesale electricity prices may lead to a reduction in the payments the Group 

receives from offtakers for uncontracted electricity sales, or lower prices for future power purchase 

agreements. In addition, the Group may not be able to procure offtakers to buy the electricity generated 

from its PV solar power plants or may experience issues with connecting its PV solar power plants to 

the grid.  

As the Group’s business case for the planned roll out of PV solar power plants is built on the assumption 

that the Group will receive government support or other financial incentives for each such project, the 

Group, generally, does not intend to proceed with any project in the event it does not qualify for 

government support or other financial incentives. However, in several European countries, investors’ 

confidence and viability of investments in photovoltaics were significantly affected due to radical 

reduction of support, retroactive measures, and unplanned changes of the regulatory or tax framework. 

Political developments could lead to a material deterioration of the conditions for, or a discontinuation 

of, current incentives for PV solar power plants. Once the Group’s PV solar power plant project qualifies 

for a subsidy for the installation and operation of PV solar power plants and the Group decides to proceed 

with the project, any retroactive reduction in, or a loss of, government support and financial incentives 

for such project in any of the markets in which the Group intends to operate its PV solar power plants 

could negatively affect the recoverability of the Group’s investment into its PV solar power plants and 

the expected revenues from their operation. 

The Group’s PV solar power plants may encounter operational difficulties that may cause them to 

perform at a lower level than expected and therefore earn less revenue. Severe weather phenomena, such 



 

EMEA 138069526 

33 
 

 

as strong wind, hail storms, snow or lightning, as well as other phenomena such as rodent damage and 

fires may cause damage to, and disrupt the functionality of, the Group’s PV solar power plants. In such 

a case, their repair may be costly and may negatively affect, or even temporarily interrupt, the operation 

of the affected PV solar plant and the property on which it is located. 

The Group’s planning and expected revenues are based on the typical performance and maintenance 

costs of the PV solar power plants currently on the market. However, the actual performance of the 

Group’s PV solar power plants could turn out to be lower than anticipated, for instance due to lower 

solar radiation, quality or efficacy issues with the installed PV solar panels, their higher maintenance 

costs or the need for additional investments. Additionally, given the long-term nature of PV solar panel 

investments and the fact that PV solar power plants are a relatively new investment class, there is limited 

experience regarding long-term operational problems that may be experienced in the future and which 

may negatively affect the Group’s PV solar power plants and, therefore, the Group’s investment returns. 

The materialisation of any of the above risks could adversely affect the Group’s business, financial 

condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects. 

The Group’s operations could be adversely affected by risks related to climate change.  

From the perspective of the Group, climate change presents the risk of damage to property caused over 

time by altered weather conditions and other changes in the physical environment that affect properties. 

Insufficient investments or investments in the wrong type of measures intended to mitigate the effects 

of climate change for properties could lead to the risk of unprofitable investments if climate risk is not 

appropriately considered and failure to invest at all in mitigation measures could result in investments 

being written off. Climate change could also entail higher operating expenses, for instance, due to 

changes in temperature levels or increases in insurance premia for insuring properties in vulnerable areas. 

In addition, environmental-political decisions could affect the Group, not least in the form of higher 

taxes or necessary investments but also by restricting road transportation or making it more costly. 

Moreover, increased climate-related requirements imposed by investors, tenants and other stakeholders 

could also affect the Group. As a real estate business, these risks could have a material adverse effect 

on the Group compared with other businesses as the Group relies on geography and its physical 

infrastructure to produce its income. The Group also has property portfolios concentrated around several 

cities across the CEE region and if climate change detrimentally impacts such cities, then the value of 

such portfolios, and the earnings capacity from such portfolios, could reduce significantly. Such changes 

could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations, 

cash flows and prospects. 

The Group may experience material losses or damage related to its properties and such losses may 

not be covered by insurance. 

The Group may experience losses related to its properties arising from natural disasters, vandalism or 

other crime, faulty construction or accidents, fire, war, acts of terrorism or other catastrophes, and may 

face related damage claims by its tenants. Although the Group members maintain insurance protection 

that they consider adequate in the ordinary course of operations, including protection against material 

damage to their business assets caused by, among other things, fire, explosions, earthquakes, flooding 

and theft, the Issuer cannot provide any assurance that the insurance will be sufficient or provide 

effective coverage under all circumstances and against all hazards or liabilities to which the Group may 

be exposed. For instance, there are certain types of risks, generally of a catastrophic nature such as from 

war or nuclear accident, which are uninsurable under any insurance policy. Furthermore, policies on the 

Group’s properties may include some coverage for losses that are generally catastrophic in nature, such 

as losses due to terrorism, earthquakes and floods, but the Issuer cannot provide any assurance that these 

will be adequate to cover all losses. Some of the Group’s properties will be insured subject to limitations 

involving large deductibles or co-payments and policy limits that may not be sufficient to cover losses. 

If either the Group or one or more of its tenants experience a loss that is uninsured or that exceeds the 

Group’s insurance policy limits, the Group could lose the capital invested in the damaged properties as 

well as the anticipated future cash flows from those properties. Damages or third-party claims for which 
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the Group is not fully insured, increases of insurance costs, other adverse changes in insurance markets 

as well as the materialisation of any of the above risks could have a material adverse effect on the 

Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects. 

The Group is exposed to litigation risk. 

In the ordinary course of its business, the Group may be subject to governmental, regulatory and legal 

or arbitral proceedings and claims, including disputes with tenants and suppliers, labour disputes, 

indemnity claims, intellectual property disputes, government audits and proceedings and tax audits and 

proceedings (see “Description of the Issuer—Legal Proceedings”). The Group may face potential 

financial exposure relating to any such litigation. As of 31 December 2021, the Group had no provisions 

for claims and legal costs. 

In addition, any litigation, whether or not successful, could materially affect the Group’s reputation in 

the market or a relationship with customers or suppliers, and the proceedings or settlement in relation to 

litigation may involve internal and external costs, which may, even in the case of the successful 

completion of a relevant proceeding, not be fully reimbursable, divert senior management’s time or use 

other resources which would otherwise be utilised elsewhere in the Group’s business. Each of these 

additional consequences of litigation could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, 

financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects.  

In addition, the acquisition, ownership and development of real properties carry certain specific 

litigation risks. Litigation may be commenced with respect to a property acquired by the Group in 

relation to activities that took place prior to the Group’s acquisition of such property. The Group may 

be subject to claims due to defects relating to the development, construction and refurbishment of its 

properties. Liabilities may apply to damages and construction defects unknown to the Group, but that 

could have been identified, at the time of acquisition. In addition, the Group may be exposed to 

substantial undisclosed or unascertained liabilities relating to properties that were incurred or that arose 

prior to the completion of the Group’s acquisition of such properties. Although the Group may obtain 

contractual protection against such claims and liabilities from the seller (for instance, by way of 

indemnity or warranty claims), such contractual protection may not be enforceable or effective. Any 

claims for recourse that the Group may have against parties from which it has purchased property may 

fail because of the expiration of warranty periods and the statute of limitations, lack of proof that the 

seller knew or should have known of the defect or the insolvency of the seller. Similarly, the Group may 

face liabilities, in the form of indemnities, warranties, guarantees or otherwise, relating to assets the 

Group has sold. The materialisation of any or all of these risks could have a material adverse effect on 

the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects. 

The Group may be unable to dispose of its properties profitably. 

The Group’s properties and those in which the Group may invest in the future may be relatively illiquid, 

as there may be a limited number of buyers with financing who are willing to pay fair value at the time 

the Group decides to sell. This may affect the Group’s ability to dispose of all, or part of, its portfolio in 

a timely fashion and at satisfactory prices. In the case of an accelerated sale or a sale required to ensure 

compliance with covenants contained in the Group’s financing arrangements, or in the event of 

enforcement of security by a lender, there may be a significant shortfall between the carrying value of 

the property on the Group’s consolidated balance sheet and the price achieved at the time of the sale of 

such property, and the Group may be unable to achieve a sales price at, or above, the book value of the 

property sold. Failure to achieve successful sales of properties in the future at acceptable prices may 

have a material adverse impact on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations, cash 

flows and prospects. 

The Group’s controlling shareholder’s interests may differ from the interests of the Noteholders. 

The Issuer and the Group are indirectly controlled by Mr. Remon Vos, who, as of the date of this Base 

Listing Particulars, controls, through his associated entities, 76.99 per cent. of the Issuer’s voting rights. 
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This control is based on the direct and indirect ownership and control of 100 per cent. of the voting 

rights in CTP Holding B.V., the majority shareholder of the Issuer. In addition, as of the date of this 

Base Listing Particulars, Mr. Remon Vos is also one of the two executive directors of the Issuer’s board 

(the “Board”), holding the title of Chief Executive Officer of the Board (the “CEO”). Pursuant to the 

articles of association of the Issuer (the “Articles of Association”), the Board as a whole, as well as 

each executive director individually, is authorised to represent the Issuer. This leaves Mr. Remon Vos 

with significant management power. In his position, Mr. Vos has the power to influence the outcome of 

all material matters that require approval of the Board and, subject to contractual and legal restrictions, 

the distribution of dividends. Mr. Vos can exercise influence over the Group’s legal and capital structure, 

day-to-day operations and business strategies, and his interests may in some cases differ from those of 

the Issuer or of Noteholders. 

Risks related to the markets in which the Group operates 

The Group is exposed to economic conditions and other events or circumstances that affect the 

markets in which the Group operates. 

Since commercial property markets tend to be related to the condition of the economy as a whole, the 

Group is exposed to fluctuating economic conditions in each of the countries or locations in which the 

Group’s properties are located and more generally to overall economic conditions in the EU, national, 

regional and local economies. As of the date of this Base Listing Particulars, the Group has operations 

in the Czech Republic, Romania, Hungary, Slovakia, and the Netherlands as well as a smaller presence 

in Serbia, Poland, Bulgaria, Germany and Austria. A change in the general economic conditions of these 

countries could result in lower demand for the Group’s industrial and logistics property, rising vacancy 

rates and higher risks of default by tenants and other counterparties.  

Factors that influence the economic condition of these countries include growth in GDP, inflation or 

deflation, investor sentiment, consumer confidence, unemployment rates, availability and cost of credit, 

liquidity of financial markets and changes in interest rates. Among other things, changes in GDP may 

impact employment levels, while changes in global interest rates may impact tenants’ access to financing. 

This, in turn, may affect tenants’ ability to meet their rental obligations to the Group and enter into new 

or prolong existing leases, affecting the demand for the Group’s property generally and therefore its 

rental income and the market value of its properties. Since the Group derives a substantial portion of its 

rental income from companies in the logistics, e-commerce, automotive, manufacturing, retail and high 

tech sectors, the Group’s financial condition and results of operations are, to a certain extent, dependent 

also on the condition of the consumer-products segment of the European economy. 

The Group’s business can also be negatively affected by rising inflation. The Group recently started 

incorporating double indexation clauses reflecting the inflation fluctuations into its new lease 

agreements or amendments to its existing lease agreements with its tenants. However, the majority of 

the lease agreements the Group has entered into with its tenants contain a fixed annual adjustment of 

rent clause; if inflation in the relevant market increases above the set level, the rent paid by the Group’s 

tenants under such lease agreements will not be adjusted to the same extent, which may adversely affect 

the Group’s real income.  

The occurrence of any one or a combination of these factors may have a material adverse effect on the 

Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects. 

The Group has significant investments and operations in less mature markets, which tend to have 

higher volatility and be subject to greater legal, economic, fiscal and political risks.  

Most of the Group’s revenues are generated from operations in the CEE region, in particular, the Czech 

Republic, Romania, Hungary and Slovakia. Markets such as the CEE region tend to have higher 

volatility, more limited liquidity and a narrower export base than more mature markets and are subject 

to greater legal, economic, fiscal and political risks than mature markets. They are subject to rapid and 

sometimes unpredictable change and are particularly vulnerable to market conditions and economic 
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downturns elsewhere in the world. As a result, investing in the securities of issuers with substantial 

operations in less mature markets generally involves a higher degree of risk than investing in the 

securities of issuers with substantial operations in Western Europe or other similar jurisdictions.  

The Group’s operations in the CEE region are exposed to risks which are common to all regions that 

have recently undergone, or are undergoing, political, economic and social change, including currency 

fluctuations, an evolving regulatory and legal environment, inflation, economic downturns, local market 

disruptions, labour unrest, changes in disposable income or gross national product, variations in interest 

rates and taxation policies and other similar factors. The Group’s performance could be significantly 

affected by events in the CEE region which are beyond its control, such as a general downturn in the 

economy, political instability, changes in regulatory requirements and applicable laws, including in 

relation to taxation, the condition of financial markets and interest and inflation rate fluctuations. 

In addition, international investors may react to events, disfavouring an entire region or class of 

investment, a phenomenon known as the “contagion effect”. If such a contagion effect occurs, the CEE 

region could be adversely affected by negative economic or financial developments in other countries 

with less mature markets. Financial or political instability in less mature markets also tends to have a 

material adverse effect on capital markets and the wider economy as investors generally move their 

money to more mature markets, which they may consider to be more stable. 

Any such events could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, 

results of operations, cash flows and prospects. 

Legal and regulatory risks 

The Group is subject to various regulations in the countries in which it operates and is exposed to the 

risks resulting from changes to the regulatory environment, or a failure to comply with applicable 

laws, regulations, licensing requirements and codes of practice. 

The Group is subject to laws and regulations governing the ownership, development and leasing of real 

property, employment standards, environmental matters, sanctions, anti-money laundering, anti-bribery 

and anti-corruption, taxes and other matters. It is possible that future changes in applicable EU, national 

or local laws or regulations or changes in their enforcement or regulatory interpretation could result in 

changes in the legal requirements affecting the Group. 

Any changes in the laws to which the Group is subject, in the jurisdictions in which it operates, could 

materially affect the rights and title to the Group’s properties. For instance, the use of the Group’s 

properties may be limited by changes in regulatory requirements, such as urban development regulations 

and general planning law requirements, between the time the Group acquires the property and the time 

it receives all the required authorisations and permits. This may, for instance, prevent the Group from 

using its property for industrial activities or may adversely affect the Group’s ability to sell, lease, 

redevelop or finance the affected properties.  

Failure to comply with these regulations may result in the assessment of administrative, civil and 

criminal penalties, or even the issuance of injunctions to limit or cease operations, the suspension or 

revocation of permits and other enforcement measures that could have the effect of limiting the Group’s 

operations. The burdens of regulatory compliance are exacerbated as the Group operates in a number of 

different countries and numerous regions and municipalities therein. The Group also intends to expand 

its operations across other countries. The Group must continually assess its compliance with numerous 

local building codes, land use regulations and other regulations in order to operate.  

The Group has implemented compliance policies (including with respect to sanctions and trade 

restrictions, anti-money laundering, anti-bribery and anti-corruption and fair competition) to comply 

with applicable regulations and best practices and has instituted procedures in order to (i) identify 

potential transactions or dealings with sanctioned parties and parties at risk of being subject to sanctions, 

(ii) promote and ensure compliance with applicable anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws, anti-money 

laundering laws and competition laws, and (iii) promote and ensure compliance with the Group’s code 
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of conduct. However, no assurance can be made that the Group’s policies will sufficiently protect it 

from the improper conduct of its employees or business partners. 

In addition, the Group may find itself in a position where it is deemed to have a significant market share 

in some of the markets in which it operates. As a result, the Group could be affected by regulatory 

actions carried out by relevant competition authorities. To promote competition, these authorities may 

prohibit certain actions, such as acquisitions or specific services or practices. Any such regulatory 

measures could restrict the Group’s operations and its future growth. 

The materialisation of any of the above risks could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s 

business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, prospects and reputation. 

The Group is exposed to risks relating to planning, building and environmental regulation, and 

statutory pre-emption rights. 

The Group’s properties are subject to restrictions under applicable planning, building, environment and 

other laws and regulations, and may be subject to statutory encumbrances, competing claims, pre-

emption rights and other limitations, which may not be covered, sufficiently or at all, by the Group’s 

insurance policies and which may impact the value of the Group’s properties and the Group’s ability to 

use and dispose of them as it would otherwise see fit. As a result of the above or other restrictions, the 

Group may incur additional expenses and experience delays during the development of its properties or 

not be able to develop them at all. Non-compliance with such restrictions may have consequences 

ranging from fines, administrative and penal sanctions to prohibition of use or demolition orders, 

including injunctions to limit or cease operations, the suspension or revocation of permits and other 

enforcement measures. 

In addition, it cannot be guaranteed that certain Group’s properties are not in technical violation of 

easement or encroachment requirements, which could result in the Group’s obligation to pay 

compensation to the relevant authorities. 

The materialisation of any of the above risks could adversely affect the Group’s business, financial 

condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects. 

The Group could become subject to liability for environmental law violations, regardless of whether 

it caused such violations. 

The Group could become subject to liability in the form of fines, damages or remedial costs for non-

compliance with environmental laws and regulations in the jurisdictions where its properties are located. 

These laws and regulations generally govern wastewater discharges, air emissions, olfactory discomfort, 

the operation and removal of underground and above-ground storage tanks, the use, conservation and 

protection of soil, the use, storage, treatment, transportation and disposal of solid hazardous materials, 

the remediation of contaminated property associated with the disposal of solid and hazardous materials 

and other health and safety-related concerns. Some of these laws and regulations may impose joint and 

several liability on tenants, owners or managers for the costs of investigation or remediation of 

contaminated properties, regardless of fault or the legality of the original disposal. For example, a current 

or former owner or manager of real property may be liable for the cost to remove or remediate hazardous 

or toxic substances, wastes, or petroleum products on, under, from, or in such property. These costs 

could be substantial and liability under these laws may attach whether or not the owner or manager knew 

of, or was responsible for, the presence of such contamination. Even if more than one person may have 

been responsible for the contamination, each liable party may be held entirely responsible for all of the 

clean-up costs incurred. 

In addition, third parties may sue the owner or manager of a property for damages based on personal 

injury, environmental or property damage, violations of environmental laws, or for other costs, including 

investigation and clean-up costs, resulting from the environmental contamination. The presence of 

contamination on one of the Group’s properties, or the failure to properly remediate a contaminated 

property, could result in substantial expenditures with respect to the de-contamination and adversely 
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affect the Group’s ability to sell or lease the property or borrow using the property as collateral. In 

addition, if contamination is discovered on the Group’s properties, environmental laws may impose 

restrictions on the manner in which the property may be used or businesses may be operated, and these 

restrictions may require substantial expenditures or prevent the Group from entering into leases with 

prospective tenants. Moreover, if the Group’s permits are successfully challenged for violations of the 

environmental laws, this could lead to the suspension or revocation of permits and other enforcement 

measures that could have the effect of limiting the Group’s operations. 

There can be no assurance that future laws, ordinances or regulations will not impose any material 

environmental liability, or that the environmental condition of the Group’s properties will not be affected 

by the operations of the tenants, by the existing condition of the land, by operations in the vicinity of 

the properties. There can be no assurance that these laws, changes in these laws, or the materialisation 

of any of the above risks, will not have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial 

condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects. 

The Group’s properties may be subject to state bodies exercising their right of expropriation or 

directing a compulsory purchase. 

Under certain circumstances, the Group’s properties may be subject to expropriation, for example to 

complete public works, redevelopment or infrastructure projects. Typically, compensation must be paid 

to the owner of the property, however there can be no assurance that compensation in respect of any 

expropriation will be adequate in all circumstances. This risk is exacerbated by the fact that the Group 

has significant investments and operations in less mature markets, such as the Czech Republic, Romania, 

Hungary and Slovakia, and the legal framework in some of these countries is at a different stage of 

development compared to countries with established market economies. Such events could reduce the 

Group’s rental income and the value of its property portfolio, which could have a material adverse effect 

on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects.  

The Group’s contractual rights under its leases may be limited by law. 

The Group may be subject to statutory restrictions on its right to modify or terminate lease agreements. 

Since the COVID-19 pandemic spread in the first half of 2020, several countries in which the Group 

operates have adopted temporary statutory measures limiting landlord rights (mainly the right of 

termination in cases where the tenant was in payment default) as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Furthermore, the operations of the Group’s tenants might be affected by general restrictions adopted by 

public authorities with a view to mitigate the outbreak of COVID-19 and to slow down its subsequent 

spread, such as travel bans, curfews or closures or businesses. In all jurisdictions in which the Group 

operates, under certain circumstances, tenants could claim force majeure or hardship or assert inability 

to use the lease premises to obtain rent discounts, rent suspension or even termination of their lease 

agreement due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. While the impact of these measures on the 

Group’s business has, up to the date of this Base Listing Particulars, been minimal, these and similar 

statutory restrictions that may be adopted in the future may limit the Group’s ability to let its properties 

at market rent levels or to manage its tenant base as it sees fit, thereby adversely affecting the Group’s 

business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects. 

The Group is subject to risks in connection with the tax positions taken in the course of the Group’s 

business and could incur unforeseen taxes, special levies, tax penalties and sanctions or lose tax 

exemptions and benefits. 

The Group takes tax positions in the course of its business with respect to various tax matters, including 

but not limited to the taxation of foreign exchange results, taxation of dividends, capital gains and other 

revenues, compliance with the arm’s length principles in respect of transactions with related parties, the 

tax deductibility of interest and other operating as well as financial costs and the amount of depreciation 

or write-down on assets the Group can recognise for tax purposes.  
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As a vertically integrated group, the Group and its subsidiaries are in the process of concluding and will 

continue to conclude in the future, a significant number of transactions with related parties across various 

jurisdictions. Specifically, these transactions relate to the provision of various property management and 

administration services, development and construction management services and intra-group financing. 

Although the Group endeavours to follow the arm’s length principle as well as unified standards in 

respect of dealings with affiliates, the Group cannot preclude potential disputes with tax authorities 

regarding transactions with related parties resulting in potential underpayment of taxes. If any tax 

authority disagrees with the Group on any interpretive matter or challenges any tax position taken or 

specific transaction(s), the Group or its subsidiaries may be subject to unexpected tax liabilities or 

penalties. 

In addition, the imposition of any new taxes in the countries in which the Group operates, or changing 

interpretations or application of tax regulations by either tax authorities or courts, harmonisation of 

national and EU tax law and regulation, significant tax disputes with tax authorities, any change in the 

tax status of any member of the Group, and the possible imposition of penalties and other sanctions due 

to incorrectly reported or unpaid tax liabilities may result in additional amounts due by the Group. As 

the Group has been subject to certain corporate restructurings in the past, it cannot be ruled out that the 

Group or its subsidiaries may be subject to taxes in relation to such restructurings that have not been 

identified yet. 

The materialisation of any of the above risks could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s 

business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects. 

Risks related to the Group’s financial condition 

The Group’s substantial leverage and debt service obligations could adversely affect its business and 

prevent it from fulfilling its obligations with respect to its indebtedness, and the Group may not be 

able to successfully renew or refinance such indebtedness as it matures or may only be able to renew 

or refinance its indebtedness on less favourable terms. 

The Group has a substantial amount of outstanding indebtedness. As of 31 December 2021, the Group’s 

interest-bearing loans and borrowings from financial institutions and bonds issued amounted to EUR 

4,513 million. The level of the Group’s indebtedness could have important consequences. For instance, 

it could make it difficult for the Group to satisfy its obligations with respect to its outstanding 

indebtedness, increase the Group’s vulnerability and reduce its flexibility to respond to general adverse 

economic and industry conditions. Further, while the Group has sufficient working capital to meet its 

present requirements, the level of the Group’s outstanding indebtedness could require that a substantial 

portion of the Group’s cash flow from operations is dedicated to the payment of principal of, and interest 

on, the outstanding indebtedness, thereby reducing the availability of such cash flow for, and limiting 

the ability to obtain additional financing to fund, capital expenditures, acquisitions, joint ventures or 

other general corporate purposes. 

In addition, the Group may incur substantial additional indebtedness in the future. Although the terms 

of certain of the Group’s indebtedness (including, without limitation, indebtedness under the Aareal 

Facilities Agreement (as defined in “Description of the Issuer—Material Contracts”)) provide for 

restrictions on the incurrence of additional indebtedness, these restrictions are subject to a number of 

qualifications and exceptions typical for this type of financing, and under certain circumstances, the 

amount of indebtedness that could be incurred in compliance with those restrictions could be substantial. 

Any additional debt incurred in connection with future acquisitions, construction or development could 

have a significant negative impact on the Group’s performance indicators, and could result in higher 

interest expenses for the Group. 

The Group’s business is also subject to risks in relation to its ability to renew, extend or refinance loans 

and other obligations as they mature. The Group is reliant upon having financial strength and access to 

borrowing facilities to meet its financial requirements. The Group’s ability to access the capital markets 

and other forms of financing (or refinancing), and the costs connected with such activities, depend in 
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part on the Issuer’s credit rating. As of the date of this Base Listing Particulars, the Issuer has been rated 

BBB- (stable outlook) by S&P and Baa3 (stable outlook) by Moody’s. In the event that the Issuer’s 

credit rating is lowered, the Group’s ability to access credit and bond markets and other forms of 

financing (or refinancing) could be limited. The Issuer’s ability to maintain its rating is dependent on a 

number of factors, some of which may be beyond its control. The availability of funds in the credit 

market fluctuates and it is possible that at the relevant time there will be a shortage of credit to redeem 

the Notes or refinance the Group’s indebtedness. If the Group’s financial performance does not meet its 

existing contractual obligations or market expectations, it may not be able to refinance existing facilities 

on terms considered favourable or at all. If the Group is no longer able to obtain the financing it needs 

as and when needed, or if it is able to do so only on onerous terms, its further development and 

competitiveness could be severely constrained. If the Issuer is unable to refinance its indebtedness, 

including the Notes, it may be forced, in unfavourable market conditions, to sell some or all of the 

properties in order to repay such indebtedness, and there can be no assurance that the assessed fair value 

of the properties would be realised under such circumstances. The Group’s ability to raise additional 

capital could be further influenced by factors such as changing market interest rates, restrictive 

covenants in its debt instruments or negative changes in its credit rating. If the Group does not generate 

sufficient cash flows or if it is unable to obtain sufficient funds from future financings or at acceptable 

interest rates, the Group may not be able to pay its debts when due or to fund other liquidity needs.  

The materialisation of any of these risks could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, 

financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects. 

The Group is subject to restrictive covenants that may limit its ability to finance its future operations 

and capital needs and to pursue business opportunities and activities. 

The terms of the Group’s financial indebtedness, including the Aareal Facilities Agreement (as defined 

in “Description of the Issuer—Material Contracts”) contain restrictive provisions standard for this type 

of financing which, among other things, limit the ability of the Group to incur additional financial 

indebtedness, perform acquisitions, invest in joint ventures, make distributions and certain other 

payments, dispose of assets, provide loans or guarantees, create security, merge with other companies 

or engage in other transactions. These restrictions are subject to a number of exceptions and 

qualifications.  

The above restrictive provisions could also limit the ability of the Group to finance its future operations 

and capital needs and its ability to pursue business opportunities and activities that may be in its interest, 

which may in turn adversely affect the business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows 

and prospects of the Group. 

Any deterioration in the Group’s operating performance, including as a result of any worsening of 

prevailing economic conditions, or any financial, business or other factors, many of which are beyond 

its control, may materially adversely affect its cash flow and hinder its ability to service its indebtedness 

and result in covenant breaches under the Group’s financial indebtedness. In such a case, the Group may 

be forced to refinance or restructure its debt, reduce or delay its planned development activities or sell 

some of its properties in order to avoid default and acceleration of its indebtedness by the Group’s 

lenders. Waivers by the Group’s lenders may trigger higher interest rates or waiver fees. Some of the 

ratios and financial covenants in the Group’s financial indebtedness are calculated on the basis of the 

fair value of its properties. Therefore, fluctuations in the fair value of the Group’s properties could have 

an adverse impact on its compliance with relevant financial ratios and covenants. Any failure to meet 

its debt service obligations, to obtain waivers of covenant breaches or to refinance its debt on 

commercially acceptable terms in such a situation could have a material adverse effect on the Group. 

Moreover, terms of certain indebtedness of the Group may restrict the subsidiaries of the Issuer from 

making distributions to the Issuer, which may in turn adversely affect the Issuer’s ability to service its 

indebtedness, including the Notes, and to distribute dividends. 
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The Group is exposed to potential claims under the DEKA Guarantees. 

On 25 October 2018, CTP Invest and CTP PROPERTY LUX S.à r.l. as sellers and DEKA Immobilien 

Investment GmbH (“Deka Immobilien”) and Westinvest Gesellschaft fur Investmentfonds mbH 

(“Westinvest”) as buyers entered, inter alia, into an ownership interests sale and purchase agreement 

relating to CTP Portfolio A Plzen Park, Teplice Park and Prague North Park (the “DEKA SPA”). 

Pursuant to its terms, the sellers sold portfolio companies owning three business parks, consisting of 32 

buildings in the Czech Republic, for a price of EUR 410 million.2 The Group also provided specific 

guarantees to Deka Immobilien and Westinvest including (i) a rental guarantee regarding vacant 

premises, rent shortfall and outstanding tenant incentives, (ii) tenant guarantees regarding defaults, break 

options and non-solicitation, and (iii) a technical guarantee for the repairs of the buildings (collectively, 

the “DEKA Guarantees”). The duration of the DEKA Guarantees is until 15 November 2028, unless 

terminated earlier pursuant to the DEKA SPA. Under the conditions specified in the DEKA SPA, Deka 

Immobilien and Westinvest may claim monetary compensation for agreed losses and/or specific costs 

under the DEKA Guarantees, which would result in an increased cost to the Group. As of the date of 

this Base Listing Particulars, the Group estimated its maximum exposure arising from the DEKA 

Guarantees at EUR 20 million. While Deka Immobilien and Westinvest regularly claim under the DEKA 

Guarantees monetary compensation in amounts that the Group does not consider material, if Deka 

Immobilien and Westinvest were to claim under the DEKA Guarantees monetary claims up to the 

estimated maximum exposure, this could materially adversely affect the Group’s business, financial 

condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects. 

The Group is exposed to currency fluctuation risks. 

The Group operates in a number of different countries and is therefore exposed to fluctuations in the 

value of currencies (primarily Czech Koruna, Romanian Leu, Polish Złoty, Hungarian Forint, Bulgarian 

Lev and Serbian Dinar) relative to euro. Management analysed the impact of the foreign exchange rate 

variances on the Group’s assets and liabilities and on its statement of comprehensive income as of 31 

December 2021. The impact would not be significant as the majority of financial instruments are 

denominated in euro.  

The Group’s financial results in any given period may be materially adversely affected by fluctuations 

in the value of currencies relative to the euro and by the related transaction effects and the translation 

effects thereof. The Group is exposed to transaction effects when one of its subsidiaries incurs costs or 

earns revenue in a currency different from its functional currency. The Group is exposed to the 

translation effects of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations when the Group converts currencies 

that it receives from its operating activities into currencies required to pay its debt, or into currencies in 

which the Group pays its contractors and suppliers, meet its fixed costs or pay for services, any of which 

could result in a gain or loss depending on such fluctuations.  

Where relevant, the Group uses derivative financial instruments to reduce the amount of exposure to 

currency rate fluctuations. However, the Group may incur losses if any of the variety of instruments and 

strategies used to hedge exposures are not effective or cannot be implemented. The Group’s actual 

hedging decisions will be determined in light of the facts and circumstances existing at the time of the 

hedge and may differ from time to time. Also, the risk management procedures the Group has in place 

may not always be followed or may not work as planned. In addition, the Group is exposed to the risk 

that its hedging counterparties will not perform their obligations under the relevant hedging 

arrangements to which the Group is a part. 

Although the Group’s standard leases are euro denominated, the Group’s entities which primarily focus 

on investment and development activities in specific countries have the local currency as its functional 

currency. As such, fluctuations in exchange rates between local currencies and the euro affect the 

Group’s reported results of operations and assets and liabilities when the results are translated into the 

euro for reporting purposes. Unfavourable fluctuations in the values of the local currencies in which 

                                                      
2 EUR 392 million including latent capital gain tax. 
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financial statements of the Issuer’s subsidiaries are prepared against the euro could have a material 

negative impact on the Group’s future consolidated financial statements. The exposure to exchange rate 

volatility could materially adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition, results of 

operations, cash flows and prospects. 

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk. 

The Group faces the risk that it will experience difficulties in meeting its obligations associated with 

financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. To mitigate this risk, on 

9 July 2021, the Group entered into the Revolving Credit Facility Agreement (as defined in “Description 

of the Issuer—Material Contracts”) with a group of relationship banks. The Revolving Credit Facility 

Agreement provides for committed three-year revolving credit facilities in the aggregate amount of EUR 

400 million with a EUR 100 million incremental facility. The Group also constantly monitors forecasted 

and actual cash flow, uses long-term financing and refinancing, where appropriate, for its investment 

property and uses rent income to settle its short-term liabilities. As of 31 December 2021, the Group 

had Indebtedness (consisting of the nominal value of bank loans and borrowings and bonds issued) 

with contractual maturities up to one year in the total amount of EUR 23 million, between one and five 

years in the total amount of EUR 1,515 million, and over five years in the total amount of EUR 3,001 

million. These amounts are gross and exclude contractual interest payments and the impact of netting 

agreements. Liquidity risk is evaluated by monitoring changes in the financing structure and comparing 

these changes with the Group’s liquidity risk management strategy. The Group typically seeks to have 

sufficient cash available on demand and assets with short maturity to meet expected operational 

expenses for a period of 90 days, including servicing financial obligations, although this excludes the 

impact of extreme events that cannot be reliably predicted, like natural disasters. However, if these 

policies and procedures are not effective, are not followed or do not work as planned, this could 

adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and 

prospects. 

The Group’s operating subsidiaries are exposed to interest rate risk. 

The Group is exposed to interest rate fluctuations mainly from the floating interest rates applicable to 

its indebtedness as some of its bank loans have floating interest rates. As of 31 December 2021, 0.65 

per cent. of the Group’s bank loans was unhedged and exposed to floating interest rates. The Group uses 

interest rate swaps, interest rate caps, interest rate collars, other types of derivatives and fixed rate loans 

to reduce the amount of debt exposed to interest rate fluctuations and to reduce borrowing costs. 

However, the Group may incur losses if any of the variety of instruments and strategies used to hedge 

exposures are not effective or cannot be implemented. The Group’s actual hedging decisions will be 

determined in light of the facts and circumstances existing at the time of the hedge and may differ from 

time to time. Also, the risk management procedures the Group has in place may not always be followed 

or may not work as planned. In addition, the Group performs a sensitivity analysis, whereby an 

immediate increase or decrease in interest rates by 0.25 per cent. along the whole yield curve is applied 

to the unhedged part of the interest rate positions of the portfolio. The materialisation of any of the above 

risks could adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows 

and prospects. 

The Group is exposed to risks associated with announced and other potential changes to accounting 

standards. 

The Group prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with international accounting 

standards as adopted by the EU, comprising IFRS and IAS, together with their interpretative texts. In 

addition to new standards effective as of 1 January 2019 and 1 January 2020, the International 

Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) has been considering amending the existing standards and 

to issue new standards, which may affect various areas, some of which could materially and adversely 

affect the financial statements of utility groups such as the Group. These potential changes may for 

example adversely affect the recognition of both assets and liabilities of the Group as well as its income 

and expenses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.  
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For example, in January 2016, the IASB published the accounting standard IFRS 16, ‘Leases’, which 

replaces the previous standard IAS 17, ‘Leases’, and IFRIC 4, ‘Determining Whether an Arrangement 

Contains a Lease’. In particular, IFRS 16 amends the accounting treatment of leases with the lessee. 

Under IFRS 16, the lessee is to account for the regular capitalisation of leased assets for the right of use 

in connection with the leasing arrangement and also to recognise a corresponding liability in connection 

with the leasing arrangement. Excluded from IFRS 16 are low-value assets and leasing arrangements 

with a term of less than 12 months if the corresponding options are exercised. The lessor is to continue 

to differentiate between finance leases and operating leases. IFRS 16 also contains a number of other 

provisions relating to recognition, disclosures and sale and leaseback transactions. The application of 

IFRS 16 is required for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2019 and it has been adopted by the 

EU. As a result, the Group’s financial statements as of 1 January 2019 included a newly recognised 

right-of-use asset in the amount of EUR 6.2 million and related addition lease liabilities of EUR 6.2 

million. 

While as of the date of this Base Listing Particulars, the Group is not able to fully assess the precise 

impact of the above and other such changes to the accounting standards on future reporting periods, 

these could have a material and adverse effect on the Group’s net income and financial position, 

including related key performance indicators such as the non-IFRS measures. 

The Issuer only recently became a public company and may be adversely affected by this transition 

or a failure by the Issuer to comply with the additional requirements. 

The Issuer became a public company in March 2021. This transition involved, in particular, changes in 

the Issuer’s corporate governance, financial and non-financial reporting requirements as well as the 

implementation of an internal compliance framework and function. Following the admission of the 

Issuer’s shares to trading on Euronext Amsterdam, the Issuer became for the first time subject to the 

legal requirements of a company listed on a regulated market. This is still a new situation for the Issuer 

and the Issuer continues to develop the expertise necessary to comply with the numerous regulatory and 

other requirements applicable to public companies, including requirements relating to corporate 

governance, listing standards, more detailed financial and non-financial disclosure requirements 

(including the alignment of disclosure requirements for the Issuer’s shares and Notes issued under the 

Programme), and potential investor relations issues, which require significant management attention and 

may result in increased costs. In addition, the Group’s management had to evaluate the internal control 

system independently with new materiality thresholds, and to implement necessary changes to its 

internal control system. Failure to respond to these additional requirements without difficulties or 

inefficiencies and to discharge the Issuer’s new regulatory obligations could result in sanctions imposed 

by regulatory authorities as well as cause the Group to incur significant additional costs and expose the 

Issuer to civil litigation and penalties. 

RISKS RELATING TO THE NOTES 

Risks related to the Notes generally 

Set out below is a brief description of certain risks relating to the Notes generally: 

Risks relating to structural subordination of the Notes. 

The Issuer is the holding company of the Group and as such its operations are principally conducted 

through its subsidiaries. Accordingly, the Issuer is and will be dependent on its subsidiaries’ operations 

to service its indebtedness, including the Notes. As of 31 December 2021, the Group’s Indebtedness in 

the amount of EUR 1,131.3 million was owed by the subsidiaries of the Issuer, primarily under the 2022 

Czech Portfolio Facilities Agreement (as defined in “Description of the Issuer— Financial Indebtedness 

of the Group”). Indebtedness obtained under such financing arrangement is structurally senior to the 

indebtedness of the Issuer under the Notes. In the event of any foreclosure, dissolution, winding-up, 

liquidation, reorganisation, administration or other bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings in respect of 

the subsidiaries of the Issuer, investors in the Notes will not have access to the assets of such subsidiaries 
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until after all of the subsidiary’s creditors have been paid and the remaining assets have been distributed 

to the Issuer as their direct or indirect shareholder. Although the covenants set out at Condition 5 

(Covenants) impose certain limitations on the incurrence of additional indebtedness, the Issuer retains 

the ability to incur substantial additional secured and unsecured indebtedness and other liabilities in the 

future that rank senior to or pari passu with the Notes. In addition, the subsidiaries may also be subject 

to covenants which prevent or delay distribution of profits to the Group and may impact the ability of 

the Issuer to make payments under the Notes. 

The Conditions of the Notes contain provisions which may permit their modification, including the 

substitution of the Issuer, without the consent of all investors and confer significant discretions on 

the Trustee which may be exercised without the consent of the Noteholders and without regard to the 

individual interests of particular Noteholders. 

The Conditions of the Notes and the Trust Deed contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders 

to consider matters affecting their interests generally, including provisions for calling joint meetings of 

holders of more than one Series where to do so would not, in the opinion of the Trustee, give rise to an 

actual or potential conflict of interest between holders of one such Series and holders of any other such 

Series. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders including Noteholders who 

did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the 

majority; and, in the context of a joint meeting of holders of more than one Series, without requiring a 

particular percentage of the holders of any individual Series to attend and vote in any particular manner 

at the relevant meeting. 

The Conditions of the Notes and the Trust Deed also provide that the Trustee may, without the consent 

of Noteholders, (i) agree to modification of, or to the waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed 

breach of, any of the provisions of the Notes or (ii) determine that any Potential Event of Default 

(as defined in the Trust Deed) or Event of Default shall not be treated as such or (iii) agree to the 

substitution of any holding company of the Issuer, Subsidiary of the Issuer or successor in business of 

the Issuer as the principal debtor in relation to the Notes and Coupons of any Series, in the circumstances 

described in the Trust Deed and the Conditions of the Notes, provided that in the case of (i), (ii) and 

(iii), the Trustee is of the opinion that to do so would not be materially prejudicial to the interests of 

Noteholders. 

There might not be an active trading market for the Notes or it may be illiquid. 

The Notes issued under the Programme will be new securities which may not be widely distributed and 

for which there is currently no active trading market (unless in the case of any particular Tranche, such 

Tranche is to be consolidated with and form a single series with a Tranche of Notes which is already 

issued). If the Notes are traded after their initial issuance, they may trade at a discount to their initial 

offering price, depending upon prevailing interest rates, the market for similar securities, general 

economic conditions and the financial condition of the Issuer. 

Although an application has been made for the Notes issued under the Programme to be admitted to 

listing on the Official List and to trading on the GEM, there is no assurance that such application will 

be accepted, that any particular Tranche of Notes will be so admitted or that an active trading market 

will develop. Accordingly, there is no assurance as to the development or liquidity of any trading market 

for any particular Tranche of Notes.  

The value of the Notes could be adversely affected by a change in English law or administrative 

practice. 

The “Terms and Conditions of the Notes” are governed by English law in effect as at the date of this 

Base Listing Particulars. No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or 

change to English law or administrative practice or the official application or interpretation of English 

law after the date of this Base Listing Particulars and any such change could materially adversely impact 

the value of any Notes affected by it. 
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Possible difficulties or delays in enforcing English court judgments as a result of the UK’s withdrawal 

from the EU. 

Upon the end of the transitional period following the withdrawal of the UK from the EU, the so-called 

Recast Brussels Regulation (Regulation (EU) No 1215/2012, the “Recast Brussels Regulation”), which 

is the formal reciprocal regime on jurisdiction and judgments that is currently applied in the EU context 

no longer applies in the UK (and English court judgments). As a result, persons enforcing a judgment 

obtained before English courts will no longer automatically be able to benefit from the recognition of 

such judgment in EU courts (including the Netherlands, the Czech Republic, Romania, Hungary, 

Slovakia, Germany and Poland) under the Recast Brussels Regulation.  

Further, on 28 September 2020, the UK deposited its instrument of accession to the Hague Convention 

on Choice of Court Agreements 2005 (the “Hague Convention”). The Hague Convention requires that 

contracting states recognise and respect exclusive jurisdiction clauses, and to enforce related judgments, 

in favour of other contracting states. The Netherlands and the Czech Republic are each a party to the 

Hague Convention as a consequence of being EU Member States. Therefore, judgments of the English 

courts should be both recognised and enforced in the Netherlands and the Czech Republic pursuant to 

the Hague Convention. However, the scope of the Hague Convention is limited and it applies only to 

contracts with an exclusive jurisdiction clause. 

Although unlikely, it cannot be excluded that Dutch or Czech courts considering the recognition and 

enforcement of English court judgments will apply the 1968 Brussels Convention on Jurisdiction and 

the Enforcement of Judgments in Civil and Commercial Matters.  

Therefore, Noteholders seeking to enforce an English court judgment against the Issuer may need to 

rely on Dutch and/or Czech civil procedure rules for the recognition and enforcement of any such 

judgment in the Netherlands or the Czech Republic, as the case may be. As a result, a judgment entered 

against the Issuer in an English court may not be recognised or enforceable without a re-trial on its 

merits. 

The Global Notes and Global Note Certificates will be held by or on behalf of Euroclear and 

Clearstream, Luxembourg and holders of the Notes will have to rely on their procedures for transfer, 

payment and communication with the Issuer. 

The Notes will be represented by either Global Notes or Global Note Certificates except in certain 

limited circumstances described in the Global Note or Global Note Certificate. The Global Notes or 

Global Note Certificates will be deposited with a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, 

Luxembourg or Common Safekeeper. Except in certain limited circumstances described in the Global 

Note or Global Note Certificate, the holder of the Notes will not be entitled to receive definitive Notes. 

Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg will maintain records of the beneficial interests in the Global 

Notes and Global Note Certificates. While the Notes are represented by the Global Notes or Global Note 

Certificates, holders of the Notes will be able to trade their beneficial interests only through Euroclear 

and Clearstream, Luxembourg and their respective participants.  

While the Notes are in global form, the Issuer will discharge its payment obligations under the Notes by 

making payments to the common depositary (or its nominee as applicable) for Euroclear and 

Clearstream, Luxembourg or Common Safekeeper for distribution to their account holders. A holder of 

a beneficial interest in a Global Note or a Global Note Certificate must rely on the procedures of 

Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg to receive payments under the Notes. The Issuer has no 

responsibility or liability for the records relating to, or payments made in respect of, beneficial interests 

in the Global Notes or Global Note Certificates. Holders of beneficial interests in the Global Notes or 

Global Note Certificates will not have a direct right to vote in respect of the Notes. Instead, such holders 

will be permitted to act only to the extent that they are enabled by Euroclear and Clearstream, 

Luxembourg to appoint appropriate proxies. 
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Investors who purchase Notes in denominations that are not an integral multiple of the Specified 

Denomination may be unable to sell their Notes and may be adversely affected if definitive Notes are 

subsequently required to be issued. 

In relation to any issue of Notes which have denominations consisting of a minimum Specified 

Denomination plus one or more higher integral multiples of another smaller amount, it is possible that 

such Notes may be traded in amounts in excess of the minimum Specified Denomination that are not 

integral multiples of such minimum Specified Denomination. In such a case a holder who, as a result of 

trading such amounts, holds an amount which is less than the minimum Specified Denomination in its 

account with the relevant clearing system at the relevant time would not be able to sell the remainder of 

its holding and may not be able to receive a definitive Note in respect of such holding (should definitive 

bearer Notes be printed) without first purchasing further Notes such that its holding is equal to or more 

than the minimum Specified Denomination. 

If such Notes in definitive form are issued, holders should be aware that definitive Notes which have a 

denomination that is not an integral multiple of the minimum Specified Denomination may be illiquid 

and difficult to trade. 

If an investor holds Notes which are not denominated in the investor’s home currency, they will be 

exposed to movements in exchange rates adversely affecting the value of his holding. In addition, the 

imposition of exchange controls in relation to any Notes could result in an investor not receiving 

payments on those Notes. 

The Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes in the Specified Currency. This presents certain 

risks relating to currency conversions if an investor’s financial activities are denominated principally in 

a currency or currency unit (the “Investor’s Currency”) other than the Specified Currency. These 

include the risk that exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of 

the Specified Currency or revaluation of the Investor’s Currency) and the risk that authorities with 

jurisdiction over the Investor’s Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in 

the value of the Investor’s Currency relative to the Specified Currency would decrease (1) the Investor’s 

Currency equivalent yield on the Notes, (2) the Investor’s Currency equivalent value of the principal 

payable on the Notes and (3) the Investor’s Currency equivalent market value of the Notes. Government 

and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that could 

adversely affect an applicable exchange rate or the ability of the Issuer to make payments in respect of 

Notes. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than expected, or no interest or 

principal. 

Credit ratings assigned to the Issuer or any Notes may not reflect all the risks associated with an 

investment in those Notes. 

As of the date of this Base Listing Particulars, the Issuer has been assigned a rating of Baa3 (stable 

outlook) by Moody’s and BBB- (stable outlook) by S&P. Tranches of Notes to be issued under the 

Programme may be rated or unrated. Where a Tranche of Notes is rated, the applicable rating(s) will be 

specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement. Such rating will not necessarily be the same as the rating(s) 

assigned to Issuer, the Programme or to Notes already issued. One or more independent credit rating 

agencies may also assign credit ratings to the Notes, which may not necessarily be the same ratings as 

the Issuer or Programme rating described above or any rating(s) assigned to Notes already issued. Such 

ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors 

discussed above, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a 

recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised, suspended or withdrawn by the rating 

agency at any time. Actual or anticipated changes or downgrades in the Issuer’s credit ratings, including 

any announcement that the Issuer’s ratings are under further review for a downgrade, could affect the 

market value of the Notes and increase the Issuer’s borrowing costs. 

In addition, if the status of the rating agency rating a series of Notes changes for the purposes of the 

CRA Regulation or the UK CRA Regulation, relevant regulated investors may no longer be able to use 
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the rating for regulatory purposes in the EU or the UK, as applicable, and the Notes may have a different 

regulatory treatment, which may impact the value of the Notes and their liquidity in the secondary 

market. Certain information with respect to the credit rating agencies and ratings is set out on the cover 

of this Base Listing Particulars. 

The Notes may not satisfy the Eurosystem eligibility criteria. 

The NGN and NSS (each as defined in “Forms of the Notes” below) have been introduced to allow for 

the possibility of debt instruments being issued and held in a manner which will permit them to be 

recognised as eligible collateral for the Eurosystem (as defined in “Forms of the Notes” below) and 

intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue or at any or all times during their life. 

However in any particular case such recognition will depend upon satisfaction of the Eurosystem 

eligibility criteria at the relevant time. Investors should make their own assessment as to whether the 

Notes meet such Eurosystem eligibility criteria. 

Risk Factors relating to a particular structure of Notes 

Certain benchmark rates, including EURIBOR, may be discontinued or reformed in the future. 

The Euro Interbank Offered Rate (“EURIBOR”) and other interest rates or other types of rates and 

indices which are deemed to be benchmarks are the subject of ongoing national and international 

regulatory discussions and proposals for reform. Some of these reforms are already effective whilst 

others are still to be implemented.  

Regulation (EU) No. 2016/1011 (the “EU Benchmarks Regulation”) applies, subject to certain 

transitional provisions, to the provision of benchmarks, the contribution of input data to a benchmark 

and the use of a benchmark, within the EU. Regulation (EU) No. 2016/1011 as it forms part of domestic 

law of the UK by virtue of the EUWA (the “UK Benchmarks Regulation”) applies to the provision of 

benchmarks, the contribution of input data to a benchmark and the use of a benchmark, within the UK. 

The EU Benchmarks Regulation and/or the UK Benchmarks Regulation could have a material impact 

on any Notes linked to EURIBOR or another benchmark rate or index, in particular, if the methodology 

or other terms of the benchmark are changed in order to comply with the terms of the EU Benchmarks 

Regulation and/or the UK Benchmarks Regulation, and such changes could (amongst other things) have 

the effect of reducing or increasing the rate or level, or affecting the volatility of the published rate or 

level, of the benchmark. More broadly, any of the international, national or other proposals for reform, 

or the general increased regulatory scrutiny of benchmarks, could increase the costs and risks of 

administering or otherwise participating in the setting of a benchmark and complying with any such 

regulations or requirements. Such factors may, among other things, have the effect of discouraging 

market participants from continuing to administer or contribute to certain “benchmarks,” trigger changes 

in the rules or methodologies used in certain “benchmarks” or lead to the discontinuance or 

unavailability of quotes of certain “benchmarks”. 

As an example of such benchmark reforms, on 21 September 2017, the European Central Bank 

announced that it would be part of a new working group tasked with the identification and adoption of 

a “risk free overnight rate” which can serve as a basis for an alternative to current benchmarks used in 

a variety of financial instruments and contracts in the euro area. On 13 September 2018, the working 

group on Euro risk-free rates recommended the new Euro short-term rate (“€STR”) as the new risk-free 

rate for the euro area. The €STR was published for the first time on 2 October 2019. Although EURIBOR 

has subsequently been reformed in order to comply with the terms of the EU Benchmarks Regulation, 

it remains uncertain as to how long it will continue in its current form, or whether it will be further 

reformed or replaced with €STR or an alternative benchmark. 

The elimination of EURIBOR or any other benchmark, or changes in the manner of administration of 

any benchmark, could require or result in an adjustment to the interest calculation provisions of the 

Conditions (as further described in Condition 7(n) (Benchmark Discontinuation)), or result in adverse 

consequences to holders of any Notes linked to such benchmark (including Floating Rate Notes whose 
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interest rates are linked to EURIBOR or any other such benchmark that is subject to reform). 

Furthermore, even prior to the implementation of any changes, uncertainty as to the nature of alternative 

reference rates and as to potential changes to such benchmark may adversely affect such benchmark 

during the term of the relevant Notes, the return on the relevant Notes and the trading market for 

securities (including the Notes) based on the same benchmark. 

The “Terms and Conditions of the Notes” provide for certain fallback arrangements in the event that a 

published benchmark (including any page on which such benchmark may be published (or any successor 

service)) becomes unavailable, unlawful or unrepresentative, including the possibility that the rate of 

interest could be set by reference to a successor rate or an alternative rate and that such successor rate 

or alternative reference rate may be adjusted (if required) in accordance with the recommendation of a 

relevant governmental body or in order to reduce or eliminate, to the extent reasonably practicable in 

the circumstances, any economic prejudice or benefit (as applicable) to investors arising out of the 

replacement of the relevant benchmark, although the application of such adjustments to the Notes may 

not achieve this objective. No consent of the Noteholders shall be required in connection with effecting 

any relevant successor rate or alternative rate (as applicable) or any other related adjustments described 

above. Any such changes may result in the Notes performing differently (which may include payment 

of a lower interest rate) than if the original benchmark continued to apply. Moreover, any such 

adjustment could have unexpected commercial consequences and there can be no assurance that, due to 

the particular circumstances of each Noteholder, any such adjustment will be favourable to each 

Noteholder. In certain circumstances the ultimate fallback of interest for a particular Interest Period may 

result in the rate of interest for the last preceding Interest Period being used. 

This may result in the effective application of a fixed rate for Floating Rate Notes based on the rate 

which was last observed on the Relevant Screen Page. In addition, due to the uncertainty concerning the 

availability of successor rates and alternative reference rates and the involvement of an Independent 

Adviser (as defined in the Conditions) in certain circumstances, the relevant fallback provisions may 

not operate as intended at the relevant time. 

Any such consequences could have a material adverse effect on the value of and return on any such 

Notes. 

Investors should consult their own independent advisers and make their own assessment about the 

potential risks arising from the EU Benchmarks Regulation and/or the UK Benchmarks Regulation 

reforms or from the possible cessation or reform of certain reference rates in making any investment 

decision with respect to any Notes linked to or referencing a benchmark. 

The market continues to develop in relation to risk-free rates (including overnight rates) as reference 

rates for Floating Rate Notes 

The use of risk-free rates – including those such as the Sterling Overnight Index Average (“SONIA”), 

the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) and the €STR, as reference rates for Eurobonds 

continues to develop. This relates not only to the substance of the calculation and the development and 

adoption of market infrastructure for the issuance and trading of bonds referencing such rates, but also 

how widely such rates and methodologies might be adopted. 

The market or a significant part thereof may adopt an application of risk-free rates that differs 

significantly from that set out in the Conditions and used in relation to Notes that reference risk-free 

rates issued under this Programme. The Issuer may in the future also issue Notes referencing SONIA, 

the SONIA Compounded Index, SOFR, the SOFR Compounded Index or €STR that differ materially in 

terms of interest determination when compared with any previous Notes issued by it under this 

Programme. The development of risk-free rates for the Eurobond markets could result in reduced 

liquidity or increased volatility, or could otherwise affect the market price of any Notes that reference a 

risk-free rate issued under this Programme from time to time. 



 

EMEA 138069526 

49 
 

 

In addition, the manner of adoption or application of risk-free rates in the Eurobond markets may differ 

materially compared with the application and adoption of risk-free rates in other markets, such as the 

derivatives and loan markets. Investors should carefully consider how any mismatch between the 

adoption of such reference rates in the bond, loan and derivatives markets may impact any hedging or 

other financial arrangements which they may put in place in connection with any acquisition, holding 

or disposal of Notes referencing such risk-free rates. 

In particular, investors should be aware that several different methodologies have been used in risk-free 

rate notes issued to date. No assurance can be given that any particular methodology, including the 

compounding formula in the terms and conditions of the Notes, will gain widespread market acceptance. 

In addition, market participants and relevant working groups are still exploring alternative reference 

rates based on risk-free rates, including various ways to produce term versions of certain risk-free rates 

(which seek to measure the market’s forward expectation of an average of these reference rates over a 

designated term, as they are overnight rates) or different measures of such risk-free rates. If the relevant 

risk-free rates do not prove to be widely used in securities like the Notes, the trading price of such Notes 

linked to such risk-free rates may be lower than those of Notes referencing indices that are more widely 

used. 

Investors should consider these matters when making their investment decision with respect to any Notes 

which reference SONIA, SOFR, €STR or any related indices. 

Risk-free rates may differ from inter-bank offered rates in a number of material respects and have a 

limited history 

Risk-free rates may differ from inter-bank offered rates in a number of material respects. These include, 

without limitation, being backwards-looking, in most cases, calculated on a compounded or weighted 

average basis, risk-free, overnight rates and, in the case of SOFR, secured, whereas interbank offered 

rates are generally expressed on the basis of a forward-looking term, are unsecured and include a risk-

element based on interbank lending. As such, investors should be aware that risk-free rates may behave 

materially differently to interbank offered rates as interest reference rates for the Notes. Furthermore, 

SOFR is a secured rate that represents overnight secured funding transactions, and therefore will perform 

differently over time to an unsecured rate. For example, since publication of SOFR began on 3 April 

2018, daily changes in SOFR have, on occasion, been more volatile than daily changes in comparable 

benchmarks or other market rates. 

Risk-free rates offered as alternatives to interbank offered rates also have a limited history. For that 

reason, future performance of such rates may be difficult to predict based on their limited historical 

performance. The level of such rates during the term of the Notes may bear little or no relation to 

historical levels. Prior observed patterns, if any, in the behaviour of market variables and their relation 

to such rates such as correlations, may change in the future. Investors should not rely on historical 

performance data as an indicator of the future performance of such risk-free rates nor should they rely 

on any hypothetical data. 

Furthermore, interest on Notes which reference a backwards-looking risk-free rate is only capable of 

being determined immediately prior to the relevant Interest Payment Date. It may be difficult for 

investors in Notes which reference such risk-free rates reliably to estimate the amount of interest which 

will be payable on such Notes, and some investors may be unable or unwilling to trade such Notes 

without changes to their IT systems, both of which could adversely impact the liquidity of such Notes. 

Further, in contrast to Notes linked to interbank offered rates, if Notes referencing backwards-looking 

rates become due and payable as a result of an Event of Default under Condition 14 (Events of Default), 

or are otherwise redeemed early on a date which is not an Interest Payment Date, the final Rate of 

Interest payable in respect of such Notes shall be determined by reference to a shortened period ending 

immediately prior to the date on which the Notes become due and payable or are scheduled for 

redemption. 
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The administrator of SONIA, SOFR or €STR or any related indices may make changes that could 

change the value of SONIA, SOFR or €STR or any related index, or discontinue SONIA, SOFR or 

€STR or any related index 

The Bank of England, the Federal Reserve, Bank of New York or the European Central Bank (or their 

successors) as administrators of SONIA (and the SONIA Compounded Index), SOFR (and the SOFR 

Compounded Index) or €STR, respectively, may make methodological or other changes that could 

change the value of these risk-free rates and/or indices, including changes related to the method by 

which such risk-free rate is calculated, eligibility criteria applicable to the transactions used to calculate 

SONIA, SOFR or €STR, or timing related to the publication of SONIA, SOFR or €STR or any related 

indices. In addition, the administrator may alter, discontinue or suspend calculation or dissemination of 

SONIA, SOFR or €STR or any related index (in which case a fallback method of determining the interest 

rate on the Notes will apply). The administrator has no obligation to consider the interests of Noteholders 

when calculating, adjusting, converting, revising or discontinuing any such risk-free rate.  

Notes issued as Green Bonds with a specific use of proceeds, may not meet investor expectations or 

requirements. 

The Pricing Supplement relating to a specific Tranche of Notes may provide that it is the Issuer’s 

intention to apply the proceeds of those Notes for projects that promote climate-friendly and other 

environmental purposes in accordance with the Issuer’s Green Bond Framework for Eligible Projects as 

defined under the “Use of Proceeds” below. A prospective investor should have regard to the 

information set out in the section “Use of Proceeds” and determine for itself the relevance of such 

information for the purpose of an investment in such Notes together with any other investigation it 

deems necessary. The proceeds of such Notes are not segregated and the performance of the Eligible 

Projects in which the proceeds or an amount equivalent to the proceeds of the Notes may have been 

invested has no impact on the payment of principal and interest on the Notes. 

In particular, no assurance is given by the Issuer, the Arranger or the Dealers that such use of proceeds 

will satisfy, whether in whole or in part, any present or future investment criteria or guidelines with 

which an investor is required, or intends, to comply, in particular with regard to any direct or indirect 

environmental, sustainability or social impact of any project or uses, the subject of or related to, the 

Green Bond Framework.  

It should be noted that there is currently no consistent definition (legal, regulatory or otherwise) of, nor 

market consensus as to what constitutes a “green”, “sustainable”, “social” or equivalently-labelled 

project nor can any assurance be given that a clear definition or consensus will develop over time or that 

any adverse environmental, social and/or other impacts will not occur during the implementation of any 

projects or the issues the subject of, or related to, any Eligible Projects. Such a definition may be 

established with the entry into force of the EU regulation on the establishment of a framework to 

facilitate sustainable investment (the “EU Taxonomy”). While the Green Bond Framework is intended 

to be in alignment with certain of the objectives set out in the EU Taxonomy or implementing measures 

once finalised, no assurance can be given that the Green Bond Framework will be aligned with the final 

EU Taxonomy or implementing measures. Accordingly, no assurance is or can be given that Eligible 

Projects will meet investor expectations or requirements regarding such “green”, “sustainable”, “social” 

or similar labels or that any adverse environmental, social and/or other impacts will not occur during the 

implementation of any projects or uses the subject of, or related to, any Eligible Projects. Each 

prospective investor should have regard to the factors described in the Green Bond Framework and seek 

advice from their independent financial adviser or other professional adviser the relevance of the 

information contained in this Base Listing Particulars regarding the use of proceeds and its purchase of 

the Notes before deciding to invest. 

On 6 July 2021, the European Commission published the European Green Bond Standard (the “EU 

Green Bond Standard”) proposal with an aim to scale up and raise the environmental ambitions of the 

green bond market. No assurance is or can be given that the Notes will comply with the EU Green Bond 

Standard once finalised and adopted. 
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No representation or assurance is given as to the suitability or reliability for any purpose whatsoever of 

any report, assessment, opinion or certification of any third party (whether or not solicited by the Issuer) 

made available in connection with an issue of Notes issued as Green Bonds and in particular with any 

Eligible Projects to fulfil any environmental, sustainability, social and/or other criteria. For the 

avoidance of doubt, any such report, assessment, opinion or certification (i) is not, nor shall it be deemed 

to be, incorporated in and/or form part of this Base Listing Particulars, (ii) is not, nor should it be deemed 

to be, a recommendation by the Issuer, the Arranger, the Dealer or any other person to buy, sell or hold 

any such Notes, (iii) is current only as of the date it was initially issued, (iv) may be subsequently 

withdrawn and (v) may not address risks that relate to any Eligible Project or may affect the value of 

the Notes. As at the date of this Base Listing Particulars, the providers of such reports, assessments, 

opinions and certifications are not subject to any specific regulatory or other regime or oversight. 

Prospective investors must determine for themselves the relevance of any such reports, assessments, 

opinion or certification and/or the information contained therein and/or the provider of such report, 

assessment, opinion or certification for the purpose of any investment in such Notes.  

In the event that any such Notes are listed or admitted to trading on a dedicated “green”, 

“environmental”, “sustainable”, “social” or other equivalently-labelled segment of a stock exchange or 

securities market (whether or not regulated), no representation or assurance is given by the Issuer, the 

Arranger, the Dealer or any other person that such listing or admission satisfies, whether in whole or in 

part, any present or future investment criteria or guidelines with which such investor or its investments 

is required, or intends, to comply, whether by any present or future applicable law or regulations or by 

its own by-laws or other governing rules or investment portfolio mandates in particular with regard to 

any direct or indirect environmental, sustainability or social impact of any projects or uses, the subject 

of or related to, any Eligible Projects. Furthermore, it should be noted that the criteria for any such 

listings or admission to trading may vary from one stock exchange or securities market to another. No 

representation or assurance is given or made by the Issuer, the Arranger, the Dealer or any other person 

that any such listing or admission to trading will be obtained in respect of any such Notes or, if obtained, 

that any such listing or admission to trading will be maintained during the life of the Notes. 

While it is the intention of the Issuer to apply the proceeds of any Notes issued as Green Bonds for 

Eligible Projects and to report on the use of proceeds or Eligible Project as described in “Use of 

Proceeds” below and/or in the relevant Pricing Supplement, there is no contractual obligation to do so. 

There can be no assurance that any such Eligible Projects will be available or capable of being 

implemented in the manner anticipated and, accordingly, that the Issuer will be able to use the proceeds 

for such Eligible Projects as intended. In addition, there can be no assurance that Eligible Projects will 

be completed as expected or achieve the impacts or outcomes (environmental, social or otherwise) 

originally expected or anticipated. None of a failure by the Issuer to allocate the proceeds of any Notes 

issued as Green Bonds or to report on the use of proceeds or Eligible Projects as anticipated or a failure 

of a third party to issue (or to withdraw) a report, assessment, opinion or certification in connection with 

an issue of Green Bonds or the failure of the Notes issued as Green Bonds to meet investors’ expectations 

requirements regarding any “green”, “sustainable”, “social” or similar labels will constitute an Event of 

Default or breach of contract with respect to any of the Notes issued as Green Bonds. 

A failure of the Notes issued as Green Bonds to meet investor expectations or requirements as to their 

“green”, “sustainable”, “social” or equivalent characteristics including the failure to apply proceeds for 

Eligible Projects, the failure to provide, or the withdrawal of, a third party report, assessment, opinion 

or certification, the Notes ceasing to be listed or admitted to trading on any dedicated stock exchange or 

securities market as aforesaid or the failure by the Issuer to report on the use of proceeds or Eligible 

Projects as anticipated, may have a material adverse effect on the value of such Notes and/or may have 

consequences for certain investors with portfolio mandates to invest in green assets (which 

consequences may include the need to sell the Notes as a result of the Notes not falling within the 

investor’s investment criteria or mandate). 
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The Notes may be redeemed prior to maturity. 

Unless in the case of any particular Tranche of Notes the relevant Pricing Supplement specifies 

otherwise, in the event that the Issuer would be obliged to increase the amounts payable in respect of 

any Notes due to any withholding or deduction for, or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties, 

assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or 

assessed by or on behalf of the Netherlands and/or any other taxing jurisdiction that the Issuer becomes 

subject to at any time or, in any case, any political subdivision thereof or any authority therein or thereof 

having power to tax, the Issuer may redeem all outstanding Notes in accordance with the Conditions. 

In addition, if in the case of any particular Tranche of Notes the relevant Pricing Supplement specifies 

that the Notes are redeemable at the Issuer’s option in certain other circumstances, the Issuer may choose 

to redeem the Notes at times when prevailing interest rates may be relatively low. Such an optional 

redemption feature of Notes is also likely to limit their market value. In such circumstances an investor 

may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a comparable security at an effective interest rate 

as high as that of the relevant Notes. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of 

other investments available at that time. 

A partial redemption may affect the liquidity of the Notes of the same Series in respect of which such 

option is not exercised.  

An early redemption at the option of the Issuer (as described in Condition 10(d) (Partial redemption)) 

or an early redemption at the option of the Noteholders in respect of certain Notes may affect the 

liquidity of the Notes of the same Series in respect of which such option is not exercised.  

Depending on the number of Notes of the same Series in respect of which a partial redemption of the 

Notes at the option of the Issuer or at the option of the Noteholders is made, any trading market in 

respect of those Notes in respect of which such option is not exercised may become illiquid. 

The market value of the Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium is subject to greater 

volatility. 

The market values of securities issued at a substantial discount (such as Zero Coupon Notes) or premium 

from their principal amount tend to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than 

do prices for conventional interest-bearing securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of the 

securities, the greater the price volatility as compared to conventional interest-bearing securities with 

comparable maturities. 

The value of Fixed Rate Notes may be adversely affected by movements in market interest rates. 

Investment in Fixed Rate Notes involves the risk that subsequent changes in market interest rates may 

adversely affect the value of the Fixed Rate Notes. 
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INFORMATION INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 

The following information shall be deemed to be incorporated in, and to form part of, this Base Listing 

Particulars: 

1. the auditors’ report and the audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the year 

ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 of the Issuer, including the information set out at the 

following pages in particular: 

Independent auditors’ report ..........................................................................  Page 341-355 

Consolidated statement of profit and loss and comprehensive income ..........  Page 260 

Consolidated statement of financial position .................................................  Page 261 

Consolidated statement of changes in equity .................................................  Page 262 

Consolidated statement of cash flows ............................................................  Page 263 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements ...............................................  Page 264-323 

2. the section “Terms and Conditions of the Notes” contained in the Issuer’s base listing particulars 

relating to the Programme and dated 17 September 2020 (at pages 49-90 inclusive) and 6 August 

2021 (at pages 60-102 inclusive). 

Copies of the documents specified above as containing information incorporated by reference in this 

Base Listing Particulars may be inspected, free of charge, at www.ctp.eu. Any information contained in 

or incorporated by reference in any of the documents specified above which is not incorporated by 

reference in this Base Listing Particulars is either not relevant to investors or is covered elsewhere in 

this Base Listing Particulars and, for the avoidance of doubt, unless specifically incorporated by 

reference into this Base Listing Particulars, information contained on the website does not form part of 

this Base Listing Particulars. Unless specifically incorporated by reference into this Base Listing 

Particulars, information contained on the website does not form part of this Base Listing Particulars. 

The Issuer will, in the event of any significant new factor, material mistake or inaccuracy relating to 

information included in this Base Listing Particulars which is capable of affecting the assessment of any 

Notes, prepare a supplement to this Base Listing Particulars or publish a new Base Listing Particulars 

for use in connection with any subsequent issue of Notes. 

http://www.ctp.eu/
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PRICING SUPPLEMENT AND DRAWDOWN LISTING PARTICULARS 

In this section the expression “necessary information” means, in relation to any Tranche of Notes, the 

necessary information which is material to an investor for making an informed assessment of the assets 

and liabilities, financial position, profits and losses and prospects of the Issuer and of the rights attaching 

to the Notes and the reasons for the issuance and its impact on the issuer. In relation to the different 

types of Notes which may be issued under the Programme the Issuer has included in this Base Listing 

Particulars all of the necessary information except for information relating to the Notes which is not 

known at the date of this Base Listing Particulars and which can only be determined at the time of an 

individual issue of a Tranche of Notes. 

Any information relating to the Notes which is not included in this Base Listing Particulars and which 

is required in order to complete the necessary information in relation to a Tranche of Notes will be 

contained either in the relevant Pricing Supplement or in a Drawdown Listing Particulars.  

For a Tranche of Notes which is the subject of a Pricing Supplement, that Pricing Supplement will, for 

the purposes of that Tranche only, complete this Base Listing Particulars and must be read in conjunction 

with this Base Listing Particulars. The terms and conditions applicable to any particular Tranche of 

Notes which is the subject of a Pricing Supplement are the Conditions described in the relevant Pricing 

Supplement as supplemented to the extent described in the relevant Pricing Supplement. 

The terms and conditions applicable to any particular Tranche of Notes which is the subject of a 

Drawdown Listing Particulars will be the Conditions as supplemented, amended and/or replaced to the 

extent described in the relevant Drawdown Listing Particulars. In the case of a Tranche of Notes which 

is the subject of a Drawdown Listing Particulars, each reference in this Base Listing Particulars to 

information being specified or identified in the relevant Pricing Supplement shall be read and construed 

as a reference to such information being specified or identified in the relevant Drawdown Listing 

Particulars unless the context requires otherwise.  
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FORMS OF THE NOTES 

The Notes of each Series will be in either bearer form, with or without interest coupons attached, or 

registered form, without interest coupons attached. Bearer Notes will be issued to non-U.S. persons 

outside the United States in reliance on Regulation S and Registered Notes will be issued to non-U.S. 

persons outside the United States in reliance on the exemption from registration provided by 

Regulation S. 

Bearer Notes 

Each Tranche of Notes in bearer form (“Bearer Notes”) will initially be in the form of either a temporary 

global note in bearer form (the “Temporary Global Note”), without interest coupons, or a permanent 

global note in bearer form (the “Permanent Global Note”), without interest coupons, in each case as 

specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement. Each Temporary Global Note or, as the case may be, 

Permanent Global Note (each a “Global Note”) which is not intended to be issued in new global note 

(“NGN”) form, as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, will be deposited on or around the issue 

date of the relevant Tranche of the Notes with a depositary or a common depositary for Euroclear Bank 

SA/NV (“Euroclear”) and/or Clearstream Banking S.A. (“Clearstream, Luxembourg”) and, together 

with Euroclear, the “ICSDs”) and/or any other relevant clearing system and each Global Note which is 

intended to be issued in NGN form, as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, will be deposited 

on or around the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the Notes with a common safekeeper for Euroclear 

and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg.  

On 13 June 2006 the European Central Bank (the “ECB”) announced that Notes in NGN form are in 

compliance with the “Standards for the use of EU securities settlement systems in ESCB credit 

operations” of the central banking system for the euro (the “Eurosystem”), provided that certain other 

criteria are fulfilled. At the same time the ECB also announced that arrangements for Notes in NGN 

form will be offered by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg as of 30 June 2006 and that debt 

securities in global bearer form issued through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg after 31 

December 2006 will only be eligible as collateral for Eurosystem operations if the NGN form is used. 

In the case of each Tranche of Bearer Notes, the relevant Pricing Supplement will also specify whether 

United States Treasury Regulation §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(C) (the “TEFRA C Rules”) or United States 

Treasury Regulation §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D) (the “TEFRA D Rules”) are applicable in relation to the 

Notes or, if the Notes do not have a maturity of more than 365 days, that neither the TEFRA C Rules 

nor the TEFRA D Rules are applicable.  

Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Permanent Global Notes 

If the relevant Pricing Supplement specifies the form of Notes as being “Temporary Global Note 

exchangeable for a Permanent Global Note”, then the Notes will initially be in the form of a Temporary 

Global Note which will be exchangeable, in whole or in part, for interests in a Permanent Global Note, 

without interest coupons, not earlier than 40 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the 

Notes upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership. No payments will be made under the 

Temporary Global Note unless exchange for interests in the Permanent Global Note is improperly 

withheld or refused. In addition, interest payments in respect of the Notes cannot be collected without 

such certification of non-U.S. beneficial ownership. 

Whenever any interest in the Temporary Global Note is to be exchanged for an interest in a Permanent 

Global Note, the Issuer shall procure (in the case of first exchange) the delivery of a Permanent Global 

Note, duly authenticated and, in the case of an NGN, effectuated, to the bearer of the Temporary Global 

Note or (in the case of any subsequent exchange) an increase in the principal amount of the Permanent 

Global Note in accordance with its terms against: 

(i) presentation and (in the case of final exchange) presentation and surrender of the Temporary 

Global Note to or to the order of the Principal Paying Agent; and 
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(ii) receipt by the Principal Paying Agent of a certificate or certificates of non-U.S. beneficial 

ownership, 

within 7 days of the bearer requesting such exchange. 

Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes 

If the relevant Pricing Supplement specifies the form of Notes as being “Temporary Global Note 

exchangeable for Definitive Notes” and also specifies that the TEFRA C Rules are applicable or that 

neither the TEFRA C Rules or the TEFRA D Rules are applicable, then the Notes will initially be in the 

form of a Temporary Global Note which will be exchangeable, in whole but not in part, for Bearer Notes 

in definitive form (“Definitive Notes”) not earlier than 40 days after the issue date of the relevant 

Tranche of the Notes. 

If the relevant Pricing Supplement specifies the form of Notes as being “Temporary Global Note 

exchangeable for Definitive Notes” and also specifies that the TEFRA D Rules are applicable, then the 

Notes will initially be in the form of a Temporary Global Note which will be exchangeable, in whole or 

in part, for Definitive Notes not earlier than 40 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the 

Notes upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership. Interest payments in respect of the Notes 

cannot be collected without such certification of non-U.S. beneficial ownership. 

Whenever the Temporary Global Note is to be exchanged for Definitive Notes, the Issuer shall procure 

the prompt delivery (free of charge to the bearer) of such Definitive Notes, duly authenticated and with 

Coupons and Talons attached (if so specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement), in an aggregate 

principal amount equal to the principal amount of the Temporary Global Note to the bearer of the 

Temporary Global Note against the surrender of the Temporary Global Note to or to the order of the 

Principal Paying Agent within 30 days of the bearer requesting such exchange.  

Permanent Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes 

If the relevant Pricing Supplement specifies the form of Notes as being “Permanent Global Note 

exchangeable for Definitive Notes”, then the Notes will initially be in the form of a Permanent Global 

Note which will be exchangeable in whole, but not in part, for Definitive Notes if either of the following 

events occurs: 

(i) Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system is closed for 

business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of legal holidays) or announces 

an intention permanently to cease business; or  

(ii) any of the circumstances described in Condition 14 (Events of Default) occurs. 

Whenever the Permanent Global Note is to be exchanged for Definitive Notes, the Issuer shall procure 

the prompt delivery (free of charge to the bearer) of such Definitive Notes, duly authenticated and with 

Coupons and Talons attached (if so specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement), in an aggregate 

principal amount equal to the principal amount of Notes represented by the Permanent Global Note to 

the bearer of the Permanent Global Note against the surrender of the Permanent Global Note to or to the 

order of the Principal Paying Agent within 30 days of the bearer requesting such exchange. 

Terms and Conditions applicable to the Notes 

The terms and conditions applicable to any Definitive Note will be endorsed on that Note and will 

consist of the terms and conditions set out under “Terms and Conditions of the Notes” below and the 

provisions of the relevant Pricing Supplement which completes those terms and conditions. 

The terms and conditions applicable to any Note in global form will differ from those terms and 

conditions which would apply to the Note were it in definitive form to the extent described under 

“Summary of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form” below. 
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Legend concerning United States persons 

In the case of any Tranche of Bearer Notes having a maturity of more than 365 days, the Notes in global 

form, the Notes in definitive form and any Coupons and Talons appertaining thereto will bear a legend 

to the following effect: 

“Any United States person who holds this obligation will be subject to limitations under the 

United States income tax laws, including the limitations provided in Sections 165(j) and 1287(a) 

of the Internal Revenue Code.” 

The sections of the Code referred to in the legend above provide that U.S. Holders, with certain limited 

exceptions, will not be entitled to deduct any loss on Bearer Notes or interest coupons and will not be 

entitled to capital gains treatment of any gain on any sale, disposition, redemption or payment of 

principal in respect of such Notes or interest coupons. 

Registered Notes 

Each Tranche of Notes in registered form (“Registered Notes”) will be represented by either: 

(i) individual Note Certificates in registered form (“Individual Note Certificates”); or  

(ii) one or more global note certificates in registered form (“Global Note Certificate(s)”),  

in each case as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.  

In a press release dated 22 October 2008, “Evolution of the custody arrangement for international debt 

securities and their eligibility in Eurosystem credit operations”, the ECB announced that it has assessed 

the new holding structure and custody arrangements for registered notes which the ICSDs had designed 

in cooperation with market participants and that Notes to be held under the new structure (the “New 

Safekeeping Structure” or “NSS”) would be in compliance with the “Standards for the use of EU 

securities settlement systems in ESCB credit operations” of the Eurosystem, subject to the conclusion 

of the necessary legal and contractual arrangements. The press release also stated that the new 

arrangements for Notes to be held in NSS form will be offered by Euroclear and Clearstream, 

Luxembourg as of 30 June 2010 and that registered debt securities in global registered form issued 

through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg after 30 September 2010 will only be eligible as 

collateral in Eurosystem operations if the New Safekeeping Structure is used.  

Global Note Certificate exchangeable for Individual Note Certificates 

If the relevant Pricing Supplement specifies the form of Notes as being “Global Note Certificate 

exchangeable for Individual Note Certificates”, then the Notes will initially be represented by one or 

more Global Note Certificates each of which will be exchangeable in whole, but not in part, for 

Individual Note Certificates: 

(a) in the case of any Unrestricted Global Note Certificate, if Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg 

or any other relevant clearing system is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days 

(other than by reason of legal holidays) or announces an intention permanently to cease business; 

and 

(b) in any case, if any of the circumstances described in Condition 14 (Events of Default) occurs. 

Whenever a Global Note Certificate is to be exchanged for Individual Note Certificates, each person 

having an interest in a Global Note Certificate must provide the Registrar (through the relevant clearing 

system) with such information as the Issuer and the Registrar may require to complete and deliver 

Individual Note Certificates (including the name and address of each person in which the Notes 

represented by the Individual Note Certificates are to be registered and the principal amount of each 

such person’s holding). In addition, whenever a Restricted Global Note Certificate is to be exchanged 

for Individual Note Certificates, each person having an interest in the Restricted Global Note Certificate 
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must provide the Registrar (through the relevant clearing system) with a certificate given by or on behalf 

of the holder of each beneficial interest in the Restricted Global Note Certificate stating that such holder 

is not transferring its interest at the time of such exchange. 

Whenever a Global Note Certificate is to be exchanged for Individual Note Certificates, the Issuer shall 

procure that Individual Note Certificates will be issued in an aggregate principal amount equal to the 

principal amount of the Global Note Certificate within five business days of the delivery, by or on behalf 

of the registered holder of the Global Note Certificate to the Registrar of such information as is required 

to complete and deliver such Individual Note Certificates against the surrender of the Global Note 

Certificate at the specified office of the Registrar. 

Such exchange will be effected in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed and the Agency 

Agreement and the regulations concerning the transfer and registration of Notes scheduled to the Agency 

Agreement and, in particular, shall be effected without charge to any holder, but against such indemnity 

as the Registrar may require in respect of any tax or other duty of whatsoever nature which may be 

levied or imposed in connection with such exchange. 

Terms and Conditions applicable to the Notes 

The terms and conditions applicable to any Individual Note Certificate will be endorsed on that 

Individual Note Certificate and will consist of the terms and conditions set out under “Terms and 

Conditions of the Notes” below and the provisions of the relevant Pricing Supplement which complete 

those terms and conditions. 

The terms and conditions applicable to any Global Note Certificate will differ from those terms and 

conditions which would apply to the Note were it in definitive form to the extent described under 

“Summary of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form” below. 
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES 

The following is the text of the terms and conditions which, as completed by the relevant Pricing 

Supplement, will be endorsed on each Note in definitive form issued under the Programme. Subject to 

this, to the extent permitted by applicable law and/or regulation, the Pricing Supplement in respect of 

any Tranche of Notes may supplement, amend or replace any information in this Base Listing 

Particulars. 

The terms and conditions applicable to any Note in global form will differ from those terms and 

conditions which would apply to the Note were it in definitive form to the extent described under 

“Summary of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form” below. 

1. Introduction  

(a) Programme: CTP N.V. (the “Issuer”) has established a Euro Medium Term Note Programme 

(the “Programme”) for the issuance of notes (the “Notes”). 

(b) Pricing Supplement: Notes issued under the Programme are issued in series (each a “Series”) 

and each Series may comprise one or more tranches (each a “Tranche”) of Notes. Each Tranche 

is the subject of a pricing supplement (the “Pricing Supplement”) which supplements these 

terms and conditions (the “Conditions”). The terms and conditions applicable to any particular 

Tranche of Notes are these Conditions as supplemented, amended and/or replaced by the 

relevant Pricing Supplement. In the event of any inconsistency between these Conditions and 

the relevant Pricing Supplement, the relevant Pricing Supplement shall prevail. 

(c) Trust Deed: The Notes are constituted by, are subject to, and have the benefit of, a trust deed 

dated 12 May 2022 (as amended or supplemented from time to time, the “Trust Deed”) between 

the Issuer and Citicorp Trustee Company Limited as trustee (the “Trustee”, which expression 

includes all persons for the time being trustee or trustees appointed under the Trust Deed). 

(d) Agency Agreement: The Notes are the subject of an issue and paying agency agreement dated 

12 May 2022 (as amended or supplemented from time to time, the “Agency Agreement”) 

between the Issuer and Citibank, N.A., London Branch as principal paying agent (the “Principal 

Paying Agent”, which expression includes any successor principal paying agent appointed from 

time to time in connection with the Notes), Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG as registrar 

(the “Registrar”, which expression includes any successor registrar appointed from time to time 

in connection with the Notes), and the paying agents named therein (together with the Principal 

Paying Agent, the “Paying Agents”, which expression includes any successor or additional 

paying agents appointed from time to time in connection with the Notes), the transfer agents 

named therein (together with the Registrar, the “Transfer Agents”, which expression includes 

any successor or additional transfer agents appointed from time to time in connection with the 

Notes) and the Trustee. In these Conditions references to the “Agents” are to the Paying Agents 

and the Transfer Agents and any reference to an “Agent” is to any one of them.  

(e) The Notes: All subsequent references in these Conditions to “Notes” are to the Notes which are 

the subject of the relevant Pricing Supplement. Copies of the relevant Pricing Supplement are 

available for viewing at https://live.euronext.com/en/markets/dublin or from the Specified 

Office of the Principal Paying Agent. 

(f) Summaries: Certain provisions of these Conditions are summaries of the Trust Deed and the 

Agency Agreement and are subject to their detailed provisions. The holders of the Notes 

(the “Noteholders”) and the holders of the related interest coupons, if any, 

(the “Couponholders” and the “Coupons”, respectively) are bound by, and are deemed to have 

notice of, all the provisions of the Agency Agreement applicable to them. Copies of the Agency 

Agreement are available for inspection by Noteholders during normal business hours at the 
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Specified Offices of each of the Paying Agents, the initial Specified Offices of which are set out 

below. 

2. Interpretation 

(a) Definitions: In these Conditions the following expressions have the following meanings: 

“2006 ISDA Definitions” means, in relation to a Series of Notes, the 2006 ISDA Definitions (as 

supplemented, amended and updated as at the date of issue of the first Tranche of the Notes of 

such Series) as published by ISDA (copies of which may be obtained from ISDA at 

www.isda.org); 

“2021 ISDA Definitions” means, in relation to a Series of Notes, the latest version of the 2021 

ISDA Interest Rate Derivatives Definitions (including each Matrix (and any successor Matrix 

thereto), as defined in such 2021 ISDA Interest Rate Derivatives Definitions) as at the date of 

issue of the first Tranche of Notes of such Series, as published by ISDA on its website 

(www.isda.org); 

“Accrual Yield” has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement; 

“Additional Business Centre(s)” means the city or cities specified as such in the relevant 

Pricing Supplement;  

“Additional Financial Centre(s)” means the city or cities specified as such in the relevant 

Pricing Supplement; 

“Broken Amount” has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement; 

“Business Day” means: 

(a) in relation to any sum payable in euro, a TARGET Settlement Day and a day on which 

commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments generally in each (if 

any) Additional Business Centre; 

(b) in relation to any sum payable in a currency other than euro, a day on which commercial 

banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments generally in London, in the 

Principal Financial Centre of the relevant currency and in each (if any) Additional 

Business Centre; and 

(c) in respect of Notes for which the Reference Rate is specified as SOFR in the relevant 

Pricing Supplement, any weekday that is a U.S. Government Securities Business Day 

and is not a legal holiday in New York and each (if any) Additional Business Centre(s) 

and is not a date on which banking institutions in those cities are authorised or required 

by law or regulation to be closed; 

“Business Day Convention”, in relation to any particular date, has the meaning given in the 

relevant Pricing Supplement and, if so specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, may have 

different meanings in relation to different dates and, in this context, the following expressions 

shall have the following meanings: 

(a) “Following Business Day Convention” means that the relevant date shall be postponed 

to the first following day that is a Business Day; 

(b) “Modified Following Business Day Convention” or “Modified Business Day 

Convention” means that the relevant date shall be postponed to the first following day 

that is a Business Day unless that day falls in the next calendar month in which case 

that date will be the first preceding day that is a Business Day save in respect of Notes 

for which the Reference Rate is SOFR, for which the final Interest Payment Date will 

http://www.isda.org/
http://www.isda.org/
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not be postponed and interest on that payment will not accrue during the period from 

and after the scheduled final Interest Payment Date; 

(c) “Preceding Business Day Convention” means that the relevant date shall be brought 

forward to the first preceding day that is a Business Day; 

(d) “FRN Convention”, “Floating Rate Convention” or “Eurodollar Convention” 

means that each relevant date shall be the date which numerically corresponds to the 

preceding such date in the calendar month which is the number of months specified in 

the relevant Pricing Supplement as the Specified Period after the calendar month in 

which the preceding such date occurred provided, however, that: 

(i) if there is no such numerically corresponding day in the calendar month in 

which any such date should occur, then such date will be the last day which is 

a Business Day in that calendar month; 

(ii) if any such date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, 

then such date will be the first following day which is a Business Day unless 

that day falls in the next calendar month, in which case it will be the first 

preceding day which is a Business Day; and 

(iii) if the preceding such date occurred on the last day in a calendar month which 

was a Business Day, then all subsequent such dates will be the last day which 

is a Business Day in the calendar month which is the specified number of 

months after the calendar month in which the preceding such date occurred; 

and 

(e) “No Adjustment” means that the relevant date shall not be adjusted in accordance with 

any Business Day Convention;  

“Calculation Agent” means the Principal Paying Agent or such other Person specified in the 

relevant Pricing Supplement as the party responsible for calculating the Rate(s) of Interest and 

Interest Amount(s) and/or such other amount(s) as may be specified in the relevant Pricing 

Supplement;  

“Calculation Amount” has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement; 

“Coupon Sheet” means, in respect of a Note, a coupon sheet relating to the Note; 

“DA Selected Bond” means the government security or securities selected by the Determination 

Agent as having an actual or interpolated maturity comparable with the Remaining Term of the 

Notes, that would be utilised, at the time of selection and in accordance with customary financial 

practice, in determining the redemption price of corporate debt securities denominated in the 

same currency as the Notes and with a comparable remaining maturity to the Remaining Term 

of the Notes; 

“Day Count Fraction” means, in respect of the calculation of an amount for any period of time 

(the “Calculation Period”), such day count fraction as may be specified in these Conditions or 

the relevant Pricing Supplement and: 

(a) if “Actual/Actual (ICMA)” is so specified, means: 

(i) where the Calculation Period is equal to or shorter than the Regular Period 

during which it falls, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period 

divided by the product of (1) the actual number of days in such Regular Period 

and (2) the number of Regular Periods in any year; and 
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(ii) where the Calculation Period is longer than one Regular Period, the sum of: 

(A) the actual number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the 

Regular Period in which it begins divided by the product of (1) the 

actual number of days in such Regular Period and (2) the number of 

Regular Periods in any year; and 

(B) the actual number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the next 

Regular Period divided by the product of (1) the actual number of days 

in such Regular Period and (2) the number of Regular Periods in any 

year; 

(iii) if “Actual/365” or “Actual/Actual (ISDA)” is so specified, means the actual 

number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of 

the Calculation Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (A) the actual number of 

days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a leap year divided by 

366 and (B) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period 

falling in a non-leap year divided by 365); 

(iv) if “Actual/365 (Fixed)” is so specified, means the actual number of days in the 

Calculation Period divided by 365; 

(v) if “Actual/360” is so specified, means the actual number of days in the 

Calculation Period divided by 360; 

(vi) if “30/360” is so specified, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided 

by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows 

Day Count Fraction =
360

)()](30[)](360[ 121212 DDMMxYYx 
 

where: 

“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation 

Period falls; 

“Y2” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately 

following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls; 

“M1” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of 

the Calculation Period falls; 

“M2” is the calendar month, expressed as number, in which the day 

immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls; 

“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, 

unless such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and 

“D2” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last 

day included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31 and 

D1 is greater than 29, in which case D2 will be 30;  

(vii) if “30E/360” or “Eurobond Basis” is so specified, the number of days in the 

Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows: 

Day Count Fraction = 
360

)()](30[)](360[ 121212 DDMMxYYx 
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where: 

“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation 

Period falls; 

“Y2” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately 

following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls; 

“M1” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of 

the Calculation Period falls; 

“M2” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day 

immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls; 

“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, 

unless such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and 

“D2” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last 

day included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in 

which case D2 will be 30; and 

if “30E/360 (ISDA)” is so specified, the number of days in the Calculation 

Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows: 

Day Count Fraction = 
360

()](30[)](360[ )121212 DDMMxYYx 
 

where: 

“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation 

Period falls; 

“Y2” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately 

following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls; 

“M1” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of 

the Calculation Period falls; 

“M2” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day 

immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls; 

“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, 

unless (i) that day is the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, 

in which case D1 will be 30; and 

“D2” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last 

day included in the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of 

February but not the Maturity Date or (ii) such number would be 31, in which 

case D2 will be 30, 

provided, however, that in each such case the number of days in the Calculation Period 

is calculated from and including the first day of the Calculation Period to but excluding 

the last day of the Calculation Period; 

“Determination Agent” means an independent adviser, investment bank or financial institution 

of recognised standing selected by the Issuer; 



 

EMEA 138069526 

64 
 

 

“Early Redemption Amount (Tax)” means, in respect of any Note, its principal amount or 

such other amount as may be specified in, or determined in accordance with, the relevant Pricing 

Supplement; 

“Early Termination Amount” means, in respect of any Note, its principal amount or such 

other amount as may be specified in, or determined in accordance with, these Conditions or the 

relevant Pricing Supplement; 

“EURIBOR” means, in respect of any specified currency and any specified period, the interest 

rate benchmark known as the Euro zone interbank offered rate which is calculated and published 

by a designated distributor (currently Thomson Reuters) in accordance with the requirements 

from time to time of the European Money Markets Institute (or any person which takes over 

administration of that rate); 

“euro” or “€” mean the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic 

and monetary union, and as defined in Article 2 of Council Regulation (EC) No 974/98 of 3 

May 1998 on the introduction of the euro, as amended; 

“Extraordinary Resolution” has the meaning given in the Trust Deed;  

“Final Redemption Amount” means, in respect of any Note, its principal amount or such other 

amount as may be specified in, or determined in accordance with, the relevant Pricing 

Supplement; 

“First Interest Payment Date” means the date specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement; 

“Fitch” means Fitch Ratings Ltd or any successor to its ratings business; 

“Fixed Coupon Amount” has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement;  

“Gross Redemption Yield” means, with respect to a security, the gross redemption yield on 

such security, expressed as a percentage and calculated by the Determination Agent on the basis 

set out by the UK Debt Management Office in the paper “Formulae for Calculating Gilt Prices 

from Yields”, page 5, Section One: Price/Yield Formulae “Conventional Gilts; Double-dated 

and Undated Gilts with Assumed (or Actual) Redemption on a Quasi-Coupon Date”(published 

on 8 June 1998 and updated on 15 January 2002 and 16 March 2005, and as further amended, 

updated, supplemented or replaced from time to time) or, if such formula does not reflect 

generally accepted market practice at the time of redemption, a gross redemption yield 

calculated in accordance with generally accepted market practice at such time as determined by 

the Determination Agent; 

“Group” means the Issuer and its Subsidiaries; 

“Guarantee” means, in relation to any Indebtedness of any Person, any obligation of another 

Person to pay such Indebtedness including (without limitation): 

(a) any obligation to purchase such Indebtedness; 

(b) any obligation to lend money, to purchase or subscribe shares or other securities or to 

purchase assets or services in order to provide funds for the payment of such 

Indebtedness; 

(c) any indemnity against the consequences of a default in the payment of such 

Indebtedness; and 

(d) any other agreement to be responsible for such Indebtedness;  
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“Holder”, in the case of Bearer Notes, has the meaning given in Condition 3(b) (Form, 

Denomination and Title - Title to Bearer Notes) and, in the case of Registered Notes, has the 

meaning given in Condition 3(d) (Form, Denomination and Title – Title to Registered Notes); 

“Indebtedness” means any indebtedness of any Person for money borrowed or raised including 

(without limitation) any indebtedness for or in respect of: 

(a) amounts raised by acceptance under any acceptance credit facility; 

(b) amounts raised under any note purchase facility; 

(c) the amount of any liability in respect of leases or hire purchase contracts which would, 

in accordance with applicable law and generally accepted accounting principles, be 

treated as finance or capital leases; 

(d) the amount of any liability in respect of any purchase price for assets or services the 

payment of which is deferred for a period in excess of 90 days (excluding trade payables 

or amounts due to trade creditors in the ordinary course of business); and 

(e) amounts raised under any other transaction (including, without limitation, any forward 

sale or purchase agreement) having the commercial effect of a borrowing; 

“Interest Amount” means, in relation to a Note and an Interest Period, the amount of interest 

payable in respect of that Note for that Interest Period; 

“Interest Commencement Date” means the Issue Date of the Notes or such other date as may 

be specified as the Interest Commencement Date in the relevant Pricing Supplement; 

“Interest Determination Date” has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement; 

“Interest Payment Date” means the First Interest Payment Date and any other date or dates 

specified as such in, or determined in accordance with the provisions of, the relevant Pricing 

Supplement and, if a Business Day Convention is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement: 

(a) as the same may be adjusted in accordance with the relevant Business Day Convention; 

or 

(b) if the Business Day Convention is the FRN Convention, Floating Rate Convention or 

Eurodollar Convention and an interval of a number of calendar months is specified in 

the relevant Pricing Supplement as being the Specified Period, each of such dates as 

may occur in accordance with the FRN Convention, Floating Rate Convention or 

Eurodollar Convention at such Specified Period of calendar months following the 

Interest Commencement Date (in the case of the first Interest Payment Date) or the 

previous Interest Payment Date (in any other case); 

“Interest Period” means each period beginning on (and including) the Interest Commencement 

Date or any Interest Payment Date and ending on (but excluding) the next Interest Payment 

Date; 

“ISDA” means the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc (or any successor); 

“ISDA Definitions” has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement; 

“Issue Date” has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement; 

“Make Whole Redemption Price” has the meaning given in Condition 10(c) (Redemption and 

Purchase - Redemption at the option of the Issuer); 
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“Margin” has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement; 

“Material Subsidiary” means, as of any date, a Subsidiary whose aggregate book value of 

assets represents 5 per cent. or more of Total Assets; 

“Maturity Date” has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement;  

“Maximum Rate of Interest” has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement; 

“Maximum Redemption Amount” has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement; 

“Minimum Rate of Interest” has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement but 

shall never be less than zero, including any relevant Margin; 

“Minimum Redemption Amount” has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement;  

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Deutschland GmbH or any successor to its ratings business; 

“Non-Sterling Make Whole Redemption Amount” has the meaning given in Condition 10(c) 

(Redemption and Purchase - Redemption at the option of the Issuer); 

“Noteholder”, in the case of Bearer Notes, has the meaning given in Condition 3(b) (Form, 

Denomination and Title - Title to Bearer Notes) and, in the case of Registered Notes, has the 

meaning given in Condition 3(d) (Form, Denomination and Title - Title to Registered Notes); 

“Optional Redemption Amount (Call)” means, in respect of any Note, its principal amount or 

such other amount as may be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement; 

“Optional Redemption Amount (Put)” means, in respect of any Note, its principal amount or 

such other amount as may be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement; 

“Optional Redemption Date” has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement;  

“Par Redemption Date” has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement; 

“Payment Business Day” means: 

(a) if the currency of payment is euro, any day which is: 

(i) a day on which banks in the relevant place of presentation are open for 

presentation and payment of bearer debt securities and for dealings in foreign 

currencies; and 

(ii) in the case of payment by transfer to an account, a TARGET Settlement Day 

and a day on which dealings in foreign currencies may be carried on in each (if 

any) Additional Financial Centre; or 

(b) if the currency of payment is not euro, any day which is: 

(i) a day on which banks in the relevant place of presentation are open for 

presentation and payment of bearer debt securities and for dealings in foreign 

currencies; and 

(ii) in the case of payment by transfer to an account, a day on which dealings in 

foreign currencies may be carried on in the Principal Financial Centre of the 

currency of payment and in each (if any) Additional Financial Centre; 
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“Person” means any individual, company, corporation, firm, partnership, joint venture, 

association, organisation, state or agency of a state or other entity, whether or not having 

separate legal personality; 

“Principal Financial Centre” means, in relation to any currency, the principal financial centre 

for that currency provided, however, that: 

(a) in relation to euro, it means the principal financial centre of such Member State of the 

European Union as is selected (in the case of a payment) by the payee or (in the case of 

a calculation) by the Calculation Agent; and 

(b) in relation to Australian dollars, it means either Sydney or Melbourne and, in relation 

to New Zealand dollars, it means either Wellington or Auckland, in each case as is 

selected (in the case of a payment) by the payee or (in the case of a calculation) by the 

Calculation Agent; 

“Put Option Notice” means a notice which must be delivered to a Paying Agent by any 

Noteholder wanting to exercise a right to redeem a Note at the option of the Noteholder; 

“Put Option Receipt” means a receipt issued by a Paying Agent to a depositing Noteholder 

upon deposit of a Note with such Paying Agent by any Noteholder wanting to exercise a right 

to redeem a Note at the option of the Noteholder; 

“Quotation Time” has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement; 

“Rate of Interest” means the rate or rates (expressed as a percentage per annum) of interest 

payable in respect of the Notes specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement or calculated or 

determined in accordance with the provisions of these Conditions and/or the relevant Pricing 

Supplement; 

“Rating Agencies” means, in relation to a Tranche of Notes, the rating agencies that have rated 

such Tranche of Notes at the invitation of the Issuer; 

“Redemption Amount” means, as appropriate, the Final Redemption Amount, the Early 

Redemption Amount (Tax), the Optional Redemption Amount (Call), the Sterling Make Whole 

Redemption Amount, the Non-Sterling Make Whole Redemption Amount, the Optional 

Redemption Amount (Put), the Early Termination Amount or such other amount in the nature 

of a redemption amount as may be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement; 

“Redemption Margin” means the figure specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement; 

“Reference Banks” has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement or, if none, four 

major banks selected by the Issuer in the market that is most closely connected with the 

Reference Rate;  

“Reference Bond” means the bond specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement or, if not so 

specified or to the extent that such Reference Bond specified in the Pricing Supplement is no 

longer outstanding on the relevant Reference Date, the DA Selected Bond; 

“Reference Bond Price” means, with respect to any Reference Date, (i) the arithmetic average 

of the Reference Government Bond Dealer Quotations for such date of redemption, after 

excluding the highest and lowest such Reference Government Bond Dealer Quotations, or (ii) 

if fewer than five such Reference Government Bond Dealer Quotations are received, the 

arithmetic average of all such quotations; 

“Reference Bond Rate” means, with respect to any Reference Date, the rate per annum equal 

to the annual or semi-annual yield (as the case may be) for the Remaining Term or interpolated 

yield for the Remaining Term (on the relevant day count basis) of the Reference Bond, assuming 
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a price for the Reference Bond (expressed as a percentage of its principal amount) equal to the 

Reference Bond Price for such Reference Date; 

“Reference Date” means the date falling three London Business Days prior to the Optional 

Redemption Date (Call); 

“Reference Government Bond Dealer” means each of five banks selected by the Issuer 

(following, where practicable, consultation with the Determination Agent, if applicable), or their 

affiliates, which are (i) primary government securities dealers, and their respective successors, 

or (ii) market makers in pricing corporate bond issues; 

“Reference Government Bond Dealer Quotations” means, with respect to each Reference 

Government Bond Dealer and any Reference Date, the arithmetic average, as determined by the 

Determination Agent, of the bid and offered prices for the Reference Bond (expressed in each 

case as a percentage of its principal amount) at the Quotation Time on the Reference Date quoted 

in writing to the Determination Agent by such Reference Government Bond Dealer; 

“Reference Price” has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement; 

“Reference Rate” means EURIBOR, SONIA, SOFR or €STR or as specified in the relevant 

Pricing Supplement in respect of the currency and period specified in the relevant Pricing 

Supplement. Other than in the case of U.S. dollar-denominated floating rate Notes for which the 

"Reference Rate" is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being SOFR, the term 

Reference Rate shall, following the occurrence of a Benchmark Event under Condition 7(n) 

(Benchmark Discontinuation), include any Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and shall, if a 

Benchmark Event should occur subsequently in respect of any such Successor Rate or 

Alternative Rate, also include any further Successor Rate or further Alternative Rate;  

“Regular Period” means: 

(a) in the case of Notes where interest is scheduled to be paid only by means of regular 

payments, each period from and including the Interest Commencement Date to but 

excluding the first Interest Payment Date and each successive period from and including 

one Interest Payment Date to but excluding the next Interest Payment Date; 

(b) in the case of Notes where, apart from the first Interest Period, interest is scheduled to 

be paid only by means of regular payments, each period from and including a Regular 

Date falling in any year to but excluding the next Regular Date, where “Regular Date” 

means the day and month (but not the year) on which any Interest Payment Date falls; 

and 

(c) in the case of Notes where, apart from one Interest Period other than the first Interest 

Period, interest is scheduled to be paid only by means of regular payments, each period 

from and including a Regular Date falling in any year to but excluding the next Regular 

Date, where “Regular Date” means the day and month (but not the year) on which any 

Interest Payment Date falls other than the Interest Payment Date falling at the end of 

the irregular Interest Period; 

“Relevant Date” means, in relation to any payment, whichever is the later of (a) the date on 

which the payment in question first becomes due and (b) if the full amount payable has not been 

received in the Principal Financial Centre of the currency of payment by the Principal Paying 

Agent or the Trustee on or prior to such due date, the date on which (the full amount having 

been so received) notice to that effect has been given to the Noteholders;  

“Relevant Financial Centre” has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement; 
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“Relevant Indebtedness” means any Indebtedness which is in the form of or represented by 

any bond, note, debenture, debenture stock, loan stock, certificate or other instrument which is, 

or is intended by the Issuer to be listed, quoted or traded on any stock exchange or in any 

securities market (including, without limitation, any over-the-counter market);  

“Relevant Screen Page” means the page, section or other part of a particular information 

service (including, without limitation, Reuters) specified as the Relevant Screen Page in the 

relevant Pricing Supplement, or such other page, section or other part as may replace it on that 

information service or such other information service, in each case, as may be nominated by the 

Person providing or sponsoring the information appearing there for the purpose of displaying 

rates or prices comparable to the Reference Rate; 

“Relevant Time” has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement; 

“Remaining Term” means the term to maturity or, if a Par Redemption Date is specified in the 

relevant Pricing Supplement, to such Par Redemption Date;  

“Reserved Matter” means any proposal to change any date fixed for payment of principal or 

interest in respect of the Notes, to reduce the amount of principal or interest payable on any date 

in respect of the Notes, to alter the method of calculating the amount of any payment in respect 

of the Notes or the date for any such payment in each case, other than any change arising from 

the occurrence of a Benchmark Event, Benchmark Transition Event, Benchmark Replacement 

Conforming Changes or any Benchmark Amendments, to change the currency of any payment 

under the Notes or to change the quorum requirements relating to meetings or the majority 

required to pass an Extraordinary Resolution; 

“S&P” means S&P Global Ratings Europe Limited or any successor to its ratings business; 

“Security Interest” means any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other security interest 

including, without limitation, anything analogous to any of the foregoing under the laws of any 

jurisdiction; 

“Specified Currency” has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement; 

“Specified Denomination(s)” has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement;  

“Specified Office” has the meaning given in the Agency Agreement; 

“Specified Period” has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement;  

“Sterling Make Whole Redemption Amount” has the meaning given in Condition 10(c) 

(Redemption and Purchase – Redemption at the option of the Issuer); 

“Subsidiary” means, in relation to any Person (the “first Person”) at any particular time, any 

other Person (the “second Person”): 

(a) whose affairs and policies the first Person controls or has the power to control, whether 

by ownership of share capital, contract, the power to appoint or remove members of the 

governing body of the second Person or otherwise; or 

(b) whose financial statements are, in accordance with applicable law and generally 

accepted accounting principles, consolidated with those of the first Person; 

“Talon” means a talon for further Coupons; 

“TARGET2” means the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express 

Transfer payment system which utilises a single shared platform and which was launched on 19 

November 2007; 
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“TARGET Settlement Day” means any day on which TARGET2 is open for the settlement of 

payments in euro; and 

“Zero Coupon Note” means a Note specified as such in the relevant Pricing Supplement. 

(b) Interpretation: In these Conditions: 

 if the Notes are Zero Coupon Notes, references to Coupons and Couponholders are not 

applicable; 

 if Talons are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being attached to the Notes 

at the time of issue, references to Coupons shall be deemed to include references to 

Talons; 

 if Talons are not specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being attached to the 

Notes at the time of issue, references to Talons are not applicable; 

 any reference to principal shall be deemed to include the Redemption Amount, any 

additional amounts in respect of principal which may be payable under Condition 13 

(Taxation), any premium payable in respect of a Note and any other amount in the 

nature of principal payable pursuant to these Conditions; 

 any reference to interest shall be deemed to include any additional amounts in respect 

of interest which may be payable under Condition 13 (Taxation) and any other amount 

in the nature of interest payable pursuant to these Conditions; 

 references to Notes being “outstanding” shall be construed in accordance with the Trust 

Deed;  

 if an expression is stated in Condition 2(a) (Definitions) to have the meaning given in 

the relevant Pricing Supplement, but the relevant Pricing Supplement gives no such 

meaning or specifies that such expression is “not applicable” then such expression is 

not applicable to the Notes; and 

 any reference to the Trust Deed or the Agency Agreement shall be construed as a 

reference to the Trust Deed or the Agency Agreement, as the case may be, as amended 

and/or supplemented up to and including the Issue Date of the Notes. 

3. Form, Denomination and Title 

(a) Bearer Notes: Bearer Notes are in the Specified Denomination(s) with Coupons and, if specified 

in the relevant Pricing Supplement, Talons attached at the time of issue. In the case of a Series 

of Bearer Notes with more than one Specified Denomination, Bearer Notes of one Specified 

Denomination will not be exchangeable for Bearer Notes of another Specified Denomination. 

(b) Title to Bearer Notes: Title to Bearer Notes and the Coupons will pass by delivery. In the case 

of Bearer Notes, “Holder” means the holder of such Bearer Note and “Noteholder” and 

“Couponholder” shall be construed accordingly. 

(c) Registered Notes: Registered Notes are in the Specified Denomination(s), which may include a 

minimum denomination specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement and higher integral 

multiples of a smaller amount specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement. 

(d) Title to Registered Notes: The Registrar will maintain the register in accordance with the 

provisions of the Agency Agreement. A certificate (each, a “Note Certificate”) will be issued 

to each Holder of Registered Notes in respect of its registered holding. Each Note Certificate 

will be numbered serially with an identifying number which will be recorded in the Register. In 

the case of Registered Notes, “Holder” means the person in whose name such Registered Note 
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is for the time being registered in the Register (or, in the case of a joint holding, the first named 

thereof) and “Noteholder” shall be construed accordingly. 

(e) Ownership: The Holder of any Note or Coupon shall (except as otherwise required by law) be 

treated as its absolute owner for all purposes (whether or not it is overdue and regardless of any 

notice of ownership, trust or any other interest therein, any writing thereon or, in the case of 

Registered Notes, on the Note Certificate relating thereto (other than the endorsed form of 

transfer) or any notice of any previous loss or theft thereof) and no Person shall be liable for so 

treating such Holder. No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of any 

Note under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999. 

(f) Transfers of Registered Notes: Subject to paragraphs (i) (Closed periods) and (j) (Regulations 

concerning transfers and registration) below, a Registered Note may be transferred upon 

surrender of the relevant Note Certificate, with the endorsed form of transfer duly completed, 

at the Specified Office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent, together with such evidence as 

the Registrar or (as the case may be) such Transfer Agent may reasonably require to prove the 

title of the transferor and the authority of the individuals who have executed the form of transfer; 

provided, however, that a Registered Note may not be transferred unless the principal amount 

of Registered Notes transferred and (where not all of the Registered Notes held by a Holder are 

being transferred) the principal amount of the balance of Registered Notes not transferred are 

Specified Denominations. Where not all the Registered Notes represented by the surrendered 

Note Certificate are the subject of the transfer, a new Note Certificate in respect of the balance 

of the Registered Notes will be issued to the transferor. 

(g) Registration and delivery of Note Certificates: Within five business days of the surrender of a 

Note Certificate in accordance with paragraph (f) (Transfers of Registered Notes) above, the 

Registrar will register the transfer in question and deliver a new Note Certificate of a like 

principal amount to the Registered Notes transferred to each relevant Holder at its Specified 

Office or (as the case may be) the Specified Office of any Transfer Agent or (at the request and 

risk of any such relevant Holder) by uninsured first class mail (airmail if overseas) to the address 

specified for the purpose by such relevant Holder. In this paragraph (g), “business day” means 

a day on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealings in foreign 

currencies) in the city where the Registrar or (as the case may be) the relevant Transfer Agent 

has its Specified Office. 

(h) No charge: The transfer of a Registered Note will be effected without charge by or on behalf of 

the Issuer or the Registrar or any Transfer Agent but against such indemnity as the Registrar or 

(as the case may be) such Transfer Agent may require in respect of any tax or other duty of 

whatsoever nature which may be levied or imposed in connection with such transfer. 

(i) Closed periods: Noteholders may not require transfers to be registered during the period of 15 

days ending on the due date for any payment of principal or interest in respect of the Registered 

Notes. 

(j) Regulations concerning transfers and registration: All transfers of Registered Notes and entries 

on the Register are subject to the detailed regulations concerning the transfer of Registered 

Notes scheduled to the Agency Agreement. The regulations may be changed by the Issuer with 

the prior written approval of the Registrar. A copy of the current regulations will be mailed (free 

of charge) by the Registrar to any Noteholder who requests in writing a copy of such regulations. 

4. Status  

The Notes constitute direct, general and unconditional obligations of the Issuer which will at all 

times rank pari passu among themselves and at least pari passu with all other present and future 
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unsecured obligations of the Issuer, save for such obligations as may be preferred by provisions 

of law that are both mandatory and of general application. 

5. Covenants 

(a) Financial Covenants: 

 Leverage Ratio Test: the Issuer will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, 

Incur any Debt if, immediately after giving effect to the Incurrence of such additional 

Debt and the application of the proceeds thereof, the aggregate principal amount of all 

outstanding Debt of the Group on a consolidated basis is greater than 60 per cent. of 

Total Assets as of the end of the most recent fiscal quarter for which Consolidated 

Information is available prior to the Incurrence of such additional Debt, calculated on a 

pro forma basis. 

 Secured Debt Test: in addition to the limitation set forth in subsection (i) of this 

Condition 5(a), the Issuer will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, Incur 

any Secured Debt, if immediately after giving effect to the Incurrence of such additional 

Secured Debt and the application of the proceeds thereof, the aggregate principal 

amount of all outstanding Secured Debt of the Group on a consolidated basis (the 

“Secured Debt Ratio”) is greater than 40 per cent. of Total Assets as of the end of the 

most recent fiscal quarter for which Consolidated Information is available prior to the 

Incurrence of such additional Secured Debt unless such Secured Debt Ratio was greater 

than 40 per cent. of Total Assets prior to such Incurrence or after giving effect thereto 

such ratio is no greater than it was prior to such incurrence, in each case calculated on 

a pro forma basis. 

 Interest Cover Ratio: in addition to the limitation set forth in subsections (i) and (ii) 

of this Condition 5(a), the Issuer will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, 

Incur any Debt if, immediately after giving effect to the Incurrence of such additional 

Debt and the application of the proceeds thereof, the ratio of Consolidated Income 

Available for Debt Service to the Interest Charge for the Group on a consolidated basis 

for the four consecutive fiscal quarters most recently ended for which Consolidated 

Information is available prior to the date on which such additional Debt is to be Incurred 

is less than 1.5x calculated on a pro forma basis. 

 Unencumbered Assets Test: in addition to the limitation set forth in subsections (i), 

(ii) and (iii) of this Condition 5(a), the Issuer will not, and will not permit any of its 

Subsidiaries to, Incur any Debt if, (A) immediately after giving effect to the Incurrence 

of such additional Debt and the application of the proceeds thereof, Total 

Unencumbered Assets is less than 125 per cent. of the aggregate outstanding principal 

amount of the Unsecured Debt of the Group on a consolidated basis as of the end of the 

most recent fiscal quarter for which Consolidated Information is available prior to the 

date on which such additional Debt is to be Incurred or (B) after giving effect thereto 

such ratio is no less than it was prior to such incurrence, calculated on a pro forma basis. 

 For purposes of this Condition 5, Debt shall be deemed to be “Incurred” by the Group 

whenever any member of the Group shall create, assume, guarantee or otherwise 

become liable in respect thereof and “Incurrence” shall be construed accordingly. 

 Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in the above covenants shall prevent: (a) the 

Incurrence by any member of the Group of Debt between or among any other member 

of the Group or any Equity Investee, (b) any member of the Group from Incurring 

Refinancing Debt or (c) any member of the Group from Incurring any Working Capital 

Debt. 
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(b) Negative Pledge: So long as any Note remains outstanding, the Issuer shall not and the Issuer 

shall procure that none of its Subsidiaries will, create or permit to subsist any Security Interest 

upon the whole or any part of its present or future undertaking, assets or revenues (including 

uncalled capital) to secure any Relevant Indebtedness or Guarantee of Relevant Indebtedness, 

in excess of the Secured Limit, without (a) at the same time or prior thereto securing the Notes 

equally and rateably therewith to the satisfaction of the Trustee or (b) providing such other 

security for the Notes as the Trustee may in its absolute discretion consider to be not materially 

less beneficial to the interests of the Noteholders or as may be approved by an Extraordinary 

Resolution of Noteholders. 

(c) Financial Information: For so long as any Notes are outstanding, the Issuer shall post on its 

website in a section designated for investors: 

 Within 120 days after the end of each of the fiscal years of the Group, annual reports 

containing the audited consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS; and 

 Within 90 days after the end of the first semi-annual period in each fiscal year of the 

Group, commencing with the fiscal year for 2022 unaudited condensed consolidated 

semi-annual financial statements in accordance with IFRS, 

provided that in each case the Issuer may elect instead to provide the financial 

information of the Group prepared on a basis consistent with the financial information 

presented in the Base Listing Particulars, together with a description of material 

differences between such financial information and that otherwise required by this 

Condition 5. 

In this Condition 5: 

“Acquired Debt” means Debt of a Person (i) existing at the time such Person becomes a 

Subsidiary or (ii) assumed in connection with the acquisition of assets from such Person, in each 

case, other than Debt Incurred in connection with, or in contemplation of, such Person becoming 

a Subsidiary or such acquisition. Acquired Debt shall be deemed to be Incurred on the date of 

the related acquisition of assets from any Person or the date the acquired Person becomes a 

Subsidiary. 

“Capital Stock” means, with respect to any Person, any capital stock (including preferred 

stock), shares, interests, participations or other ownership interests (however designated) of 

such Person and any rights (other than debt securities convertible or exchangeable for capital 

stock), warrants or options to purchase any thereof. 

“consolidated basis” means consolidated in accordance with IFRS; provided that where 

reference is made to financial information prepared on a consolidated basis of the Group 

(“Consolidated Information”), such Consolidated Information shall be the combined financial 

information of the Group compiled on a basis that combines the results of operations, assets, 

liabilities and equity of each member of the Group as though it were one consolidated group, 

including for the avoidance of doubt adjustments to eliminate any intragroup items and any 

double-counting of items of profit and loss already taken into account in the Consolidated 

Information; and “in accordance with IFRS” shall be interpreted as in accordance with such a 

preparation. 

“Consolidated Income Available for Debt Service” for any fiscal period means Earnings from 

Operations of the Group on a consolidated basis plus amounts which have been deducted for 

the following (without duplication): (i) interest on Debt and other finance cost, (ii) provision for 

taxes based on income, (iii) amortisation of debt discount, (iv) provisions for unrealised gains 

and losses (including fair value movements on investment property), depreciation and 

amortisation, and the effect of any other non-cash items, (v) extraordinary, non-recurring and 

other unusual items (including, without limitation, any profit or loss on disposal of property, 
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any costs and fees Incurred in connection with any debt financing or amendments thereto, any 

acquisition, disposition, recapitalisation or similar transaction (regardless of whether such 

transaction is completed)), (vi) the effect of any noncash charge resulting from a change in 

accounting principles in determining Earnings from Operations for such fiscal period, (vii) 

amortisation of deferred charges, (viii) income (expense) attributable to non-controlling 

interests, and (ix) any of the items of the nature of those described in limbs (i) through (viii) 

above of an Equity Investee, to the extent reducing the Earnings from Operations of the Group 

attributable to such Equity Investee. 

“Debt” of the Group means any indebtedness of the Group, excluding any accrued expense or 

trade payable, whether or not contingent, in respect of (i) borrowed money, (ii) the principal 

amount of obligations evidenced by bonds, notes, debentures, or similar instruments, (iii) the 

reimbursement obligations, contingent or otherwise, in connection with any letters of credit 

actually issued and called, (iv) the principal amount of all obligations of the Group with respect 

to redemption, repayment or other repurchase of any Disqualified Stock or (v) to the extent not 

otherwise included, any obligation by any member of the Group to be liable for, or to pay, as 

obligor, guarantor or otherwise (other than for purposes of collection in the ordinary course of 

business), Debt of another Person (other than any member of the Group); provided that “Debt” 

shall not include any Subordinated Shareholder Funding or amounts outstanding or receivable 

under any derivative instrument (subject to the next sentence) or trade payables or amounts due 

to trade creditors in the ordinary course of business. The amount of Debt in respect of any 

instrument shall be the amount recorded in respect thereof on the Group’s consolidated balance 

sheet calculated in accordance with IFRS and shall, in the case of Debt that is subject to a 

currency hedging arrangement give effect to any such arrangement. For the avoidance of doubt, 

“Debt” shall not include any lease, whether or not capitalised in accordance with IFRS, and 

shall not include any debt or obligations of Persons other than members of the Group. 

“Disqualified Stock” means, with respect to any person, any Capital Stock of such person 

which by the terms of such Capital Stock (or by the terms of any security into which it is 

convertible or for which it is exchangeable or exercisable), upon the happening of any event or 

otherwise (i) matures or is mandatorily redeemable, pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or 

otherwise, (ii) is convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for Debt or Disqualified Stock 

or (iii) is redeemable at the option of the holder thereof, in whole or in part, in each case on or 

prior to the Maturity Date of the Notes. 

“Earnings from Operations” for any fiscal period means net earnings, as reflected in the 

financial statements of the Group for such fiscal period determined on a consolidated basis in 

accordance with IFRS. 

“Encumbrance” means any mortgage, pledge, lien, charge, encumbrance or any security 

interest existing on property owned by any member of the Group securing indebtedness for 

borrowed money, other than a Permitted Encumbrance. 

“Equity Investee” means any Person in which any member of the Group holds an ownership 

interest that is accounted by the Group under the equity method of accounting. 

“IFRS” means the International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European 

Union applied on a consistent basis as in effect from time to time; provided that solely for 

purposes of calculating the financial covenants contained herein and determining Total Assets, 

at any date the Issuer may make an irrevocable election to establish that “IFRS” shall mean 

IFRS as in effect on a date that is on or prior to the date of such election. 

“Interest Charge” as of any date means the amount which is payable in any fiscal period for 

interest on, and original issue discount of, Debt of any member of the Group and the amount of 

dividends which are payable in respect of any Disqualified Stock. 
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“Permitted Encumbrances” means leases, Encumbrances securing taxes, assessments and 

similar charges, mechanics liens and other similar Encumbrances. 

“Person” means any individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint 

venture, association, joint-stock company, trust, unincorporated organisation or government or 

any agency or political subdivision thereof. 

“pro forma calculation” or “calculated on a pro forma basis” shall mean a calculation where 

(i) such calculation will be as determined in good faith by a responsible financial or accounting 

officer of any member of the Group, (ii) in respect of a calculation of Total Assets, the relevant 

Total Asset number shall be adjusted to include the purchase price of any real estate assets or 

mortgages receivable acquired, or real estate assets as to which a definitive sale and purchase 

agreement has been entered into and the amount of any securities offering proceeds received (to 

the extent such proceeds were not used to acquire real estate assets or mortgages receivable or 

used to reduce Debt), by any member of the Group, in each case where such acquisition or 

receipt of proceeds is subsequent to the end of such fiscal quarter, including those proceeds 

obtained in connection with the Incurrence of such additional Debt, and (iii) in respect of a 

calculation of the Interest Cover Ratio in accordance with Condition 5(a)(iii) (Interest Cover 

Ratio), the calculation shall be made on the assumption that (a) the Debt to be Incurred and any 

other Debt Incurred by any member of the Group since the first day of such fiscal four-quarter 

period and the application of the proceeds therefrom, including to refinance other Debt, had 

occurred at the beginning of the relevant fiscal period; (b) the repayment or retirement of any 

other Debt by any member of the Group since the first day of such fiscal four-quarter period 

had been repaid or retired at the beginning of such fiscal period (except that, in making such 

computation, the amount of Debt under any revolving credit facility shall be computed based 

upon the average daily balance of such Debt during such fiscal period); (c) in the case of 

Acquired Debt or Debt Incurred in connection with any acquisition made since the first day of 

such fiscal four-quarter period, or an acquisition as to which a definitive sale and purchase 

agreement has been entered into, the related acquisition had occurred as of the first day of such 

fiscal period with the appropriate adjustments with respect to such acquisition being included 

in such pro forma calculation; and (d) in the case of any acquisition or disposition by any 

member of the Group of any asset or group of assets since the first day of such fiscal four-

quarter period (including for the avoidance of doubt assets owned by any member of the Group 

on the Issue Date), whether by merger, stock purchase or sale, or asset purchase or sale, or an 

acquisition as to which a definitive sale and purchase agreement has been entered into, such 

acquisition or disposition or any related repayment of Debt had occurred as of the first day of 

such fiscal period with the appropriate adjustments with respect to such acquisition or 

disposition being included in such pro forma calculation, including (x) in respect of cost savings 

and synergies as though the full run rate effect of such synergies and cost savings were realised 

on the first day of the relevant period, (y) the reasonably anticipated full run rate effect of new 

cost and revenue structures and initiatives to be implemented upon or after acquisition of real 

estate assets or shares, but which have not yet been fully reflected in the relevant period, as if 

entered into on the first day of the period; provided that cost savings and synergies shall include 

only those improvements reasonably anticipated to occur within 24 months from the date of 

calculation; and euro to the extent that any member of the Group has made capital expenditures 

in development of real property, the Issuer may take into account the full run rate effect of such 

development if not already fully included in such period. In calculating the Interest Cover Ratio 

in accordance with Condition 5(a)(iii) (Interest Cover Ratio), to the extent that historical 

financial statements do not exist for an acquired entity or group of assets for all or a portion of 

the relevant testing period, such calculation shall be made on the basis of the reasonably 

assumed performance of such acquired entity or group of assets for the four quarters 

immediately following their acquisition, as determined in good faith by a responsible accounting 

officer (with each assumed quarter being successively replaced by the actual historical 

performance of such entity or group of assets in such quarter). 
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“Refinancing Debt” means Debt issued in exchange for, or the net proceeds of which are used 

to refinance or refund, then outstanding Debt (including the principal amount, accrued interest 

and premium, if any, of such Debt plus any fees and expenses Incurred in connection with such 

refinancing); provided that (i) if such new Debt, or the proceeds of such new Debt, are used to 

refinance or refund Debt that is subordinated in right of payment to the Notes of any series, such 

new Debt shall only be permitted if it is expressly made subordinate in right of payment to the 

Notes of such series at least to the extent that the Debt to be refinanced is subordinated to the 

Notes of such series and (ii) such new Debt does not mature prior to the stated maturity of the 

Debt to be refinanced or refunded. 

“Relevant Indebtedness” is as defined in Condition 2 (Interpretation). 

“Secured Debt” means Debt for borrowed money which is secured by any mortgage, pledge, 

lien, charge, encumbrance or security interest on property of any member of the Group. 

“Secured Limit” means an aggregate principal amount of Debt not exceeding the greater of 

EUR 200,000,000 and 3.75 per cent. of Total Assets, measured at the time of incurrence. 

“Subordinated Shareholder Funding” means, collectively, any funds provided to any member 

of the Group in exchange for or pursuant to any security instrument or agreement other than 

capital stock, together with any such security, instrument or agreement and any other security 

or instrument other than capital stock issued in payment of any obligation under any 

Subordinated Shareholder Funding; provided that such Subordinated Shareholder Funding in 

each case: (i) does not mature or require any amortisation, redemption or other repayment of 

principal or any sinking fund payment prior to the first anniversary of the latest maturity of the 

Notes (other than through conversion or exchange of such funding into capital stock); (ii) does 

not require, prior to the first anniversary of the latest maturity of the Notes, payment of cash 

interest; (iii) contains no change of control or similar provisions and does not accelerate and has 

no right to declare a default or event of default or take any enforcement action or otherwise 

require any cash payment, in each case, prior to the first anniversary of the latest maturity of the 

Notes; and (iv) does not provide for or require any security interest or encumbrance over any 

asset of any member of the Group. 

“Total Assets” as of any date means the sum of (i) Total Real Estate Assets and (ii) the value 

(determined only for purposes of this limb (ii) in accordance with IFRS) of all other assets of 

any member of the Group. 

“Total Real Estate Assets” as of any date means the fair market value of real estate assets 

owned by any member of the Group on such date, calculated by the Issuer, and excluding any 

real estate assets which are reflected on the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position 

as a financial lease in accordance with IFRS and to the extent that any such items (other than 

letters of credit) would appear as a liability on the Group’s consolidated statement of financial 

position in accordance with IFRS. 

“Total Unencumbered Assets” means the sum of (i) Total Real Estate Assets not subject to an 

Encumbrance and (ii) the value (determined only for purposes of this limb (ii) in accordance 

with IFRS) of all other assets of the Group not subject to an Encumbrance. 

“Unsecured Debt” means Debt described in limbs (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) of the definition thereof 

which is not secured by any mortgage, pledge, lien, charge, pledge, encumbrance or any security 

interest of any kind upon any of the properties of any member of the Group. 

“Working Capital Debt” means Debt not exceeding the greater of EUR 200,000,000 and 3.75 

per cent. of Total Assets, which is Incurred for operational and development funding, working 

capital and general corporate purposes. 
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6. Fixed Rate Note Provisions 

(a) Application: This Condition 6 (Fixed Rate Note Provisions) is applicable to the Notes only if 

the Fixed Rate Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being 

applicable. 

(b) Accrual of interest: The Notes bear interest from the Interest Commencement Date at the Rate 

of Interest payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date, subject as provided in Condition 11 

(Payments - Bearer Notes) and Condition 12 (Payments - Registered Notes). Each Note will 

cease to bear interest from the due date for final redemption unless, upon due presentation, 

payment of the Redemption Amount is improperly withheld or refused, in which case it will 

continue to bear interest in accordance with this Condition 6 (as well after as before judgment) 

until whichever is the earlier of (i) the day on which all sums due in respect of such Note up to 

that day are received by or on behalf of the relevant Noteholder and (ii) the day which is seven 

days after the Principal Paying Agent or the Trustee has notified the Noteholders that it has 

received all sums due in respect of the Notes up to such seventh day (except to the extent that 

there is any subsequent default in payment).  

(c) Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken Amount: The amount of interest payable in respect of each 

Note for any Interest Period shall be the relevant Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken Amount (as 

applicable) and, if the Notes are in more than one Specified Denomination, shall be the relevant 

Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken Amount (as applicable) in respect of the relevant Specified 

Denomination. 

(d) Notes accruing interest otherwise than a Fixed Coupon Amount: This Condition 6(d) shall apply 

to Notes which are Fixed Rate Notes only where the Pricing Supplement for such Notes specify 

that the Interest Payment Dates are subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business Day 

Convention specified therein. The relevant amount of interest payable in respect of each Note 

for any Interest Period for such Notes shall be calculated by the Calculation Agent by 

multiplying the product of the Rate of Interest and the Calculation Amount by the relevant Day 

Count Fraction and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest sub-unit of the Specified 

Currency (half a sub-unit being rounded upwards). The Calculation Agent shall cause the 

relevant amount of interest and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified to the Issuer, 

the Trustee and the Paying Agents and the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 21 

(Notices) and, if the Notes are listed on a stock exchange and the rules of such exchange so 

requires, such exchange as soon as possible after their determination or calculation but in no 

event later than the fourth Business Day thereafter or, if earlier in the case of notification to the 

stock exchange, the time required by the rules of the relevant stock exchange. 

(e) Calculation of interest amount: The amount of interest payable in respect of each Note for any 

period for which a Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken Amount (as applicable) is not specified 

shall be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest to the Calculation Amount, multiplying the 

product by the relevant Day Count Fraction, rounding the resulting figure to the nearest sub-

unit of the Specified Currency (half a sub-unit being rounded upwards) and multiplying such 

rounded figure by a fraction equal to the Specified Denomination of such Note divided by the 

Calculation Amount. For this purpose a “sub-unit” means, in the case of any currency other 
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than euro, the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country of 

such currency and, in the case of euro, means one cent. 

7. Floating Rate Note Provisions  

(a) Application: This Condition 7 (Floating Rate Note Provisions) is applicable to the Notes only 

if the Floating Rate Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being 

applicable. 

(b) Accrual of interest: The Notes bear interest from the Interest Commencement Date at the Rate 

of Interest payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date, subject as provided in Condition 11 

(Payments - Bearer Notes) and Condition 12 (Payments - Registered Notes). Each Note will 

cease to bear interest from the due date for final redemption unless, upon due presentation, 

payment of the Redemption Amount is improperly withheld or refused, in which case it will 

continue to bear interest in accordance with this Condition 7(b) (as well after as before judgment) 

until whichever is the earlier of (i) the day on which all sums due in respect of such Note up to 

that day are received by or on behalf of the relevant Noteholder and (ii) the day which is seven 

days after the Principal Paying Agent has notified the Noteholders that it has received all sums 

due in respect of the Notes up to such seventh day (except to the extent that there is any 

subsequent default in payment). 

(c) Screen Rate Determination: If Screen Rate Determination is specified in the relevant Pricing 

Supplement as the manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined, the Rate of 

Interest applicable to the Notes for each Interest Period will, subject to Condition 7(n) 

(Benchmark Discontinuation), be (other than in respect of Notes for which SONIA, SOFR 

and/or €STR or any related index is specified as the Reference Rate in the relevant Pricing 

Supplement) determined by the Calculation Agent on the following basis: 

 if the Reference Rate is a composite quotation or customarily supplied by one entity, 

the Calculation Agent will determine the Reference Rate which appears on the Relevant 

Screen Page as of the Relevant Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date; 

 if Linear Interpolation is specified as applicable in respect of an Interest Period in the 

relevant Pricing Supplement, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be 

calculated by the Calculation Agent by straight-line linear interpolation by reference to 

two rates which appear on the Relevant Screen Page as of the Relevant Time on the 

relevant Interest Determination Date, where: 

 one rate shall be determined as if the relevant Interest Period were the period 

of time for which rates are available next shorter than the length of the relevant 

Interest Period; and 

 the other rate shall be determined as if the relevant Interest Period were the 

period of time for which rates are available next longer than the length of the 

relevant Interest Period;  

provided, however, that if no rate is available for a period of time next shorter than the 

length of the relevant Interest Period or, as the case may be, next longer than the length 

of the relevant Interest Period, then the Calculation Agent shall determine such rate at 

such time and by reference to such sources as the Issuer determines appropriate; 

 in any other case, the Calculation Agent will determine the arithmetic mean of the 

Reference Rates which appear on the Relevant Screen Page as of the Relevant Time on 

the relevant Interest Determination Date; 
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 if, in the case of limb (i) or (ii) above, such rate does not appear on that page or, in the 

case of limb (iii) above, fewer than two such rates appear on that page or if, in the case 

of limb (i), (ii) or (iii) above, the Relevant Screen Page is unavailable: 

 the Issuer will request the principal Relevant Financial Centre office of each of 

the Reference Banks to provide a quotation to the Calculation Agent of the 

Reference Rate at approximately the Relevant Time on the Interest 

Determination Date to prime banks in the Relevant Financial Centre interbank 

market in an amount that is representative for a single transaction in that market 

at that time; and  

 the Calculation Agent will determine the arithmetic mean of such quotations; 

and 

 if fewer than two such quotations are provided as requested, the Calculation Agent will 

determine the arithmetic mean of the rates (being the nearest to the Reference Rate, as 

determined by the Calculation Agent) quoted by major banks in the Principal Financial 

Centre of the Specified Currency, requested and selected by the Issuer, at approximately 

11.00 a.m. (local time in the Principal Financial Centre of the Specified Currency) on 

the first day of the relevant Interest Period for loans in the Specified Currency to leading 

European banks for a period equal to the relevant Interest Period and in an amount that 

is representative for a single transaction in that market at that time, 

and the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be the sum of the Margin and the rate or 

(as the case may be) the arithmetic mean so determined; provided, however, that if the 

Calculation Agent is unable to determine a rate or (as the case may be) an arithmetic mean in 

accordance with the above provisions in relation to any Interest Period, the Rate of Interest 

applicable to the Notes during such Interest Period will be the sum of the Margin and the rate or 

(as the case may be) the arithmetic mean last determined in relation to the Notes in respect of a 

preceding Interest Period. 

(d) ISDA Determination: If ISDA Determination is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as 

the manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined, the Rate of Interest 

applicable to the Notes for each Interest Period will be the sum of the Margin and the relevant 

ISDA Rate where “ISDA Rate” in relation to any Interest Period means a rate equal to the 

Floating Rate (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) that would be determined by the Calculation 

Agent under an interest rate swap transaction if the Calculation Agent were acting as Calculation 

Agent for that interest rate swap transaction under the terms of an agreement incorporating the 

ISDA Definitions and under which: 

 if the Pricing Supplement specifies either “2006 ISDA Definitions” or “2021 ISDA 

Definitions” as the applicable ISDA Definitions: 

 the Floating Rate Option (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) is as specified in 

the relevant Pricing Supplement; 

 the Designated Maturity (as defined in the ISDA Definitions), if applicable, is 

a period specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement;  

 the relevant Reset Date (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) unless otherwise 

specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, has the meaning given to it in the 

ISDA Definitions; and 

 if Linear Interpolation is specified as applicable in respect of an Interest Period 

in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period 

shall be calculated by the Calculation Agent by straight-line linear interpolation 

by reference to two rates based on the relevant Floating Rate Option, where: 



 

EMEA 138069526 

80 
 

 

(1) one rate shall be determined as if the Designated Maturity were the 

period of time for which rates are available next shorter than the length 

of the relevant Interest Period; and 

(2) the other rate shall be determined as if the Designated Maturity were the 

period of time for which rates are available next longer than the length 

of the relevant Interest Period 

provided, however, that if there is no rate available for a period of time next shorter than 

the length of the relevant Interest Period or, as the case may be, next longer than the 

length of the relevant Interest Period, then the Calculation Agent shall determine such 

rate at such time and by reference to such sources as the Issuer determines appropriate. 

 if the specified Floating Rate Option is an Overnight Floating Rate Option (as 

defined in the ISDA Definitions), Compounding is specified to be applicable in 

the relevant Pricing Supplement and: 

(1) if Compounding with Lookback is specified as the Compounding 

Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement then (a) Compounding with 

Lookback is the Overnight Rate Compounding Method and (b) 

Lookback is the number of Applicable Business Days (as defined in the 

ISDA Definitions) specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement; 

(2) if Compounding with Observation Period Shift is specified as the 

Compounding Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement then (a) 

Compounding with Observation Period Shift is the Overnight Rate 

Compounding Method, (b) Observation Period Shift is the number of 

Observation Period Shift Business Days (as defined in the ISDA 

Definitions) specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement and (c) 

Observation Period Shift Additional Business Days (as defined in the 

ISDA Definitions), if applicable, are the days specified in the relevant 

Pricing Supplement; or 

(3) if Compounding with Lockout is specified as the Compounding Method 

in the relevant Pricing Supplement then (a) Compounding with Lockout 

is the Overnight Rate Compounding Method, (b) Lockout is the number 

of Lockout Period Business Days (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) 

specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement and (c) Lockout Period 

Business Days, if applicable, are the days specified in the relevant 

Pricing Supplement; 

 if the specified Floating Rate Option is an Overnight Floating Rate Option (as 

defined in the ISDA Definitions), Averaging is specified to be applicable in the 

relevant Pricing Supplement and: 

(1) if Averaging with Lookback is specified as the Averaging Method in the 

relevant Pricing Supplement then (a) Averaging with Lookback is the 

Overnight Rate Averaging Method and (b) Lookback is the number of 

Applicable Business Days (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) specified 

in relevant Pricing Supplement; 

(2) if Averaging with Observation Period Shift is specified as the Averaging 

Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement then (a) Averaging with 

Overnight Period Shift is the Overnight Rate Averaging Method, (b) 

Observation Period Shift is the number of Observation Period Shift 

Business Days (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) specified in the 

relevant Pricing Supplement and (c) Observation Period Shift Additional 
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Business Days (as defined in the ISDA Definitions), if applicable, are the 

days specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement; or 

(3) if Averaging with Lockout is specified as the Averaging Method in the 

relevant Pricing Supplement then (a) Averaging with Lockout is the 

Overnight Rate Averaging Method, (b) Lockout is the number of 

Lockout Period Business Days (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) 

specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement and (c) Lockout Period 

Business Days, if applicable, are the days specified in the relevant 

Pricing Supplement; and 

 if the specified Floating Rate Option is an Index Floating Rate Option (as defined 

in the ISDA Definitions) and Index Provisions are specified to be applicable in 

the relevant Pricing Supplement, the Compounded Index Method with 

Observation Period Shift (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) shall be applicable 

and, (a) Observation Period Shift is the number of Observation Period Shift 

Business Days (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) specified in the relevant 

Pricing Supplement and (b) Observation Period Shift Additional Business Days, 

if applicable, are the days specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement; 

 references in the ISDA Definitions to: 

 “Confirmation” shall be references to the relevant Pricing Supplement; 

 “Calculation Period” shall be references to the relevant Interest Period; 

 “Termination Date” shall be references to the Maturity Date; 

 “Effective Date” shall be references to the Interest Commencement Date; and 

 if the Pricing Supplement specifies “2021 ISDA Definitions” as being applicable: 

 “Administrator/Benchmark Event” shall be disapplied; and 

 if the Temporary Non-Publication Fallback in respect of any specified Floating 

Rate Option is specified to be “Temporary Non-Publication Fallback – 

Alternative Rate” in the Floating Rate Matrix of the 2021 ISDA Definitions the 

reference to “Calculation Agent Alternative Rate Determination” in the 

definition of “Temporary Non-Publication Fallback – Alternative Rate” shall 

be replaced by “Temporary Non-Publication Fallback – Previous Day’s 

Rate”. 

(e) Interest – Floating Rate Notes referencing SONIA (Screen Rate Determination) 

 This Condition 7(e) is applicable to the Notes only if the Floating Rate Note Provisions 

are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable, Screen Rate 

Determination is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as the manner in which 

the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined, and the “Reference Rate” is specified in 

the relevant Pricing Supplement as being “SONIA”. 

 Where “SONIA” is specified as the Reference Rate in the Pricing Supplement, the Rate 

of Interest for each Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be Compounded 

Daily SONIA plus or minus (as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement) the 

Margin, all as determined by the Calculation Agent. 
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 For the purposes of this Condition 7(e): 

“Compounded Daily SONIA”, with respect to an Interest Period, will be calculated by 

the Calculation Agent on each Interest Determination Date in accordance with the 

following formula, and the resulting percentage will be rounded, if necessary, to the 

fourth decimal place, with 0.00005 being rounded upwards: 

[∏ (1 +  
𝑆𝑂𝑁𝐼𝐴𝑖 × 𝑛𝑖

365
) − 1

𝑑0

𝑖=1

] ×
365

𝑑
 

“d” means the number of calendar days in: 

(i) where “Lag” is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing 

Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or 

(ii) where “Observation Shift” is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant 

Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period; 

“do” means the number of London Banking Days in: 

(i) where “Lag” is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing 

Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or 

(ii) where “Observation Shift” is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant 

Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period; 

“i” means a series of whole numbers from one to do, each representing the relevant 

London Banking Day in chronological order from, and including, the first London 

Banking Day in: 

(i) where “Lag” is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing 

Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or 

(ii) where “Observation Shift” is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant 

Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period; 

to, and including, the last London Banking Day in such period; 

“Interest Determination Date” means, in respect of any Interest Period, the date falling 

“p” London Banking Days prior to the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period 

(or the date falling p London Banking Days prior to such earlier date, if any, on which 

the Notes are due and payable). 

“London Banking Day” or “LBD” means any day on which commercial banks are open 

for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency 

deposits) in London; 

“ni” for any London Banking Day “i”, in the relevant Interest Period or Observation 

Period (as applicable) is the number of calendar days from, and including, such London 

Banking Day “i” up to, but excluding, the following London Banking Day; 

“Observation Period” means, in respect of an Interest Period, the period from, and 

including, the date falling “p” London Banking Days prior to the first day of such Interest 

Period (and the first Interest Period shall begin on and include the Interest 

Commencement Date) and ending on, but excluding, the date which is “p” London 

Banking Days prior to the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period (or the date 
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falling “p”  London Banking Days prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes 

become due and payable); 

“p” for any Interest Period or Observation Period (as applicable), means the number of 

London Banking Days specified as the “Lag Period” or the “Observation Shift Period” 

(as applicable) in the relevant Pricing Supplement or if no such period is specified, five 

London Banking Days; 

“SONIA Reference Rate” means, in respect of any London Banking Day, a reference 

rate equal to the daily Sterling Overnight Index Average (“SONIA”) rate for such 

London Banking Day as provided by the administrator of SONIA to authorised 

distributors and as then published on the Relevant Screen Page (or if the Relevant Screen 

Page is unavailable, as otherwise is published by such authorised distributors) on the 

London Banking Day immediately following such London Banking Day; and 

“SONIAi” means the SONIA Reference Rate for: 

(i) where “Lag” is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing 

Supplement, the London Banking Day falling “p” London Banking Days prior 

to the relevant London Banking Day “i”; or 

(ii) where “Observation Shift” is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant 

Pricing Supplement, the relevant London Banking Day “i”; 

For the avoidance of doubt, the formula for the calculation of Compounded Daily SONIA 

only compounds the SONIA Reference Rate in respect of any London Banking Day.  The 

SONIA Reference Rate applied to a day that is a non-London Banking Day will be taken 

by applying the SONIA Reference Rate for the previous London Banking Day but without 

compounding. 

 If, in respect of any London Banking Day in the relevant Interest Period or Observation 

Period (as applicable), the Calculation Bank determines that the SONIA Reference Rate 

is not available on the Relevant Screen Page or has not otherwise been published by the 

relevant authorised distributors, such SONIA Reference Rate shall, subject to Condition 

7(n) (Benchmark Discontinuation), be: 

 the sum of (a) the Bank of England’s Bank Rate (the “Bank Rate”) prevailing 

at close of business on the relevant London Banking Day; and (b) the mean of 

the spread of the SONIA Reference Rate to the Bank Rate over the previous five 

London Banking Days on which a SONIA Reference Rate has been published, 

excluding the highest spread (or, if there is more than one highest spread, one 

only of those highest spreads) and lowest spread (or, if there is more than one 

lowest spread, one only of those lowest spreads) to the Bank Rate; or 

 if the Bank Rate is not published by the Bank of England at close of business on 

the relevant London Banking Day, (a) the SONIA Reference Rate published on 

the Relevant Screen Page (or otherwise published by the relevant authorised 

distributors) for the first preceding London Banking Day on which the SONIA 

Reference Rate was published on the Relevant Screen Page (or otherwise 

published by the relevant authorised distributors) or (b) if this is more recent, the 

latest determined rate under (A). 

 Subject to Condition 7(n) (Benchmark Discontinuation), if the Rate of Interest cannot 

be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this Condition 7(e), the 

Rate of Interest shall be (A) that determined as at the last preceding Interest 

Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin is to be applied to 

the relevant Interest Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Period, 
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the Margin relating to the relevant Interest Period, in place of the Margin relating to that 

last preceding Interest Period) or (B) if there is no such preceding Interest 

Determination Date, the initial Rate of Interest which would have been applicable to 

the Notes for the first Interest Period had the Notes been in issue for a period equal in 

duration to the scheduled first Interest Period but ending on (and excluding) the Interest 

Commencement Date (but applying the Margin applicable to the first Interest Period). 

(f) Interest - Floating Rate Notes referencing SOFR (Screen Rate Determination) 

 This Condition 7(f) is applicable to the Notes only if the Floating Rate Note Provisions 

are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable, Screen Rate 

Determination is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as the manner in which 

the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined, and the “Reference Rate” is specified in 

the relevant Pricing Supplement as being “SOFR” and “Index Determination” is 

specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being “Not Applicable”. 

 Where “SOFR” is specified as the Reference Rate in the Pricing Supplement, the Rate 

of Interest for each Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be the Benchmark 

plus or minus (as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement) the Margin, all as 

determined by the Calculation Agent on each Interest Determination Date. 

 For the purposes of this Condition 7(f)(iii): 

“Benchmark” means Compounded SOFR, which is a compounded average of daily 

SOFR, as determined for each Interest Period in accordance with the specific formula 

and other provisions set out in this Condition 7(f). 

Daily SOFR rates will not be published in respect of any day that is not a U.S. 

Government Securities Business Day, such as a Saturday, Sunday or holiday.  For this 

reason, in determining Compounded SOFR in accordance with the specific formula and 

other provisions set forth herein, the daily SOFR rate for any U.S. Government 

Securities Business Day that immediately precedes one or more days that are not U.S. 

Government Securities Business Days will be multiplied by the number of calendar days 

from and including such U.S. Government Securities Business Day to, but excluding, the 

following U.S. Government Securities Business Day. 

If the Issuer determines that a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark 

Replacement Date have occurred in respect of Compounded SOFR (or the daily SOFR 

used in the calculation hereof) prior to the relevant SOFR Determination Time, then the 

provisions under Condition 7(f)(iv) below will apply. 

“Business Day” means any weekday that is a U.S. Government Securities Business Day 

and is not a legal holiday in New York and each (if any) Additional Business Centre(s) 

and is not a date on which banking institutions in those cities are authorised or required 

by law or regulation to be closed; 

“Compounded SOFR” with respect to any Interest Period, means the rate of return of 

a daily compound interest investment computed by the Calculation Agent in accordance 

with the following formula (and the resulting percentage will be rounded, if necessary, 

to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point, with 0.000005 being 

rounded upwards to 0.00001): 

[∏ (1 + 
𝑆𝑂𝐹𝑅𝑖 × 𝑛𝑖

360
) − 1

𝑑0

𝑖=1

] ×
360

𝑑
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“d” is the number of calendar days in: 

(i) where “Lag” is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing 

Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or 

(ii) where “Observation Shift” is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant 

Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period. 

“do” is the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days in: 

(i) where “Lag” is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing 

Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or 

(ii) where “Observation Shift” is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant 

Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period. 

“i” is a series of whole numbers from one to do, each representing the relevant U.S. 

Government Securities Business Day in chronological order from, and including, the 

first U.S. Government Securities Business Day in: 

(i) where “Lag” is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing 

Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or 

(ii) where “Observation Shift” is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant 

Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period, 

to and including the last US Government Securities Business Day in such period; 

“Interest Determination Date” means, in respect of any Interest Period, the date falling 

“p” U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to the Interest Payment Date for 

such Interest Period (or the date falling “p” U.S. Government Securities Business Days 

prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes are due and payable); 

“ni” for any U.S. Government Securities Business Day “i” in the relevant Interest Period 

or Observation Period (as applicable), is the number of calendar days from, and 

including, such U.S. Government Securities Business Day “i” to, but excluding, the 

following U.S. Government Securities Business Day (“i+1”); 

“Observation Period” in respect of an Interest Period means the period from, and 

including, the date falling “p” U.S. Government Securities Business Days preceding the 

first day in such Interest Period (and the first Interest Period shall begin on and include 

the Interest Commencement Date) to, but excluding, the date falling “p” U.S. 

Government Securities Business Days preceding the Interest Payment Date for such 

Interest Period (or the date falling “p” U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior 

to such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes become due and payable); 

“p” for any Interest Period or Observation Period (as applicable) means the number of 

U.S. Government Securities Business Days specified as the “Lag Period” or the 

“Observation Shift Period” (as applicable) in the relevant Pricing Supplement or if no 

such period is specified, five U.S. Government Securities Business Days; 

“SOFR” with respect to any U.S. Government Securities Business Day, means: 

(i) the Secured Overnight Financing Rate published for such U.S. Government 

Securities Business Day as such rate appears on the SOFR Administrator’s 

Website at 3:00 p.m. (New York time) on the immediately following U.S. 

Government Securities Business Day (the “SOFR Determination Time”); or 
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(ii) Subject to Condition 7(f)(iv) below, if the rate specified in limb (i) above does 

not so appear, the Secured Overnight Financing Rate as published in respect of 

the first preceding U.S. Government Securities Business Day for which the 

Secured Overnight Financing Rate was published on the SOFR Administrator’s 

Website; 

“SOFR Administrator” means the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor 

administrator of the Secured Overnight Financing Rate); 

“SOFR Administrator’s Website” means the website of the Federal Reserve Bank of 

New York, or any successor source; 

“SOFRi” means the SOFR for: 

(i) where “Lag” is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing 

Supplement, the U.S. Government Securities Business Day falling “p” U.S. 

Government Securities Business Days prior to the relevant U.S. Government 

Securities Business Day “i”; or 

(ii) where “Observation Shift” is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant 

Pricing Supplement, the relevant U.S. Government Securities Business Day “i”; 

and 

“U.S. Government Securities Business Day” means any day except for a Saturday, a 

Sunday or a day on which the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association 

recommends that the fixed income departments of its members be closed for the entire 

day for purposes of trading in U.S. government securities. 

 If the Issuer determines prior to the relevant Reference Time that a Benchmark 

Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with 

respect to the then-current Benchmark, the Benchmark Replacement will replace the 

then-current Benchmark for all purposes relating to the Notes in respect of all 

determinations on such date and for all determinations on all subsequent dates.  In 

connection with the implementation of a Benchmark Replacement, the Issuer will have 

the right to make Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes from time to time, 

without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Trustee or Noteholders. 

Any determination, decision or election that may be made by the Issuer pursuant to this 

section, including any determination with respect to a tenor, rate or adjustment or of the 

occurrence or non-occurrence of an event, circumstance or date and any decision to take 

or refrain from taking any action or any selection: 

(i) will be conclusive and binding absent manifest error; 

(ii) will be made in the sole discretion of the Issuer; and 

(iii) notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the documentation relating to the 

Notes, shall become effective without consent from the holders of the Notes or 

any other party. 

For the purposes of this Condition 7(f)(iv): 

“Benchmark” means, initially, Compounded SOFR, as such term is defined above; 

provided that if the Issuer determines on or prior to the Reference Time that a 

Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have 

occurred with respect to Compounded SOFR (or the published daily SOFR used in the 
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calculation thereof) or the then-current Benchmark, then “Benchmark” shall mean the 

applicable Benchmark Replacement. 

“Benchmark Replacement” means the first alternative set forth in the order below that 

can be determined by the Issuer as of the Benchmark Replacement Date: 

(i) the sum of: (A) the alternate rate of interest that has been selected or 

recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body as the replacement for the 

then-current Benchmark and (B) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment; 

(ii) the sum of: (A) the ISDA Fallback Rate and (B) the Benchmark Replacement 

Adjustment; or 

(iii) the sum of: (A) the alternate rate of interest that has been selected by the Issuer 

as the replacement for the then-current Benchmark giving due consideration to 

any industry-accepted rate of interest as a replacement for the then-current 

Benchmark for U.S. dollar-denominated floating rate notes at such time and (B) 

the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment; 

“Benchmark Replacement Adjustment” means the first alternative set forth in the 

order below that can be determined by the Issuer or its designee as of the Benchmark 

Replacement Date: 

(i) the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread 

adjustment, (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been 

selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body for the 

applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement; 

(ii) if the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement is equivalent to the ISDA 

Fallback Rate, the ISDA Fallback Adjustment; or 

(iii) the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that 

has been selected by the Issuer giving due consideration to any industry-

accepted spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such 

spread adjustment, for the replacement of the then-current Benchmark with the 

applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for U.S. dollar-denominated 

floating rate notes at such time; 

“Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes” means, with respect to any 

Benchmark Replacement, any technical, administrative or operational changes 

(including changes to the timing and frequency of determining rates and making 

payments of interest, rounding of amounts or tenors, and other administrative matters) 

that the Issuer decides may be appropriate to reflect the adoption of such Benchmark 

Replacement in a manner substantially consistent with market practice (or, if the Issuer 

decides that adoption of any portion of such market practice is not administratively 

feasible or if the Issuer determines that no market practice for use of the Benchmark 

Replacement exists, in such other manner as the Issuer determines is reasonably 

necessary); 

“Benchmark Replacement Date” means the earliest to occur of the following events 

with respect to the then-current Benchmark (including the daily published component 

used in the calculation thereof): 

(i) in the case of clause (i) or (ii) of the definition of “Benchmark Transition 

Event,” the later of (a) the date of the public statement or publication of 

information referenced therein and (b) the date on which the administrator of 



 

EMEA 138069526 

88 
 

 

the Benchmark permanently or indefinitely ceases to provide the Benchmark 

(or such component); or 

(ii) in the case of clause (iii) of the definition of “Benchmark Transition Event,” 

the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein. 

For the avoidance of doubt, if the event that gives rise to the Benchmark Replacement 

Date occurs on the same day as, but earlier than, the Reference Time in respect of any 

determination, the Benchmark Replacement Date will be deemed to have occurred prior 

to the Reference Time for such determination; 

“Benchmark Transition Event” means the occurrence of one or more of the following 

events with respect to the then-current Benchmark (including the daily published 

component used in the calculation thereof): 

(i) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the 

administrator of the Benchmark (or such component) announcing that such 

administrator has ceased or will cease to provide the Benchmark (or such 

component), permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such 

statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue 

to provide the Benchmark (or such component); or 

(ii) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor 

for the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component), the central bank 

for the currency of the Benchmark (or such component), an insolvency official 

with jurisdiction over the administrator for the Benchmark (or such 

component), a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the administrator for 

the Benchmark (or such component) or a court or an entity with similar 

insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator for the Benchmark, 

which states that the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component) has 

ceased or will cease to provide the Benchmark (or such component) 

permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or 

publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the 

Benchmark (or such component); or 

(iii) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor 

for the administrator of the Benchmark announcing that the Benchmark is no 

longer representative; 

“ISDA Fallback Adjustment” means the spread adjustment (which may be a positive 

or negative value or zero) that would apply for derivatives transactions referencing the 

ISDA Definitions to be determined upon the occurrence of an index cessation event 

with respect to the Benchmark; 

“ISDA Fallback Rate” means the rate that would apply for derivatives transactions 

referencing the ISDA Definitions to be effective upon the occurrence of an index 

cessation date with respect to the Benchmark for the applicable tenor excluding the 

applicable ISDA Fallback Adjustment; 

“Reference Time” with respect to any determination of the Benchmark means (i) if the 

Benchmark is Compounded SOFR, the SOFR Determination Time, and (ii) if the 

Benchmark is not Compounded SOFR, the time determined by the Issuer after giving 

effect to the Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes; 

“Relevant Governmental Body” means the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal 

Reserve Bank of New York, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the 
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Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York or any successor 

thereto; and 

“Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement” means the Benchmark Replacement 

excluding the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment. 

 Any Benchmark Replacement, Benchmark Replacement Adjustment and the specific 

terms of any Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes, determined under 

Condition 7(f)(iv) above will be notified promptly by the Issuer to the Trustee, the 

Calculation Agent, the Paying Agents and, in accordance with Condition 21 (Notices), 

the Noteholders.  Such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the effective date 

on which such changes take effect. 

No later than notifying the Trustee of the same, the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee a 

certificate signed by two authorised signatories of the Issuer: 

 confirming (x) that a Benchmark Transition Event has occurred, (y) the relevant 

Benchmark Replacement and, (z) where applicable, any Benchmark 

Replacement Adjustment and/or the specific terms of any relevant Benchmark 

Replacement Conforming Changes, in each case as determined in accordance 

with the provisions of this Condition 7(f); and 

 certifying that the relevant Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes are 

necessary to ensure the proper operation of such Benchmark Replacement and/or 

Benchmark Replacement Adjustment. 

 If the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions 

of this Condition 7(f), the Rate of Interest shall be (A) that determined as at the last 

preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin 

is to be applied to the relevant Interest Period from that which applied to the last 

preceding Interest Period, the Margin relating to the relevant Interest Period, in place 

of the Margin relating to that last preceding Interest Period) or (B) if there is no such 

preceding Interest Determination Date, the initial Rate of Interest which would have 

been applicable to the Notes for the first Interest Period had the Notes been in issue for 

a period equal in duration to the scheduled first Interest Period but ending on (and 

excluding) the Interest Commencement Date (but applying the Margin applicable to the 

first Interest Period). 

(g) Interest – Floating Rate Notes referencing €STR (Screen Rate Determination) 

 This Condition 7(g) is applicable to the Notes only if the Floating Rate Note Provisions 

are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable, Screen Rate 

Determination is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as the manner in which 

the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined, and the “Reference Rate” is specified in 

the relevant Pricing Supplement as being “€STR”. 

 Where “€STR” is specified as the Reference Rate in the Pricing Supplement, the Rate 

of Interest for each Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be Compounded 

Daily €STR plus or minus (as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement) the Margin, 

all as determined by the Calculation Agent on each Interest Determination Date. 

 For the purposes of this Condition 7(g): 

“Compounded Daily €STR” means, with respect to any Interest Period, the rate of 

return of a daily compound interest investment (with the daily euro short-term rate as 

reference rate for the calculation of interest) as calculated by the Calculation Agent as at 

the relevant Interest Determination Date in accordance with the following formula (and 
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the resulting percentage will be rounded if necessary to the nearest fifth decimal place, 

with 0.000005 being rounded upwards): 

[∏ (1 + 
€𝑆𝑇𝑅𝑖 × 𝑛𝑖

𝐷
) − 1

𝑑0

𝑖=1

] ×
𝐷

𝑑
 

where: 

“d” means the number of calendar days in: 

(i) where “Lag” is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing 

Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or 

(ii) where “Observation Shift” is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant 

Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period; 

“D” means the number specified as such in the relevant Pricing Supplement (or, if no 

such number is specified, 360); 

“do” means the number of TARGET Settlement Days in: 

(i) where “Lag” is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing 

Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or 

(ii) where “Observation Shift” is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant 

Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period; 

the “€STR reference rate”, in respect of any TARGET Settlement Day, is a reference 

rate equal to the daily euro short-term rate (“€STR”) for such TARGET Settlement Day 

as provided by the European Central Bank as the administrator of €STR (or any 

successor administrator of such rate) on the website of the European Central Bank (or, 

if no longer published on its website, as otherwise published by it or provided by it to 

authorised distributors and as then published on the Relevant Screen Page or, if the 

Relevant Screen Page is unavailable, as otherwise published by such authorised 

distributors) on the TARGET Settlement Day immediately following such TARGET 

Settlement Day (in each case, at the time specified by, or determined in accordance with, 

the applicable methodology, policies or guidelines, of the European Central Bank or the 

successor administrator of such rate); 

“€STRi” means the €STR reference rate for: 

(i) where “Lag” is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing 

Supplement, the TARGET Settlement Day falling “p” TARGET Settlement 

Days prior to the relevant TARGET Settlement Day “i”; or 

(ii) where “Observation Shift” is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant 

Pricing Supplement, the relevant TARGET Settlement Day “i”. 

“i” is a series of whole numbers from one to “do”, each representing the relevant 

TARGET Settlement Day in chronological order from, and including, the first TARGET 

Settlement Day in: 

(i) where “Lag” is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing 

Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or 

(ii) where “Observation Shift” is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant 

Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period; 
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to, and including, the last TARGET Settlement Day in such period; 

“Interest Determination Date” means, in respect of any Interest Period, the date falling 

“p” TARGET Settlement Days prior to the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period 

(or the date falling “p” TARGET Settlement Days prior to such earlier date, if any, on 

which the Notes are due and payable); 

“ni” for any TARGET Settlement Day “i” in the relevant Interest Period or Observation 

Period (as applicable), means the number of calendar days from (and including) such 

TARGET Settlement Day “i” up to (but excluding) the following TARGET Settlement 

Day; 

“Observation Period” means, in respect of any Interest Period, the period from (and 

including) the date falling “p” TARGET Settlement Days prior to the first day of the 

relevant Interest Period (and the first Interest Period shall begin on and include the 

Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the date falling “p” TARGET 

Settlement Days prior to (A) (in the case of an Interest Period) the Interest Payment Date 

for such Interest Period or (B) such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes become due 

and payable; and 

“p” for any latest Interest Period or Observation Period (as applicable), means the 

number of TARGET Settlement Days specified as the “Lag Period” or the “Observation 

Shift Period” (as applicable) in the relevant Pricing Supplement or, if no such period is 

specified, five TARGET Business Days. 

 Subject to Condition 7(n) (Benchmark Discontinuation), if, where any Rate of Interest 

is to be calculated pursuant to Condition 7(g)(ii) above, in respect of any TARGET 

Settlement Day in respect of which an applicable €STR reference rate is required to be 

determined, such €STR reference rate is not made available on the Relevant Screen 

Page or has not otherwise been published by the relevant authorised distributors, then 

the €STR reference rate in respect of such TARGET Settlement Day shall be the €STR 

reference rate for the first preceding TARGET Settlement Day in respect of which 

€STR reference rate was published by the European Central Bank on its website, as 

determined by the Calculation Agent. 

 Subject to Condition 7(n) (Benchmark Discontinuation), if the Rate of Interest cannot 

be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this Condition 7(g)(v), 

the Rate of Interest shall be (A) that determined as at the last preceding Interest 

Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin is to be applied to 

the relevant Interest Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Period, 

the Margin relating to the relevant Interest Period, in place of the Margin relating to that 

last preceding Interest Period) or (B) if there is no such preceding Interest 

Determination Date, the initial Rate of Interest which would have been applicable to 

the Notes for the first Interest Period had the Notes been in issue for a period equal in 

duration to the scheduled first Interest Period but ending on (and excluding) the Interest 

Commencement Date (but applying the Margin applicable to the first Interest Period). 

(h) Interest – SONIA Compounded Index and SOFR Compounded Index (Screen Rate 

Determination) 

This Condition 7(h) is applicable to the Notes only if the Floating Rate Note Provisions are 

specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable, Screen Rate Determination is 

specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are 

to be determined, and “Index Determination” is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement 

as being applicable. 
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Where “Index Determination” is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being 

applicable, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will be the compounded daily reference 

rate for the relevant Interest Period, calculated in accordance with the following formula: 

(
Compounded Index End

Compounded Index Start
− 1) ×

Numerator

𝑑
 

and rounded to the Relevant Decimal Place, plus or minus the Margin (if any), all as determined 

and calculated by the Calculation Agent, where: 

“Compounded Index” shall mean either the SONIA Compounded Index or the SOFR 

Compounded Index, as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement; 

“d” is the number of calendar days from (and including) the day on which the relevant 

Compounded Index Start is determined to (but excluding) the day on which the relevant 

Compounded Index End is determined; 

“End” means with respect to an Interest Period the relevant Compounded Index value on the 

day falling the Relevant Number of Index Days prior to the Interest Payment Date for such 

Interest Period, or such other date on which the relevant payment of interest falls due (but which 

by its definition or the operation of the relevant provisions is excluded from such Interest 

Period); 

“Index Days” means, in the case of the SONIA Compounded Index, London Banking Days, 

and, in the case of the SOFR Compounded Index, U.S. Government Securities Business Days; 

“Numerator” means, in the case of the SONIA Compounded Index, 365 and, in the case of the 

SOFR Compounded Index, 360; 

“Relevant Decimal Place” shall, unless otherwise specified in the Pricing Supplement, be the 

fifth decimal place in the case of the SONIA Compounded Index and the seventh decimal place 

in the case of the SOFR Compounded Index, in each case rounded up or down, if necessary 

(with 0.000005 or, as the case may be, 0.00000005 being rounded upwards); and 

“Relevant Number” is as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, but, unless otherwise 

specified shall be five. 

“SONIA Compounded Index” means the Compounded Daily SONIA rate as published at 

10:00 (London time) by the Bank of England (or a successor administrator of SONIA) on the 

Bank of England’s Interactive Statistical Database, or any successor source; 

“SOFR Compounded Index” means the Compounded SOFR rate as published at 15:00 (New 

York time) by Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator of SOFR) on 

the website of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or any successor source; and 

“Start” means with respect to an Interest Period the relevant Compounded Index value on the 

day falling the Relevant Number of Index Days prior to the first day of the relevant Interest 

Period. 

Provided that a Benchmark Event has not occurred in respect of the relevant Compounded Index, 

if, with respect to any Interest Period, the relevant rate is not published for the relevant 

Compounded Index either on the relevant Start or End date, then the Calculation Agent shall 

calculate the rate of interest for that Interest Period as if Index Determination was not specified 

in the applicable Pricing Supplement and as if Compounded Daily SONIA or Compounded 

SOFR (as defined in Condition 7(e) (Interest – Floating Rate Notes referencing SONIA (Screen 

Rate Determination)) or Condition 7(f) (Interest - Floating Rate Notes referencing SOFR 

(Screen Rate Determination)), as applicable) had been specified instead in the Pricing 
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Supplement, and in each case “Observation Shift” had been specified as the Observation Method 

in the relevant Pricing Supplement, and where the Observation Shift Period for the purposes of 

that definition in Condition 7(e) (Interest – Floating Rate Notes referencing SONIA (Screen Rate 

Determination)) or Condition 7(f) (Interest - Floating Rate Notes referencing SOFR (Screen 

Rate Determination)) (as applicable) shall be deemed to be the same as the Relevant Number 

specified in the Pricing Supplement and where, in the case of Compounded Daily SONIA, the 

Relevant Screen Page will be determined by the Issuer. For the avoidance of doubt, if a 

Benchmark Event has occurred in respect of the relevant Compounded Index, the provisions of 

Condition 7(n) (Benchmark Discontinuation) shall apply. 

(i) Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest: If any Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of 

Interest is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, then the Rate of Interest shall in no 

event be greater than the maximum or be less than the minimum so specified. 

(j) Calculation of Interest Amount: The Calculation Agent will, as soon as practicable after the 

time at which the Rate of Interest is to be determined in relation to each Interest Period, calculate 

the Interest Amount payable in respect of each Note for such Interest Period. The Interest 

Amount will be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period to the 

Calculation Amount, multiplying the product by the relevant Day Count Fraction, rounding the 

resulting figure to the nearest sub-unit of the Specified Currency (half a sub-unit being rounded 

upwards) and multiplying such rounded figure by a fraction equal to the Specified 

Denomination of the relevant Note divided by the Calculation Amount. For this purpose a “sub-

unit” means, in the case of any currency other than euro, the lowest amount of such currency 

that is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, in the case of euro, means 

one cent.  

(k) Publication: The Calculation Agent will cause each Rate of Interest and Interest Amount 

determined by it, together with the relevant Interest Payment Date, and any other amount(s) 

required to be determined by it together with any relevant payment date(s) to be notified to the 

Paying Agents and each competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system (if any) 

by which the Notes have then been admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation as soon as 

practicable after such determination but (in the case of each Rate of Interest, Interest Amount 

and Interest Payment Date) in any event not later than the first day of the relevant Interest Period. 

Notice thereof shall also promptly be given to the Noteholders. The Calculation Agent will be 

entitled to recalculate any Interest Amount (on the basis of the foregoing provisions) without 

notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the relevant Interest Period. If the Calculation 

Amount is less than the minimum Specified Denomination the Calculation Agent shall not be 

obliged to publish each Interest Amount but instead may publish only the Calculation Amount 

and the Interest Amount in respect of a Note having the minimum Specified Denomination. 

(l) Notifications etc: All notifications, opinions, determinations, certificates, calculations, 

quotations and decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of this Condition 

7 by the Calculation Agent will (in the absence of manifest error) be binding on the Issuer, the 

Paying Agents, the Noteholders and the Couponholders and (subject as aforesaid) no liability 

to any such Person will attach to the Calculation Agent in connection with the exercise or non-

exercise by it of its powers, duties and discretions for such purposes. 

(m) Determination of Rate of Interest following acceleration: If (i) the Notes become due and 

payable in accordance with Condition 14 (Events of Default) and (ii) the Rate of Interest for the 

Interest Period during which the Notes become due and payable is to be determined by reference 

to any of Conditions 7(e) (Interest – Floating Rate Notes referencing SONIA (Screen Rate 

Determination)), 7(f) (Interest – Floating Rate Notes referencing SOFR (Screen Rate 

Determination)), 7(g) (Interest – Floating Rate Notes referencing €STR (Screen Rate 

Determination)) and 7(h) (Interest – SONIA Compounded Index and SOFR Compounded Index 

(Screen Rate Determination)), then the final Interest Determination Date shall be the date on 
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which the Notes become so due and payable, and such Rate of Interest shall continue to apply 

to the Notes for so long as interest continues to accrue thereon as provided in the Trust Deed. 

(n) Benchmark Discontinuation: Other than in the case of a U.S. dollar-denominated floating rate 

Note for which the Reference Rate is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being 

"SOFR", if the Issuer has determined that a Benchmark Event has occurred in relation to the 

Reference Rate when the Rate of Interest (or any component part thereof) for any Interest Period 

remains to be determined by reference to such Reference Rate, then the Issuer shall promptly 

notify the Calculation Agent and shall use its reasonable endeavours to select and appoint an 

Independent Adviser to determine a Successor Rate, failing which an Alternative Rate (in 

accordance with Condition 7(n)(ii) below) and, in either case, an Adjustment Spread (in 

accordance with Condition 7(n)(iii) below) and any Benchmark Amendments (in accordance 

with Condition 7(n)(iv) below). 

In the absence of bad faith or fraud, the Independent Adviser shall have no liability whatsoever 

to the Issuer, the Trustee, Agents or the Noteholders for any determination made by it pursuant 

to this Condition 7(n) and the Trustee will not be liable for any loss, liability, cost, charge or 

expense which may arise as a result thereof.  

 If (i) the Issuer is unable to appoint an Independent Adviser or (ii) the Independent 

Adviser appointed by it fails to determine a Successor Rate or, failing which, an 

Alternative Rate in accordance with this Condition 7(n) no later than five Business Days 

prior to the relevant Interest Determination Date (the “IA Determination Cut-off 

Date”), the Reference Rate applicable to the immediate following Interest Period shall 

be the Reference Rate applicable as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date. 

If there has not been a first Interest Payment Date, the Reference Rate shall be the 

Reference Rate applicable to the first Interest Period. For the avoidance of doubt, any 

adjustment pursuant to this Condition 7(n)(i) shall apply to the immediately following 

Interest Period only. Any subsequent Interest Period may be subject to the subsequent 

operation of this Condition 7(n).  

 If the Independent Adviser determines in its discretion and notifies to the Agents and 

the Trustee prior to the IA Determination Cut-off Date that:  

 there is a Successor Rate, then such Successor Rate shall (subject to adjustment 

as provided in Condition 7(n)(iii) below) subsequently be used in place of the 

Reference Rate to determine the Rate of Interest for the immediately following 

Interest Period and all following Interest Periods, subject to the subsequent 

operation of this Condition 7(n) in the event of a further Benchmark Event 

affecting the Successor Rate; or  

 there is no Successor Rate but that there is an Alternative Rate, then such 

Alternative Rate shall (subject to adjustment as provided in Condition 7(n)(iii)) 

subsequently be used in place of the Reference Rate to determine the Rate of 

Interest for the immediately following Interest Period and all following Interest 

Periods, subject to the subsequent operation of this Condition 7(n) in the event 

of a further Benchmark Event affecting the Alternative Rate.  

 The Independent Adviser shall determine in its discretion and notify to the Issuer, the 

Agents and Trustee prior to the IA Determination Cut-off Date an Adjustment Spread 

(which may be expressed as a specified quantum, or a formula or methodology for 

determining, such Adjustment Spread), which shall apply to the Successor Rate or the 

Alternative Rate (as the case may be).  

 If any relevant Successor Rate, Alternative Rate or Adjustment Spread is determined in 

accordance with this Condition 7(n) the Independent Adviser will determine in its 
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discretion (i) that amendments to these Conditions, the Trust Deed and/or the Agency 

Agreement are necessary to follow market practice and ensure the proper operation and 

comparability of such Successor Rate, Alternative Rate and/or Adjustment Spread (such 

amendments, the “Benchmark Amendments”) and (ii) the terms of such Benchmark 

Amendments.  

The Trustee and the Agents shall, at the request and expense of the Issuer, effect such 

consequential amendments to the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and these 

Conditions as the Issuer determines in consultation with the Independent Adviser and 

certifies to the Trustee and Agents as may be required in order to give effect to this 

Condition 7(n)(iv) regardless of whether or not giving effect to such Benchmark 

Amendments would constitute a Reserved Matter (as defined in the Trust Deed) or one 

or more provisions under Condition 18 (Meetings of Noteholders; Modification and 

Waiver) provided however, that and neither the Trustee nor the Agents (as applicable) 

shall be liable to any party for any consequences thereof, save as provided in the Trust 

Deed or the Agency Agreement; provided that neither the Trustee nor the Agent shall 

be obliged to effect such consequential amendments if, in the opinion of the Trustee 

and/or the Agents (as applicable) doing so would have the effect of (i) exposing the 

Trustee and/or the Agents (as applicable) to any liabilities against which it has not been 

indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction or (ii) impose more 

onerous obligations upon it or expose it to any additional duties, responsibilities or 

liabilities or reduce or amend the protective provision afforded to the Trustee and/or the 

Agents (as applicable) in these Conditions, the Trust Deed (including, for the avoidance 

of doubt, any supplemental trust deed) or the Agency Agreement. No consent of the 

Noteholders shall be required in connection with effecting any Benchmark 

Amendments or such other changes, including the execution of any documents or other 

steps required to be taken by the Trustee or the Agents (if required) in relation to such 

amendments. 

 Any Successor Rate, Alternative Rate, Adjustment Spread and the specific terms of any 

Benchmark Amendments, determined under this Condition 7(n)(v) will be notified no 

later than the IA Determination Cut-off Date by the Issuer to the Trustee, the Agents 

and the Calculation Agent and promptly thereafter, in accordance with Condition 21 

(Notices), the Noteholders. Such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the 

effective date, which shall be no later than the IA Determination Cut-off Date, of the 

Benchmark Amendments, if any.  

No later than notifying the Trustee and the Agents of the same in accordance with 

Condition 7(n)(v) above, the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee and the Agents a 

certificate signed by two Authorised Signatories (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the 

Issuer confirming, in the Issuer’s reasonable opinion (following consultation with the 

Independent Adviser, if such adviser is appointed in accordance with this Condition 

7(n)(v)) (x) that a Benchmark Event has occurred, (y) the relevant Successor Rate, or, as 

the case may be, the relevant Alternative Rate and, (z) the Adjustment Spread and/or the 

specific terms of any relevant Benchmark Amendments, in each case as determined in 

accordance with the provisions of this Condition 7(n) and (ii) certifying that the relevant 

Benchmark Amendments are necessary to ensure the proper operation of such relevant 

Successor Rate, Alternative Rate and/or Adjustment Spread. The Trustee and the Agents 

shall be entitled to rely on such certificate (without further enquiry and without liability 

to any person) as sufficient evidence thereof. 

 The Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and the Adjustment Spread (if any) and the 

Benchmark Amendments (if any) specified in such certificate will (in the absence of 

manifest error or bad faith in the determination of such Successor Rate or Alternative 

Rate and such Adjustment Spread (if any) and such Benchmark Amendments (if any)) 
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be binding on the Issuer, the Trustee and Principal Paying Agent, the Calculation Agent, 

the other Paying Agents and the Noteholders. 

 Notwithstanding any other provision of this Condition 7(n), if in the Calculation 

Agent’s opinion there is any uncertainty between two or more alternative courses of 

action in making any determination or calculation under this Condition 7(n), the 

Calculation Agent shall promptly notify the Issuer thereof and the Issuer shall direct the 

Calculation Agent in writing as to which alternative course of action to adopt. If the 

Calculation Agent is not promptly provided with such direction, or is otherwise unable 

to make such calculation or determination for any reason it shall notify the Issuer thereof 

and the Calculation Agent shall be under no obligation to make such calculation or 

determination and shall not incur any liability for not doing so, save as set out in the 

Agency Agreement in the case of its gross negligence, fraud or wilful default.  

As used in this Condition 7(n):  

“Adjustment Spread” means either (x) a spread (which may be positive or negative or zero), 

or (y) a formula or methodology for calculating a spread, in either case, which the Independent 

Adviser determines is required to be applied to the relevant Successor Rate or the relevant 

Alternative Rate (as the case may be) and is the spread, formula or methodology which:  

(A)  in the case of a Successor Rate, is formally recommended, or formally provided as an 

option for parties to adopt, in relation to the replacement of the Reference Rate with the 

Successor Rate by any Relevant Nominating Body; or 

(B) (if no such recommendation has been made, or in the case of an Alternative Rate), the 

Independent Adviser, determines is customarily applied to the relevant Successor Rate 

or Alternative Rate (as the case may be) in international debt capital markets transactions 

which reference the Reference Rate to produce an industry-accepted replacement rate 

for the Reference Rate; or  

(C)  (if no such determination has been made) the Independent Adviser determines, is 

recognised or acknowledged as being the industry standard for over-the-counter 

derivative transactions which reference the Reference Rate, where such rate has been 

replaced by the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be); or  

(D)  (if the Independent Adviser determines that no such industry standard is recognised or 

acknowledged) the Independent Adviser determines to be appropriate to reduce or 

eliminate, to the extent reasonably practicable in the circumstances, any economic 

prejudice or benefit (as the case may be) to Noteholders as a result of the replacement of 

the Reference Rate with the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be).  

“Alternative Rate” means an alternative benchmark or screen rate which the Independent 

Adviser determines in accordance with this Condition 7(n) is customary in market usage in the 

international debt capital markets for the purposes of determining floating rates of interest (or 

the relevant component part thereof) in respect of debt securities denominated in the Specified 

Currency and of a comparable duration.  

“Benchmark Amendments” has the meaning given to it in Condition 7(n)(iv) above. 

“Benchmark Event” means: 

(A)  the relevant Reference Rate has ceased to be published on the Relevant Screen Page as 

a result of such benchmark ceasing to be calculated or administered; or 

(B)  a public statement by the administrator of the relevant Reference Rate that (in 

circumstances where no successor administrator has been or will be appointed that will 
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continue publication of such Reference Rate) it has ceased publishing such Reference 

Rate permanently or indefinitely or that it will cease to do so by a specified future date 

(the “Specified Future Date”); or  

(C)  a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the relevant Reference Rate 

that such Reference Rate has been or will, by a specified future date (the “Specified 

Future Date”), be permanently or indefinitely discontinued; or 

(D)  a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the relevant Reference Rate 

that means that such Reference Rate will, by a specified future date (the “Specified 

Future Date”), be prohibited from being used or that its use will be subject to restrictions 

or adverse consequences, either generally or in respect of the Notes; or 

(E)  a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the relevant Reference Rate 

(as applicable) that, in the view of such supervisor, such Reference Rate is or will, by a 

specified future date (the “Specified Future Date”), be no longer representative of an 

underlying market; or 

(F)  it has or will, by a specified date within the following six months, become unlawful for 

the Calculation Agent, the Issuer or any other party to calculate any payments due to be 

made to any Noteholder using the relevant Reference Rate (as applicable) (including, 

without limitation, under Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 as that Regulation applies in the 

European Union and/or as it applies in the United Kingdom in the form retained as 

domestic law in the United Kingdom under the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 

as amended, if applicable), 

in each case, as determined by the Issuer or, in the case of sub-paragraph (F) above, the relevant 

party. Notwithstanding the sub-paragraphs above, where the relevant Benchmark Event is a 

public statement within sub-paragraphs (B), (C), (D) or (E) above and the Specified Future Date 

in the public statement is more than six months after the date of that public statement, the 

Benchmark Event shall not be deemed to occur until the date falling six months prior to such 

Specified Future Date. 

“Independent Adviser” means an independent financial institution of international repute or 

other independent financial adviser experienced in the international capital markets, in each case 

selected and appointed by the Issuer at its own expense under Condition 7(n). 

“Relevant Nominating Body” means, in respect of a benchmark or screen rate (as applicable):  

(A)  the central bank for the currency to which the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) 

relates, or any central bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for 

supervising the administrator of the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable); or  

(B)  any working group or committee sponsored by, chaired or co-chaired by or constituted 

at the request of (a) the central bank for the currency to which the benchmark or screen 

rate (as applicable) relates, (b) any central bank or other supervisory authority which is 

responsible for supervising the administrator of the benchmark or screen rate (as 

applicable), (c) a group of the aforementioned central banks or other supervisory 

authorities or (d) the Financial Stability Board or any part thereof.  

“Successor Rate” means a successor to or replacement of the Reference Rate which is formally 

recommended by any Relevant Nominating Body. 

8. Interest Rate Adjustment 

(a) This Condition 8 (Interest Rate Adjustment) will apply only if “Interest Rate Adjustment” is 

specified as applicable in the relevant Pricing Supplement. In such a case, the Rate of Interest 
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payable on the relevant Notes will be subject to adjustment in the event of a Step Up Event and 

any subsequent Step Down Event (each such adjustment a “Rate Adjustment”). Any Rate 

Adjustment shall be effective in respect of any Interest Period from and including the Interest 

Period commencing on the Interest Payment Date immediately following the date of the relevant 

Step Up Event or the relevant Step Down Event (and the relevant Fixed Coupon Amount shall 

be adjusted accordingly). 

(b) For any Interest Period commencing on or after the first Interest Payment Date immediately 

following the occurrence of a Step Up Event, the Rate of Interest shall be increased by the Step 

Up Margin. In the event that a Step Down Event occurs after the date of a Step Up Event (or on 

the same date but subsequent thereto) then for any Interest Period commencing on the first 

Interest Period following the occurrence of such Step Down Event, the Rate of Interest shall 

revert to the Rate of Interest without the application of the Step Up Margin. 

(c) The Issuer will cause each Step Up Event and each Step Down Event to be notified to the Trustee 

and the Principal Paying Agent and notice thereof to be published in accordance with Condition 

21 (Notices) as soon as possible after the occurrence of the Step Up Event or the Step Down 

Event but in no event later than the fifth Business Day thereafter. 

(d) For so long as any of the Notes are outstanding, the Issuer shall use all reasonable efforts to 

maintain a Rating from at least two Rating Agencies. In the event that any Rating Agency fails 

to or ceases to assign a Rating, where it would result the Issuer having a Rating from less than 

two Rating Agencies, the Issuer shall use all reasonable efforts to obtain a Rating from a 

substitute Rating Agency and references in these Conditions to such Rating Agency or the 

ratings thereof, shall be to such substitute Rating Agency or, as the case may be, the equivalent 

Ratings thereof. In the event that such a rating is not obtained from a substitute Rating Agency 

within 90 days, then, for the purposes of the foregoing adjustments to the Rate of Interest, the 

Ratings assigned by the remaining Rating Agency shall be deemed also to be the Ratings 

assigned by the other Rating Agency. 

(e) Where: 

“Rating” means the rating of the Notes, failing which, the rating of the Issuer’s senior unsecured 

long-term debt. 

“Rating Agency” means each of Fitch, Moody’s and S&P and/or, any other rating agency of 

equivalent standing notified by the Issuer to the Noteholders and the Trustee and Principal 

Paying Agent in accordance with Condition 21 (Notices). 

“Rating Decrease” means a decrease in the Rating to below the Specified Threshold. 

“Specified Threshold” means BBB-/Baa3 or the equivalent. 

“Step Down Event” means where the Rate of Interest has previously been subject to an increase 

as a result of a Step Up Event due to (i) the first public announcement by any Rating Agency of 

a Rating Decrease, the first public announcement by such Rating Agency that it has assigned a 

Rating equal to or higher than the Specified Threshold (resulting in all of the Rating Agencies 

having assigned a Rating equal to or higher than the Specified Threshold), or (ii) the failure to 

assign or withdrawal of a Rating by any Rating Agency, the reinstatement of a Rating by such 

Rating Agency equal to or higher than the Specified Threshold (resulting in all of the Rating 

Agencies having assigned a Rating equal to or higher than the Specified Threshold). 

“Step Up Event” means (i) the first public announcement by at least one Rating Agency of a 

Rating Decrease, or (ii) the failure to assign or withdrawal of a Rating by at least one Rating 

Agency. 

“Step Up Margin” has the meaning given to it in the relevant Pricing Supplement. 
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9. Zero Coupon Note Provisions  

(a) Application: This Condition 9 is applicable to the Notes only if the Zero Coupon Note 

Provisions are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable.  

(b) Late payment on Zero Coupon Notes: If the Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Zero 

Coupon Note is improperly withheld or refused, the Redemption Amount shall thereafter be an 

amount equal to the sum of: 

 the Reference Price; and 

 the product of the Accrual Yield (compounded annually) being applied to the Reference 

Price on the basis of the relevant Day Count Fraction from (and including) the Issue 

Date to (but excluding) whichever is the earlier of (i) the day on which all sums due in 

respect of such Note up to that day are received by or on behalf of the relevant 

Noteholder and (ii) the day which is seven days after the Principal Paying Agent has 

notified the Noteholders that it has received all sums due in respect of the Notes up to 

such seventh day (except to the extent that there is any subsequent default in payment).  

10. Redemption and Purchase 

(a) Scheduled redemption: Unless previously redeemed, or purchased and cancelled, the Notes will 

be redeemed at their Final Redemption Amount on the Maturity Date, subject as provided in 

Condition 11 (Payments – Bearer Notes) and Condition 12 (Payments – Registered Notes). 

(b) Redemption for tax reasons: The Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, 

but not in part: 

 at any time (if the Floating Rate Note Provisions are not specified in the relevant Pricing 

Supplement as being applicable); or 

 on any Interest Payment Date (if the Floating Rate Note Provisions are specified in the 

relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable), 

on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the Noteholders, or such other 

period(s) as may be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, (which notice shall be 

irrevocable), at their Early Redemption Amount (Tax), together with interest accrued (if any) to 

the date fixed for redemption, if, immediately before giving such notice, the Issuer satisfies the 

Trustee that: 

 the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay additional amounts as provided or 

referred to in Condition 13 (Taxation) as a result of any change in, or 

amendment to, the laws or regulations of the Netherlands or any political 

subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, or any 

change in the application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations 

(including a holding by a court of competent jurisdiction), which change or 

amendment is officially published and becomes effective on or after the date of 

issue of the first Tranche of the Notes; and 

 such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures 

available to it, 

provided, however, that no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than: 

(1) where the Notes may be redeemed at any time, 90 days (or such other 

period as may be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement) prior to 

the earliest date on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such 
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additional amounts if a payment in respect of the Notes were then due; 

or 

(2) where the Notes may be redeemed only on an Interest Payment Date, 60 

days (or such other period as may be specified in the relevant Pricing 

Supplement) prior to the Interest Payment Date occurring immediately 

before the earliest date on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such 

additional amounts if a payment in respect of the Notes were then due. 

Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this paragraph 

(B), the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee (A) a certificate signed by two 

Authorised Signatories of the Issuer stating that the Issuer is entitled to effect 

such redemption and setting forth a statement of facts showing that the 

conditions precedent to the right of the Issuer so to redeem have occurred of and 

(B) an opinion of independent legal advisers of recognised standing to the effect 

that the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay such additional amounts as a 

result of such change or amendment. Upon the expiry of any such notice as is 

referred to in this Condition 10(b), the Issuer shall be bound to redeem the Notes 

in accordance with this Condition 10(b). 

The Trustee shall be entitled to accept such certificate and opinion as sufficient 

evidence of the satisfaction of the circumstances set out above, in which event 

they shall be conclusive and binding on the Noteholders. 

Upon the expiry of any such notice as is referred to in this Condition 10(b), the 

Issuer shall be bound to redeem the Notes in accordance with this Condition 

10(b). 

(c) Redemption at the option of the Issuer: If “Call Option” is specified as applicable in the relevant 

Pricing Supplement as being applicable, the Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer 

in whole or, if so specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, in part on any Optional 

Redemption Date (Call) on the Issuer’s giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to 

the Noteholders, or such other period(s) as may be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement 

which notice shall be irrevocable, but may (at the option of the Issuer) be conditional on one or 

more conditions precedent being satisfied, or waived by the Issuer, and shall oblige the Issuer to 

redeem the Notes or, as the case may be, the Notes specified in such notice on the relevant 

Optional Redemption Date (Call) at the applicable amount specified in the relevant Pricing 

Supplement (together, if appropriate, with accrued interest to (but excluding) the relevant 

Optional Redemption Date (Call)) at one of: 

 the Optional Redemption Amount (Call); or 

 the Make Whole Redemption Price. 

The “Make Whole Redemption Price” will, in respect of Notes to be redeemed, be: 

 if “Sterling Make Whole Redemption Amount” is specified as being 

applicable in the relevant Pricing Supplement an amount equal to the higher of 

(i) 100 per cent. of the principal amount of such Notes and (ii) the principal 

amount of such Notes multiplied by the price (expressed as a percentage), as 

reported in writing to the Issuer by the Determination Agent (if applicable), at 

which the Gross Redemption Yield to maturity (or, if applicable, yield to the 

Par Redemption Date) on such Notes on the Reference Date is equal to the sum 

of (x) the Gross Redemption Yield (as determined by reference to the middle 

market price) at the Quotation Time on the Reference Date of the Reference 

Bond, plus (y) the Redemption Margin, as determined by the Determination 

Agent; or  
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 if “Non-Sterling Make Whole Redemption Amount” is specified in the 

relevant Pricing Supplement an amount equal to the higher of (i) 100 per cent. 

of the principal amount of such Notes and (ii) the principal amount of such 

Notes multiplied by the price (expressed as a percentage), as reported in writing 

to the Issuer by the Determination Agent (if applicable), at which the yield to 

maturity (or, if applicable, yield to the Par Redemption Date) on such Notes on 

the Reference Date is equal to the sum of (x) the Reference Bond Rate at the 

Quotation Time on the Reference Date, plus (y) the Redemption Margin, as 

determined by the Determination Agent, 

provided however that, in the case of either (i) or (ii) above, if the Optional Redemption Date 

(Call) occurs on or after the Par Redemption Date (if any) specified in the relevant Pricing 

Supplement, the Make-Whole Redemption Price will be equal to 100 per cent of the principal 

amount of the Notes. 

(d) Partial redemption: If the Notes are to be redeemed in part only on any date in accordance with 

Condition 10(c) (Redemption at the option of the Issuer), in the case of Bearer Notes, the Notes 

to be redeemed shall be selected by the drawing of lots in such place as the Trustee approves 

and in such manner as the Trustee considers appropriate, subject to compliance with applicable 

law, the rules of each competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system (if any) by 

which the Notes have then been admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation and the notice to 

Noteholders referred to in Condition 10(c) (Redemption at the option of the Issuer) shall specify 

the serial numbers of the Notes so to be redeemed and, in the case of Registered Notes, each 

Note shall be redeemed in part in the proportion which the aggregate principal amount of the 

outstanding Notes to be redeemed on the relevant Optional Redemption Date (Call) bears to the 

aggregate principal amount of outstanding Notes on such date. If any Maximum Redemption 

Amount or Minimum Redemption Amount is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, then 

the Optional Redemption Amount (Call) shall in no event be greater than the maximum or be 

less than the minimum so specified. 

(e) Redemption at the option of Noteholders: If “Put Option” is specified as applicable in the 

relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable, the Issuer shall, at the option of the Holder of 

any Note redeem such Note on the Optional Redemption Date (Put) specified in the relevant 

Put Option Notice at the relevant Optional Redemption Amount (Put) together with interest (if 

any) accrued to such date. In order to exercise the option contained in this Condition 10(e), the 

Holder of a Note must, not less than 30 nor more than 60 days before the relevant Optional 

Redemption Date (Put) (or such other period(s) as may be specified in the relevant Pricing 

Supplement), deposit with any Paying Agent such Note together with all unmatured Coupons 

relating thereto and a duly completed Put Option Notice in the form obtainable from any Paying 

Agent. The Paying Agent with which a Note is so deposited shall deliver a duly completed Put 

Option Receipt to the depositing Noteholder. No Note, once deposited with a duly completed 

Put Option Notice in accordance with this Condition 10(e), may be withdrawn; provided, 

however, that if, prior to the relevant Optional Redemption Date (Put), any such Note becomes 

immediately due and payable or, upon due presentation of any such Note on the relevant 

Optional Redemption Date (Put), payment of the redemption moneys is improperly withheld or 

refused, the relevant Paying Agent shall mail notification thereof to the depositing Noteholder 

at such address as may have been given by such Noteholder in the relevant Put Option Notice 

and shall hold such Note at its Specified Office for collection by the depositing Noteholder 

against surrender of the relevant Put Option Receipt. For so long as any outstanding Note is held 

by a Paying Agent in accordance with this Condition 10(e), the depositor of such Note and not 

such Paying Agent shall be deemed to be the holder of such Note for all purposes. 

(f) Change of Control Put Option: If “Change of Control Put Option” is specified as applicable in 

the relevant Pricing Supplement, if at any time while any Note remains outstanding, there occurs:  
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 a Change of Control (as defined below), and, within the Change of Control Period, a 

Rating Event in respect of that Change of Control occurs (such Change of Control and 

Rating Event not having been cured prior to the expiry of the Change of Control Period); 

or  

 a Change of Control (as defined below), and, on the occurrence of the Change of 

Control, the Issuer is not rated by any Rating Agency, 

(each, a “Change of Control Put Event”), each Noteholder will have the option (the “Change 

of Control Put Option”) (unless, prior to the giving of the Change of Control Put Event Notice 

(as defined below), the Issuer gives notice to redeem the Notes under Condition 10(b) 

(Redemption for tax reasons) or Condition 10(c) (Redemption at the option of the Issuer)) to 

require the Issuer to redeem or, at the Issuer’s option, to procure the purchase of, all or part of 

its Notes, on the Optional Redemption Date (as defined below) at a price of 101 per cent. of the 

principal amount outstanding of such Notes together with (or where purchased, together with an 

amount equal to) interest accrued to, but excluding, the Optional Redemption Date. 

Where: 

A “Change of Control” shall be deemed to have occurred if at any time following the Issue 

Date, any person or any persons acting in concert, other than (i) a holding company whose 

shareholders are or are to be substantially the same as the pre-existing shareholders of the Issuer 

or (ii) a Permitted Holder, gains control of the Issuer. 

A “Rating Event” shall be deemed to have occurred in respect of a Change of Control if (within 

the Change of Control Period) (A) the rating previously assigned to the Notes or to the Issuer by 

any Rating Agency solicited by (or with the consent of) the Issuer is (x) withdrawn or (y) 

changed from an investment grade rating BBB-/Baa3 or its equivalent for the time being, (or 

better) to a non-investment grade rating BB+/Ba1 or its equivalent for the time being, (or worse) 

or (z) (if the rating previously assigned to the Notes or to the Issuer by any Rating Agency 

solicited by (or with the consent of) the Issuer was below an investment grade rating (as 

described above)), lowered by at least one full rating notch (for example, from BB+ to BB, or 

their respective equivalents) and (B) such rating is not within the Change of Control Period 

subsequently upgraded (in the case of a downgrade) or reinstated (in the case of a withdrawal) 

either to an investment grade credit rating (in the case of (x) and (y)) or to its earlier credit rating 

or better (in the case of (z)) by such Rating Agency, provided that the Rating Agency making 

the reduction in rating announces or publicly confirms or, having been so requested by the Issuer, 

informs the Issuer in writing that the lowering of the rating or the failure to assign an investment 

grade rating was the result, in whole or in part, of the applicable Change of Control (whether or 

not the applicable Change of Control shall have occurred at the time of the Rating Event). If on 

the Relevant Announcement Date the Issuer or the Notes carry a credit rating from more than 

one Rating Agency, at least one of which is an investment grade rating, then sub-paragraph (z) 

above will not apply. 

“Change of Control Period” means the period beginning on the date (the “Relevant 

Announcement Date”) that is the earlier of (A) the first public announcement by or on behalf 

of the Issuer or any bidder or any designated advisor, of the relevant Change of Control; and (B) 

the date of the earliest Potential Change of Control Announcement, and ending 90 days after the 

Relevant Announcement Date (such 90th day, the “Initial Longstop Date”); provided that, 

unless any other Rating Agency has on or prior to the Initial Longstop Date effected a Rating 

Event in respect of its rating of the Issuer or the Notes if a Rating Agency publicly announces, 

at any time during the period commencing on the date which is 60 days prior to the Initial 

Longstop Date and ending on the Initial Longstop Date, that it has placed its rating of the Issuer 

under consideration for rating review either entirely or partially as a result of the relevant public 

announcement of the Change of Control or Potential Change of Control Announcement, the 
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Change of Control Period shall be extended to the date which falls 60 days after the date of such 

public announcement by such Rating Agency.  

“control” means the acquisition of or right or option to acquire: 

(i)  beneficial ownership (directly or indirectly) of more than 50 per cent. of the issued share 

capital (or voting power) of the Issuer; or 

(ii)  beneficial ownership (directly or indirectly) of the right to control the composition of the 

majority of the board of directors of the Issuer or the majority of its voting rights, in each 

case, whether through the ownership of voting capital or by contract. 

“Permitted Holder” means Remon Vos (or his inheritors or executors and whether through a 

legal entity, trust or otherwise). 

“Potential Change of Control Announcement” means any public announcement or statement 

by the Issuer, any actual or potential bidder or any designated adviser thereto relating to any 

specific and near-term potential Change of Control (where “near-term” shall mean that such 

potential Change of Control is reasonably likely to occur, or is publicly stated by the Issuer, any 

such actual or potential bidder or any such designated adviser to be intended to occur, within 

180 days of the date of such announcement of statement).  

Promptly upon the Issuer becoming aware that a Change of Control Put Event has occurred, the 

Issuer shall give notice (a “Change of Control Put Event Notice”) to the Noteholders and the 

Trustee in accordance with Condition 21 (Notices) specifying the nature of the Change of 

Control Put Event and the circumstances giving rise to it and the procedure for exercising the 

Change of Control Put Option contained in this Condition 10(f).  

To exercise the Change of Control Put Option, a Noteholder must deposit with any Paying Agent 

such Note together with all unmatured Coupons relating thereto for the account of the Issuer 

within the period (the “Change of Control Put Period”) of 45 days after a Change of Control 

Put Event Notice is given together with a duly signed and completed notice of exercise in the 

then current form obtainable from any Paying Agent (a “Change of Control Put Option 

Notice”) and in which the Noteholder may specify a bank account to which payment is to be 

made under this Condition 10(f). 

A Change of Control Put Option Notice once given shall be irrevocable. The Issuer shall redeem 

or, at the option of the Issuer procure the purchase of, the Notes in respect of which the Change 

of Control Put Option has been validly exercised as provided above, and subject to the deposit 

with any Paying Agent such Note together with all unmatured Coupons relating thereto for the 

account of the Issuer as described above by the date which is the fifth Business Day following 

the end of the Change of Control Put Period (the “Optional Redemption Date”). Payment in 

respect of such Notes will be made on the Optional Redemption Date by transfer to the bank 

account specified in the Change of Control Put Option Notice.  

For the avoidance of doubt, the Issuer shall have no responsibility for any cost or loss of 

whatever kind (including breakage costs) which the Noteholder may incur as a result of or in 

connection with such Noteholder’s exercise or purported exercise of, or otherwise in connection 

with, any Change of Control Put Option (whether as a result of any purchase or redemption 

arising therefrom or otherwise). 

If 80 per cent. or more in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding have been redeemed 

pursuant to this Condition 10(f), the Issuer may, on not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ 

irrevocable notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 21 (Notices) given within 

30 days after the Optional Redemption Date, redeem on a date to be specified in such notice at 

its option, all (but not some only) of the remaining Notes at a price of 101 per cent. of the 
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principal amount outstanding of such Notes, together with interest accrued to but excluding the 

date of redemption. 

(g) Asset Sale Put Option: If an Asset Sale Put Event occurs, the holder of any Note will have the 

option to require the Issuer to redeem or, at the Issuer’s option, purchase (or procure the 

purchase of) such Note on the Asset Sale Put Date (as defined below) at a price of 101 per cent. 

of the principal amount outstanding of such Note together (if appropriate) with interest accrued 

to (but excluding) the Asset Sale Put Date. 

An “Asset Sale Put Event” will be deemed to occur if (i) any member of the Group has disposed 

of or transferred, in one or more transactions, all or substantially all of the assets of the Group 

as at the date of the Base Listing Particulars (an “Asset Sale”) and (ii) on the date that is the first 

anniversary of such Asset Sale, the Group shall not hold Real Estate Investments in an amount 

equal to at least 100 per cent. of the Net Cash Proceeds of such Asset Sale. 

Promptly upon the Issuer becoming aware that an Asset Sale Put Event has occurred, the Issuer 

shall give notice to the Noteholders specifying the nature of the Asset Sale Put Event and the 

circumstances giving rise to it and the procedure for exercising the option set out in this 

Condition 10(g). 

To exercise the Asset Sale Put Option, a Noteholder must deposit with any Paying Agent such 

Note together with all unmatured Coupons relating thereto for the account of the Issuer no later 

than five Business Days before the Asset Sale Put Date together with a duly signed and 

completed notice of exercise in the then current form obtainable from any Paying Agent (an 

“Asset Sale Put Option Notice”) and in which the Noteholder may specify a bank account to 

which payment is to be made under this Condition 10(g). 

An Asset Sale Put Option Notice once given shall be irrevocable. The Issuer shall redeem or, at 

the Issuer’s option, purchase (or procure the purchase of) the Notes in respect of which the Asset 

Sale Put Option has been validly exercised as provided above, and subject to the deposit with 

any Paying Agent such Note together with all unmatured Coupons relating thereto for the 

account of the Issuer as described above by the Asset Sale Put Date. Payment in respect of such 

Notes will be made on the Asset Sale Put Date by transfer to the bank account specified in the 

Asset Sale Put Option Notice. 

In this Condition 10(g): 

“Asset Sale Put Date” means the date that is 30 days after notice has been given by the Issuer 

of an Asset Sale Put Event. 

“Net Cash Proceeds” means cash payments received (including any cash payments received by 

way of deferred payment of principal pursuant to a note or instalment receivable or otherwise 

and net proceeds from the sale or other disposition of any securities received as consideration, 

but only as and when received, but excluding any other consideration received in the form of 

assumption by the acquiring person of Indebtedness or other obligations relating to the properties 

or assets that are the subject of such Asset Sale or received in any other non-cash form) therefrom, 

in each case net of (1) all legal, accounting, investment banking, title and recording tax expenses, 

commissions and other fees and expenses Incurred, and all taxes paid or required to be paid or 

accrued as a liability under IFRS (after taking into account any available tax credits or deductions 

and any tax sharing arrangements), as a consequence of such Asset Sale; (2) all payments made 

on any Debt or other obligations secured by any assets subject to such Asset Sale, in accordance 

with the terms of any lien upon such assets, or which is or is to be repaid out of the proceeds 

from such Asset Sale; and (3) the deduction of appropriate amounts required to be provided by 

the seller as a reserve, on the basis of IFRS, against any liabilities associated with the assets 

disposed of in such Asset Sale and retained by the Issuer after such Asset Sale. 
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“Real Estate Investments” means investments in real estate assets or interests in any Person 

directly or indirectly holding such assets.  

If 80 per cent. or more in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding have been redeemed 

pursuant to this Condition 10(g), the Issuer may, on not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ 

irrevocable notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 21 (Notices) given within 

30 days after the Asset Sale Put Date, redeem on a date to be specified in such notice at its option, 

all (but not some only) of the remaining Notes at a price of 101 per cent. of the principal amount 

outstanding of such Notes, together with interest accrued to but excluding the date of redemption. 

(h) No other redemption: The Issuer shall not be entitled to redeem the Notes otherwise than as 

provided in paragraphs (a) to (g) above. 

(i) Early redemption of Zero Coupon Notes: Unless otherwise specified in the relevant Pricing 

Supplement, the Redemption Amount payable on redemption of a Zero Coupon Note at any 

time before the Maturity Date shall be an amount equal to the sum of: 

 the Reference Price; and 

 the product of the Accrual Yield (compounded annually) being applied to the Reference 

Price from (and including) the Issue Date to (but excluding) the date Fixed for 

redemption or (as the case may be) the date upon which the Note becomes due and 

payable. 

Where such calculation is to be made for a period which is not a whole number of years, the 

calculation in respect of the period of less than a full year shall be made on the basis of such Day 

Count Fraction as may be specified in the Pricing Supplement for the purposes of this Condition 

10(i) or, if none is so specified, a Day Count Fraction of 30E/360. 

(j) Purchase: Any member of the Group may at any time purchase Notes in the open market or 

otherwise and at any price and such Notes may be held, resold or, at the option of the Issuer, 

surrendered to any Paying Agent for cancellation (provided that, if the Notes are to be cancelled, 

they are purchased together with all unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons relating to 

them). 

(k) Cancellation: All Notes redeemed and any unmatured Coupons or unexchanged Talons attached 

to or surrendered with them shall be cancelled and all Notes so cancelled and any Notes 

cancelled pursuant to paragraph (j) (Purchase) above (together with all unmatured Coupons and 

unexchanged Talons cancelled with them) may not be reissued or resold. 

11. Payments – Bearer Notes 

This Condition 11 is only applicable to Bearer Notes. 

(a) Principal: Payments of principal shall be made only against presentation and (provided that 

payment is made in full) surrender of Bearer Notes at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent 

outside the United States by cheque drawn in the currency in which the payment is due on, or 

by transfer to an account denominated in that currency (or, if that currency is euro, any other 

account to which euro may be credited or transferred) and maintained by the payee with, a bank 

in the Principal Financial Centre of that currency. 

(b) Interest: Payments of interest shall, subject to paragraph (h) below, be made only against 

presentation and (provided that payment is made in full) surrender of the appropriate Coupons 
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at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent outside the United States in the manner described 

in paragraph (a) above.  

(c) Payments in New York City: Payments of principal or interest may be made at the Specified 

Office of a Paying Agent in New York City if (i) the Issuer has appointed Paying Agents outside 

the United States with the reasonable expectation that such Paying Agents will be able to make 

payment of the full amount of the interest on the Notes in the currency in which the payment is 

due when due, (ii) payment of the full amount of such interest at the offices of all such Paying 

Agents is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or other similar restrictions and 

(iii) payment is permitted by applicable United States law. 

(d) Payments subject to fiscal laws: All payments in respect of the Bearer Notes are subject in all 

cases to (i) any applicable fiscal or other laws and regulations in the place of payment, but 

without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 13 (Taxation) and (ii) any withholding or 

deduction required pursuant to an agreement described in Section 1471(b) of the U.S. Internal 

Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”) or otherwise imposed pursuant to Sections 1471 through 

1474 of the Code, any regulations or agreements thereunder, any official interpretations thereof, 

or (without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 13 (Taxation)) any law implementing an 

intergovernmental approach thereto. 

(e) Commissions or Expenses: No commissions or expenses shall be charged to the Noteholders or 

Couponholders in respect of such payments. 

(f) Deductions for unmatured Coupons: If the relevant Pricing Supplement specifies that the Fixed 

Rate Note Provisions are applicable, but that Interest Rate Adjustment is not applicable, and a 

Bearer Note is presented without all unmatured Coupons relating thereto: 

 if the aggregate amount of the missing Coupons is less than or equal to the amount of 

principal due for payment, a sum equal to the aggregate amount of the missing Coupons 

will be deducted from the amount of principal due for payment; provided, however, that 

if the gross amount available for payment is less than the amount of principal due for 

payment, the sum deducted will be that proportion of the aggregate amount of such 

missing Coupons which the gross amount actually available for payment bears to the 

amount of principal due for payment; 

 if the aggregate amount of the missing Coupons is greater than the amount of principal 

due for payment: 

 so many of such missing Coupons shall become void (in inverse order of 

maturity) as will result in the aggregate amount of the remainder of such 

missing Coupons (the “Relevant Coupons”) being equal to the amount of 

principal due for payment; provided, however, that where this sub-paragraph 

(A) would otherwise require a fraction of a missing Coupon to become void, 

such missing Coupon shall become void in its entirety; and 

 a sum equal to the aggregate amount of the Relevant Coupons (or, if less, the 

amount of principal due for payment) will be deducted from the amount of 

principal due for payment; provided, however, that, if the gross amount 

available for payment is less than the amount of principal due for payment, the 

sum deducted will be that proportion of the aggregate amount of the Relevant 

Coupons (or, as the case may be, the amount of principal due for payment) 

which the gross amount actually available for payment bears to the amount of 

principal due for payment. 

Each sum of principal so deducted shall be paid in the manner provided in paragraph (a) 

above against presentation and (provided that payment is made in full) surrender of the 

relevant missing Coupons.  
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(g) Unmatured Coupons void: If the relevant Pricing Supplement specifies that the Floating Rate 

Note Provisions are applicable or that Interest Rate Adjustment is applicable, on the due date 

for final redemption of any Note or early redemption in whole of such Note pursuant to 

Condition 10(b) (Redemption for tax reasons), Condition 10(c) (Redemption at the option of the 

Issuer), Condition 10(e) (Redemption at the option of Noteholders), Condition 10(f) (Change of 

Control Put Option), Condition 10(g) (Asset Sale Put Option), or Condition 14 (Events of 

Default), all unmatured Coupons relating thereto (whether or not still attached) shall become 

void and no payment will be made in respect thereof. 

(h) Payments on business days: If the due date for payment of any amount in respect of any Bearer 

Note or Coupon is not a Payment Business Day in the place of presentation, the Holder shall 

not be entitled to payment in such place of the amount due until the next succeeding Payment 

Business Day in such place and shall not be entitled to any further interest or other payment in 

respect of any such delay. 

(i) Payments other than in respect of matured Coupons: Payments of interest other than in respect 

of matured Coupons shall be made only against presentation of the relevant Bearer Notes at the 

Specified Office of any Paying Agent outside the United States (or in New York City if 

permitted by paragraph (c) above). 

(j) Partial payments: If a Paying Agent makes a partial payment in respect of any Bearer Note or 

Coupon presented to it for payment, such Paying Agent will endorse thereon a statement 

indicating the amount and date of such payment. 

(k) Exchange of Talons: On or after the maturity date of the final Coupon which is (or was at the 

time of issue) part of a Coupon Sheet relating to the Bearer Notes, the Talon forming part of 

such Coupon Sheet may be exchanged at the Specified Office of the Principal Paying Agent for 

a further Coupon Sheet (including, if appropriate, a further Talon but excluding any Coupons 

in respect of which claims have already become void pursuant to Condition 15 (Prescription)). 

Upon the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note, any unexchanged Talon relating to such 

Note shall become void and no Coupon will be delivered in respect of such Talon. 

12. Payments - Registered Notes 

This Condition 12 is only applicable to Registered Notes. 

(a) Principal: Payments of principal shall be made by cheque drawn in the currency in which the 

payment is due drawn on, or, upon application by a Holder of a Registered Note to the Specified 

Office of the Principal Paying Agent not later than the fifteenth day before the due date for any 

such payment, by transfer to an account denominated in that currency (or, if that currency is 

euro, any other account to which euro may be credited or transferred) and maintained by the 

payee with, a bank in the Principal Financial Centre of that currency (in the case of a sterling 

cheque, a town clearing branch of a bank in the City of London) and (in the case of redemption) 

upon surrender (or, in the case of part payment only, endorsement) of the relevant Note 

Certificates at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent. 

(b) Interest: Payments of interest shall be made by cheque drawn in the currency in which the 

payment is due drawn on, or, upon application by a Holder of a Registered Note to the Specified 

Office of the Principal Paying Agent not later than the fifteenth day before the due date for any 

such payment, by transfer to an account denominated in that currency (or, if that currency is 

euro, any other account to which euro may be credited or transferred) and maintained by the 

payee with, a bank in the Principal Financial Centre of that currency (in the case of a sterling 

cheque, a town clearing branch of a bank in the City of London) and (in the case of interest 
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payable on redemption) upon surrender (or, in the case of part payment only, endorsement) of 

the relevant Note Certificates at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent. 

(c) Payments subject to fiscal laws: All payments in respect of the Registered Notes are subject in 

all cases to any applicable fiscal or other laws and regulations in the place of payment, but 

without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 13 (Taxation) and (ii) any withholding or 

deduction required pursuant to an agreement described in Section 1471(b) of the U.S. Internal 

Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”) or otherwise imposed pursuant to Sections 1471 through 

1474 of the Code, any regulations or agreements thereunder, any official interpretations thereof, 

or (without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 13 (Taxation)) any law implementing an 

intergovernmental approach thereto. No commissions or expenses shall be charged to the 

Noteholders in respect of such payments. 

(d) Payments on business days: Where payment is to be made by transfer to an account, payment 

instructions (for value the due date, or, if the due date is not Payment Business Day, for value 

the next succeeding Payment Business Day) will be initiated and, where payment is to be made 

by cheque, the cheque will be mailed (i) (in the case of payments of principal and interest 

payable on redemption) on the later of the due date for payment and the day on which the 

relevant Note Certificate is surrendered (or, in the case of part payment only, endorsed) at the 

Specified Office of a Paying Agent and (ii) (in the case of payments of interest payable other 

than on redemption) on the due date for payment. A Holder of a Registered Note shall not be 

entitled to any interest or other payment in respect of any delay in payment resulting from (A) 

the due date for a payment not being a Payment Business Day or (B) a cheque mailed in 

accordance with this Condition 12 arriving after the due date for payment or being lost in the 

mail. 

(e) Partial payments: If a Paying Agent makes a partial payment in respect of any Registered Note, 

the Issuer shall procure that the amount and date of such payment are noted on the Register and, 

in the case of partial payment upon presentation of a Note Certificate, that a statement indicating 

the amount and the date of such payment is endorsed on the relevant Note Certificate. 

(f) Record date: Each payment in respect of a Registered Note will be made to the person shown 

as the Holder in the Register at the opening of business in the place of the Registrar’s Specified 

Office on the fifteenth day before the due date for such payment (the “Record Date”). Where 

payment in respect of a Registered Note is to be made by cheque, the cheque will be mailed to 

the address shown as the address of the Holder in the Register at the opening of business on the 

relevant Record Date. 

13. Taxation 

(a) Gross up: All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes and the Coupons by or 

on behalf of the Issuer shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction 

for or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges 

of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or on behalf of the 

Netherlands or any political subdivision therein or any authority therein or thereof having power 

to tax, unless the withholding or deduction of such taxes, duties, assessments, or governmental 

charges is required by law. In that event, the Issuer shall pay such additional amounts as will 

result in receipt by the Noteholders and the Couponholders after such withholding or deduction 

of such amounts as would have been received by them had no such withholding or deduction 

been required, except that no such additional amounts shall be payable in respect of any Note 

or Coupon presented for payment: 

 held by or on behalf of a Holder which is liable to such taxes, duties, assessments or 

governmental charges in respect of such Note or Coupon by reason of its having some 

connection with the jurisdiction by which such taxes, duties, assessments or charges 



 

EMEA 138069526 

109 
 

 

have been imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed other than the mere holding 

of the Note or Coupon; 

 where the relevant Note or Coupon or Note Certificate is presented or surrendered for 

payment more than 30 days after the Relevant Date except to the extent that the Holder 

of such Note or Coupon would have been entitled to such additional amounts on 

presenting or surrendering such Note or Coupon or Note Certificate for payment on the 

last day of such period of 30 days; or 

 where any taxes are imposed, deducted or withheld pursuant to the Dutch Withholding 

Tax Act 2021 (Wet bronbelasting 2021). 

(b) Taxing jurisdiction: If the Issuer becomes subject at any time to any taxing jurisdiction other 

than the Netherlands, references in these Conditions to the Netherlands shall be construed as 

references to the Netherlands and/or such other jurisdiction. 

14. Events of Default 

If any of the following events occurs and is continuing, then the Trustee at its discretion may 

and, if so requested in writing by Holders of at least one quarter of the aggregate principal 

amount of the outstanding Notes or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution, shall (subject, 

in the case of the happening of any of the events mentioned in paragraph (b)) (Breach of other 

obligations) below and, in relation only to a Material Subsidiary of the Issuer, paragraphs (e) 

(Security enforced), (f) (Insolvency, etc), (g) (Winding up, etc) or (h) (Analogous event) below, 

to the Trustee having certified in writing that the happening of such event is in its opinion 

materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders and, in all cases, to the Trustee having 

been indemnified and/or provided with security and/or prefunded to its satisfaction) give written 

notice to the Issuer declaring the Notes to be immediately due and payable, whereupon they shall 

become immediately due and payable at their Early Termination Amount together with accrued 

interest (if any) without further action or formality: 

(a) Non-payment: the Issuer fails to pay any amount of principal within three days of the due date 

for payment thereof or fails to pay any amount of interest in respect of the Notes and such default 

in respect of interest continues for a period of 14 days; or 

(b) Breach of other obligations: the Issuer defaults in the performance or observance of any of its 

other obligations under or in respect of the Notes and the Trust Deed and such default (i) is, in 

the opinion of the Trustee, incapable of remedy or (ii) being a default which is, in the opinion 

of the Trustee, capable of remedy, remains unremedied for 30 days or such longer period as the 

Trustee may agree after the Trustee has given written notice thereof, to the Issuer; or  

(c) Cross-acceleration of the Issuer or any Material Subsidiary: 

 any Indebtedness of the Issuer or any Material Subsidiary is not paid when due or (as 

the case may be) within any originally applicable grace period;  

 any such Indebtedness becomes due and payable prior to its stated maturity by reason 

of default otherwise than at the option of the Issuer or (as the case may be) the relevant 

Material Subsidiary or (provided that no event of default, howsoever described, has 

occurred) any Person entitled to such Indebtedness; or  

 the Issuer or any Material Subsidiary fails to pay when due or (as the case may be) 

within any originally applicable grace period any amount payable by it under any 

Guarantee of any Indebtedness, 

provided that the amount of Indebtedness referred to in sub-paragraph (i) and/or sub-paragraph 

(ii) above and/or the amount payable under any Guarantee referred to in sub-paragraph (iii) 
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above individually or in the aggregate exceeds EUR 50,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other 

currency or currencies); or 

(d) Unsatisfied judgment: one or more final judgment(s) or order(s) for the payment of an aggregate 

amount in excess of EUR 50,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency or currencies) is 

rendered by a court of competent jurisdiction against the Issuer or any Material Subsidiary and 

continue(s) undischarged, unsatisfied and unstayed in an aggregate amount in excess of EUR 

50,000,000 for a period of 30 days after the date(s) thereof or, if later, the date therein specified 

for payment; or 

(e) Security enforced: a secured party takes possession, or a receiver, manager or other similar 

officer is appointed, of the whole or a substantial (in the opinion of the Trustee) part of the 

undertaking, assets and revenues of the Issuer or any Material Subsidiary; or 

(f) Insolvency etc: (i) the Issuer or any Material Subsidiary becomes insolvent or is unable to pay 

its debts as they fall due, (ii) an administrator or liquidator is appointed (or application for any 

such appointment is made)in respect of the Issuer or any Material Subsidiary or the whole or a 

substantial (in the opinion of the Trustee) part of the undertaking, assets and revenues of the 

Issuer or any Material Subsidiary, (iii) an insolvency petition or bankruptcy petition is filed in 

respect of the Issuer or any Material Subsidiary, save for any proceedings or actions which are 

contested in good faith and discharged, stayed or dismissed within 90 days of its commencement, 

(iv) the Issuer or any Material Subsidiary takes any action for a readjustment or deferment of 

any of its obligations makes a general assignment or an arrangement or composition with or for 

the benefit of its creditors (or any class of its creditors) or declares a moratorium in respect of 

any of its Indebtedness or any Guarantee of any Indebtedness given by it or (v) the Issuer or any 

Material Subsidiary ceases or threatens to cease to carry on all or any substantial part of its 

business (otherwise than, in the case of a Material Subsidiary, for the purposes of or pursuant 

to an amalgamation, reorganisation or restructuring whilst solvent); or 

(g) Winding up etc: an order is made or an effective resolution is passed for the winding up, 

liquidation or dissolution of the Issuer or any Material Subsidiary (otherwise than, in the case 

of a Subsidiary of the Issuer, for the purposes of or pursuant to an amalgamation, reorganisation 

or restructuring whilst solvent); or 

(h) Analogous event: any event occurs which under the laws of the jurisdiction of incorporation of 

the Issuer or any Material Subsidiary has an analogous effect to any of the events referred to in 

paragraphs (d) (Unsatisfied judgment) to (g) (Winding up etc) above; or 

(i) Unlawfulness: it is or will become unlawful for the Issuer to perform or comply with any of its 

obligations under or in respect of the Notes or the Trust Deed. 

15. Prescription 

Claims for principal in respect of Bearer Notes shall become void unless the relevant Bearer 

Notes are presented for payment within ten years of the appropriate Relevant Date. Claims for 

interest in respect of Bearer Notes shall become void unless the relevant Coupons are presented 

for payment within five years of the appropriate Relevant Date. Claims for principal and interest 

on redemption in respect of Registered Notes shall become void unless the relevant Note 

Certificates are surrendered for payment within ten years of the appropriate Relevant Date. 

16. Replacement of Notes and Coupons 

If any Note, Note Certificate or Coupon is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may 

be replaced at the Specified Office of the Principal Paying Agent, in the case of Bearer Notes, 

or the Registrar, in the case of Registered Notes (and, if the Notes are then admitted to listing, 

trading and/or quotation by any competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system 

which requires the appointment of a Paying Agent or Transfer Agent in any particular place, the 
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Paying Agent or Transfer Agent having its Specified Office in the place required by such 

competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system), subject to all applicable laws and 

competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system requirements, upon payment by 

the claimant of the expenses incurred in connection with such replacement and on such terms as 

to evidence, security, indemnity and otherwise as the Issuer may reasonably require. Mutilated 

or defaced Notes, Note Certificates or Coupons must be surrendered before replacements will 

be issued. 

17. Trustee and Agents 

Under the Trust Deed, the Trustee is entitled to be indemnified and relieved from responsibility 

in certain circumstances and to be paid its costs and expenses in priority to the claims of the 

Noteholders. In addition, the Trustee is entitled to enter into business transactions with the Issuer 

and any entity relating to the Issuer without accounting for any profit. 

In the exercise of its powers and discretions under these Conditions and the Trust Deed, the 

Trustee will have regard to the interests of the Noteholders as a class and will not be responsible 

for any consequence for individual Holders of Notes as a result of such Holders being connected 

in any way with a particular territory or taxing jurisdiction. 

In acting under the Agency Agreement and in connection with the Notes and the Coupons, the 

Paying Agents act solely as agents of the Issuer and (to the extent provided therein) the Trustee 

and do not assume any obligations towards or relationship of agency or trust for or with any of 

the Noteholders or Couponholders. 

The initial Paying Agents and their initial Specified Offices are listed below. The initial 

Calculation Agent (if any) is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement. The Issuer reserves 

the right with the prior approval of the Trustee any time to vary or terminate the appointment of 

any Paying Agent and to appoint a successor principal paying agent or registrar or calculation 

agent and additional or successor paying agents; provided, however, that:  

 the Issuer shall at all times maintain a principal paying agent and a registrar; and 

 if a Calculation Agent is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the Issuer shall 

at all times maintain a Calculation Agent; and 

 if and for so long as the Notes are admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any 

competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system which requires the 

appointment of a Paying Agent and/or a Transfer Agent in any particular place, the 

Issuer shall maintain a Paying Agent and/or a Transfer Agent having its Specified 

Office in the place required by such competent authority, stock exchange and/or 

quotation system. 

Notice of any change in any of the Paying Agents or in their Specified Offices shall promptly 

be given to the Noteholders.  

18. Meetings of Noteholders; Modification and Waiver 

(a) Meetings of Noteholders: The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening meetings of 

Noteholders (including by way of conference call) to consider matters relating to the Notes, 

including the modification of any provision of these Conditions. Any such modification may be 

made if sanctioned by an Extraordinary Resolution. Such a meeting may be convened by the 

Issuer or by the Trustee and shall be convened by the Trustee upon the request in writing of 
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Noteholders holding not less than one-tenth of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding 

Notes.  

The quorum at any meeting convened to vote on an Extraordinary Resolution will be two or 

more Persons holding or representing one more than half of the aggregate principal amount of 

the outstanding Notes or, at any adjourned meeting, two or more Persons being or representing 

Noteholders whatever the principal amount of the Notes held or represented; provided, however, 

that Reserved Matters may only be sanctioned by an Extraordinary Resolution passed at a 

meeting of Noteholders at which two or more Persons holding or representing not less than three-

quarters or, at any adjourned meeting, one quarter of the aggregate principal amount of the 

outstanding Notes form a quorum. Any Extraordinary Resolution duly passed at any such 

meeting shall be binding on all the Noteholders and Couponholders, whether present or not and 

whether or not voting in favour. 

Any such meeting of the Noteholders may be convened at a physical location, or such other 

method (which may include, without limitation, a conference call or video conference) as may 

be determined at such time. 

In addition, a resolution in writing signed by or on behalf of all Noteholders who for the time 

being are entitled to receive notice of a meeting of Noteholders under the Trust Deed will take 

effect as if it were an Extraordinary Resolution. Such a resolution in writing may be contained 

in one document or several documents in the same form, each signed by or on behalf of one or 

more Noteholders, and shall be binding on all the Noteholders and Couponholders, whether or 

not signing such written resolution. 

(b) Modification and waiver: The Trustee may, without the consent of the Noteholders or 

Couponholders, agree to any modification of these Conditions, the Agency Agreement, the 

Notes or the Trust Deed (other than in respect of a Reserved Matter) which is, in the opinion of 

the Trustee, proper to make if, in the opinion of the Trustee, such modification will not be 

materially prejudicial to the interests of Noteholders and to any modification of the Conditions, 

the Agency Agreement, the Notes or the Trust Deed which is of a formal, minor or technical 

nature or is to correct a manifest error.  

In addition, the Trustee may, without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders, authorise 

or waive any proposed breach or breach of the Notes, these Conditions, the Agency Agreement, 

the Coupons or the Trust Deed (other than a proposed breach or breach relating to the subject of 

a Reserved Matter) if, in the opinion of the Trustee, the interests of the Noteholders will not be 

materially prejudiced thereby. 

In addition, the Issuer may, subject to Condition 7(n)(iv) (Benchmark Discontinuation), vary or 

amend these Conditions, the Trust Deed and/or the Agency Agreement to give effect to certain 

amendments without any requirement for the consent or approval of Noteholders as described 

in Condition 7(n)(iv) (Benchmark Discontinuation) and the Trustee shall agree to such variations 

or amendments on the basis set out in Condition 7(n)(iv) (Benchmark Discontinuation) provided 

however it shall not be obliged to concur with the Issuer in respect of any Benchmark 

Amendments which, in its sole opinion, would have the effect of (i) exposing the Trustee to any 

liabilities against which it has not been indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its 

satisfaction or (ii) increasing the obligations or duties, or decreasing the rights or protections of 

the Trustee in these Conditions, the Trust Deed or the Agency Agreement. Any such 

authorisation, waiver or modification shall be notified to the Noteholders as soon as practicable 

thereafter. 

(c) Substitution: The Trust Deed contains provisions under which any other company may, without 

the consent of the Noteholders, assume the obligations of the Issuer as principal debtor under 
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the Trust Deed and the Notes provided that certain conditions specified in the Trust Deed are 

fulfilled. 

No Noteholder shall, in connection with any substitution, be entitled to claim any 

indemnification or payment in respect of any tax consequence thereof for such Noteholder, 

except to the extent provided for in Condition 13 (Taxation) (or any undertaking given in 

addition to or substitution for it pursuant to the provisions of the Trust Deed). 

19. Enforcement 

The Trustee may at any time, at its discretion and without notice, institute such proceedings as 

it thinks fit to enforce its rights under the Trust Deed in respect of the Notes, but it shall not be 

bound to do so unless: 

(i) it has been so requested in writing by the Holders of at least one quarter of the aggregate 

principal amount of the outstanding Notes or has been so directed by an Extraordinary 

Resolution; and 

(ii) it has been indemnified or provided with security to its satisfaction. 

No Noteholder may proceed directly against the Issuer unless the Trustee, having become bound 

to do so, fails to do so within a reasonable time and such failure is continuing. 

20. Further Issues 

The Issuer may from time to time, without the consent of the Noteholders or the Couponholders 

and in accordance with the Trust Deed, create and issue further notes having the same terms and 

conditions as the Notes in all respects (or in all respects except for the first payment of interest) 

so as to form a single series with the Notes. The Issuer may from time to time with the consent 

of the Trustee, create and issue other series of notes having the benefit of the Trust Deed. 

21. Notices 

(a) Bearer Notes: Notices to the Holders of Bearer Notes shall be valid if published in a leading 

English language daily newspaper published in London (which is expected to be the Financial 

Times) and, if the Bearer Notes are admitted to trading on Euronext Dublin and it is a 

requirement of applicable law or regulations, published on the website of Euronext Dublin 

(https://live.euronext.com/en/markets/dublin) or in either case, if such publication is not 

practicable, in a leading English language daily newspaper having general circulation in Europe. 

Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of first publication (or if 

required to be published in more than one newspaper, on the first date on which publication 

shall have been made in all the required newspapers). Couponholders shall be deemed for all 

purposes to have notice of the contents of any notice given to the Holders of Bearer Notes. 

(b) Registered Notes: Notices to the Holders of Registered Notes shall be sent to them by first class 

mail (or its equivalent) or (if posted to an overseas address) by airmail at their respective 

addresses on the Register and, if the Registered Notes are admitted to trading on Euronext 

Dublin and it is a requirement of applicable law or regulations, a leading newspaper having 

general circulation in Ireland or published on the website of Euronext Dublin 

(https://live.euronext.com/en/markets/dublin) or, if such publication is not practicable, in a 

leading English language daily newspaper having general circulation in Europe. Any such 

notice shall be deemed to have been given on the fourth day after the date of mailing. 

22. Currency Indemnity 

If any sum due from the Issuer in respect of the Notes or the Coupons or any order or judgment 

given or made in relation thereto has to be converted from the currency (the “first currency”) 
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in which the same is payable under these Conditions or such order or judgment into another 

currency (the “second currency”) for the purpose of (a) making or filing a claim or proof against 

the Issuer, (b) obtaining an order or judgment in any court or other tribunal or (c) enforcing any 

order or judgment given or made in relation to the Notes, the Issuer shall indemnify each 

Noteholder, on the written demand of such Noteholder addressed to the Issuer and delivered to 

the Issuer or to the Specified Office of the Principal Paying Agent, against any loss suffered as 

a result of any discrepancy between (i) the rate of exchange used for such purpose to convert the 

sum in question from the first currency into the second currency and (ii) the rate or rates of 

exchange at which such Noteholder may in the ordinary course of business purchase the first 

currency with the second currency upon receipt of a sum paid to it in satisfaction, in whole or in 

part, of any such order, judgment, claim or proof. 

This indemnity constitutes a separate and independent obligation of the Issuer and shall give rise 

to a separate and independent cause of action. 

23. Rounding 

For the purposes of any calculations referred to in these Conditions (unless otherwise specified 

in these Conditions or the relevant Pricing Supplement), (a) all percentages resulting from such 

calculations will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage 

point (with 0.000005 per cent. being rounded up to 0.00001 per cent.), (b) all United States dollar 

amounts used in or resulting from such calculations will be rounded to the nearest cent (with one 

half cent being rounded up), (c) all Japanese Yen amounts used in or resulting from such 

calculations will be rounded downwards to the next lower whole Japanese Yen amount, and (d) 

all amounts denominated in any other currency used in or resulting from such calculations will 

be rounded to the nearest two decimal places in such currency, with 0.005 being rounded 

upwards. 

24. Governing Law and Jurisdiction 

(a) Governing law: The Notes, the Trust Deed and the Agency Agreement and any non-contractual 

obligations arising out of or in connection with the Notes are governed by English law. 

(b) English courts: The courts of England have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute (a 

“Dispute”) arising out of or in connection with the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and/or 

the Notes (including any non-contractual obligation arising out of or in connection with the 

Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and/or the Notes). 

(c) Appropriate forum: The Issuer agrees that the courts of England are the most appropriate and 

convenient courts to settle any Dispute and, accordingly, that it will not argue to the contrary. 

(d) Rights of the Noteholders to take proceedings outside England: Notwithstanding paragraph (b) 

(English courts), the Trustee, the Agents and any Noteholder may take proceedings relating to 

a Dispute (“Proceedings”) in any other courts with jurisdiction. To the extent allowed by law, 

the Trustee, the Agents and the Noteholders may take concurrent Proceedings in any number of 

jurisdictions. 

(e) Service of process: The Issuer agrees that the documents which start any Proceedings and any 

other documents required to be served in relation to those Proceedings may be served on it by 

being delivered to Law Debenture Corporate Services Limited at Fifth Floor, 100 Wood St, 

London EC2V 7EX, or to such other person with an address in England or Wales and/or at such 

other address in England or Wales as the Issuer may specify by notice in writing to the 

Noteholders. Nothing in this paragraph (e) shall affect the right of any Noteholder to serve 

process in any other manner permitted by law. This Condition 24 applies to Proceedings in 

England and to Proceedings elsewhere. 
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FORM OF PRICING SUPPLEMENT 

The Pricing Supplement in respect of each Tranche of Notes will be substantially in the following 

form, duly completed to reflect the particular terms of the relevant Notes and their issue. Text in 

this section appearing in italics does not form part of the form of the Pricing Supplement but 

denotes directions for completing the Pricing Supplement. 

[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS – The Notes are not intended 

to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise 

made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area (“EEA”). For these 

purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in 

point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, “MiFID II”); or (ii) a customer 

within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that customer would not qualify as a 

professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II. Consequently, no key 

information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 as amended (the “PRIIPs 

Regulation”) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail 

investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise 

making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs 

Regulation.] 

[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO UK RETAIL INVESTORS – The Notes are not intended to 

be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made 

available to any retail investor in the United Kingdom (“UK”). For these purposes, a retail 

investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of 

Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of the domestic law of the UK by virtue 

of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (as amended, the “EUWA”); (ii) a customer within 

the meaning of the provisions of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the “FSMA”) and 

any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that 

customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of 

Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of the domestic law of the UK by virtue of the 

EUWA. Consequently, no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 

as it forms part of the domestic law of the UK by virtue of the EUWA (the “UK PRIIPs 

Regulation”) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail 

investors in the UK has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise 

making them available to any retail investor in the UK may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs 

Regulation.] 

[MIFID II product governance/Professional investors and ECPs only target market – Solely 

for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer’s product approval process, the target market 

assessment in respect of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (a) the target market for the 

Notes is eligible counterparties and professional clients only, each as defined in [Directive 

2014/65/EU (as amended, “MiFID II”)][MiFID II]; and (b) all channels for distribution of the 

Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. [Consider any negative 

target market]. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes 

(a “distributor”) should take into consideration the manufacturer[‘s/s’] target market assessment; 

however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market 

assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer[‘s/s’] target 

market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.] 

[UK MIFIR product governance / Professional investors and ECPs only target market – 

Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer’s product approval process, the target market 

assessment in respect of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (a) the target market for the 

Notes is only eligible counterparties, as defined in the FCA Handbook Conduct of Business 

Sourcebook (“COBS”), and professional clients, as defined in Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as 

it forms part of the domestic law of the UK by virtue of the EUWA (“UK MiFIR”); and (b) all 

channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional client s are 
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appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a 

“distributor”) should take into consideration the manufacturer[’s/s’] target market assessment; 

however, a distributor subject to the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product 

Governance Sourcebook (the “UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules”) is responsible for 

undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or 

refining the manufacturer[’s/s’] target market assessment) and determining appropriate 

distribution channels.] 

[Singapore Securities and Futures Act Product Classification – Solely for the purposes of its 

obligations pursuant to Sections 309B(1)(a) and 309B(1)(c) of the Securities and Futures Act 

2001 (2020 Revised Edition) of Singapore (as modified or amended from time to time, the “SFA”), 

the Issuer has determined, and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as defined in Section 309A of 

the SFA) that the Notes are [“prescribed capital markets products”]/[“capital markets products 

other than prescribed capital markets products”] (as defined in the Securities and Futures (Capital 

Markets Products) Regulations 2018).] 

NO PROSPECTUS IS REQUIRED IN ACCORDANCE WITH REGULATION (EU) 

2017/1129 FOR THE ISSUE OF NOTES DESCRIBED BELOW. 

Pricing Supplement dated [●] 

 

CTP N.V. 

Legal Entity Identifier (LEI): 3157000YTVO4TN65UM14 

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes] 

under the Euro Medium Term Note Programme 

PART A – CONTRACTUAL TERMS 

[Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the terms and 

conditions (the “Conditions”) set forth in the base listing particulars dated [●] 2022 [and the 

supplemental base listing particulars dated [date] which [together] constitute[s] a base listing 

particulars (the “Base Listing Particulars”). 

Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only available on the basis of the 

combination of this Pricing Supplement and the Base Listing Particulars.] 

[The following alternative language applies if the first Tranche of an issue which is being 

increased was issued under a base listing particulars with an earlier date. 

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the [date] terms and 

conditions (the “Conditions”) set forth in the base listing particulars dated [original date] [and 

the supplemental base listing particulars dated [date]]. This Pricing Supplement contains the final 

terms of the Notes and must be read in conjunction with the base listing particulars dated [●] 2022 

[and the supplemental base listing particulars dated [date]] in order to obtain all the relevant 

information which [together] constitute[s] a base listing particulars (the “Base Listing 

Particulars”)], save in respect of the Conditions which are set forth in the base listing particulars 

dated [original date] and are incorporated by reference in the Base Listing Particulars.] 

The Base Listing Particulars is available for viewing at 

https://live.euronext.com/en/markets/dublin. 

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as “Not Applicable” (N/A). Note that the 

numbering should remain as set out below, even if “Not Applicable” is indicated for individual 
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paragraphs (in which case the sub-paragraphs of the paragraphs which are not applicable can 

be deleted). Italics denote guidance for completing the Pricing Supplement.] 

1.  Issuer: CTP N.V. 

2.  (i) Series Number: [●] 

 (ii) Tranche Number: [●] 

 (iii) Date on which the Notes become 

fungible: 

[Not Applicable]/[The Notes shall be 

consolidated, form a single series and be 

interchangeable for trading purposes with the [●] 

on [[●]/the Issue Date/exchange of the Temporary 

Global Note for interests in the Permanent Global 

Note, as referred to in paragraph 22 below [which 

is expected to occur on or about [●]]. 

3.  Specified Currency or Currencies: [●] 

4.  Aggregate Nominal Amount:  

 (i) Series: [●] 

 (ii) Tranche: [●] 

5.  Issue Price: [●] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount 

[plus accrued interest from [●]] (in the case of 

fungible issues only, if applicable) 

6.  (i) Specified Denominations: [●] 

 (ii) Calculation Amount: [●] 

7.  (i) Issue Date: [●] 

 (ii) Interest Commencement Date: [[●]/Issue Date/Not Applicable]  

8.  Maturity Date: [Specify date or (for Floating Rate Notes) Interest 

Payment Date falling in or nearest to the relevant 

month and year] 

9.  Interest Basis: [[●] per cent. Fixed Rate] 

  [●] [EURIBOR/SONIA/SOFR//€STR]+/– [•] per 

cent. Floating Rate] 

  [Zero Coupon] 

  (see paragraph [14/15/16] below) 

10.  Redemption/Payment Basis: Subject to any purchase and cancellation or early 

redemption, the Notes will be redeemed on the 

Maturity Date at [●]/[100] per cent. of their 

nominal amount. 

11.  Change of Interest or 

Redemption/Payment Basis: 

[Specify the date when any Fixed to floating rate 

change occurs or refer to paragraphs 14 and 15 

below and identify there/Not Applicable] 

12.  Put/Call Options: [Not Applicable] 

[Investor Put] 

[Issuer Call] 

[Change of Control Put]  

[Asset Sale Put] 
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  [See paragraph [17/18/19/20] below)] 

13.  [(i)] Status of the Notes: Senior  

 [(ii)] [Date [Board] approval for 

issuance of Notes obtained: 

[●] 

(N.B Only relevant where Board (or similar) 

authorisation is required for the particular 

tranche of Notes) 

PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE 

14.  Fixed Rate Note Provisions [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-

paragraphs of this paragraph) 

 (i) Rate of Interest: [●] per cent. per annum payable [annually / semi-

annually / quarterly] in arrear on each Interest 

Payment Date 

 (ii) Interest Payment Date(s): [●] in each year 

 (iii) Fixed Coupon Amount[(s)]: [●] per Calculation Amount 

 (iv) Broken Amount(s): [●] per Calculation Amount, payable on the 

Interest Payment Date falling [in/on] [●] / [Not 

Applicable] 

 (v) Day Count Fraction: [30/360 / Actual/Actual (ICMA/ISDA) / other] 

 (vi) Interest Rate Adjustment: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

 (vii) Step Up Margin: [●] per cent. per annum] 

15.  Floating Rate Note Provisions [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(If not applicable delete the remaining 

sub-paragraphs of this paragraph) 

 (i) Specified Period: [●] 

 (ii) Specified Interest Payment 

Dates: 

[●] 

 (iii) First Interest Payment Date: [●] 

 (iv) Business Day Convention: [Floating Rate Convention/Following Business 

Day Convention/ Modified Following Business 

Day Convention/ Preceding Business Day 

Convention] 

 (v) Additional Business Centre(s): [Not Applicable/[●]] 

 (vi) Manner in which the Rate(s) of 

Interest is/are to be determined: 

[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination] 

 (vii) Party responsible for calculating 

the Rate(s) of Interest and/or 

Interest Amount(s) (if not the 

Principal Paying Agent) : 

[[●] shall be the Calculation Agent/Not 

Applicable] 

 (viii) Screen Rate Determination: [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable 

delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this 

paragraph) 

  Reference Rate: [•][•] [EURIBOR/SONIA/SOFR/€STR/SONIA 

compounded Index/SOFR Compounded Index] 
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  Observation Method: [Lag / Observation Shift] 

  Lag Period: [5 / [     ] TARGET Settlement Days/U.S. 

Government Securities Business Days/London 

Banking Days/Not Applicable] 

  Observation Shift Period: [5 / [     ] TARGET Settlement Days/U.S. 

Government Securities Business Days/London 

Banking Days /Not Applicable] 

(NB: A minimum of 5 should be specified for the 

Lag Period or Observation Shift Period, unless 

otherwise agreed with the Calculation Agent) 

  D: [360/365/[      ]] / [Not Applicable]  

  Index Determination  [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

  SONIA Compounded Index [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

  SOFR Compounded Index [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

  Relevant Decimal Place [  ] [5/7] (unless otherwise specified in the Pricing 

Supplement, be the fifth decimal place in the case 

of the SONIA Compounded Index and the seventh 

decimal place in the case of the SOFR 

Compounded Index) 

  Relevant Number of Index Days [  ] [5] (unless otherwise specified in the Pricing 

Supplement, the Relevant Number shall be 5) 

  Interest Determination Date(s): [The first Business Day in the relevant Interest 

Period]/ (select where Interest Determination 

Date has the meaning specified in Condition 7(e), 

7(f) or 7(g)) [•] [London Banking Days/U.S. 

Government Securities Business Days/TARGET 

Settlement Days] prior to each Interest Payment 

Date] 

  Relevant Screen Page: [●] 

  Relevant Time: [●] 

  Relevant Financial Centre:: [●] 

 (ix) ISDA Determination: [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable 

delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this 

paragraph) 

  ISDA Definitions: [2006 ISDA Definitions / 2021 ISDA Definitions] 

  Floating Rate Option: [•] 

(The Floating Rate Option should be selected from 

one of:  CHF-SARON / EUR-EURIBOR-Reuters 

(if 2006 ISDA Definitions apply) EUR-EURIBOR 

(if 2021 ISDA Definitions apply) / EUR-EuroSTR 

/ EUR-EuroSTR Compounded Index / GBP SONIA 

/ GBP SONIA Compounded Index / HKD-HONIA 

/ JPY-TONA / USD-SOFR / USD-SOFR 

Compounded Index (each as defined in the ISDA 

Definitions). These are the options envisaged by 

the terms and conditions) 
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  Designated Maturity: [•]3 

(Delegated Maturity will not be relevant where the 

Floating Rate Option is a risk free rate) 

  Reset Date: [•]/[as specified in the ISDA Definitions]/[the first 

day of the relevant Interest Period, subject to 

adjustment in accordance with the Business Day 

Convention set out in [15(iv)] above and as 

specified in the ISDA Definitions] 

  Compounding: [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable 

delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this 

paragraph) 

  Compounding Method: [Compounding with Lookback 

Lookback: [•] Applicable / Business Days] 

[Compounding with Observation Period Shift 

Observation Period Shift: [•] Observation Period 

Shift Business Days 

Observation Period Shift Additional Business 

Days: [•] / [Not Applicable] ]] 

[Compounding with Lockout 

Lockout: [•] Lockout Period Business Days 

Lockout Period Business Days: [•]/[Applicable 

Business Days]] 

  Averaging [Applicable/Not Applicable]] (If not applicable 

delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this 

paragraph) 

  [Averaging Method: [Averaging with Lookback 

Lookback: [•] Applicable Business Days] 

[Averaging with Observation Period Shift 

Observation Period Shift: [•] Observation Period 

Shift Business days 

Observation Period Shift Additional Business 

Days: [•]/[Not Applicable]] 

[Averaging with Lockout 

Lookout: [•] Lockout Period Business Days 

Lockout Period Business Days: [•]/[Applicable 

Business Days]] 

  Index Provisions: [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable 

delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this 

paragraph) 

  Index Method: Compounded Index Method with Observation 

Period Shift 

                                                      
3 This should be specified as being "Not Applicable" in the case of GBP-SONIA, USD-SOFR, EUR-EuroSTR, 

CHF-SARON, HK-HONIA, JPY-TONA, GBP-SONIA Compounded Index, USD-SOFR Compounded Index and 

EUR-EuroSTR Compounded Index. 
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Observation Period Shift: [•] Observation Period 

Shift Business days 

Observation Period Shift Additional Business 

Days: [•] / [Not Applicable] 

 (x) Linear interpolation  Not Applicable/Applicable – the Rate of Interest 

for the [long/short] [first/last] Interest Period shall 

be calculated using Linear Interpolation (specify 

for each short or long interest period) 

 (xi) Margin(s): [+/-][●] per cent. per annum 

 (xii) Minimum Rate of Interest: [The Minimum Rate of Interest shall not be less 

than zero]/[The Minimum Rate of Interest shall 

not be less than [●] per cent. per annum] (Note that 

the optional definition of Minimum Rate of Interest 

in the terms and conditions says that the rate, 

including any relevant margin, will be zero unless 

otherwise specified in the Pricing Supplement.) 

 (xiii) Maximum Rate of Interest: [●] per cent. per annum 

 (xiv) Day Count Fraction: [●] 

 (xv) Interest Rate Adjustment: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

 (xvi) Step Up Margin: [●] per cent. per annum] 

16.  Zero Coupon Note Provisions [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

  (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-

paragraphs of this paragraph) 

 (i) Accrual Yield: [●] per cent. per annum 

 (ii) Reference Price: 

(iii) Day Count Fraction in relation 

to Early Redemption Amount: 

[●] 

[30/360 / Actual/Actual (ICMA/ISDA) / other] 

PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION 

17.  Call Option [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-

paragraphs of this paragraph) 

 (i) Optional Redemption Date(s): [●] 

 (ii) Optional Redemption 

Amount[(s)] of each Note: 

[●] per Calculation Amount[/Make-whole 

Redemption Price]  

[in the case of the Optional Redemption Dates 

falling on [ ]/[in the period from and including 

[date]]  

 (iii) Make Whole Redemption Price: [Non-Sterling Make Whole Redemption Amount / 

Sterling Make Whole Redemption Amount/Not 

Applicable] 

(If not applicable delete the remaining sub 

paragraphs(a) – (f) of this paragraph)] 

 [(a) Reference Bond: [Insert applicable Reference Bond]] 

 [(b) Quotation Time: [●]] 
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 [(c) Redemption Margin: [●] per cent.] 

 [(d) Determination Date: [●]] 

 [(e) Reference Dealers: [●]] 

 [(f)  Par Redemption Date: [●]/Not Applicable] 

 (iv) Redemption in part: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-

paragraphs of this paragraph) 

 [(a) Minimum Redemption 

Amount: 

[●] per Calculation Amount] 

 [(b) Maximum Redemption 

Amount 

[●] per Calculation Amount] 

 (v) Notice period: [●] 

18.  Put Option [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-

paragraphs of this paragraph) 

 (i) Optional Redemption Date(s): [●] 

 (ii) Optional Redemption 

Amount(s) of each Note and 

method, if any, of calculation of 

such amount(s): 

[●] per Calculation Amount 

 (iii) Notice period: [●] 

19.  Change of Control Put Option: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

20.  Final Redemption Amount of each 

Note: 

[●] per Calculation Amount 

21.  Early Redemption Amount: [●] per Calculation Amount 

 Early Redemption Amount(s) per 

Calculation Amount payable on 

redemption for taxation reasons or on 

event of default or other early 

redemption: 

[Not Applicable] 

 

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES 

22.  Form of Notes: [Bearer Notes:] 

  [Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a 

Permanent Global Note which is exchangeable for 

Definitive Notes in the limited circumstances 

specified in the Permanent Global Note]  

  [Permanent Global Note exchangeable for 

Definitive Notes in the limited circumstances 

specified in the Permanent Global Note]  

  [Notes shall not be physically delivered in 

Belgium, except to a clearing system, a depository 

or other institution for the purpose of their 
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immobilisation in accordance with article 4 of the 

Belgian Law of 14 December 2005] 

  [Registered Notes:] 

[Global Note Certificate exchangeable for 

Individual Note Certificates in the limited 

circumstances described in the Global Note 

Certificate] 

23.  New Global Note/ New Safekeeping 

Structure: 

[Yes]/[No]/[Not Applicable] 

24.  Additional Financial Centre(s) or other 

special provisions relating to payment 

dates: 

[Not Applicable/give details. Note that this 

paragraph relates to the date of payment, and not 

the end dates of interest periods for the purposes 

of calculating the amount of interest, to which sub-

paragraph 15(v) relates] 

 

25.  Talons for future Coupons to be attached 

to Definitive Notes (and dates on which 

such Talons mature): 

[Yes/No. As the Notes have more than 27 coupon 

payments, talons may be required if, on exchange 

into definitive form, more than 27 coupon 

payments are left.] 

 

 

Signed on behalf of CTP N.V.: 

By: ............................................ 

Duly authorised 

Name: ............................................ 

 



 

EMEA 138069526 

124 
 

 

PART B – OTHER INFORMATION 

1.  LISTING AND ADMISSION TO 

TRADING 

(i) Admission to Trading: 

 

 

[Application is expected to be made by the Issuer (or 

on its behalf) for the Notes to be admitted to the 

Official List of Euronext Dublin and to trading on the 

Global Exchange Market of Euronext Dublin with 

effect from [●].] (When documenting a fungible issue 

need to indicate that original Notes are already 

admitted to trading.) 

[Application is expected to be made by the Issuer (or 

on its behalf) for the Notes to be included on Euronext 

ESG Bonds.] 

 (ii) Estimate of total expenses 

related to admission to 

trading: 

[●] 

2.  RATINGS [The Notes to be issued [have been/are expected to be] 

rated]/[The following ratings reflect ratings assigned to 

Notes of this type issued under the Programme 

generally]: 

 Ratings: S&P Global Ratings Europe Limited: [●] 

  Moody’s Deutschland GmbH : [●] 

  [[Other]: [●]] 

  [name of rating agency] is established in the [EEA and 

registered under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009, as 

amended (the “CRA Regulation”)] [UK and is 

registered under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009, as 

amended, as it forms part of the domestic law of the 

UK by virtue of EUWA (the “UK CRA 

Regulation”)]. 

 

3.  INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE 

ISSUE/OFFER 

 (Need to include a description of any interest, including a conflict of interest, that is material 

to the issue/offer, detailing the persons involved and the nature of the interest. May be 

satisfied by the inclusion of the statement below:) 

[Save for any fees payable to the [Managers/Dealers], so far as the Issuer is aware, no person 

involved in the offer of the Notes has an interest material to the offer. The [Managers/Dealers] 

and their affiliates have engaged, and may in the future engage, in investment banking and/or 

commercial banking transactions with, and may perform other services for, the Issuer and its 

affiliates in the ordinary course of business. (Amend as appropriate if there are other 

interests)] 

4.  [Fixed Rate Notes only – YIELD  

 Indication of yield: [●] 
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[The yield is calculated at the Issue Date on the basis 

of the Issue Price. It is not an indication of future 

yield.] 

5.  OPERATIONAL INFORMATION 

 ISIN: [●] 

   

 Common Code: [●] 

 Name and address of any clearing 

system(s) other than Euroclear 

Bank SA/NV and Clearstream 

Banking, S.A. and the relevant 

identification number(s): 

[Not Applicable/give name(s) and number(s)] 

 Delivery: Delivery [against/free of] payment 

 Names and addresses of additional 

Paying Agent(s) (if any): 

 

 Intended to be held in a manner 

which would allow Eurosystem 

eligibility: 

[Yes. Note that the designation “yes” simply means 

that the Notes are intended upon issue to be deposited 

with one of the ICSDs as common safekeeper [[, and 

registered in the name of a nominee of one of the 

ICSDs acting as common safekeeper] [include this text 

for registered notes] and does not necessarily mean 

that the Notes will be recognised as eligible collateral 

for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra day credit 

operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue or at 

any or all times during their life. Such recognition will 

depend upon the ECB being satisfied that Eurosystem 

eligibility criteria have been met.]/  

[No. Whilst the designation is specified as “no” at the 

date of this Pricing Supplement, should the Eurosystem 

eligibility criteria be amended in the future such that 

the Notes are capable of meeting them the Notes may 

then be deposited with one of the ICSDs as common 

safekeeper[[, and registered in the name of a nominee 

of one of the ICSDs acting as common safekeeper] 

[include this text for registered notes]. Note that this 

does not necessarily mean that the Notes will then be 

recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem 

monetary policy and intra day credit operations by the 

Eurosystem at any time during their life. Such 

recognition will depend upon the ECB being satisfied 

that Eurosystem eligibility criteria have been met.] 

6.  DISTRIBUTION  

 (i) Method of Distribution: [Syndicated/Non-syndicated] 

[Not Applicable/give names] 

 (ii) If syndicated: 

(A) Names of Dealers: 

[Not Applicable/give names] 

 (B) Stabilisation 

Manager(s), if any: 

[Not Applicable/give names] 
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 (iii) If non-syndicated, name of 

Dealer: 

 

 (iv) U.S. Selling Restrictions: [Reg S Compliance Category 2]; [In the case of Bearer 

Notes) – [TEFRA C/TEFRA D/TEFRA not applicable] 

 (v) Prohibition of Sales to EEA 

Retail Investors: 

[Applicable]/[Not Applicable] 

(If the Notes clearly do not constitute “packaged” 

products, “Not Applicable” should be specified. If the 

Notes may constitute “packaged” products, 

“Applicable” should be specified.) 

 (vi) Prohibition of Sales to UK 

Retail Investors: 

[Applicable]/[Not Applicable] 

(If the Notes clearly do not constitute “packaged” 

products, or the Notes do constitute “packaged” 

products and a key information document will be 

prepared in the UK, “Not Applicable” should be 

specified. If the Notes may constitute “packaged” 

products, “Applicable” should be specified.) 

7. REASONS FOR THE OFFER 

AND ESTIMATED NET 

AMOUNT OF PROCEEDS 

 

 Reasons for the offer: [See [“Use of Proceeds”] in the Base Listing 

Particulars/Give details] [If reasons differ from what 

is disclosed in the Base Listing Particulars [including 

for green/social/sustainability bond], give details 

here.]  

 

 Estimated net proceeds: [●] 
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SUMMARY OF PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE NOTES WHILE IN GLOBAL 

FORM  

Clearing System Accountholders 

Each Global Note will be in bearer form. Consequently, in relation to any Tranche of Notes 

represented by a Global Note in bearer form, references in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes 

to “Noteholder” are references to the bearer of the relevant Global Note which, for so long as the 

Global Note is held by a depositary or a common depositary, in the case of a CGN, or a common 

safekeeper, in the case of an NGN for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any 

other relevant clearing system, will be that depositary or common depositary or, as the case may 

be, common safekeeper. 

In relation to any Tranche of Notes represented by a Global Note Certificate, references in the 

Terms and Conditions of the Notes to “Noteholder” are references to the person in whose name 

such Global Note Certificate is for the time being registered in the Register which, for so long as 

the Global Note Certificate is held by or on behalf of a depositary or a common depositary or a 

common safekeeper for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant 

clearing system, will be that depositary or common depositary or common safekeeper or a 

nominee for that depositary or common depositary or common safekeeper. 

Each of the persons shown in the records of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or 

any other relevant clearing system as being entitled to an interest in a Global Note or a Global 

Note Certificate (each an “Accountholder”) must look solely to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, 

Luxembourg and/or such other relevant clearing system (as the case may be) for such 

Accountholder’s share of each payment made by the Issuer to the holder of such Global Note or 

Global Note Certificate and in relation to all other rights arising under the Global Note or Global 

Note Certificate. The extent to which, and the manner in which, Accountholders may exercise 

any rights arising under the Global Note or Global Note Certificate will be determined by the 

respective rules and procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and any other relevant 

clearing system from time to time. For so long as the relevant Notes are represented by a Global 

Note or Global Note Certificate, Accountholders shall have no claim directly against the Issuer 

in respect of payments due under the Notes and such obligations of the Issuer will be discharged 

by payment to the holder of such Global Note or Global Note Certificate. 

In relation to any Tranche of Notes represented by one or more Global Note Certificates, 

references in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes to “Noteholder” are references to the person 

in whose name the relevant Global Note Certificate is for the time being registered in the Register 

which is held by or on behalf of a depositary or a common depositary or a common safekeeper 

for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system, will be 

that depositary or common depositary or common safekeeper or a nominee for that depositary or 

common depositary or common safekeeper. 

Conditions applicable to Notes in global form 

Each Global Note or Global Note Certificate will contain provisions which modify the Terms and 

Conditions of the Notes as they apply to the Global Note or Global Note Certificate. The following 

is a summary of certain of those provisions: 

Payments: All payments in respect of the Global Note or Global Note Certificate which, according 

to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, require presentation and/or surrender of a Note, Note 

Certificate or Coupon will be made against presentation and (in the case of payment of principal 

in full with all interest accrued thereon) surrender of the Global Note or Global Note Certificate 

to or to the order of any Paying Agent and will be effective to satisfy and discharge the 

corresponding liabilities of the Issuer in respect of the Notes. On each occasion on which a 

payment of principal or interest is made in respect of the Global Note, the Issuer shall procure 
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that in respect of a CGN the payment is noted in a schedule thereto and in respect of an NGN the 

payment is entered pro rata in the records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. 

Payment Business Day: In the case of a Global Note or Global Note Certificate, shall be: (i) if the 

currency of payment is euro, any day which is a TARGET Settlement Day and a day on which 

dealings in foreign currencies may be carried on in each (if any) Additional Financial Centre; or 

(ii) if the currency of payment is not euro, any day which is a day on which dealings in foreign 

currencies may be carried on in the Principal Financial Centre of the currency of payment and in 

each (if any) Additional Financial Centre. 

Payment Record Date: Each payment in respect of a Global Note Certificate will be made to the 

person shown as the Holder in the Register at the close of business (in the relevant clearing system) 

on the Clearing System Business Day before the due date for such payment (the “Record Date”) 

where “Clearing System Business Day” means a day on which each clearing system for which 

the Global Note Certificate is being held is open for business. 

Partial exercise of call option: In connection with an exercise of the option contained in Condition 

10(c) (Redemption at the option of the Issuer) in relation to some only of the Notes, the Permanent 

Global Note or Global Note Certificate may be redeemed in part in the principal amount specified 

by the Issuer in accordance with the Conditions and the Notes to be redeemed will not be selected 

as provided in the Conditions but in accordance with the rules and procedures of Euroclear and 

Clearstream, Luxembourg (to be reflected in the records of Euroclear and Clearstream, 

Luxembourg as either a pool factor or a reduction in principal amount, at their discretion). 

Exercise of put option or Change of Control Put Option: In order to exercise the option contained 

in Condition 10(e) (Redemption at the option of Noteholders), Condition 10(f) (Change of Control 

Put Option) or Condition 10(g) (Asset Sale Put Option), the bearer of a Permanent Global Note 

or the holder of a Global Note Certificate must, within the period specified in the Conditions for 

the deposit of the relevant Note give notice of such exercise to the Principal Paying Agent, in 

accordance with the rules and procedures of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any 

other relevant clearing system, specifying the principal amount of Notes in respect of which such 

option is being exercised. Any such notice will be irrevocable and may not be withdrawn. 

Accountholders wishing to arrange for their Notes to be put must arrange for their instructions to 

be given in accordance with the rules and procedures of the clearing system through which they 

hold their interest in such Notes, which may require the transfer of such Notes, or the blocking 

thereof, in the relevant clearing system. 

Notices: Notwithstanding Condition 21 (Notices), while all the Notes are represented by a 

Permanent Global Note (or by a Permanent Global Note and/or a Temporary Global Note) or 

Global Note Certificate and the Permanent Global Note is (or the Permanent Global Note and/or 

the Temporary Global Note are), or Global Note Certificate is deposited with a depositary or a 

common depositary for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant 

clearing system or a common safekeeper, notices to Noteholders may be given by delivery of the 

relevant notice to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing 

system and, in any case, such notices shall be deemed to have been given to the Noteholders in 

accordance with Condition 21 (Notices) on the date of delivery to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, 

Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system, except that, for so long as such Notes are 

admitted to trading on Euronext Dublin and it is a requirement of applicable law or regulations, 

such notices shall also be published, except that, for so long as such Notes are admitted to trading 

on Euronext Dublin and it is a requirement of applicable law or regulations, such notices shall 

also be published in a leading newspaper having general circulation in Ireland or published on the 

website of Euronext Dublin (https://live.euronext.com/en/markets/dublin).  

Electronic Consent and Written Resolution: While any Global Note or Global Note Certificate is 

held on behalf of a clearing system, then:  
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(a)  approval of a resolution proposed by the Issuer or the Trustee (as the case may be) given 

by way of electronic consents communicated through the electronic communications 

systems of the relevant clearing system(s) in accordance with their operating rules and 

procedures by or on behalf of the holders of not less than 75 per cent. in nominal amount 

of the Notes outstanding (an “Electronic Consent” as defined in the Trust Deed) shall, 

for all purposes (including matters that would otherwise require an Extraordinary 

Resolution to be passed at a meeting for which a special quorum was satisfied), take effect 

as an Extraordinary Resolution passed at a meeting of Noteholders duly convened and 

held, and shall be binding on all Noteholders and holders of Coupons, Talons and 

Receipts whether or not they participated in such Electronic Consent; and  

(b)  where Electronic Consent is not being sought, for the purpose of determining whether a 

Written Resolution (as defined in the Trust Deed) has been validly passed, the Issuer and 

the Trustee shall be entitled to rely on consent or instructions given in writing directly to 

the Issuer and/or the Trustee, as the case may be, by (a) accountholders in the clearing 

system with entitlements to such Global Note or Global Note Certificate and/or, where 

(b) the accountholders hold any such entitlement on behalf of another person, on written 

consent from or written instruction by the person identified by that accountholder as the 

person for whom such entitlement is held. For the purpose of establishing the entitlement 

to give any such consent or instruction, the Issuer and the Trustee shall be entitled to rely 

on any certificate or other document issued by, in the case of (a) above, Euroclear, 

Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant alternative clearing system (the 

“relevant clearing system”) and, in the case of (b) above, the relevant clearing system 

and the accountholder identified by the relevant clearing system for the purposes of (b) 

above. Any resolution passed in such manner shall be binding on all Noteholders and 

Couponholders, even if the relevant consent or instruction proves to be defective. Any 

such certificate or other document shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive 

and binding for all purposes. Any such certificate or other document may comprise any 

form of statement or print out of electronic records provided by the relevant clearing 

system (including Euroclear’s EUCLID or Clearstream, Luxembourg’s CreationOnline 

system) in accordance with its usual procedures and in which the accountholder of a 

particular principal or nominal amount of the Notes is clearly identified together with the 

amount of such holding. Neither the Issuer or the Trustee shall be liable to any person by 

reason of having accepted as valid or not having rejected any certificate or other 

document to such effect purporting to be issued by any such person and subsequently 

found to be forged or not authentic. 
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USE OF PROCEEDS 

The net proceeds of the issue of Notes will be used by the Issuer for general corporate purposes, 

unless otherwise specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement. 

In particular, if so specified in the use of proceeds section of the relevant Pricing Supplement, the 

Issuer intends to apply an amount equivalent to the net proceeds from an offer of Notes 

specifically to finance or refinance a portfolio of eligible assets in line with the Green Bond 

Framework (as defined below) (“Eligible Projects”). Such Notes may also be referred to as Green 

Bonds. 

The Issuer intends that the eligible assets will belong to the following categories:  

Green Bond Eligible 

Categories Eligibility Criteria 

Green Buildings 

 

 

1) Existing buildings owned and managed by the Group that have 

received the below certifications: 

(a) Building Research Establishment Environmental 

Assessment Method (“BREEAM”): Outstanding, 

Excellent or Very Good; 

(b) Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design 

(“LEED”): Platinum or Gold; or 

(c) Other equivalent internationally and/or nationally 

recognised certifications. 

2) Investments in or expenditures related to construction, 

development and upgrades of new properties that have 

received or are expected to receive the below certifications: 

(a) BREEAM: Outstanding, Excellent or Very Good; 

(b) LEED: Platinum or Gold; or 

(c) Other equivalent internationally and/or nationally 

recognised certifications. 

Renewable Energy 

 

 

New or existing investments in or expenditures on the acquisition, 

development, construction and/or installation of renewable energy 

production units. Renewable energy can include (but are not limited 

to):  

(a) Solar energy projects owned and/or managed by the 

Issuer or one of its affiliates; or 

(b) Wind-related energy projects.  

CTP N.V.’s Green Bond Framework (the “Green Bond Framework”) is available at 

www.ctp.eu.  

The Second-Party Opinion from Sustainalytics B.V. dated 26 August 2020 is available at 

www.ctp.eu. 

For the avoidance of doubt, neither the Green Bond Framework nor the Second-Party Opinion 

are, nor shall either of them be deemed to be, incorporated in, and/or form part of, this Base 

Listing Particulars.  

http://www.ctp.eu/
http://www.ctp.eu/
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DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER 

Overview 

The Group is the largest listed full-service owner, developer and manager of prime industrial and 

logistics property in the continental Europe based on GLA.4 It primarily operates in the Czech 

Republic and also in Romania, Hungary, Slovakia and Germany. The Group develops class-A5 

industrial buildings and its diversified tenant base mainly use it for warehousing, light production 

or office space. In addition, the Group is a selective owner-developer of prime city-centre business 

parks providing premium office space in major cities in the Czech Republic where the Group also 

owns three hotels. The Group operates a tenant-led, vertically integrated business model whereby 

it develops its properties on land acquired. After handover to the tenant, the Group remains the 

long-term owner and provider of property management services, thereby closely aligning the 

Group’s interests with those of its tenants.  

The Group focuses on the development and ownership of large multi-use industrial and logistics 

business parks in order to address the largest potential tenant base via a flexible offering. As of 

31 December 2021, the Group had a property portfolio of 8.06 million square metres of GLA with 

an Occupancy Rate of 95 per cent., GAV of EUR 8.5 billion for the entire property portfolio and 

of EUR 7.0 billion for its income producing assets.7 The Group’s strategy is focused on controlled 

organic growth of its property portfolio, primarily via tenant-led development, and selective 

strategic expansion into new geographies.  

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Group’s Gross Rental Income 

was EUR 366 million and EUR 318 million, respectively, of which 60 per cent. and 63 per cent., 

respectively, was generated in the Czech Republic. The Group’s profit for the years ended 31 

December 2021 and 31 December 2020 attributable to equity holders was EUR 1,026 million and 

EUR 252 million, respectively, and the Group’s Adjusted EBITDA for the years ended 31 

December 2021 and 31 December 2020 was EUR 282 million and EUR 229 million, respectively. 

As of 31 December 2021, the Group had 520 full-time equivalent employees, including 

associates. 

The Group was established in the Czech Republic in 1998 and developed into a major logistics 

real estate owner-developer in the CEE region. The Issuer was established in 2019 as a holding 

company for the Group as part of its corporate restructuring. See “—Group Structure” below for 

more information.  

                                                      
4  Based on the Group’s analysis. 
5  The term ‘class-A’ is used by major commercial real estate agencies and other market participants to describe 

properties of the highest quality in the market. They are generally built according to stringent construction 

standards and possess high-quality building infrastructure. Class-A properties are also well located, have good 

access, and are professionally managed. As a result of this, they typically attract high quality tenants and command 

higher rents in their market. According to the classification used by the members of the Czech Industrial Research 

Forum, the most commonly used classification in the Czech Republic, class-A properties must have: (a) good 

access for trucks to main roads; (b) a clear internal usable height between six and 12 metres; (c) modern loading 

docks with levellers; (d) one overhead door per unit (exception applies to custom-built premises); (e) anti-dust 

floor; (f) minimum floor load bearing capacity of 5 tons per square metre; (g) skylights in the roofs that act as 

smoke vents; (h) minimum lighting power on floor level of 200 lux; (i) heating; (j) insulated facade (sandwich 

panels); (k) high standard office and social area available; and (l) car and truck parking. Similar classification is 

used also in other CEE markets where the Group operates including Romania, Hungary, Slovakia, Poland and 

Serbia. The Group carries out assessment as to whether its properties meet the criteria of ‘class-A’ in each relevant 

market. The status of the Group’s properties as class-A is also indirectly confirmed by various market studies such 

which indicate volume of class-A properties in a given market and the Group’s properties are included. 
6  The figure is for assets under management (including 390 thousand square meters of DEKA portfolio not owned 

by the Group). 
7  Investment property excluding land bank. 
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The Issuer was incorporated on 21 October 2019 under the laws of the Netherlands in the form of 

a private limited liability company (besloten vennootschap met beperkte aansprakelijkheid) and 

thereafter converted to a public limited liability company (naamloze vennootschap) on 29 March 

2021 with shares admitted to trading on the regulated market of Euronext Amsterdam. The Issuer 

is registered in the Business Register of the Netherlands Chamber of Commerce (Handelsregister 

van de Kamer van Koophandel) under number 76158233. The registered office of the Issuer is 

located at Apollolaan 151, 1077 AR Amsterdam, the Netherlands. The telephone number of the 

Issuer is +31 (0)85 27 31 294. 

The Issuer has a management team with extensive experience in the property industry, mainly in 

the CEE region, with particular expertise in asset and property management, finance, leasing and 

development. The Group also benefits from the local knowledge and expertise of its regional 

managers, whose input is integral to the business.  

Operating segments 

The Group’s business is divided into six geographically based segments: (i) Czech Republic; 

(ii) Romania; (iii) Hungary; (iv) Slovakia; (v) the Netherlands; (vi) Hotels; and (vii) Other, which 

mainly includes countries where the Group has a smaller presence, for example Serbia, Poland, 

Bulgaria, Germany and Austria. 

With the exceptions listed below, each segment primarily consists of the Group’s industrial 

portfolio and land bank located in that country and activities related to such portfolio including 

property development and property management in the respective country. The Czech Republic 

segment also includes two city centre office parks located in Brno and Ostrava and the Hotels 

segment includes three Courtyard by Marriott hotels in the Czech Republic only. 

The table below sets out Gross Rental Income, Adjusted EBITDA and Investment property in 

respect for each of the Group’s segments as of and for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 

2020: 

Key Metrics 

Czech 

Republic Romania Hungary Slovakia Netherlands Hotels Other Total 

 (in EUR thousands, unless otherwise indicated) 

Year ended 31 

December 2020 

 

Gross Rental 

Income..........  201,201 55,281 28,849 25,361 -- -- 7,125 317,817 

Adjusted 

EBITDA .......  161,201 38,774 16,909 19,372 (7,683) (5,265) 5,315 228,623 

Investment 

property ........  3,543,874 943,630 371,820 362,940 -- -- 163,966 5,386,230 

Year ended 31 

December 2021 

 

Gross Rental 

Income .........  220,036 68,448 34,998 28,623 -- -- 13,658 365,763 

Adjusted 

EBITDA .......  192,980 51,308 22,336 21,344 (7,910) (2,750) 5,143 282,451 

Investment 

property ........  4,517,045 1,326,691 758,453 595,995 62,091 -- 314,832 7,575,107 
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Strengths 

Management believes that the Group benefits from the following key strengths: 

Highly attractive outlook for logistics property globally, with multiple positive demand drivers 

catalysed by COVID-19 

The Group benefits from growing demand for logistics properties globally due to, among other 

things, increasing global trade and third-party logistics services, accelerating e-commerce 

penetration and reconfiguration of supply and manufacturing chains. Global trade increased 

threefold since 20008 and demand for logistics space more than doubled since 2010.9 All of these 

factors have been catalysed by the outbreak of COVID-19, with logistics properties proving to be 

a resilient asset class during the pandemic as shown by low vacancy rates of approximately 1.6 

to 6.5 per cent. in the CEE region between the years 2018 to 2021.10 COVID-19 also triggered 

structural changes favourable to European logistics, such as repatriation of certain industrial 

sectors and reassessment of increasingly stretched manufacturing and supply chains with selected 

sectors expected to require more production and stocks in Europe. 

The Group believes that its asset portfolio makes it well positioned to benefit from the ongoing 

rise in online shopping and omnichannel retail throughout Europe accelerated by the outbreak of 

COVID-19 that forced retailers to review their global supply chains and progressively develop 

their logistic networks. The proportion of online sales in total retail sales in Europe increased from 

9.4 per cent in 2019 to 12.8 per cent. in 2021.11 According to RetailX, nearly 80 per cent. of 

consumers in Europe expect to maintain or increase their level of online shopping over the longer 

term.12 With regard to increasing de-globalisation and regionalisation of supply chains beyond the 

pandemic, future supply chains are expected to be increasingly routed though the CEE region 

given its geographical perspective, delivery access to the whole Europe as well as proximity of 

major transportation axes to Europe’s largest markets with high purchasing power, access to a 

highly skilled workforce in locations closed to universities and favourable labour costs.13 These 

factors have contributed, and are expected to further contribute, to growth in demand for logistics 

properties from both retailers and third-party logistics providers in Europe.  

According to JLL, a record take-up of logistics space across Europe was recorded in the fourth 

quarter of 2021. During 2021, the total take-up was 33.5 million sqm, out of which 9.9 million 

sqm was taken-up during the fourth quarter. This represents a 35 per cent. increase compared to 

2021 and 50 per cent. increase in comparison to the 5-year average. E-commerce remains the 

second strongest occupier segment, contributing to a continued strong demand. At 23 per cent. of 

total European take-up, space for e-fulfilment remains a large demand driver, albeit it continues 

to be unevenly distributed. Over 40 per cent. of national take-up accounted for e-commerce in the 

UK, 28 per cent. in the Czech Republic, 22 per cent. in Poland, and 20 per cent. in Germany.14 

Furthermore, due to a greater variety of products sold by online retailers and space requirements 

associated with parcel shipping, the e-commerce business creates higher demand for logistics 

properties compared to retailers operating traditional “brick and mortar” stores. 

                                                      
8  Source: World Trade Organisation. 
9  Source: CBRE.  
10  Source: Vacancy rates are based on CBRE. 
11  Source: GlobalData, Cushman & Wakefield. 
12  Source: RetailX. 
13  Source: BCI Global. 
14  Source: JLL European Logistics Market Update dated February 2022. 



 

EMEA 138069526 

134 
 

 

In addition, according to JLL, the year ended 31 December 2021 saw the highest rate of expansion 

in rental growth in over two decades. JLL’s European logistics rental index (excluding Russia) 

rose by 8.6 per cent. on the year-on-year basis in the year ended 31 December 2021.15 

Management believes that the Group is well positioned to benefit from these market trends and 

increasing demand driving occupancy and rental income. 

The largest logistics property player in the continental Europe (based on GLA) with leading 

position in five countries, a property portfolio with total GAV of EUR 8.5 billion primarily near 

capital cities and high and stable occupancy levels 

The Group is the largest listed full-service owner, developer and manager of prime industrial and 

logistics property in the continental Europe based on GLA.16 In the period from 2011 to 2021, the 

Group grew its portfolio from 1.8 million square metres to 8.0 million square metres17 of GLA, 

resulting in a compound annual growth rate (“CAGR”) of 15.5 per cent. In the same period, the 

Group had an average Occupancy Rate of 95 per cent. Further, as of 31 December 2021, the 

Group had a property portfolio with total GAV of EUR 8.5 billion. On 3 February 2022 the Group 

completed its voluntary public takeover and delisting offer for the acquisition of DIR followed 

by the upstream cross-border merger with the Issuer being the surviving entity (see “—Recent 

Developments—DIR Takeover”). DIR was integrated into Germany segment of the Group and by 

DIR Takeover the Group strategically acquired 4.1 million sqm of total land size out of which 1.6 

million sqm was attributable to commercial space. As of 31 December 2021, DIR portfolio of 

EUR 830.6 million GAV consisted of approximately 90 properties with approximately 700 

tenants, 89.5 per cent. Occupancy Rate and WAULT amounting to 5.2 years. 

As of 31 December 2021, the Group was the largest owner of logistics and industrial real estate 

in the Czech Republic, Romania, Slovakia and Hungary with a market share measured in each 

case by owned permitted industrial stock of GLA.18 The Group also has a growing presence in 

Poland, a market it has only begun to penetrate. It entered Poland in 2015, developed its first 

building in 2017 and grew the size of its own-built portfolio from 36 thousand square metres of 

GLA in 31 December 2017 to 42 thousand square metres of GLA in 31 December 2021. In 

addition, the Group recently entered the Austrian market. As of the date of this Base Listing 

Particulars, the Group is developing 3 parks in Austria, two of them situated in Vienna and one 

in St. Pölten. 

On 11 August 2021 the Group completed the acquisition of the Amsterdam Logistic Cityhub, the 

next-generation multilayer urban logistics facility CTPark ALC in Amsterdam with 

approximately 120,000 sqm of storage and last mile distribution space equipped for emission free 

transport and approximately 11,000 sqm of office space (see “—History—ALC Acquisition”). By 

ALC Acquisition the Group commenced its expansion into the Netherlands. As of 31 December 

2021, the Netherlands segment of the Group represented 4 per cent. of the Group’s GAV and 1 

per cent. of the Group’s GLA.  

The Group operates primarily in CEE countries displaying favourable macroeconomic trends. In 

the period from 2016 to 2021, the Czech Republic, Romania, Hungary, Slovakia, Serbia and 

Poland achieved average GDP growth of 6.3 per cent. as compared to 4.0 per cent. for the largest 

Western European19 economies.20 In addition, the CEE region also benefits from high nearshoring 

potential due to favourable manufacturing labour costs, quality of infrastructure, regulatory 

                                                      
15  Source: JLL European Logistics Market Update February 2022. 
16  Based on the Group’s analysis. 
17  Figure is for assets under management (including 390 thousand square meters of DEKA portfolio not owned by 

the Group). 
18  Source: CBRE. 
19  Spain, Netherlands, Belgium, UK, Germany, France and Italy. 
20  Source: Oxford Economics. 
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environment and trade openness. The CEE markets where the Group operates generally have 

stringent planning and building regulations. This favours established players like the Group with 

intimate knowledge of local planning processes, strong relationships with public authorities and 

track-record of successful development.  

Premium, class-A asset base grouped in network of 125 large multi-use ‘CTParks’ and other 

locations, addressing a wide, international and diversified tenant base 

The Group has focused on the development of large multi-use industrial and logistics parks and 

defines itself as a ‘Parkmaker’. As of 31 December 2021, the Group industrial portfolio consisted 

of 120 industrial parks and two office parks21 strategically located adjacent to capital or major 

CEE cities and major transportation infrastructure. The parks consist of 100 per cent. freehold 

assets. 

The Group has a particularly strong presence near major regional economic cities such as 

Amsterdam, Budapest, Bucharest, Bratislava, Prague, Brno, Pilsen and Ostrava, connected to 

main European transportation corridors. The parks are strategically positioned in carefully 

selected locations, typically located on the edge of capital or regional cities or close to important 

transportation infrastructure, and attract a large and diverse tenant base comprising local and 

international businesses. As of 31 December 2021, approximately 86 per cent. of the Group’s 

portfolio in terms of GLA were directly adjacent to cities with more than 100 thousand inhabitants 

and 43 per cent. of the Group’s total GLA was in parks with GLA of 200 thousand square metres 

or more and 77 per cent. in parks with GLA of 50 thousand square metres or more. As of the same 

date, 57 per cent. of the Group’s GLA was concentrated in just 17 parks, each offering over 

100,000 square metres of GLA 

The Group has a wide and diversified international tenant base of blue-chip companies from a 

broad range of industries including third-party logistics (for example DHL, DSV and DB 

Schenker), manufacturing (for example ABB, Kompan and Zodiac Aerospace), high-tech/IT 

(Lenovo, Acer, Wistron and ThermoFisher), automotive (for example Yanfeng, Faurecia and 

Lear), e-commerce/retail/wholesale and distribution (for example Primark, Profi or Rohlik.cz) 

and manufacturing (for example Deli Home). The Group has achieved a solid balance between 

diversification and concentration of tenant base, with no single tenant accounting for more than 

three per cent. of the Group’s total Gross Rental Income and the Group’s top 20 tenants, based on 

GLA leased, accounted for 24 per cent. and 23 per cent. of the Group’s total GLA and Gross 

Rental Income for the year ended 31 December 2021, respectively,. The Group’s typical lease 

structure includes an initial term of five to 15 years, with possible break options, euro 

denominated rent, annual rent indexation and typically benefits from financial sureties, such as 

bank guarantees, deposits and parent company guarantees. The Group maintains a stable lease 

maturity profile with WAULT of 6.7 years as of 31 December 2021 on a rolling basis, carefully 

managed to mitigate the risk of re-leasing, which provides the Group with resilient income 

streams. 

Vertically-integrated business model delivering resilient, self-generated organic development-

led growth and supported by 12 million square metres of owned land bank to capture 

development potential on existing parks 

The Group provides a wide scope of services through its vertically integrated business model and 

dedicated in-house teams. In particular, the Group acts as general contractor to construct the 

building, outsourcing to reliable, high-quality suppliers and, after handover, remains the owner 

and manager of the property in all countries continually investing in and upgrading the facilities 

to ensure lasting value to the tenants. The Group’s in-house general contractor capabilities allow 

                                                      
21  66 parks are owned by the Group and three parks are part of Deka Immobilien’s portfolio (sold by the Group in 

2018) and are under management of the Group. 
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greater reactivity, reliability and profitability in the development process. In addition, keeping 

such services in-house has allowed the Group to maintain a direct relationship with its tenants and 

has resulted in high tenant retention and satisfaction, as evidenced by the Group’s occupancy rates 

and business generated from existing customers. In the period from 2016 to 2021, the Group 

achieved an average tenant Retention Rate of 92 per cent. Further, 80 per cent. of the Group’s 

new letting activity in the year ended 31 December 2021 was generated from existing tenants. 

This allows the Group to serve its tenants’ location needs throughout its international footprint, 

either as an extension to an existing property or an entirely new facility in a different market. This 

expansion is supported by the Group’s owned land bank in the CEE region of 12 million square 

metres as of 31 December 2021, with further 5.8 million square metres under exclusive option, 

resulting in a total of 17.8 million square metres, of which 60 per cent. was adjacent to the Group’s 

existing parks. 

Industry frontrunner on sustainability  

Since its foundation, the Group has constructed its properties with a view to operate and own 

these long-term. As a consequence, sustainability has been an important part of the Group’s 

strategy which further attracts tenants, as they have been requiring increasingly higher standards 

of sustainability in construction and operations. In January 2021, the Group completed the 

certification as ‘very good’ or better of its entire logistics and industrial GLA by the Building 

research establishment environmental assessment method (“BREEAM”), the world’s first 

standardised method for assessing the sustainability of buildings. In addition, the Group 

participates in a reforestation initiative whereby one square metre of land is reforested for every 

square metre in the Group’s property portfolio. As of 31 December 2021, the Group already 

planted over two hundred thousand trees within forests it owns in order to renew biodiversity and 

reduce its carbon footprint and plans to continue in this activity also in 2022. Since 2010, all of 

the Group’s newly developed buildings are ‘solar ready’, meaning either that the roofs are built 

to allow the creation of a photovoltaic solar power plant on each building by incorporating the 

necessary hook-up technology, or they were built with solar panels already installed. 

Entrepreneurial senior management team led by founder, shareholder and Chief Executive 

Officer ensuring strong alignment of interests 

The Group has a strong management team with a proven track record and on average more than 

15 years of experience in the property industry, mainly in the CEE region. The team is led by the 

Group’s chief executive officer and founder Remon Vos and chief financial officer Richard 

Wilkinson. Remon Vos has been fully committed to the Group since its foundation in 1998 and 

remains personally involved at both executive and operational levels in all markets. Mr. 

Wilkinson joined the Group in 2018, prior to which he was head of the CEE commercial real 

estate team of Erste Group in Vienna.  

Mr. Vos and Mr. Wilkinson are jointly the executive directors of the Issuer and Ms. Barbara 

Knoflach, Mr. Gerard van Kesteren, Ms. Susanne Eickermann-Riepe and Mr. Pavel Trenka are 

non-executive directors of the Board, ensuring active and transparent corporate governance. The 

directors of the Group are supported by an experienced management team consisting of 

approximately 30 people. The Group also benefits from the local knowledge and expertise of its 

regional managers, whose input is integral to the business. The Issuer is committed to the 

continued and progressive strengthening of the team, as well as implementation of best practices 

with respect to corporate governance and continues to adjust and further strengthen its internal 

practices in order to meet evolving standards. 
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Scalable platform with robust financial performance positioned for continued growth 

The Group has grown its property portfolio to GAV of EUR 8.5 billion which includes EUR 7.0 

billion for income producing assets22 as of 31 December 2021, primarily by steady development 

of new projects on its land bank complemented by disciplined potential expansion in adjacent 

markets over time. The Group achieved a significant growth of its Gross Rental Income and 

Adjusted EBITDA, resulting in a growth of 15.1 per cent. and 23.5 per cent., respectively for the 

years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. In the same period, average Rental Collection and 

Occupancy Rate was 98 per cent. and 95 per cent., respectively. The Group managed to finance 

its growth from cash flow generated from its operations and various external financing. 

Prudent financing policy with steady outlook 

The Group has maintained a prudent financial policy and credit metrics and has had a solid 

liquidity profile and conservative repayment profile. As of 31 December 2021, the Group’s Net 

LTV was 42.8 per cent., further benefiting from an ICR of 5.0 times, compared to the Group’s 

Net LTV of 50.7 per cent. and an ICR of 3.8 times as of 31 December 2020. This mainly reflected 

the Group’s refinancing activity during the period mainly through bond issues in an aggregate 

amount of EUR 1.05 billion and EUR 2.4 billion issued in the year 2020 and 2021, respectively, 

taking advantage of favourable financing conditions prevalent during those years. In September 

2021, the Issuer received a long-term issuer rating of BBB- (stable outlook) from S&P and a long-

term issuer rating of Baa3 (stable outlook) from Moody’s. 

Strategy 

The Group’s strategy is in particular focused on:  

Controlled organic growth of property portfolio, primarily via tenant-led development 

The Group aims to take advantage of strong fundamentals of the European logistics markets and 

to continue to organically grow the size of its property portfolio, primarily by constructing new 

properties on its owned land bank. The Group’s land bank is mostly located in the vicinity of the 

Group’s existing parks, in selected areas around logistics hubs with strategic development 

potential or in locations suitable for industrial manufacturing, in both cases mainly near capital or 

large cities. The Group actively adopts a tenant-led development strategy whereby new 

development is driven primarily by demand from the Group’s existing tenants. The Group intends 

to grow by serving tenants’ location needs, either as an extension to an existing property or by 

developing an entirely new facility in a different market. The Group plans to continually evaluate 

new opportunities to purchase land plots in strategic locations where the demand for logistics 

space is expected to increase, primarily in the area of tech parks and data centres. 

Selective strategic expansion into new geographies 

Given the structural shortage of modern logistics properties in the CEE region and increased 

demand for logistics space across Europe, the Group is considering selectively expanding to new 

markets where it currently has no or limited presence, primarily to neighbouring countries such 

as Austria, the Netherlands, Germany, Poland, Serbia, and Bulgaria and also to Estonia, Lithuania, 

Latvia, Greece, Italy, France, the UK or Spain. To this end, the Group has established networks 

in Austria, the Netherlands and Bulgaria including management and other staff, potential business 

partners, construction companies and prospective tenants, and also in Serbia where the Group 

already had a smaller presence. Currently, the Group has made first investments in these markets 

and expects the construction of new projects to commence in Austria and Bulgaria by the end of 

2021. Furthermore, in 2021 the Group expanded its presence into the Netherlands via ALC 

Acquisition and Germany in 2022 via public takeover and delisting offer for DIR. These 

                                                      
22  Investment property excluding land bank. 
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acquisitions have increased the Group’s strategic footprint across Europe from the Black Sea to 

the North Sea, one of the main logistics corridors across the continent, and enabled the Group to 

cater fully to the future needs of its tenants (see “—History—ALC Acquisition” and “—Recent 

Developments—DIR Takeover”). 

Any such expansion will be consistent with the tenant-led strategy of the Group and will be 

focused on the Group’s key strength of offering large-scale ‘park-based’ real estate. In addition, 

tenants may ask the Group to consider expansion into geographies outside Europe, for instance 

North African countries or the near-East. The Group was for example invited by the Egyptian 

government to explore potential opportunities for cooperation. The Group would only consider 

any such expansion if consistent with the tenant-led strategy described above. Such expansion 

would only represent a small portion of the Group’s invested capital and would be undertaken 

having considered the increased risk in such markets, in particular regarding property rights and 

liquidity of the investment. 

Continued focus on sustainability and social responsibility  

The Group intends to continue to focus on sustainability as an important part of its strategy going 

forward. The Group plans to ensure that all newly built or acquired buildings meet the Group’s 

policy to be certified under the BREEAM scheme. The Group plans to re-certify all buildings 

every three years under the BREEAM scheme. At the end of 2021, the Group was also certified 

as net carbon negative for its own operations (Scope 1 and 2), as validated by external agency 

SCS. The Group also plans to roll out photovoltaic solar power plants on rooftops of its buildings 

with a targeted capacity of approximately 50 Mega Watt peak (“MWp”), with a total potential 

installed capacity of 500 MWp. The Group targets to develop 18 MWp of electricity capacity in 

the Czech Republic in 2022 alone. Furthermore, the Group has and continues to implement 

policies aimed at minimising carbon dioxide production such as recycling of materials, reforesting 

one square metre of land for each square metre of GLA over the medium term, application of 

smart lighting in the exterior, developing smart buildings and circular parks, obtaining ISO 

certification for entire portfolio and further optimisations to reduce electrical energy consumption. 

The Group also intends to issue green bonds only in the future.  

The Group also plans to support local community groups and grass-root charities to create 

opportunities, particularly for disadvantaged youth and other underserved members of society. 

The Group is mainly active in helping socially disadvantaged people, supporting Tereza Maxová 

Foundation, whose aim is to provide effective assistance to abandoned and underprivileged young 

children, YourChance, which runs a program aimed at young disadvantaged adults, or Locika - 

childhood without violence, whose aim is to increase assistance to children at risk of domestic 

violence. In addition, the Group promotes education among different social groups such as 

CzechITas, the first community centre in the Czech Republic for the education of women and 

girls in the field of information technology, and cooperates with Brno University of Technology 

Faculty of Civil Engineering to help create opportunities for students to gain practical and real-

world experience. 

Active asset management and property enhancements 

The Group is committed to the continuous improvement and active management of its property 

portfolio to increase net rental income by (i) increasing occupancy rates through actively leasing 

vacant spaces, (ii) offering new services and spaces such as project management and financing of 

above standard tenant improvements, managing additional building management and operational 

items on behalf of tenants in order to satisfy and retain existing tenants and (iii) reducing 

operational costs by working together with its tenants to reduce, among other things, utility costs 

which creates room for rental increases on renewals whilst still lowering the tenant’s overall 

occupancy costs. Its strategy in this regard is to leverage the synergies between its asset 

management expertise on the one hand, and its development expertise on the other. 
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Disciplined approach to the Group’s financial profile and policy 

The Group has initiated a process of moving from the current position of utilising bank financing 

secured against its property portfolio over the medium term into a position of predominantly 

utilising unsecured debt in order to diversify its funding sources and improve financial flexibility. 

As of 31 December 2021, 25 per cent. of the Group’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings from 

financial institutions and bonds issued were secured. The Issuer’s financial policy is to maintain 

a credit profile consistent with an investment grade rating, in particular to achieve and maintain a 

Net LTV of between 40 per cent. and 50 per cent., as well as a predominantly unsecured funding 

structure underpinned by a largely unencumbered asset base. To decrease its Net LTV, the Group 

has, as of the date of this Base Listing Particulars and subject to favourable market conditions and 

to obtaining all the necessary approvals, several options at its disposal, including (i) forming an 

institutional joint-venture on its standing industrial portfolio with the aim of reinvesting the 

proceeds into the Group’s business, (ii) sale of assets, and (iii) reduction in the pace of 

development, and (iv) issuance of bonds.  

Group Structure 

The following chart shows a simplified version of the Group’s structure as of the date of this Base 

Listing Particulars: 

 

As of the date of this Base Listing Particulars, the Issuer and the Group are indirectly controlled 

by Mr. Remon Vos, who controls, through his associated entities, 76.99 per cent. of the Issuer’s 

voting rights and shares; this control is based on the direct and indirect ownership and control of 

100 per cent. of the voting rights in CTP Holding B.V., the majority shareholder of the Issuer. 

The remaining 23.01 per cent. of the Issuer’s shares are in free-float. The Issuer’s shares are 

admitted to trading on Euronext Amsterdam. 
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CTP Property 

B.V. 

(Netherlands) 

Development arm 
- Management 
- Development 
- Land bank 
- Offices 
- Hotels 

Income producing arm 
- Completed income 

producing logistics 

properties 

Management 

Agreements 

76.99% 

100% 100% 

Bulgaria 
Czech 

Republic 

Hungary 

Netherlands 

Poland 

Romania 

Serbia 

Slovakia 

Slovenia 

Multivest B.V. 

(Netherlands) 
 

CTP Invest, spol. s r.o. 

(Czech Republic) 

100% 
Free-float 

23.01% 

France UK 

Germany Italy Spain 
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History 

The Group was founded in 1998 when the Group commenced construction of its first business 

park in Humpolec, Czech Republic, located on the key motorway in the country between Prague 

and Brno. The following timeline provides an overview of significant steps in the evolution of the 

Group: 

2000 The Group completed its first building. 

2007 
The Group became the largest industrial developer in the Czech Republic in terms 

of GLA.23 

2011 
The Group’s annual income from rental activity exceeded EUR 100 million for the 

first time. 

2013 
The Group entered the Prague market and its property portfolio reached two million 

square metres. 

2014 The Group launched its operations in Romania. 

2015 

The Group launched its expansion plan to reach three million square metres of GLA 

by 2020 and became a market leader in Romania with an acquisition of 380 thousand 

square metres.24 

2016 
The Group launched in Hungary, acquiring over 190,000 square metres of industrial 

assets. 

2018 

The Group’s property portfolio reached five million square metres and the Group 

entered into a strategic 10-year partnership with Deka Immobilien, which included 

a sale by the Group of three business parks in the Czech Republic for EUR 410 

million. 

2019 

The Group secured the refinancing of the complete Czech industrial portfolio by a 

syndicate loan facility for a total committed amount of EUR 1.889 billion in the 

largest real estate financing deal to date in the CEE region.  

Mr. Remon Vos obtained full control of the Group. 

2020 
The Issuer established the Programme and issued EUR 1.05 billion green bonds 

thereunder in two issues. 

2021 

The Group’s entire logistics and industrial GLA standing as of that date was 

BREEAM certified as ‘very good’ or ‘excellent’ in January 2021. 

In March 2021, the Issuer undertook an initial public offering, in which the Issuer 

offered newly issued shares to investors. The over-allotment shares were provided 

from the shareholding of the Issuer’s shareholder. All of the Issuer’s shares were 

admitted to trading on the regulated market of Euronext Amsterdam (the “IPO”). 

In June 2021 the Group refinanced the Czech Portfolio Facilities Agreement (as 

defined in “—Financial Indebtedness of the Group”) using the proceeds from the 

issuance of two series of green bonds issued in June 2021 and the proceeds from the 

IPO. 

In July 2021, the Group entered into the Revolving Credit Facility Agreement (as 

defined in “Description of the Issuer—Material Contracts”). 

                                                      
23  Source: JLL. 
24  Source: JLL. 
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In August 2021, the Group completed the acquisition of the Amsterdam Logistic 

Cityhub (“ALC”) with a net transaction value of EUR 305 million for 100 per cent. 

of the shares of the single-asset (“ALC Acquisition”), by which the Group 

commenced its expansion into the Netherlands. ALC is comprised of the next-

generation multilayer urban logistics facility CTPark ALC in Amsterdam with 

approximately 120,000 sqm of storage and last mile distribution space equipped for 

emission free transport and approximately 11,000 sqm of office space.  

In September 2021, the Group secured the financing of a part of its Czech industrial 

portfolio by a syndicated loan facility for a total committed amount of EUR 0.6 

billion.  

2022 

In January 2022, the Issuer issued EUR 700 million green bonds under the 

Programme. 

In February 2022, the Group completed its voluntary public takeover and delisting 

offer for the acquisition of DIR followed by the upstream cross-border merger with 

the Issuer being the surviving entity. DIR was subsequently integrated into Germany 

segment of the Group (see “—Recent Developments—DIR Takeover”). 

Recent Developments 

In January 2022, the Issuer issued green bonds under the Programme in an aggregate amount of 

EUR 700 million due 2026. In January 2022, the EUR 500 million 2.125 per cent. outstanding 

bonds due 2025 were validly tendered for purchase by the Issuer in the aggregate nominal amount 

of EUR 168,189,000 thus lowering the outstanding balance to EUR 331,813,000 effectively. 

DIR Takeover 

On 3 February 2022 the Group completed its voluntary public takeover and delisting offer for the 

acquisition of all no-par value bearer shares of DIR not already directly held by the Issuer 

followed by the upstream cross-border merger with the Issuer being the surviving entity. Within 

closing and settlement of the public takeover and delisting offer the Issuer offered either a cash 

consideration of EUR 17.12 or a share consideration of 1.25 shares in the share capital of the 

Issuer for each tendered share of DIR. As a result, 32,421,325 New Issuer Shares that are listed 

and admitted to trading at Euronext Amsterdam were issued to the former shareholders of DIR 

which opted for the share consideration as part of settlement, resulting in an increase of the total 

number of the shares issued by the Issuer to 432,814,135, representing an increase of 8.10 per 

cent. of the Issuer’s issued share capital.  

Through the DIR Takeover the Group strategically acquired 4.1 million sqm of total land size out 

of which 1.6 million sqm was attributable to commercial space. As of 31 December 2021, the DIR 

portfolio of EUR 830.6 million GAV consisted of approximately 90 properties with 

approximately 700 tenants, 89.5 per cent. Occupancy Rate and WAULT amounting to 5.2 years. 

Management believes that the COVID-19 pandemic has not impacted the industrial and logistics 

real estate in the CEE region as severely as other industries or the office, hotel or residential real 

estate segments. The Group has even seen increased demand from e-commerce and logistic 

companies who have needed to extend their space to supply to households. Up to the date of this 

Base Listing Particulars, the Group has not experienced any significant delays or variations in 

Rental Collection and Occupancy Rates from its property portfolio. Rental Collection levels in 

the three months ended 31 March 2022 remained similar to those in 2020 and 2021 (above 98 per 

cent.) and in line with historically negligible bad debt ratios. As of 31 December 2021, the Group 

has not experienced any material change in Occupancy Rate as compared to 94 per cent. as of 31 

December 2020, respectively. The Group also continued to organically grow the size of its 

property portfolio and as of 31 December 2021 had a committed development pipeline for 2022 
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of 958 thousand square metres. Furthermore, as of the date of this Base Listing Particulars, the 

Group’s construction and development projects have not experienced any major disruptions due 

to COVID-19. 

The Group’s Business 

The Group is the largest listed full-service owner, developer and manager of prime industrial and 

logistics property in the continental Europe based on GLA.25 It primarily operates in the Czech 

Republic and also in Romania, Hungary, Slovakia, Germany and the Netherlands. The Group 

provides a wide scope of services through its vertically integrated business model and dedicated 

in-house teams. The Group develops class-A industrial buildings for long-term hold and lease to 

a diverse base of international and domestic tenants who use them mainly for logistics, 

warehousing, light production, research and development, or as office space.  

In addition, the Group is a selective owner-developer of prime city-centre business parks 

providing premium office space in major cities in Czech Republic, where it also owns three hotels. 

As of 31 December 2021, the Group was the largest owner of logistics and industrial real estate 

in the Czech Republic, Slovakia, Hungary and Romania, with a market share measured by owned 

permitted industrial stock of GLA.26 

The Group provides a wide scope of services through its vertically integrated business model and 

dedicated in-house teams from the identification of the clients’ requirements and acquisition of 

the land, design, permitting and financing of the property, acting as general contractor to construct 

the buildings, to contacts with potential tenants and the property management after handover to 

tenants. Keeping such services in-house has allowed the Group to maintain a direct relationship 

with tenants and has resulted in high tenant retention and satisfaction, as evidenced by the Group’s 

retention and occupancy rates and business generated from existing customers. 

Property portfolio 

This section describes the Group’s existing property portfolio. As of 31 December 2021, the 

Group had a property portfolio with total GAV of EUR 8.5 billion. As of the same date, the 

Group’s wholly-owned property portfolio comprised over 500 properties and consisted of four 

parts: (i) the industrial portfolio, which consists of over 480 properties in 120 industrial parks27 

and other locations in ten countries: Czech Republic, Romania, Hungary, Slovakia, Serbia, 

Poland, Bulgaria, Germany, Netherlands and Austria, (ii) 11 properties in two city centre office 

parks located in Brno, the second largest city in the Czech Republic, (iii) a mix of several older 

industrial buildings in the Czech Republic and Germany with value of EUR 25 million and size 

of 44 thousand square metres currently held for sale, and (iv) other properties, mainly three 

Courtyard by Marriott hotels in the Czech Republic. In addition, the Group owns land bank for 

further expansion of its industrial portfolio. 

Industrial portfolio 

This section describes the Group’s industrial portfolio, which is the principal constituent of all its 

segments other than Hotels.  

                                                      
25  Based on the Group’s analysis. 
26  Source: CBRE. 
27  117 locations are owned by the Group and three parks are part of Deka Immobilien’s portfolio (sold by the Group 

in 2018) and are under management of the Group. 
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Overview 

The following table provides an overview of the Group’s existing portfolio excluding hotels as of 

and for the year ended 31 December 2021, unless otherwise indicated: 

Segment 

Number of 

industrial 

parks GLA 

Share of 

total GLA GAV 

Gross Rental 

Income 

Occupancy 

Rate 

 
 (in millions 

square metres) 

(in per cent.) (in EUR thousands) (in per cent.) 

Czech Republic(1)  .  54 3.9 49 4,764,500 220,036 96 

Romania ................  24 2.1 26 1,390,300 68,448 92 

Hungary ................  15 0.8 10 848,449 34,998 96 

Slovakia ................  12 0.7 9 644,839 28,623 98 

Netherlands ...........  1 0.1 1 347,405 -- N/A 

Other(2) ..................  20 0.4 5 464,784 13,658 N/A 

Total .....................  126 8.0 100 8,460,277 365,763 95 
___________ 

Notes: 

(1) In addition to the industrial portfolio, the Group’s Czech Republic segment includes also city centre office parks, 

see “—City centre office parks” below. 

(2) Includes countries where the Group has a smaller presence: Serbia, Poland, Germany, Bulgaria and Austria. 

The Group focuses on the development and ownership of large multi-use industrial and logistics 

business parks in order to address the largest potential tenant base via a flexible offering. 

Building types 

To meet the requirements of its tenants from various industries, the Group has developed five 

building types in its industrial and logistics parks ranging in size and functionality to support a 

broad spectrum of business activities, including manufacturing, distribution, research and 

development, office and retail operations. The following table provides an overview of the 

Group’s building types: 

Building type 

Target and 

illustrative tenant GLA Description and typical use 

  
(in square 

metres) 
 

ctBox ..................  

High-tech retailers, 

city logistics: 

Amtech, Linde 

500–800 

 Typical use: showroom/retail, office, research and 

development, warehousing, e-commerce 

 Description: premium, compact, hybrid 

CTFlex ...............  

Light manufacturers, 

repair centres, 

growing business: 

Acer, Edgewell 

1,000-8,000 

 Typical use: high-tech manufacturing, research and 

development, warehousing, e-commerce  

 Medium size, flexible, representative 

CTSpace .............  
Global companies: 

Maersk, DSV 
≥3,000 

 Typical use: logistics, light manufacturing, (e-) 

fulfilment, large scale warehousing 

 Large scale and high-quality 

CTFit ..................  

Built-to-suit: 

Honeywell, Thermo 

Fisher, Scientific 

≥5,000 

 Typical use: high-tech manufacturing, logistics, 

research and development, laboratories 

 Build-to-suit and state-of-the-art 

CTOffice ............  

Office: Moneta 

Money Bank, 

Vitesco 

≥195 
 Typical use: office, research and, call centres 

 Modern and efficient 
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Largest business parks 

As of 31 December 2021, the four largest industrial parks owned by the Group are CTPark 

Bucharest West and CTPark Bucharest (both Romania), CTPark Brno and CTPark Bor (both 

Czech Republic). 28  The parks cater to a wide variety of tenants involved in research and 

development, high-tech manufacturing, computer repair, logistics, and e-commerce serving a 

wide variety of industries. 

The following table provides key information of the Group’s ten largest industrial and logistics 

parks in term of GLA as of 31 December 2021: 

Industrial and 

Logistics Park 

Year of 

construction Location GLA 

Share of 

total GLA 

GLA under 

construction 

Adjacent 

land bank 

   (in thousands 

square metres) 

(in per 

cent.) 

(in thousands square 

metres) 

CTPark Bucharest West 2005 RO 747 9 15 1,301 

CTPark Bor ..................  2006 CZ 554 7 60 155 

CTPark Bucharest ........  2015 RO 544 7 11 206 

CTPark Brno ................  2005 CZ 503 6 - 299 

CTPark Ostrava ...........  2006 CZ 388 5 - 20 

CTPark Budapest West  2001 HU 228 3 54 46 

CTPark Modřice ..........  2003 CZ 208 3 - 27 

CTPark Budapest East .  2015 HU 182 2 21 8 

CTPark Hranice ...........  2014 CZ 152 2 - 89 

CTPark Bratislava........  2004 SK 124 2 8 21 

Projects under construction 

In addition to its existing industrial portfolio, the Group has a pipeline of projects under 

construction, including in countries where the Group has only limited presence so far. As of 31 

December 2021, the Group had a development pipeline of 958 thousand square metres of GLA. 

As of 31 December 2021, 42 per cent. of the Group’s under construction development pipeline 

for 2022 was already pre-let. As of 31 December 2021, the Group had EUR 0.8 billion of 

unutilised committed credit facilities in place to fund its development projects. Their draw down 

is subject to certain limitations as set out in the Conditions. 

The following table provides an pre-letting overview of the Group’s properties under construction 

as of 31 December 2021: 

Segment 

Properties under construction(1) 

Pre-let 

 (in per cent.) 

Czech Republic ............................................................................................  43 

Romania .......................................................................................................  70 

Hungary .......................................................................................................  49 

Slovakia .......................................................................................................  34 

Serbia ...........................................................................................................  52 

Netherlands  .................................................................................................   -- 

Total ............................................................................................................  42 
___________ 

Notes: 

(1) Properties under construction are projects under development that have not been completed. 

                                                      
28  Source: Company data 
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Land bank 

As of 31 December 2021, the Group had 17.8 million square metres of high-quality land bank 

with approximately 8 million square metres of buildable area29 covering several years of future 

development. 

As of 31 December 2021, the average value of the Group’s land bank was EUR 42 per one square 

metre, resulting in a total value of EUR 527 million. As of the same date, the land bank consisted 

of 60 per cent. land adjacent to the Group’s existing sites and 40 per cent. new sites.  

The following table provides an overview of the composition of the Group’s land bank as of 31 

December 2021: 

Segment Owned land Land under option 

 (in millions of square metres) 

Czech Republic ..........................................................................  3.9 2.0  

Romania .....................................................................................  2.8 0.1 

Hungary .....................................................................................  0.6 2.7 

Slovakia .....................................................................................  1.6 0.1 

Netherlands ................................................................................  0.9 0.4 

Other(1) .......................................................................................  2.1 0.6 

Total ..........................................................................................  11.9 5.9 
___________ 

Notes: 

(1) Includes countries where the Group has a smaller presence: Serbia, Poland, Germany, Bulgaria and Austria. 

As of 31 December 2021, in addition to its land bank, the Group had a signed purchase contract 

or future purchase contract of intent in respect of the purchase of further 5.8 million square metres 

of land mainly in the CEE region. 

Portfolio growth, occupancy rate and tenant retention 

Through a combination of mainly organic growth, own development and also targeted 

acquisitions, the Group has grown its industrial portfolio from 1.8 million square metres of GLA 

in 170 buildings in 31 December 2011 to 8 million square metres of GLA in approximately 500 

buildings as of 31 December 202130, resulting in a CAGR of 16 per cent. 

The following table provides an overview of the GLA, occupancy and tenant retention of the 

Group’s industrial portfolio in the period from 2011 to 2021: 

 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 

GLA under 

management(1) (in 

million square metres) ..  8.0 6.3 5.5 5.0 4.5 3.8 3.2 2.3 2.2 1.9 1.8 

GLA owned (in million 

square metres)...............  7.6 5.9 5.1 4.6 4.5 3.8 3.2 2.3 2.2 1.9 1.8 

Occupancy Rate (in per 

cent.) .............................  95 94 95 95 98 95 95 94 94 93 92 

Retention Rate (in per 

cent.)  ............................  92 92 83 86 86 94 93 91 84 71 80 
WAULT (in years) ........  6.7 6.2 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.5 5.8 6.1 6.1 5.9 
___________ 

Notes: 

(1) Includes the Group’s own portfolio and 390 thousand square metres of Deka Immobilien’s portfolio (sold by 

the Group in 2018) under management of the Group. 

                                                      
29  Based on a 45 per cent. buildable area ratio out of which 8 million is based on both owned and under option land. 
30  The figure is for assets under management (including 390 thousand square meters of DEKA portfolio not owned 

by the Group). 
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The following table provides an overview of the average square metre rental levels per month of 

the Group’s premises in its industrial portfolio properties in the period from 2019 to 2021: 

 2021 2020 2019 

 (in EUR per square metre per month) 

Industrial premises(1) ......................................................  13.3 11.7 11.9 

Office premises(2) ...........................................................  4.6 4.3 4.4 

Sanitary premises(3)  .......................................................  N/A N/A N/A 
___________ 

Source: the Group’s annual reports; data as of the end of the reporting period 

Notes: 

(1) The locations and tenants of the Group’s industrial property vary both between and across individual countries, 

resulting in the provided range of square metre prices instead of an average square metre price. 

(2) This refers to premises within the industrial properties used as office space. 

(3) This refers to premises within the industrial properties used as sanitary space. 

Industrial portfolio use and location 

The following table shows the tenants’ use of the Group’s industrial portfolio as of 31 December 

2021: 

 As of 31 December 2021 

 Share of GLA 

 (in per cent.) 

Warehouse/Production ...................................................................................  82 

Office .............................................................................................................  9 

Sanitary/Technical area ..................................................................................  5 

Other(1) ...........................................................................................................  4 
___________ 

Notes: 

(1) Includes retail premises, parking and service facilities. 

As of 31 December 2021, the average age of the Group’s industrial portfolio was nine years. 
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The following map shows the location of the Group’s parks as of 31 December 2021: 

 

The following table shows the size split of the Group’s industrial and logistics property parks by 

square metres as of 31 December 2021: 

 As of 31 December 2021 

 Share of parks’ GLA 

 (in per cent.) 

Less than 100,000 square metres ...................................................  87 

100,000 to 200,000 square metres ..................................................  7 

More than 200,000 square metres ..................................................  6 

The following table shows the size split of the buildings in the Group’s industrial and logistics 

property buildings by square metres as of 31 December 2021: 

 As of 31 December 2021 

 Share of buildings’ GLA 

 (in per cent.) 

Less than 10,000 square metres .....................................................  15 

10,000 to 40,000 square metres......................................................  57 

More than 40,000 square metres ....................................................  28 
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Business model 

The Group provides a full scope of services through its vertically integrated business model and 

dedicated in-house teams. The lease process typically starts with analysing the clients’ 

requirements such as facility size and intended use. It then continues with the search for 

appropriate locations, which often include existing properties at various parks in the Group’s 

network, mostly pre-zoned land plots in the Group’s land bank as well as alternative locations 

which could be acquired for the client. The locations are carefully selected, taking into account 

long-term client demand. The construction of the buildings allows a transformation from logistic 

to light production usage and opposite.  

Development 

Following the choice of the right location, the Group’s platform of real estate professionals then 

delivers a personalised service ranging from design of the building to any necessary permitting, 

engineering, construction and finally the completion of the development of the property. The 

construction process from initiation to completion usually takes between six and twelve months. 

The Group also arranges and manages development financing. 

The Group acts as general contractor to construct the building, aiming to complete construction 

on-time and on-budget and adhere to the highest safety standards, outsourcing to reliable, high-

quality suppliers. After open tenders are awarded, suppliers should meet budget, quality and 

environmental standards.  

Once the construction of the building shell is finished, the Group works with the client to install 

specialised manufacturing machinery, technology and other details such as employee break out 

rooms, and furnishings. 

Property management 

After handover, the Group remains the owner and manager of the property and keeps close contact 

with the tenant through its employees placed in the parks to ensure the proper and undisturbed 

operation of the building. Property management services are provided internally by designated 

Group property management companies in the respective country to the relevant property 

companies on the basis of property management agreements in all countries. The respective 

property companies, as landlords, agree in the lease agreements concluded with their tenants on 

the scope of maintenance, revision controls, repairs and other services, whereas those are being 

either (i) provided by the landlord, primarily on the basis of a fixed service charge, or alternatively 

on the basis of actual costs with advance payments which are reconcilable, or (ii) performed by 

the tenants. The respective property companies then conclude separate property management 

contracts with the relevant service company pertaining to the Group. The service company acts 

as the manager and secures the delivery of the services provided by the landlord under the tenant’s 

leases. Standard services provided by the Group at all parks usually include maintenance of the 

common parts of the park, grass cutting, snow clearing, regular trash disposal and park 

management. The Group also maintains and repairs the structural parts of the properties leased to 

the tenants. In addition, clients may choose to opt for a full-service package which, in addition to 

the standard services, includes all costs incurred for the revision controls and maintenance of the 

buildings leased by the tenants. 

The Group also continually enhances or refurbishes its property in order to ensure lasting value 

to the tenants, improve rental income and increase long-term occupancy rates. It will selectively 

forgo rent for a period of time in exchange for a tenant making improvements to a property, in 

combination with an extension of the lease.  
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Lease structure, tenants and tenant relationship 

A key role of the Group’s property management function is the negotiation of lease terms with 

new and existing tenants. Through its experienced professional leasing teams, the Group keeps 

up-to-date with market-standard leasing terms and seeks to enter into leases consistent with the 

latest market practice. The Group regularly evaluates and revises the rental rates of its warehouse 

properties. In addition, the lease agreements the Group has entered into with its tenants normally 

contain a fixed adjustment of rent clause. Furthermore, the new lease agreements entered into by 

the Group with its new tenants contain a so-called double indexation clause, catering for annual 

indexation being the greater of (a) a fixed escalator of the rent between 1.5 and 2 per cent. per 

annum, or (b) Consumer Price Index (CPI). Since the beginning of 2020, the most of the new 

lease agreements and amended lease agreements include such double indexation clause. Prior to 

2020, the Group’s lease agreements typically only had the fixed escalator clause. 

The Group actively communicates with its tenants to react quickly to both market changes and 

any change to their clients’ strategies and requirements. Its property experts develop relationships 

with tenants to understand their short-term objectives and how their investment aligns with their 

global strategy. For instance, as the clients’ business grow, the Group works with clients to 

facilitate their expansion plans. Based on the client’s requirements, the Group may agree to build 

an extension to their current facility, propose a different, more suitable location, or offer a 

different building solution if the client wants to locate a different business process. 

Keeping everything in-house has allowed the Group to maintain a direct relationship with its 

clients and has resulted in high tenant retention and satisfaction, as evidenced by the Group’s 

occupancy rates and business generated from existing customers. 

Tenants 

The Group has a wide and diversified international and domestic tenant base consisting primarily 

of blue-chip companies, whose operations range from e-commerce through logistics, 

manufacturing and IT to the automotive industry. The tenants are also diverse in the industries 

they serve either through warehousing, production or other uses of the facilities. The following 

table sets out an overview of selected Group tenants and their respective industries as of 31 

December 2021: 

Selected industries Selected clients 

Logistics ...........................................  

DHL, DSV, DB Schenker, Hellmann, Kuehne+Nagel, Maersk, FedEx, 

Raben, Lagermax, Gefco, XPO Logistics, CEVA Logistics, LOXXESS, 

Quehenberger.  

Automotive .......................................  

Yanfeng, Bridgestone, Faurecia, Adient, Grupo Antolin, Brembo, 

Lear Corporation, International Automotive Components. 

Manufacturing ..................................  ABB, Kompan, Honeywell, Zodiac Aerospace, BJS. 

High-tech ..........................................  

Acer, Lenovo, ThermoFisher Scientific, Smiths Medical, Amtech, Wistron, 

Tieto. 

Vitesco Technologies.  

E-Commerce, Retail, Wholesale & 

Distribution ......................................  Primark, SOMPRODUCT, Tech Data, Rohlik.cz, Phoenix Group, Profi. 
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The following table sets out the breakdown of the industries in which the Group’s tenants operate 

by GLA as of 31 December 2021: 

 As of 31 December 2021 

 Industry Breakdown by GLA 

 (in per cent.) 

Automotive .............................................................................  22 

of which: Interior & Exterior ..................................................  50 

Chassis....................................................................  16 

Powertrain ..............................................................  14 

Body ........................................................................  8 

Electric ...................................................................  12 

Warehousing & Logistics........................................................  50 

Manufacturing .........................................................................  21 

Other .......................................................................................  7 

The following table sets out the breakdown of the Group’s Gross Rental Income by building use 

for the year ended 31 December 2021, 2020 and 2019: 

 

Year ended 31 December 

2021 2020 2019 

 (in per cent.) 

Production and warehousing ...............................................  66 65 65 

Third-party logistics and distribution ..................................  21 20 20 

Office ..................................................................................  10 13 13 

Other ...................................................................................  3 2 2 

As of and for the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group had a base of over 750 tenants, of 

which the top 20 tenants, based on GLA leased, amounted to 24 per cent. of the total Gross Rental 

Income received by the Group and occupied 23 per cent. of the Group’s GLA. 

The following table sets out certain information on the Group’s top 20 tenants by amount of rent 

including service charge paid for the year ended 31 December 2021: 

 Gross area leased Number of parks 

Number of 

buildings 

 

(in thousand square 

metres)   

Yanfeng ....................................................  149 3 8 

DHL .........................................................  144 9 13 

Quehenberger ...........................................  136 5 11 

Loxxess  ...................................................  113 1 2 

DSV .........................................................  111 4 8 

Delihome  .................................................  104 1 20 

Primark  ....................................................  93 1 1 

Raben .......................................................  93 12 12 

Faurecia ....................................................  91 6 7 

Schenker ...................................................  78 7 10 

Maersk .....................................................  76 1 1 

Honeywell ................................................  76 2 6 

Brembo .....................................................  66 1 3 

Wistron InfoComm ..................................  65 1 1 

Bridgestone ..............................................  62 1 1 

JV Europe  ................................................  59 4 4 

International Automotive Components ....  57 2 4 

Thermo Fisher Scientific ..........................  57 1 2 

Profirom Food  .........................................  56 1 2 

Tech Data Distribution .............................  54 1 1 

Total ........................................................  1,740 N/A N/A 

In addition, the Group has achieved high tenant loyalty as 92 per cent. of the Group’s new letting 

activity in the year ended 31 December 2021 was generated from existing tenants. This allows 
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the Group to grow in the CEE region by serving the tenants’ ongoing location needs, either as an 

extension to an existing property or an entirely new facility in a different market.  

Occupancy rates and lease maturity profile 

The following table sets out the Occupancy Rate of the Group’s industrial portfolio as of the dates 

indicated: 

Typical lease terms 

The Group’s typical lease structure includes an initial term of five to 15 years, with possible break 

options, euro denominated rent, annual rent indexation and typically benefits from financial 

sureties, such as bank guarantees, deposits and parent company guarantees. The tenants cover the 

costs of consumed utilities, in most cases directly, unless technically not possible, and insurance 

of its business and equipment. The Group provides services related to the common areas of the 

parks (such as access roads, common paved areas and greenery), in most cases based on a fixed 

service charge payable by the tenants of the relevant park. As regards the split of obligations 

related to maintenance, revision controls and repairs of the leased property, the Group usually 

secures fulfilment of those obligations at its own costs with respect to structural parts of the 

properties and carries out major repairs, whereas the rest should be performed by the tenants 

(unless they opted for the full-service package) at their own costs. The tenants’ leases often 

contain a cap on the expenses to be spent by the tenant on repairs for both each individual repair 

and all repairs carried out within one year. In case this cap is exceeded, the Group must cover any 

additional costs. The costs of building insurance and property taxes are either borne by the Group 

or in some cases are being re-invoiced to the tenants. 

City centre office parks 

In addition to the industrial and logistics business parks, the Group’s property portfolio includes 

also four city centre office parks which provide premium office space, retail stores, office 

services, and other amenities. Three of them are located in Brno, the second largest city in the 

Czech Republic and the remaining one is located in Ostrava, the third largest city in the Czech 

Republic. The city centre office parks offer an aggregate of 183 thousand square metres of office 

space and 17 thousand square metres of retail space.  

Other property portfolio 

In addition to its industrial portfolio, the Group has a portfolio of three hotels in the Czech 

Republic: the Courtyard by Marriott Prague Airport, Courtyard by Marriott Brno and Courtyard 

by Marriott Pilsen. The hotels owned by the Group offer a total of 630 rooms and 21 conference 

facilities. 

Sustainability and Environmental Matters 

The Group is strongly committed to sustainability and has a number of green initiatives. The 

Group’s sustainability efforts resulted in achieving operational carbon neutrality by the end of 

Country 

As of 31 December 

2021 2020 2019 

 (in per cent.) 

Czech Republic.....................................................................  96 96 95 

Romania ...............................................................................  92 90 92 

Hungary ................................................................................  96 92 98 

Slovakia ................................................................................  98 98 96 

Netherlands  ..........................................................................   100 N/A N/A 

Other .....................................................................................  94 95 95 

Total .....................................................................................  95 94 95 
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2021. In 2012, the Group became the first company outside the UK to be awarded the highest 

level, ‘outstanding’, by BREEAM for one of its office buildings at Spielberk office park in Brno. 

The Group has had its buildings regularly certified by BREEAM since 2013 and in January 2021, 

the Group completed the certification as ‘very good’ or better of its entire logistics and industrial 

GLA by BREEAM. The Group plans to re-certify all buildings every three years. 

As of the date of this Base Listing Particulars, the Group is defining its net emission targets to be 

in line with the reductions in Green House Gas (“GHG”) emissions required to keep global 

warming to a maximum of +1.5 ºC. The Group focuses on two priorities aimed at offsetting its 

carbon footprint and targeting carbon neutrality, such as reforestation and photovoltaic solar 

electricity roll out.   

In order to serve as carbon dioxide compensation in reducing its carbon footprint and thus 

mitigating the negative impacts of climate change, the Group acquires and manages land for 

reforestation in the Czech Republic, maintains and replants original tree species as well as takes 

measures to strengthen biodiversity. As of the date of this Base Listing Particulars the Group 

owns 560 hectares of forests in the Czech Republic, which had in the past suffered from 

degradation as a result of the prior introduction of wood from non-indigenous species and the 

emergence of the destructive bark beetle. The Group’s objective is to own one square metre of 

land for every square metre in the Group’s property portfolio. 

In May 2021, the Group received an Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) risk score 

of 11.0 from Sustainalytics. The ESG risk score measures the degree to which a company 

enterprise value is exposed to material financial impacts from ESG factors. The score of 11.0 

places the Issuer in the lower end of the “low-risk” category, which ranges from 10–20 on the 

Sustainalytics scale. At the end of 2021, the Group was also certified as net carbon negative for 

its own operations (Scope 1 and 2), as validated by external agency SCS. Additionally, the Issuer 

was ranked in the highest category “strong” for the ESG management, which support the Issuer’s 

ability to adequately manage ESG-related matters in terms of policies and programmes, as well 

as through quantitative performance measurement. 

The Group is rolling out photovoltaic solar power plants on the vast roofs of its assets with a 

targeted capacity of approximately 50 MWp, with a total potential installed capacity of 500 MWp. 

As of 31 December 2021, the Group’s total installed solar capacity was approximately 6.1 MWp. 

The Group targets to develop 18 MWp of electricity capacity in the Czech Republic in 2022 alone. 

Moreover, the Group intends to submit an application for governmental subsidies in order to cover 

a part of its planned capital expenditures. As of the date of this Base Listing Particulars, the Group 

operates eight photovoltaic solar power plants. Since 2010, all of the Group’s newly developed 

buildings are ‘solar ready’, meaning either that the roofs are built to allow the creation of a 

photovoltaic solar power plant on each building by incorporating the necessary hook-up 

technology, or they were built with solar panels already installed. See also “Risk Factors—The 

Group is exposed to operational and regulatory risks relating to its photovoltaic solar power 

plants and to risks inherent to the energy market generally.” 

Furthermore, the Group has been installing smart meters in most of its properties combined with 

a building management system (‘BMS’) in newer buildings. The implementation of smart data-

gathering technologies enables the Group to better analyse and improve the performance and 

maintenance of the Group’s building equipment over time. The Group is proactively engaging 

with tenants through software and personal meetings to lower their energy consumption and 

helping tenants to reduce their impact on the environment. From 2021 onwards, a majority of the 

electricity connection points contracted by the Group are supplied using renewable energy only. 

In addition, the Group has been installing low-energy consumption LED lighting in all its 

facilities. It piloted circular practices in its city centre business parks, such as a zero waste 

initiative launched in 2019, comprising of implementation of a zero-waste strategy throughout its 
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office portfolio and elimination of single-use plastics, with the aim to ultimately transfer such best 

practices to its industrial portfolio as well. 

The Group is fully ISO 14001 and ISO 50001 compliant in the Czech and Romanian markets. 

The Group has been pursuing ISO certifications for environmental and energy management 

systems for its entire property portfolio and, as of the date of this Base Listing Particulars, aims 

to also finalise the ISO certification in the other markets in which it operates. Apart from ISO 

certifications, the Group aims to achieve WELL Gold certification for its non-industrial projects. 

Social and Corporate Governance 

Information on Code of conduct and Compliance programme 

The Group continuously strives to maintain an ethical corporate environment and conduct its 

activities in compliance with applicable legislation and in accordance with good business practice. 

The Group’s code of conduct is available on its website. The Group has established compliance 

policies (including with respect to sanctions and trade restrictions, anti-money laundering, anti-

bribery and anti-corruption, and fair competition) and has institutionalized procedures in order to 

(i) identify potential transactions or dealings with sanctioned parties and parties at risk of being 

subject to sanctions, (ii) promote and ensure compliance with applicable anti-bribery and anti-

corruption laws, anti-money laundering laws and competition laws, and (iii) promote and ensure 

compliance with the code of conduct. 

Insurance  

The Group maintains insurance protection in all countries where it has properties and where it is 

currently developing and operating its business. The Group carries various types of insurance 

coverage in amounts it believes are reasonable for the business including property all-risk 

insurance providing also business interruption coverage and against material damage to its 

business assets caused by, among other things, fire, explosions, earthquakes, flooding and theft, 

and directors’ and officers’ insurance and professional indemnity insurance. In addition, for 

construction projects, the Group purchases construction all-risk insurance to complement the 

insurance policies taken out by the particular contractors hired by the Group. Tenants are required 

to take out their own insurance for their property located in the buildings as well as for potential 

damages caused by them on the Group’s or other tenants’ property. 

The Issuer believes that its insurance coverage is adequate and in accordance with customary 

industry practice in the markets in which the Group operates. Management regularly reviews the 

adequacy of the insurance coverage. However, no assurance can be given that the Group will not 

incur any damages that are not covered by its insurance policies or that exceed the coverage limits 

of such insurance policies. 

Employees  

The Group has experienced steady of increase in the number of employees growing from 105 to 

520 between 2008 and 31 December 2021, respectively.  
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The table below provides an overview of the average numbers of employees of the Group, 

subdivided per geographic segment. These numbers are measured in Full Time Employees 

(“FTE”) (excluding associates).  

 As of 31 December 

Geographic subdivision of employees 2021 2020 2019 

Czech Republic ...............................................................  258.4 233.1  225.0 

Slovakia  .........................................................................  35.7 26.2 20.0 

Hungary ..........................................................................  55.1 39.8 19.1 

Romania ..........................................................................  74.7 60.7 70.0 

Serbia ..............................................................................  15.6 11.2 5.0 

Netherlands  ....................................................................  7.2 -- -- 

Other countries ................................................................  16.7 8.3 6.0 

Total ...............................................................................  463.3 379.3 345.1 

Following the DIR Takeover, the overall number of the Group’s employees further increased. 

The number of the Group’s FTE increases in line with the Group’s planned growth. Other than 

increase in overall number of employees associated with DIR Takeover there have been no 

significant changes in the number of FTEs employed by the Group since 31 December 2021. 

Financial Indebtedness of the Group 

This section provides an overview of the Group’s indebtedness comprising of interest-bearing 

loans and borrowings and bonds issued. As of 31 December 2021, 25 per cent. of the Group’s 

interest-bearing loans and borrowings and bonds issued was secured and 194 per cent. of its asset 

base was encumbered. The establishment of the Programme and the subsequent issues of notes 

thereunder have allowed the Group to diversify its funding sources away from pure secured bank 

debt by accessing capital markets financing. While maintaining some secured bank loans with the 

key relationship banks, the Group managed to achieve a more flexible capital structure based 

primarily on unsecured funding model. 

As of 31 December 2021, the Group’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings and bonds issued 

amounted to EUR 4,513 million, of which EUR 3,394 million was bonds issued by the Issuer. All 

of the bonds were issued by the Issuer. A material part of Group’s interest-bearing loans and 

borrowings was owed by the subsidiaries of the Issuer, primarily under the 2022 Czech Portfolio 

Facilities Agreement (as defined below), which was entered into in September 2021. 

Consequently, the Group’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings are structurally senior to the 

indebtedness of the Issuer under the Notes (see “Risk Factors—Risks relating to the Notes—Risks 

related to the Notes generally—Risks relating to structural subordination of the Notes”). In 

addition, as of 31 December 2021, the Group had EUR 0.8 billion unutilised committed credit 

facilities in place to fund its future development projects. Their draw down is subject to certain 

limitations as set out in the Conditions.  
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The following table sets forth the Group’s loans and borrowings including bank overdrafts, issued 

bonds and related party loans as of 31 December 2021 and 2020:  

 As of 31 December 

 2021 2020 

 (in EUR thousands) 

Issued bonds at nominal value ..............................................................................  3,400,002 1,050,000 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings ..................................................................  1,138,598 2,365,895 

Loans owed to related parties(1) ............................................................................  18 37,171 

Bank overdraft ......................................................................................................  -- -- 

Total .....................................................................................................................  4,538,618 3,453,066 

___________ 

Notes: 

(1) Payables to related parties include long-term payables to related parties as well as short-term payables to 

related parties. 

(2) Security includes conventional, asset-backed mortgages, corporate share pledges and other typical real estate-

related security instruments. 

The following table provides an overview of the maturity profile of the Group’s indebtedness 

(interest bearing loans and borrowings and bonds issued) as of 31 December 2021 in the period 

from 31 December 2021 to 31 December 2031: 

 

<1 

year 

<2 

years 

<3 

years 

<4 

years 

<5 

years 

<6 

years 

<7 

years 

<8 

years 

<9 

years 

<10 

years 

 (in EUR millions) 

Debt maturity 23 427 23 1,065 524 516 79 512 325 1,045 

The Group’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings are typically secured by the subsidiaries’ 

assets (usually including its shares, properties, and receivables). 

Bonds 

The following table provides a basic overview of outstanding bonds issued by the Group as of 31 

December 2021: 

Group Member Ranking Ratings at Issue 

Bonds 

Outstanding(1) Maturity Coupon 

 
  

(in EUR 

millions)  

(in per 

cent.) 

Issuer(2)  
Senior unsecured  

unsubordinated 

Baa3 (Moody’s) / BBB- 

(Standard & Poor’s) 500(3)(4) 

1 October 

2025 2.125 

Issuer(2) ..............  

Senior unsecured  

unsubordinated 

Baa3 (Moody’s) / BBB- 

(Standard & Poor’s) 400 

27 November 

2023 0.625 

Issuer(2) ..............  

Senior unsecured  

unsubordinated 

Baa3 (Moody’s) / BBB- 

(Standard & Poor’s) 500 

18 February 

2027 0.750 

Issuer(2) ..............  

Senior unsecured  

unsubordinated 

Baa3 (Moody’s) / BBB- 

(Standard & Poor’s) 500 21 June 2029 1.250 

Issuer(2) ..............  

Senior unsecured  

unsubordinated 

Baa3 (Moody’s) / BBB- 

(Standard & Poor’s) 500 21 June 2025 0.500 

Issuer(2) ..............  

Senior unsecured  

unsubordinated 

Baa3 (Moody’s) / BBB- 

(Standard & Poor’s) 500 27 Sept 2031 1.500 

Issuer(2) ..............  

Senior unsecured  

unsubordinated 

Baa3 (Moody’s) / BBB- 

(Standard & Poor’s) 500 27 Sept 2026 0.625 

      

Total ..................    3,400   

___________ 

Notes: 

(1) Represents principal owed, disregarding accrued interest, unamortised discounts/premiums and fees. 

(2) Issued by the Issuer under the Programme. 

(3) In September 2021, the Group has repaid bonds from this issue in the nominal value of EUR 150 million thus 

lowering the outstanding balance to EUR 500 million effectively. 
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(4) In January 2022, the Group has repaid bonds from this issue in the nominal value of EUR 168,189,000 thus 

lowering the outstanding balance to EUR 331,813,000 effectively.  

Bank loans 

The following table provides a basic overview of the Group’s principal bank loan facilities as of 

31 December 2021: 

Group Member 

Type of 

Facility 

Security and 

Guarantees 

Aggregate 

Outstanding 

Balance Base Rate(1) 

Final Maturity 

Date 

   (in EUR millions)   

Five property 

companies(2) ....................  

Committed 

term 

Security 

598.50 

N/A(3) 6 September 

2031 

CTP Portfolio Finance 

Czech B.V.(4)  ..................  

Committed 

term 

Security 

383.16 

EURIBOR(5) 11 September 

2030(8)  

Issuer ..............................  Revolving - 0 EURIBOR 9 July 2024 

Total ................................    981.66   

___________ 

Notes: 

(1) May vary for different facilities 

(2) CTPark Brno I, spol. s r.o., CTPark Brno II, spol. s r.o., CTP Moravia South, spol. s r.o., CTPark Ostrava, 

spol. s r.o. and CTPark Prague East, spol. s r.o.  

(3) The loans under the 2022 Czech Portfolio Facility Agreement were provided as fixed rate loans. 

(4) And two property companies owning a significant part of the Group’s industrial portfolio in the Czech 

Republic. 

(5) Certain loans under the Aareal Facilities Agreement have been converted into fixed rate loans in November 

2020. In February 2022, all loans under the Aareal Facilities Agreement have been converted into fixed rate 

loans with the agreed fixed rate equal to the applicable margin. 

(6) Applicable margin can be increased by 1.5% per annum if insurance undertakings set out in the Aareal 

Facilities Agreement are breached (insurance covenant breach margin step-up due to German covered bonds 

act regulation). 

(7) In February 2022, an additional margin of 1.75 per cent. per annum was incorporated into the Aareal Facilities 

Agreement and shall apply if the LTV is less than 50%. 

(8) In February 2022, the final maturity date was extended until 15 February 2034. 

The loan documentation for income producing properties normally includes a maximum LTV and 

a minimum DSCR covenant. 

As of 31 December 2021, the Group’s subsidiaries had approximately 10 credit facilities with 

lending institutions, most of which fund a specific property or portfolio of a number of properties.  

Material Contracts 

2022 Czech Portfolio Facilities Agreement 

On 6 September 2021, CTPark Brno I, spol. s r.o., CTPark Brno II, spol. s r.o., CTP Moravia 

South, spol. s r.o., CTPark Ostrava, spol. s r.o. and CTPark Prague East, spol. s r.o., property 

companies incorporated in the Czech Republic entered into an a senior facilities agreement with 

Česká spořitelna, a.s., Československá obchodní banka, a. s., Erste Group Bank AG, Komerční 

banka, a.s. and UniCredit Bank Czech Republic and Slovakia, a.s. as mandated lead arrangers, 

Erste Group Bank AG and UniCredit Bank Czech Republic and Slovakia, a.s. as bookrunners, 

Komerční banka, a.s. as agent and security agent and the financial institutions named therein as 

original lenders (the “2022 Czech Portfolio Facilities Agreement”). The 2022 Czech Portfolio 

Facilities Agreement provides for term loan facilities in the aggregate amount of EUR 1 billion 

(with EUR 598.5 million outstanding as of 31 December 2021). The Group used the proceeds of 

the 2022 Czech Portfolio Facilities Agreement for, among other things, a provision of certain 

upstream loans and a refinancing of certain intra-group loans. 

The obligations of the borrowers under the 2022 Czech Portfolio Facilities Agreement are general, 

senior secured obligations. The security package includes primarily mortgages over the borrowers’ 
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industrial portfolio in the Czech Republic as well as pledges of ownership interests in the 

borrowers, their bank accounts, insurance receivables, rent receivables and certain intra-group 

receivables. The final maturity date is 6 September 2031. The interest rate is calculates as a fixed 

margin. 

The 2022 Czech Portfolio Facilities Agreement contains restrictive provisions which, among 

other things, limit the borrowers’ ability to incur additional financial indebtedness, perform 

acquisitions, enter into mergers or other corporate reconstructions, make distributions and certain 

other payments, dispose of assets, provide loans or guarantees, or create security. These 

restrictions are subject to a number of exceptions and qualifications being, e.g.: (i) prior consent 

of all or majority of (as applicable) the lenders; (ii) compliance with agreed thresholds; or (iii) 

occurrence of such event in the ordinary course of an obligor’s business. The 2022 Czech 

Portfolio Facilities Agreement also contains change of control provisions the triggering of which 

may result in mandatory prepayment of the loans provided thereunder. 

Aareal Facilities Agreement 

On 11 September 2020, CTP Portfolio Finance Czech B.V. (a wholly-owned subsidiary of CTP 

Property B.V.) and two property companies owning a significant part of the Group’s industrial 

portfolio in the Czech Republic entered into a facilities agreement with Aareal Bank AG as 

arranger, agent, security agent and original lender (the “Aareal Facilities Agreement”). Certain 

provisions of the Aareal Facilities Agreement were substantially amended in February 2022. 

The Aareal Facilities Agreement provides for term loan facilities in the aggregate amount of 

EUR 403.5 million (with EUR 383.16 million outstanding as of 31 December 2021). The Group 

used the proceeds of the Aareal Facilities Agreement for a partial refinancing of the then existing 

financial indebtedness of the Group. 

The obligations of the borrowers under the Aareal Facilities Agreement are general, senior 

secured obligations. The security package includes primarily mortgages over the property 

companies’ industrial portfolio in the Czech Republic as well as pledges of ownership interests 

in the borrower and the property companies, their bank accounts, insurance receivables and rent 

receivables. The final maturity date is 15 February 2034. The interest rate is calculated as a fixed 

rate.  

The Aareal Facilities Agreement contains restrictive provisions which, among other things, limit 

the Group’s ability to incur additional financial indebtedness, perform acquisitions, invest in joint 

ventures, make distributions and certain other payments, dispose of assets, provide loans or 

guarantees, or create security. These restrictions are subject to a number of exceptions and 

qualifications being, e.g.: (i) prior consent of all or majority of (as applicable) the lenders; (ii) 

compliance with agreed thresholds; or (iii) occurrence of such event in the ordinary course of an 

obligor’s business. The Aareal Facilities Agreement also contains change of control provisions 

the triggering of which may result in mandatory prepayment of the loans provided thereunder. 

Revolving Credit Facility Agreement 

On 9 July 2021, the Issuer as borrower entered into a revolving credit facility agreement with a 

syndicate of banks including Citibank, N.A., London Branch, ING Bank N.V., Československá 

obchodní banka, a.s., Erste Group Bank AG, Goldman Sachs Bank USA, J.P. Morgan AG, 

Komerční banka, a.s., Morgan Stanley Bank International Limited, Raiffeisen Bank International 

AG and UniCredit Bank Czech Republic And Slovakia a.s. (the “Revolving Credit Facility 

Agreement”). The Revolving Credit Facility Agreement provides for an unsecured revolving 

credit facility in the aggregate amount of EUR 400 million with a EUR 100 million incremental 

facility (with EUR 0 outstanding as of the date of this Base Listing Particulars). The final maturity 

date is 9 July 2024. The facility can be used for refinancing of the Group’s indebtedness, working 

capital and other general corporate purposes, and offers the Group committed stand-by liquidity. 
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DEKA SPA and guarantees 

On 25 October 2018, CTP Invest and CTP PROPERTY LUX S.à r.l. as sellers and Deka 

Immobilien and Westinvest as buyers entered, inter alia, into the DEKA SPA relating to CTP 

Portfolio A Plzen Park, Teplice Park and Prague North Park. Pursuant to its terms, the sellers sold 

portfolio companies owning three business parks, consisting of 32 buildings in the Czech 

Republic for a price of EUR 410 million. 31  The Group provided to Deka Immobilien and 

Westinvest the DEKA Guarantees, which include (i) a rental guarantee regarding vacant premises, 

rent shortfall and outstanding tenant incentives, (ii) tenant guarantees regarding defaults, break 

options and non-solicitation, and (iii) a technical guarantee for the repairs of the buildings. The 

duration of the guarantees is until 15 November 2028, unless terminated earlier pursuant to the 

agreement (see “Risk Factors—Risks related to the Group’s business and industry generally—

Risks related to the Group’s financial condition—The Group is exposed to potential claims under 

the DEKA Guarantees.”). The Group, through CTP Invest, has also agreed with the buyers to 

manage the portfolio for 10 years for a service fee ranging between EUR 2 and 3 million for each 

year. 

Legal Proceedings  

The Group may from time to time be subject to governmental, regulatory and legal or arbitral 

proceedings and claims. As of 31 December 2021, the Group had no provision for claims and 

legal costs. There are no, and during the 12 months preceding the date of this Base Listing 

Particulars there have not been any, governmental, regulatory, legal or arbitration proceedings 

(including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened of which the Group is aware) 

that may have, or have had in the recent past, significant effects on the Issuer and/or the Group’s 

financial position or profitability.  

                                                      
31  EUR 392 million including latent capital gain tax. 
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ISSUER MANAGEMENT 

Overview 

The Issuer has a one-tier board structure consisting of two executive directors (the “Executive 

Directors”) and four non-executive directors (the “Non-Executive Directors”, and the members 

of the Board collectively as the “Directors” and each of them individually as a “Director”). The 

Executive Directors are responsible for the Issuer’s day-to-day management. The Non-Executive 

Directors supervise the Executive Directors’ policy and performance of duties and the Issuer’s 

general affairs and business, and advise the Executive Directors. The Issuer has a well-defined 

management organisation. Certain key officers have been appointed to manage the Issuer together 

with the Board. 

As of the date of this Base Listing Particulars, the Issuer has an executive committee (the 

“Executive Committee”) formally in place which comprises the Executive Directors and certain 

key officers of the Issuer. However, the Issuer acknowledges that the establishment of the 

Executive Committee after having been operational as a listed company since March 2021 is no 

longer appropriate for the Issuer at its current stage. As such, the Executive Committee itself is 

inactive and does not have any meetings. The day-to-day management of the Group is carried out 

by the CEO, Mr. Remon Vos, the chief financial officer of the Group, Mr. Richard Wilkinson, 

and the country heads. There is also a frequent (monthly) contact between the chief financial 

officer of the Group and the Non-Executive Directors. Therefore, having an additional layer of 

decision-making is no longer considered to be necessary from a governance and business 

perspective and the Issuer is considering replacing the Executive Committee to improve the 

efficiency of the day-to-day operations and management of the Issuer. The Board will have a 

discussion on the positioning of the Executive Committee within the Group also considering 

leadership styles and skills in the course of 2022. The existence of a stable group of senior 

management will be considered in this discussion. Once the issue is resolved, the Issuer may 

amend its board rules to document the new structure. 

The Board 

The Board, as a one-tier board, is both the executive and supervisory body of the Issuer. The 

Board is responsible for the management of the Issuer’s operations as well as the operations of 

the Group. It also supervises the general course of affairs of the Issuer and its business enterprise, 

taking into consideration the interests of the Group’s stakeholders (which includes, but is not 

limited, to its customers, its suppliers, its employees and the shareholders of the Issuer) and 

observes the corporate social responsibility issues that are relevant to the Group. The Board has 

also established an audit committee and a nomination and remuneration committee, which have 

preparatory and/or advisory roles to the Board and consist of Non-Executive Directors. 

Directors are appointed by the general meeting of the Issuer (the “General Meeting”) base on a 

binding nomination of Non-Executive Directors on behalf of the Board. The binding nomination 

shall be included in the notice of the General Meeting at which the appointment shall be 

considered. The Articles of Association provide that the Board is authorised to determine the 

number of Executive and Non-Executive Directors.  

As of the date of this Base Listing Particulars, the Board consists of the following six Directors, 

with biographical information provided below. 

Name Date of birth Position Director as of End of Term 

Remon Vos 1970 Executive-Director designated as 

Chief Executive Officer 

1 July 2020(1) Indefinite 

Richard Wilkinson 1964 Executive-Director designated as 

Chief Financial Officer 

28 December 

2020 

2025 

Barbara Knoflach 1965 Non-Executive Director and 

Senior Independent Director 

29 March 2021 2024 

Gerardus van Kesteren 1949 Non-Executive Director 29 March 2021 2024 
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Susanne Eickermann-

Riepe 

1960 Non-Executive Director 29 March 2021 2024 

Pavel Trenka 1973 Non-Executive Director 29 March 2021 2024 
___________ 

Notes: 

(1)  Mr. Vos can effectively be regarded as a managing director of the Issuer as of its incorporation on 21 October 2019, as he served 
initially until 30 June 2020 as a member of the management board of CTP Management B.V. (currently named: CTP Turkish 

Holding B.V.), which legal entity was the sole director of CTP N.V. until 30 June 2020 and since 1 July 2020 Mr. Vos is 

appointed in his own capacity. 

The business address for all Directors is Apollolaan 151, 1077 AR Amsterdam, the Netherlands. 

Remon Vos 

Mr. Vos co-founded the Group with two other investors in 1998 to develop full-service business 

parks and obtained full control of the Group in July 2019. He has been the Group’s chief executive 

officer since 1999 and has been personally involved at both the executive and operational levels 

in all CEE markets, growing the Group’s real estate portfolio and strengthening relationships with 

long-term business partners. Prior to the establishment of the Group, Mr. Vos worked as an 

intermediary between Czech and Dutch companies. 

Richard Wilkinson  

Mr. Wilkinson has been the Group’s chief financial officer since July 2018. He is directly 

involved in defining the overall Group’s financial strategy in order to improve the Group’s 

performance and in providing a financial perspective on all development initiatives. Prior to 

joining the Group, Mr. Wilkinson worked for nearly 30 years at Erste Group in Vienna, where he 

held various senior management positions in treasury, balance sheet management and corporate 

banking. Mr. Wilkinson led the commercial real estate business of Erste Group in CEE for 14 

years, and took over Erste Group’s commercial real estate business in 2011. Whilst at Erste Group, 

he worked with the Group from 2003 until joining the Group in 2018. Mr. Wilkinson holds a 

degree in law from the London School of Economics. 

Barbara Knoflach 

Ms. Knoflach is a Non-Executive Director and Senior Independent Director. Ms. Knoflach is the 

founder of LifeWorkSpace, a consulting and private investment company focused on innovative 

and sustainable strategies in the Real Estate industry. In addition to her functions within the Group, 

Ms. Knoflach will continue to be the managing director of LifeWorkSpace. Ms. Knoflach is also 

a member of the board of directors of Swiss Prime Site, a listed real estate company in Switzerland. 

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Knoflach was global head of BNP Paribas Real Estate Investment 

Management for four years, as well as deputy CEO of BNP Paribas Real Estate S.A. Before that, 

she worked for 16 years for SEB AB, a leading Nordic financial services group, of which 10 years 

as board member of the Wealth and Asset Management division, with responsibility for the 

international real estate business and asset management in Germany. Ms. Knoflach was also 

member of the supervisory board of several companies. Most recently, from 2016 until 2019, she 

was chairwoman and member of the supervisory board of HQ Capital GmbH in Bad Homburg, 

Germany. Prior to that, she was a member of the supervisory board of CA Immobilien GmbH in 

Vienna. Ms. Knoflach holds a degree in economics from the University of Applied Sciences in 

Mainz.  

Gerardus van Kesteren 

Mr. van Kesteren is a Non-Executive Director. Prior to joining the Group, he worked for Kuehne 

+ Nagel International AG for 25 years and was the company’s CFO for 15 years, until his 

retirement. Before that, he held leading finance positions at Sara Lee Corporation for 17 years. 

Mr. van Kesteren was member of the supervisory board of Gategroup until 2017, a company 

active in the field of airline catering and hospitality services, and he currently holds supervisory 
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board positions at the following logistics companies: Raben Group N.V. (the Netherlands), 

Planzer Holding AG (Switzerland) and Janel Corporation (USA). Mr. van Kesteren is also a 

senior industry advisor at McKinsey & Company Germany. He has a degree in economics and 

accountancy from Hogeschool Arnhem (the Netherlands) and is a chartered accountant. Moreover, 

Mr. van Kesteren was awarded the Switzerland CFO of 2010 and he served as chairman of the 

CFO Circle (Switzerland) between 2014 and 2019. He is also the founder and chairman of the 

van Kesteren Foundation, which extends aid and organises youth programs across developing 

countries. 

Susanne Eickermann-Riepe 

Ms. Eickermann-Riepe is a Non-Executive Director. Ms. Eickermann-Riepe is the founder of 

SER IMPACT GmbH, a consulting company focused on ESG advisory, boards and mandates. In 

addition to her functions within the Group, Eickermann-Riepe will continue to be the managing 

director of this company. Prior to joining the Group, she worked for PricewaterhouseCoopers for 

almost 18 years as a partner and headed the German real estate business until her retirement in 

2020. From 2019 to 30 June 2020, Ms. Eickermann-Riepe was also a managing director of PPG 

Partnerpensionsgesellschaft mbH and for MPG Mitarbeiterpensionsgesellshaft mbH. Ms. 

Eickermann-Riepe is chair of the board at ICG Institute (an association representing the general 

interests of the German real estate industry) as well as chair of the Advisory Board at RICS 

Germany, and is member of the advisory board of Engel & Völkers Capital AG. Moreover, Mr. 

Eickermann-Riepe is expected to join the supervisory board of Engel & Völkers Capital AG after 

the date of this Base Listing Particulars. She holds a degree from university of applied sciences 

Münster (Germany) in civil engineering. 

Pavel Trenka 

Mr. Trenka is a Non-Executive Director. Prior to joining the Group, he worked for 12 years at 

HB Reavis Group, including as CEO for five years and as non-executive director for two years. 

Before that, Mr. Trenka worked for seven years at McKinsey & Company, the last two as 

associate partner. Mr. Trenka co-founded two non-profit organisations in Slovakia, of which he 

is a board member. He holds an MBA in Finance and Economics from the University of Rochester 

(USA) and an undergraduate degree from the University of Economics in Bratislava. 

Conflicts of Interest 

The Issuer is aware of the fact that Mr. Remon Vos serves as Executive Director, while he is an 

(indirect) majority shareholder of the Issuer. Accordingly, he may through his (indirect) vote in 

the General Meeting support strategies and directions that are in his best interests, which may 

conflict with the interests of the Issuer and the other shareholders of the Issuer. Other than these 

circumstances, there are, as of the date of this Base Listing Particulars, no existing or potential 

conflicts of interest between any duties owed to the Issuer by the members of the Board, Executive 

Committee and Senior Management and their private interests and other duties. 
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL AND OTHER DATA 

Unless otherwise indicated, the following tables present selected historical combined financial 

information relating to the Group as of and for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 

which has been derived from the Financial Statements incorporated by reference into this Base 

Listing Particulars. The information below should be read in conjunction with the information 

contained in “Important Notices–Presentation of Financial Information” and the Financial 

Statements incorporated by reference into this Base Listing Particulars. 

Statement of profit and loss and comprehensive income 

 Years ended 31 December 

 2021 2020 

 (in EUR thousands) 
Rental income  ...................................................  334,651 291,935 

of which: Czech Republic  ..................................  204,345 186,808 

Romania  ............................................  60,491 49,540 

Hungary  ............................................  31,110 25,785 

Slovakia  .............................................  25,821 22,862 

Other  .................................................  12,884 6,940 

Service charge income  ......................................  31,112 25,882 

of which: Czech Republic  ..................................  15,691 14,393 

Romania  ............................................   7,957 5,741 

Hungary  ............................................  3,888 3,063 

Slovakia  .............................................  2,802 2,499 

Other  .................................................  774 186 

Property operating expenses  .............................  (38,910) (37,148) 

of which: Czech Republic  ..................................  (20,563) (17,845) 

Romania  ............................................   (6,679) (7,943) 

Hungary  ............................................  (5,955) (6,556) 

Slovakia  .............................................   (4,240) (3,985) 

Other  .................................................  (1,274) (482) 

Hotels .................................................   (199) (337) 

Net rental income .............................................  326,853 280,669 

Hotel operating revenue .....................................  8,779 5,752 

Hotel operating expenses ...................................  (11,334) (5,897) 

Net operating income from hotel operations  .....  (2,555) (145) 

Income from development activities  .................  32,824 49,411 

Expenses from development activities ...............  (23,459) (26,984) 

Net income from development activities  ...........   9,365 22,427 

Total revenues  .................................................  407,366 372,980 

Total attributable external expenses  ..............  (73,703) (70,029) 

Net valuation result on investment property ......  1,100,571 152,162 

Other income ......................................................  10,445 4,010 

Amortisation and depreciation ...........................  (8,447) (10,462) 

Employee benefits  .............................................  (31,883) (22,969) 

Impairment of financial assets ...........................  (1,078) (685) 

Other expenses ...................................................  (26,463) (33,121) 

Net other income/expenses  .............................  (57,426) (63,227) 

Profit/Loss before finance costs ......................  1,376,808 391,886 

Interest income ...................................................  1,993 953 

Interest expense ..................................................  (70,883) (68,534) 

Other financial expenses ....................................  (38,120) (11,501) 

Other financial gains/losses ................................  6,892 (22,379) 

Net finance costs ...............................................  (100,118) (101,461) 

Profit/Loss before income tax  .........................  1,276,690 290,425 

Income tax expense ............................................   (250,754) (37,901) 

Profit for the period .........................................   1,025,936 252,524 

Revaluation of PPE net of tax ............................  7,554 (7,347) 

Foreign currency translation differences net of 

tax ......................................................................  (3,742) 8,473 

Total other comprehensive income .................  3,812 1,126 

Total comprehensive income for the year ......  1,029,748 253,650 
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Profit attributable to non-controlling interests ...  -- 406 

Profit attributable to equity holders of the 

Issuer .................................................................  1,025,936 252,118 

Total comprehensive income attributable to non-

controlling interest  ............................................  -- 406 

Total comprehensive income attributable to 

equity holders of the Issuer .............................  1,029,748 253,244 

Basic earnings per share .....................................  2.68 0.75 

Diluted earnings per share ..................................  2.68 0.75 

Statement of financial position 

 As of 31 December 
 2021 2020 

 (in EUR thousands) 

Assets  

Investment property  ................................................  7,575,107 5,386,230 

of which: Industrial  ................................................ 6,445,781 4,462,367 

Office  ......................................................... 549,300 550,937 

Retail(1)  ...................................................... - 33,467 

Other  .......................................................... 53,188 13,514 

Land bank  .................................................. 526,838 325,945 

Investment property under development  .................  774,203 387,347 

Property, plant and equipment  ................................  110,967 98,884 

Intangible assets  ......................................................  2,111 2,418 

Trade and other receivables  ....................................  100,739 11,796 

Derivative financial instruments  .............................  126 - 

Financial investments  .............................................  445 521 

Long-term receivables from related parties  ............  47,124 42,046 

Deferred tax assets  ..................................................  24,052 14,422 

Total non-current assets  .......................................  8,634,874 5,943,664 

Trade and other receivables  ....................................  144,082 67,941 

Short-term receivables due from related parties  .....  528 45 

Derivative financial instruments  .............................  46 - 

Contract assets  ........................................................  7,039 12,878 

Current income tax receivable  ................................  7,260 2,692 

Cash and cash equivalents  ......................................  892,816 419,141 

Total current assets  ..............................................  1,051,771 502,697 

Total assets  ............................................................  9,686,645 6,446,361 

Issued capital  ..........................................................  64,063 53,760 

Translation reserve  .................................................  10,716 14,458 

Share premium  ........................................................  2,661,979 1,858,460 

Retained earnings  ...................................................  1,350,856 324,862 

Revaluation reserve  ................................................  19,216 11,662 

Total equity attributable to owners of the Issuer 4,106,830 2,263,202 

Non-controlling interest  .......................................  -- 1,031 

Total equity  ...........................................................  4,106,830 2,264,233 

Liabilities  ...............................................................    

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings from 

financial Institutions  ...............................................  1,110,471 2,191,999 

Bonds issued  ...........................................................  3,368,202 1,041,971 

Trade and other payables 64,591 23,385 

Long-term payables to related parties  .....................  18 34,544 

Derivative financial instruments  .............................  -- 27,196 

Deferred tax liabilities  ............................................  746,773 504,779 

Total non-current liabilities  .................................  5,290,055 3,823,874 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings from 

financial institutions  ...............................................  20,833 160,288 

Bonds issued  ...........................................................  13,490 -- 

Trade and other payables  ........................................  237,148 169,006 

Short-term payables to related parties  .....................  -- 2,627 

Derivative financial instruments  .............................  -- 6,870 

Current income tax payable  ....................................  18,289 19,463 

Total current liabilities  .........................................   289,760 358,254 

Total liabilities  ......................................................  5,579,815 4,182,128 
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Total equity and liabilities  ....................................  9,686,645 6,446,361 

___________ 

Notes: 

(1) As of 31 December 2021, the line item Retail is included in the line item Other. 

Statement of cash flows 

 Years ended 31 December 

 2021 2020 

 (in EUR thousands) 

Net result for the year .........................................  1,025,936 252,118 

Net valuation result on investment property  .....  (1,100,571) (152,162) 

Amortisation and depreciation  .........................  10,121 10,462 

Net interest expense ..........................................  68,890 67,581 

Change in fair value of derivatives and 

associated closeout costs ...................................  (12,127) 40,272 

Other changes  ...................................................  1,262 (14,680) 

Change in foreign currency rates  ......................   20,055 (3,775) 

Income from non-controlling interest  ...............  -- 406 

Income tax expense  ..........................................  250,754 37,901 

 264,320 238,123 

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other 

receivables .........................................................   (50,603) 31,332 

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables   3,349 (13,439) 

 (47,254) 17,893 

Interest paid  ......................................................   (45,165) (62,272) 

Interest received  ...............................................  223  371  

Income taxes paid  .............................................  (33,066) (8,685) 

Cash flows from operating activities .................  139,058 185,430 

Acquisition of investment property  ..................  (174,392) (64,105) 

Acquisition of PPE and intangible assets ..........  (13,969) (2,232) 

Advances paid for IP and PPE ..........................  (96,526) -- 

Proceeds from disposal of investment property 

and PPE  ............................................................  4,312 8,950 

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 

 ..........................................................................   (552,568) (27,116) 

Loans and borrowings provided to related 

parties  ...............................................................  (15,000) (27,080) 

Proceeds from loan and borrowings received 

from related parties ...........................................  3,512 629 

Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries, net of 

cash disposed  ....................................................  8,950 1,060 

Development of investment property  ...............  (599,566) (359,227) 

Cash flows from (used in) investing activities ...  (1,435,247) (469,121) 

Bonds issued  ....................................................   2,479,615  1,041,395  

Repayment of interest-bearing loans and 

borrowings and bonds  ......................................  (2,119,968) (1,088,814) 

Proceeds from interest-bearing loans and 

borrowings  .......................................................  677,468 743,657 

Loans and borrowings received from related 

companies .........................................................  -- (20,625) 

Repayment of loans received from related 

companies .........................................................  (35,968) -- 

Transaction costs related to issuance of new 

shares  ................................................................  (45,344) (21,649) 

Proceeds from the issue of share capital  ...........  854,238 200 

Repayment of share premium  ...........................  (34,904) (12,500) 

Paid dividends  ..................................................   (5,513) - 

Payment of lease liabilities  ...............................  (974) (541) 

Cash flows from (used in) financing activities  .  1,768,650 641,123 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  ............  419,141 63,821 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  ........  472,461 357,432 

Cash and cash equivalents reclassified to asset 

held for sale  ......................................................  - - 

Change in foreign currency rates  ......................  1,214 (2,112) 
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 Years ended 31 December 

 2021 2020 

 (in EUR thousands) 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December ......  892,816 419,141 

Key performance indicators 

 As of and for the period ended 31 December 
 2021 2020 

Group(1)   

GLA under management (in million square 

metres) 8.0 6.3 

GLA owned (in million square metres)  .............  7.6 5.9 

Occupancy Rate (in per cent.)  .........................................  95 94 

Number of parks(1)  ...................................................................  70 70 

WAULT (in years)  .............................................  6.7 6.0 

Retention Rate (in per cent.)  ..............................  92 92 

Leasing Activity (in thousands square metres)  ..  1,704 1,175 

EBITDA(2) (in EUR thousands)  .........................  1,354,027 368,062 

Adjusted EBITDA(2) (in EUR thousands)  ..........  282,451 228,623 

GAV (in EUR thousands)  ..................................  8,460,277 5,872,461 

Valuation Yield (2) (in per cent.)  ........................  5.4 6.0 

ICR (2) (ratio.)  ....................................................  5.0 3.8 

Net LTV(2) (in per cent.)  ....................................  42.8 50.7 

Czech Republic   

GLA (in million square metres)(1) .......................  3.9 3.5 

Occupancy Rate (in per cent.) .............................  96 96 

Adjusted EBITDA(2) (in EUR thousands)  ..........  192,980 161,201 

GAV(2) (in EUR thousands) ................................  4,764,500 3,827,778 

Romania   

GLA (in million square metres) ..........................  2.1 1.5 

Occupancy Rate (in per cent.) ..............................  92 90 

Adjusted EBITDA(2) (in EUR thousands)  ...........  51,308 38,774 

GAV(2) (in EUR thousands) .................................  1,390,300 976,512 

Hungary   

GLA (in million square metres) ...........................  0.8 0.5 

Occupancy Rate (in per cent.) ..............................  96 92 

Adjusted EBITDA(2) (in EUR thousands)  ...........  22,336 16,909 

GAV(2) (in EUR thousands) .................................  848,449 440,699 

Slovakia   

GLA (in million square metres) ...........................  0.7 0.4 

Occupancy Rate (in per cent.) ..............................  98 98 

Adjusted EBITDA(2) (in EUR thousands)  ...........  21,344 19,372 

GAV(2) (in EUR thousands) .................................  644,839 387,308 

Netherlands   

GLA (in million square metres) ...........................  0,1 -- 

Occupancy Rate (in per cent.) ..............................  100 -- 

Adjusted EBITDA(2) (in EUR thousands)  ...........  (7,910) (7,683) 

GAV(2) (in EUR thousands) .................................  347,405 -- 

Other(3)   

GLA(3) (in million square metres) ........................  0.5 0.4 

Occupancy Rate (in per cent.) ..............................  98 95 

Adjusted EBITDA(2) (in EUR thousands)  ...........  5,143 5,315 

GAV(2) (in EUR thousands) .................................  405,530 180,672 

Hotels   

Adjusted EBITDA(2) (in EUR thousands)  ...........  (2,750) (5,265) 

GAV(2) (in EUR thousands) .................................  59,254 59,492 

___________ 

Notes: 

(1) Includes (i) the Group’s own portfolio and 390 thousand square metres of Deka Immobilien’s portfolio (sold 

by the Group in 2018) under management of the Group (except the line “GLA owned”) and (ii) four office 

parks of the Group in the Czech Republic, Spielberk, Vlněna, Ponávka and IQ Ostrava. 

(2) For a reconciliation of these non-IFRS measures, please see “Important Notices—Presentation of Financial 

Information—Non-IFRS Measures” 

(3) Includes countries where the Group has a smaller presence: Serbia, Poland, Germany, Bulgaria and Austria. 
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TAXATION 

The tax laws of the investor’s State and of the issuer’s State of incorporation might have an impact 

on the income received from the securities. Prospective purchasers of Notes should consult their 

own tax advisers as to which countries’ tax laws could be relevant to acquiring, holding and 

disposing of Notes and receiving payments of interest, principal and/or other amounts under the 

Notes and the consequences of such actions under the tax laws of those countries. For the purpose 

of this section, the term “Notes” also refers to Coupons. 

The following is a general description of certain tax considerations relating to the Notes. It does 

not purport to be a complete analysis of all tax considerations relating to the Notes, whether in 

those countries or elsewhere. Prospective purchasers of Notes should consult their own tax 

advisers as to which countries’ tax laws could be relevant to acquiring, holding and disposing of 

Notes and receiving payments of interest, principal and/or other amounts under the Notes and 

the consequences of such actions under the tax laws of those countries. This summary is based 

upon the law as in effect on the date of this Base Listing Particulars and is subject to any change 

in law that may take effect after such date. 

Taxation in the Netherlands 

The following summary of certain Dutch taxation matters is based on the laws and practice in 

force as of the date of this Base Listing Particulars and is subject to any changes in law and the 

interpretation and application thereof, which changes could have retroactive effect. The following 

summary does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all the tax considerations that 

may be relevant to a decision to acquire, hold or dispose of Notes and does not purport to deal 

with the tax consequences applicable to all categories of investors, some of which may be subject 

to special rules. 

For the purpose of the paragraph “Taxes on Income and Capital Gains” below, it is assumed 

that a holder of Notes, being an individual or a non-resident entity, neither has nor will have a 

substantial interest (aanmerkelijk belang), or - in the case of such holder being an entity - a 

deemed substantial interest, in the Issuer and that no connected person (verbonden persoon) to 

the holder of a Note neither has nor will have a substantial interest in the Issuer. 

Generally speaking, an individual has a substantial interest in an entity if (a) such individual, 

either alone or together with his or her partner, directly or indirectly has, or is deemed to have, 

or (b) certain relatives of such individual or his or her partner directly or indirectly have or are 

deemed to have, (I) the ownership of, a right to acquire the ownership of, or certain rights over, 

shares representing 5 per cent. or more of either the total issued and outstanding capital of such 

entity or the issued and outstanding capital of any class of shares of such entity, or (II) the 

ownership of, or certain rights over, profit participating certificates (winstbewijzen) that relate 

to 5 per cent. or more of either the annual profit or the liquidation proceeds of such entity. 

Generally, an individual has a deemed substantial interest in a company if (i) he or she or his or 

her predecessor has disposed of or is deemed to have disposed of all or part of a substantial 

interest or (ii) he or she has transferred an enterprise in exchange for shares in such company, 

in each case, on a non-recognition basis. 

Generally speaking, a non-resident entity has a substantial interest in an entity if such entity, 

directly or indirectly has (I) the ownership of, a right to acquire the ownership of, or certain 

rights over, shares representing 5 per cent. or more of either the total issued and outstanding 

capital of such entity or the issued and outstanding capital of any class of shares of such entity, 

or (II) the ownership of, or certain rights over, profit participating certificates (winstbewijzen) 

that relate to 5 per cent. or more of either the annual profit or the liquidation proceeds of such 

entity. Generally, a non-resident entity has a deemed substantial interest in a company if such 

entity has disposed of or is deemed to have disposed of all or part of a substantial interest on a 

non-recognition basis.  
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Furthermore, the paragraph “Taxes on Income and Capital Gains” below does not describe any 

Dutch tax considerations or consequences that may be relevant where a holder of a Note is (i) an 

individual and the income or capital gains derived from the Notes are attributable to employment 

activities, the income from which is taxable in the Netherlands,(ii) an entity that, although it is in 

principle subject to Dutch corporate income tax under the Dutch Corporate Income Tax Act 1969 

(Wet op de vennootschapsbelasting 1969) (the “CITA”), is not subject to Dutch corporate income 

tax or is fully or partly exempt from Dutch corporate income tax (such as a qualifying pension 

fund as described in section 5 CITA and a tax exempt investment fund (vrijgestelde 

beleggingsinstelling) as described in Section 6a CITA) or (iii) is an investment institution 

(beleggingsinstelling) as described in Section 28 CITA. 

In addition, this summary does not describe any Dutch tax considerations or consequences that 

may be relevant for a holder of a Note that is an entity that is related (gelieerd) to the Issuer 

within the meaning of the Withholding Tax Act 2021 (Wet Bronbelasting 2021). An entity is 

considered related if (i) it has a Qualifying Interest in the Issuer, (ii) the Issuer has a Qualifying 

Interest in the holder of the Note, or (iii) a third party has a Qualifying Interest in both the Issuer 

and the holder of the Note. The term Qualifying Interest means a direct or indirectly held interest 

– either by an entity individually or jointly if an entity is part of a collaborating group 

(samenwerkende groep) – that enables such entity or such collaborating group to exercise a 

definite influence over another entities’ decisions, such as the Issuer or the holder of the Note as 

the case may be, and allows it to determine the other entities’ activities. 

For the purpose of this summary, the term “entity” means a corporation as well as any other 

person that is taxable as a corporation for Dutch corporate tax purposes. 

Where this summary refers to a holder of a Note, an individual holding a Note or an entity holding 

a Note, such reference is restricted to an individual or entity holding legal title to as well as an 

economic interest in such Note or otherwise being regarded as owning a Note for Dutch tax 

purposes. It is also noted that for purposes of Dutch income, corporate, gift and inheritance tax, 

assets legally owned by a third party such as a trustee, foundation or similar entity, may be treated 

as assets owned by the (deemed) settlor, grantor or similar originator or the beneficiaries in 

proportion to their interest in such arrangement. 

Where this summary refers to “the Netherlands” or “Dutch” it refers only to the European part 

of the Kingdom of the Netherlands. Any reference in this paragraph made to Dutch taxes, Dutch 

tax or Dutch tax law should be construed as a reference to any taxes of any nature levied by or 

on behalf of the Netherlands or any of its subdivisions or taxing authorities or to the law 

governing such taxes, respectively. 

The statements below are based on the assumption that the final terms of any Tranche or Series 

of Notes will not materially deviate from the Terms and Conditions as described in this Base 

Listing Particulars, in particular with regard to the status of the Notes. 

Investors should consult their professional advisers as to the tax consequences of acquiring, 

holding and disposing of Notes. 

Withholding Tax 

All payments of principal and interest by the Issuer under the Notes can be made without 

withholding or deduction of any taxes of whatever nature imposed, levied, withheld or assessed 

by the Netherlands or any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein. 
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Taxes on Income and Capital Gains 

Residents 

Resident entities 

An entity holding Notes which is or is deemed to be resident in the Netherlands for Dutch 

corporate income tax purposes, will generally be subject to Dutch corporate income tax in respect 

of income or a capital gain derived from the Notes at the prevailing statutory rates (up to 25.8 per 

cent. in 2022). 

Resident individuals 

An individual holding Notes who is or is deemed to be resident in the Netherlands for Dutch 

income tax purposes will be subject to Dutch income tax in respect of income or a capital gain 

derived from the Notes at the prevailing statutory rates (up to 49.50 per cent. in 2022) if: 

the income or capital gain is attributable to an enterprise from which the holder derives profits, 

whether as an entrepreneur (ondernemer) or by being co-entitled (medegerechtigde) to the net 

worth of the enterprise (other than as an entrepreneur or shareholder); or 

the income or capital gain otherwise qualifies as income from miscellaneous activities (belastbaar 

resultaat uit overige werkzaamheden) as defined in the Income Tax Act 2001 (Wet 

inkomstenbelasting 2001), including, without limitation, activities that exceed normal, active 

asset management (normaal, actief vermogensbeheer). 

If neither condition (i) nor (ii) applies, the individual will generally be subject to Dutch income 

tax under the regime for savings and investments on the basis of a deemed return, regardless of 

any actual income or capital gain derived from the Notes. For 2022, the deemed return ranges 

from 1.82 per cent. to 5.53 per cent. of the value of the individual’s net assets as at the beginning 

of the relevant fiscal year (including the Notes). The applicable percentages will be updated 

annually on the basis of historic market yields. Subject to application of certain allowances, the 

deemed return will be taxed at the prevailing statutory rate (31 per cent. in 2022). 

Based on a decision by the Dutch Supreme Court of 24 December 2021 

(ECLI:NL:HR:2021:1963) concerning the years 2017 and 2018, taxation under the regime for 

savings and investments in its current form, as described in the above paragraph may under 

specific circumstances contravene Section 1 of the First Protocol to the European Convention on 

Human Rights (protection of property) in combination with Section 14 of the European 

Convention on Human Rights (protection from discrimination). The Dutch State Secretary of 

Finance has announced that also the regime for taxation of savings and investments as in effect 

on the date of this Base Listing Particulars will be amended to comply with the ruling of the Dutch 

Supreme Court mentioned above. At the date of this Base Listing Particulars, no legislative 

changes to the regime for savings and investments have been proposed yet. Holders of Notes are 

advised to consult their own tax advisor to ensure that tax is levied in accordance with the decision 

of the Dutch Supreme Court. 

Non-residents 

A holder of Notes which is not and is not deemed to be resident in the Netherlands for the relevant 

tax purposes will not be subject to Dutch taxation on income or a capital gain derived from the 

purchase, ownership and disposal or transfer of the Notes unless: 

(i) the income or capital gain is attributable to an enterprise or part thereof which is either 

effectively managed in the Netherlands or carried on through a permanent establishment 

(vaste inrichting) or a permanent representative (vaste vertegenwoordiger) taxable in the 

Netherlands and the holder derives profits from such enterprise, whether as an 
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entrepreneur (ondernemer) or by being co-entitled (medegerechtigde) to the net worth of 

the enterprise (other than by way of the holding of securities); or 

(ii) the holder is an individual and the income or capital gain otherwise qualifies as income 

from miscellaneous activities (belastbaar resultaat uit overige werkzaamheden) in The 

Netherlands as defined in the Income Tax Act 2001 (Wet inkomstenbelasting 2001), 

including, without limitation, activities that exceed normal asset management (normaal 

vermogensbeheer). 

Under certain specific circumstances, Dutch taxation rights may be restricted for non-residents 

pursuant to treaties for the avoidance of double taxation. 

Gift and Inheritance Taxes 

Dutch gift or inheritance tax will not be levied on the occasion of the transfer of Notes by way of 

gift by, or on the death of, a holder of Notes, unless: 

(i) the holder is or is deemed to be resident in the Netherlands for the purpose of the relevant 

provisions; or 

(ii) the transfer is construed as an inheritance or gift made by, or on behalf of, a person who, 

at the time of the gift or death, is or is deemed to be resident in the Netherlands for the 

purpose of the relevant provisions. 

Value Added Tax 

There is no Dutch value added tax payable by a holder of Notes in respect of payments in 

consideration for the issue or acquisition of Notes, payments of principal and interest under the 

Notes, or payments in consideration for a disposal of Notes. 

Other Taxes and Duties 

There is no Dutch registration tax, stamp duty or any other similar tax or duty payable in the 

Netherlands by a holder of Notes in respect of or in connection with the acquisition, holding or 

disposal of Notes, the delivery or enforcement by legal proceedings (including any foreign 

judgment in the courts of the Netherlands) of the Notes or the performance of the Issuer’s 

obligations under the Notes (excluding for the avoidance of doubt any court fees and similar fees 

or duties). 

Residence 

A holder of Notes will not be and will not be deemed to be resident in the Netherlands for Dutch 

tax purposes and, subject to the exceptions set out above, will not otherwise become subject to 

Dutch taxation, by reason only of acquiring, holding or disposing of Notes or the delivery and/or 

enforcement of the Notes. 

The proposed financial transactions tax (“FTT”) 

On 14 February 2013, the European Commission published a proposal (the “Commission’s 

proposal”) for a Directive for a common FTT in Belgium, Germany, Estonia, Greece, Spain, 

France, Italy, Austria, Portugal, Slovenia and Slovakia (the “participating Member States”). 

However, Estonia has since stated that it will not participate. 

The Commission’s proposal has very broad scope and could, if introduced, apply to certain 

dealings in the Notes (including secondary’ market transactions) in certain circumstances. The 

issuance and subscription of Notes should, however, be exempt.  
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Under the Commission’s proposal, FTT could apply in certain circumstances to persons both 

within and outside of the participating Member States. Generally, it would apply to certain 

dealings in the Notes where at least one party is a financial institution, and at least one party is 

established in a participating Member State. A financial institution may be, or be deemed to be, 

“established” in a participating Member State in a broad range of circumstances, including (a) by 

transacting with a person established in a participating Member State or (b) where the financial 

instrument which is subject to the dealings is issued in a participating Member State. 

However, the FTT proposal remains subject to negotiation between participating Member States. 

It may therefore be altered prior to any implementation, the timing of which remains unclear. 

Additional EU Member States may decide to participate.  

Prospective holders of the Notes are advised to seek their own professional advice in relation to 

the FTT. 

FATCA 

Pursuant to certain provisions of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, commonly known as 

FATCA, a “foreign financial institution” may be required to withhold on certain payments it 

makes (“foreign passthru payments”) to persons that fail to meet certain certification, reporting, 

or related requirements. The Issuer may be a foreign financial institution for these purposes. A 

number of jurisdictions (including the Netherlands) have entered into, or have agreed in substance 

to, intergovernmental agreements with the United States to implement FATCA (“IGAs”), which 

modify the way in which FATCA applies in their jurisdictions. Certain aspects of the application 

of the FATCA provisions and IGAs to instruments such as the Notes, including whether 

withholding would ever be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on 

instruments such as the Notes, are uncertain and may be subject to change. Even if withholding 

would be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on instruments such 

as the Notes, such withholding would not apply prior to the date that is two years after the 

publication of the final regulations defining “foreign passthru payments” and Notes issued on or 

prior to the date that is six months after the date on which final regulations defining “foreign 

passthru payments” are filed with the U.S. Federal Register generally would be “grandfathered” 

for purposes of FATCA withholding unless materially modified after such date (including by 

reason of a substitution of the Issuer). However, if additional Notes (as described under “Terms 

and Conditions—Further Issues”) that are not distinguishable from previously issued Notes are 

issued after the expiration of the grandfathering period and are subject to withholding under 

FATCA, then withholding agents may treat all Notes, including the Notes offered prior to the 

expiration of the grandfathering period, as subject to withholding under FATCA. Holders should 

consult their own tax advisors regarding how these rules may apply to their investment in the 

Notes. 

  



 

EMEA 138069526 

171 
 

 

SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE 

Notes may be sold from time to time by the Issuer to any one or more of Citigroup Global Markets 

Europe AG, Erste Group Bank AG, Goldman Sachs Bank Europe SE, ING Bank N.V., J.P. 

Morgan SE, KBC Bank NV, Morgan Stanley Europe SE, Raiffeisen Bank International AG, 

Société Générale and UniCredit Bank AG (the “Dealers”). The arrangements under which Notes 

may from time to time be agreed to be sold by the Issuer to, and subscribed by, Dealers are set 

out in an amended and restated dealer agreement dated 12 May 2022 (as amended or 

supplemented from time to time, the “Dealer Agreement”) and made between the Issuer and the 

Dealers. If in the case of any Tranche of Notes the method of distribution is an agreement between 

the Issuer and a single Dealer for that Tranche to be issued by the Issuer and subscribed by that 

Dealer, the method of distribution will be described in the relevant Pricing Supplement as “Non-

Syndicated” and the name of that Dealer and any other interest of that Dealer which is material 

to the issue of that Tranche beyond the fact of the appointment of that Dealer will be set out in 

the relevant Pricing Supplement. If in the case of any Tranche of Notes the method of distribution 

is an agreement between the Issuer and more than one Dealer for that Tranche to be issued by the 

Issuer and subscribed by those Dealers, the method of distribution will be described in the relevant 

Pricing Supplement as “Syndicated”, the obligations of those Dealers to subscribe the relevant 

Notes will be joint and several and the names and addresses of those Dealers and any other 

interests of any of those Dealers which is material to the issue of that Tranche beyond the fact of 

the appointment of those Dealers (including whether any of those Dealers has also been appointed 

to act as Stabilising Manager in relation to that Tranche) will be set out in the relevant Pricing 

Supplement. 

Any such agreement will, inter alia, make provision for the form and terms and conditions of the 

relevant Notes, the price at which such Notes will be subscribed by the Dealer(s) and the 

commissions or other agreed deductibles (if any) payable or allowable by the Issuer in respect of 

such subscription. The Dealer Agreement makes provision for the resignation or termination of 

appointment of existing Dealers and for the appointment of additional or other Dealers either 

generally in respect of the Programme or in relation to a particular Tranche of Notes. 

United States of America  

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be 

offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons except 

in certain transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Terms 

used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S. 

The Bearer Notes are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or 

delivered within the United States or its possessions or to a United States person, except in certain 

transactions permitted by U.S. tax regulations. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings 

given to them by the United States Internal Revenue Code and regulations thereunder. 

Each Dealer has agreed that, except as permitted by the Dealer Agreement, it will not offer, sell 

or deliver Notes, (i) as part of their distribution at any time or (ii) otherwise until 40 days after the 

completion of the distribution of the Notes comprising the relevant Tranche within the United 

States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons, and such Dealer will have sent to each 

dealer to which it sells Notes during the distribution compliance period relating thereto a 

confirmation or other notice setting forth the restrictions on offers and sales of the Notes within 

the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons.  

In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the offering of Notes comprising any 

Tranche, any offer or sale of Notes within the United States by any dealer (whether or not 

participating in the offering) may violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act. 
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Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors 

Unless the relevant Pricing Supplement in respect of any Notes includes a legend entitled 

“Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors” as “Not Applicable”, each Dealer has represented, 

warranted and agreed that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available and will not offer, 

sell or otherwise make available any Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated by 

this Base Listing Particulars as completed by the Pricing Supplement in relation thereto to any 

retail investor in the EEA.  

For the purposes of this provision the expression “retail investor” means a person who is one (or 

more) of the following: 

(a) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or 

(b) a customer within the meaning of the Insurance Distribution Directive, where that 

customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) 

of MiFID II. 

Prohibition of Sales to UK Retail Investors 

Unless the relevant Pricing Supplement in respect of any Notes includes a legend entitled 

“Prohibition of Sales to UK Retail Investors” as “Not Applicable”, each Dealer has represented, 

warranted and agreed that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available and will not offer, 

sell or otherwise make available any Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated by 

this Base Listing Particulars as completed by the Pricing Supplement in relation thereto to any 

retail investor in the UK. 

For the purposes of this provision the expression “retail investor” means a person who is one (or 

more) of the following: 

(a) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it 

forms part of the domestic law of the UK by virtue of the EUWA; or 

(b) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the FSMA and any rules or regulations 

made under the FSMA to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that customer would 

not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation 

(EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of the domestic law of the UK by virtue of the EUWA. 

United Kingdom  

Each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed that: 

(a) No deposit-taking: in relation to any Notes having a maturity of less than one year: 

(i) it is a person whose ordinary activities involve it in acquiring, holding, managing 

or disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of its business; 

and:  

(ii) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell any Notes other than to persons: 

(A) whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or 

disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their 

businesses; or 

(B) who it is reasonable to expect will acquire, hold, manage or dispose of 

investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses, 
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where the issue of the Notes would otherwise constitute a contravention of Section 

19 of the FSMA by the Issuer; 

(b) Financial promotion: it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will 

only communicate or cause to be communicated any invitation or inducement to engage 

in investment activity (within the meaning of section 21 of the FSMA) received by it in 

connection with the issue or sale of any Notes in circumstances in which section 21(1) of 

the FSMA does not apply to the Issuer; and 

(c) General compliance: it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of 

the FSMA with respect to anything done by it in relation to any Notes in, from or 

otherwise involving the UK. 

The Netherlands 

Each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed that Zero Coupon Notes (as defined below) 

in definitive form of the Issuer may only be transferred and accepted, directly or indirectly, within, 

from or into the Netherlands through the mediation of either the Issuer or a member firm of 

Euronext Amsterdam N.V. in full compliance with the Dutch Savings Certificates Act (Wet 

inzake spaarbewijzen) of 21 May 1985 (as amended) and its implementing regulations. No such 

mediation is required: (a) in respect of the transfer and acceptance of rights representing an 

interest in a Zero Coupon Note in global form, or (b) in respect of the initial issue of Zero Coupon 

Notes in definitive form to the first holders thereof, or (c) in respect of the transfer and acceptance 

of Zero Coupon Notes in definitive form between individuals not acting in the conduct of a 

business or profession, or (d) in respect of the transfer and acceptance of such Zero Coupon Notes 

within, from or into the Netherlands if all Zero Coupon Notes (either in definitive form or as 

rights representing an interest in a Zero Coupon Note in global form) of any particular Series are 

issued outside the Netherlands and are not distributed into the Netherlands in the course of initial 

distribution or immediately thereafter. In the event that the Dutch Savings Certificates Act applies, 

certain identification requirements in relation to the issue and transfer of, and payments on, Zero 

Coupon Notes have to be complied with and, in addition thereto, if such Zero Coupon Notes in 

definitive form do not qualify as commercial paper traded between professional borrowers and 

lenders within the meaning of the agreement of 2 February 1987, attached to the Royal Decree of 

11 March 1987, (Staatsblad 129) (as amended), each transfer and acceptance should be recorded 

in a transaction note, including the name and address of each party to the transaction, the nature 

of the transaction and the details and serial numbers of such Notes. 

As used herein “Zero Coupon Notes” are Notes that are in bearer form and that constitute a claim 

for a fixed sum against the Issuer and on which interest does not become due during their tenor 

or on which no interest is due whatsoever. 

Belgium  

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme 

will be required to represent and agree, that an offering of Notes may not be advertised to any 

individual in Belgium qualifying as a consumer within the meaning of Article I.1 of the Belgian 

Code of Economic Law, as amended from time to time (a Belgian Consumer) and that it has not 

offered, sold or resold, transferred or delivered, and will not offer, sell, resell, transfer or deliver, 

the Notes, and that it has not distributed, and will not distribute, any prospectus, memorandum, 

information circular, brochure or any similar documents in relation to the Notes, directly or 

indirectly, to any Belgian Consumer. 
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Hong Kong 

Each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed that: 

(1) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell in Hong Kong, by means of any 

document, any Notes other than (a) to “professional investors” as defined in the Securities 

and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of Hong Kong (the “SFO”) and any rules made under 

the SFO; or (b) in other circumstances which do not result in the document being a 

“prospectus” as defined in the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions 

Ordinance (Cap. 32)) of Hong Kong (the “C(WUMP)O”) or which do not constitute an 

offer to the public within the meaning of the C(WUMP)O; and 

(2) it has not issued or had in its possession for the purposes of issue, and will not issue or 

have in its possession for the purposes of issue, whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere, any 

advertisement, invitation or document relating to the Notes, which is directed at, or the 

contents of which are likely to be accessed or read by, the public of Hong Kong (except 

if permitted to do so under the securities laws of Hong Kong) other than with respect to 

Notes which are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons outside Hong Kong or 

only to “professional investors” as defined in the SFO and any rules made under the SFO. 

Japan 

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and Exchange 

Act of Japan (Act No. 25 of 1948, as amended, the “FIEA”) and, accordingly, each Dealer has 

represented and agreed that it has not, directly or indirectly, offered or sold and will not, directly 

or indirectly, offer or sell any Notes in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan or 

to others for re-offering or resale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to any resident of Japan, except 

pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of, and otherwise in compliance with, 

the FIEA and other relevant laws and regulations of Japan. As used in this paragraph, “resident 

of Japan” means any person resident in Japan, including any corporation or other entity organised 

under the laws of Japan. 

Singapore 

Each Dealer has acknowledged that this Base Listing Particulars has not been registered as a 

prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore. Accordingly, each Dealer has represented, 

warranted and agreed that it has not offered or sold any Notes or caused the Notes to be made the 

subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase and will not offer or sell any Notes or cause 

the Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, and has not 

circulated or distributed, nor will it circulate or distribute, this Base Listing Particulars or any 

other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or 

purchase, of the Notes, whether directly or indirectly, to any person in Singapore other than (i) to 

an institutional investor (as defined in Section 4A of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 (2020 

Revised Edition) of Singapore, as modified or amended from time to time (the “SFA”)) pursuant 

to Section 274 of the SFA, (ii) to a relevant person (as defined in Section 275(2) of the SFA) 

pursuant to Section 275(1) of the SFA, or any person pursuant to Section 275(1A) of the SFA, 

and in accordance with the conditions specified in Section 275 of the SFA, or (iii) otherwise 

pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of, any other applicable provision of the SFA. 

Where the Notes are subscribed or purchased under Section 275 of the SFA by a relevant person 

which is: 

(a) a corporation (which is not an accredited investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA)) 

the sole business of which is to hold investments and the entire share capital of which is 

owned by one or more individuals, each of whom is an accredited investor; or 
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(b) a trust (where the trustee is not an accredited investor) whose sole purpose is to hold 

investments and each beneficiary of the trust is an individual who is an accredited investor, 

securities or securities-based derivatives contracts (each term as defined in Section 2(1) of the 

SFA) of that corporation or the beneficiaries’ rights and interest (howsoever described) in that 

trust shall not be transferred within six months after that corporation or that trust has acquired the 

Notes pursuant to an offer made under Section 275 of the SFA except: 

(1) to an institutional investor or to a relevant person, or to any person arising from an offer 

referred to in Section 275(1A) or Section 276(4)(c)(ii) of the SFA; 

(2) where no consideration is or will be given for the transfer; 

(3) where the transfer is by operation of law; 

(4) as specified in Section 276(7) of the SFA; or 

(5) as specified in Regulation 37A of the Securities and Futures (Offers of Investments) 

(Securities and Securities-based Derivatives Contracts) Regulations 2018. 

Switzerland 

The offering of the Notes in Switzerland is exempt from requirement to prepare and publish a 

prospectus under the Swiss Financial Services Act (“FinSA”) because the Notes have a minimum 

denomination of CHF 100,000 (or equivalent in another currency) or more and the Notes will not 

be admitted to trading on any trading venue (exchange or multilateral trading facility) in 

Switzerland. This Base Listing Particulars does not constitute a prospectus pursuant to the FinSA, 

and no such prospectus has been or will be prepared for or in connection with the offering of the 

Notes. 

General 

Each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, 

it has complied and will comply in all material respects with all applicable laws and regulations 

in each country or jurisdiction in or from which it purchases, offers, sells or delivers Notes or 

possesses, distributes or publishes this Base Listing Particulars or any Pricing Supplement or any 

related offering material. Other persons into whose hands this Base Listing Particulars or any 

Pricing Supplement comes are required by the Issuer and the Dealers to comply with all applicable 

laws and regulations in each country or jurisdiction in or from which they purchase, offer, sell or 

deliver Notes or possess, distribute or publish this Base Listing Particulars or any Pricing 

Supplement or any related offering material, in all cases at their own expense. 

The Dealer Agreement provides that the Dealers shall not be bound by any of the restrictions 

relating to any specific jurisdiction (set out above) to the extent that such restrictions shall, as a 

result of change(s) or change(s) in official interpretation, after the date hereof, of applicable laws 

and regulations, no longer be applicable but without prejudice to the obligations of the Dealers 

described in the paragraph headed “General” above. 

Selling restrictions may be supplemented or modified with the agreement of the Issuer. Any such 

supplement or modification may be set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement (in the case of a 

supplement or modification relevant only to a particular Tranche of Notes) or in a supplement to 

this Base Listing Particulars. 
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GENERAL INFORMATION 

Authorisation 

1. The establishment of the Programme was authorised by board and shareholder resolutions 

of the Issuer passed on 11 September 2020. The Programme update was approved by the 

management board of the Issuer on 6 May 2022. The Issuer has obtained or will obtain 

from time to time all necessary consents, approvals and authorisations in connection with 

the issue and performance of the Notes. 

Listing of Notes 

2. Application has been made to Euronext Dublin for the Notes to be admitted to trading on 

the GEM and to be listed on the Official List of Euronext Dublin. 

Legal and Arbitration Proceedings 

3. There are no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings, (including any such 

proceedings which are pending or threatened, of which the Issuer is aware), which may 

have, or have had during the 12 months prior to the date of this Base Listing Particulars, 

a significant effect on the financial position or profitability of the Issuer or the Group.  

Significant/Material Change 

4. Since 31 December 2021 there has been no material adverse change in the prospects of 

the Issuer or the Group. 

5. Since 31 December 2021, there has been no significant change in the financial or trading 

position of the Issuer or the Group, except for the changes described in the section  

“Description of the Issuer—Recent Developments” above. 

Auditors 

6. KPMG Accountants N.V. with address at Laan van Langerhuize 1, 1186 DS Amstelveen, 

the Netherlands, has rendered an unqualified audit report with respect to the audited 

consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 

December 2021. The auditor who signed the auditor’s reports on behalf of KPMG 

Accountants N.V. is a member of the Netherlands Institute of Chartered Accountants 

(Nederlandse Beroepsorganisatie van Accountants). 

7. The reports of the auditors of the Issuer are incorporated by reference into the Base Listing 

Particulars in the form and context in which they are incorporated, with the consent of the 

auditors who have authorised the contents of that part of this Base Listing Particulars.  

Documents on Display 

8. For as long as Notes issued under this Programme are listed on the Official List of 

Euronext Dublin and admitted to trading on the GEM, physical copies of the following 

documents (together with English translations thereof) may be inspected during normal 

business hours at the Specified Offices of the Principal Paying Agent: 

(a) the constitutive documents of the Issuer (as the same may be updated from time 

to time);  

(b) the Financial Statements (including the auditors’ report thereon and notes thereto); 

(c) the Agency Agreement; and 
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(d) the Trust Deed (which contains the forms of the Notes in global and definitive 

form). 

This Base Listing Particulars will be available, in electronic format, on the website of 

Euronext Dublin (https://live.euronext.com/en/markets/dublin). 

Clearing of the Notes 

9. The Notes have been accepted for clearance through Euroclear and Clearstream, 

Luxembourg. The appropriate common code and the International Securities 

Identification Number (ISIN) in relation to the Notes of each Tranche will be specified in 

the relevant Pricing Supplement. The relevant Pricing Supplement shall specify any other 

clearing system as shall have accepted the relevant Notes for clearance together with any 

further appropriate information. 

The address of Euroclear is Euroclear Bank SA/NV, 1 Boulevard du Roi Albert II, B-

1210 Brussels. The address of Clearstream, Luxembourg is Clearstream Banking, 42 

Avenue JF Kennedy, L-1855 Luxembourg. 

Notes Having a Maturity of Less than One Year 

10. Where Notes have a maturity of less than one year and either (a) the issue proceeds are 

received by the Issuer in the UK or (b) the activity of issuing the Notes is carried on from 

an establishment maintained by the Issuer in the UK, such Notes must: (i) have a minimum 

redemption value of £100,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies) and be issued only to 

persons whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or 

disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses or 

who it is reasonable to expect will acquire, hold, manage or dispose of investments (as 

principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses; or (ii) be issued in other 

circumstances which do not constitute a contravention of section 19 of the FSMA by the 

Issuer.  

Issue Price and Yield 

11. Notes may be issued at any price. The issue price of each Tranche of Notes to be issued 

under the Programme will be determined by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) at the 

time of issue in accordance with prevailing market conditions and the issue price of the 

relevant Notes or the method of determining the price and the process for its disclosure 

will be set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement. In the case of different Tranches of a 

Series of Notes, the issue price may include accrued interest in respect of the period from 

the interest commencement date of the relevant Tranche (which may be the issue date of 

the first Tranche of the Series or, if interest payment dates have already passed, the most 

recent interest payment date in respect of the Series) to the issue date of the relevant 

Tranche. 

The yield of each Tranche of Notes set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement will be 

calculated as of the relevant issue date on an annual or semi-annual basis using the 

relevant issue price. It is not an indication of future yield. 

Conflicts of Interest 

12. Certain of the Dealers and their affiliates have engaged, and may in the future engage, in 

investment banking and/or commercial banking transactions with, and may perform 

services for the Issuer and its affiliates in the ordinary course of business. Certain of the 

Dealers and their affiliates may have positions, deal or make markets in the Notes issued 

under the Programme, related derivatives and reference obligations, including (but not 

limited to) entering into hedging strategies on behalf of the Issuer and its affiliates, 
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investor clients, or as principal in order to manage their exposure, their general market 

risk, or other trading activities. 

In addition, in the ordinary course of their business activities, the Dealers and their 

affiliates may make or hold a broad array of investments and actively trade debt and equity 

securities (or related derivative securities) and financial instruments (including bank loans) 

for their own account and for the accounts of their customers. Such investments and 

securities activities may involve securities and/or instruments of the Issuer and its 

affiliates. Certain of the Dealers of their affiliates that have a lending relationship with the 

Issuer routinely hedge their credit exposure to the Issuer and its affiliates consistent with 

their customary risk management policies. Typically, such Dealers and their affiliates 

would hedge such exposure by entering into transactions which consist of either the 

purchase of credit default swaps or the creation of short positions in securities, including 

potentially the Notes issued under the Programme. Any such positions could adversely 

affect future trading prices of Notes issued under the Programme. The Dealers and their 

affiliates may also make investment recommendations and/or publish or express 

independent research views in respect of such securities or financial instruments and may 

hold, or recommend to clients that they acquire, long and/or short positions in such 

securities and instruments 

Listing Agent 

13. Arthur Cox Listing Services Limited is acting solely in its capacity as listing agent for the 

Issuer in relation to the Notes and is not itself seeking admission of the Notes to the 

Official List or to trading on the GEM. 

Legal Entity Identifier (LEI) 

14. The Legal Entity Identifier (LEI) of the Issuer is 3157000YTVO4TN65UM14. 

Issuer Website 

15. The Issuer’s website is www.ctp.eu. Unless specifically incorporated by reference into 

this Base Listing Particulars, information contained on the website does not form part of 

this Base Listing Particulars. 

Validity of listing particulars and supplements 

16. For the avoidance of doubt, the Issuer shall have no obligation to supplement this Base 

Listing Particulars after the end of its 12-month validity period. 

http://www.ctp.eu/
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